



## **URBAN PLANNING**

Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity Volume 8 Issue 2 2023

Open Access Journal ISSN: 2183-7635

6

Edited by Oswald Devisch, Liesbeth Huybrechts, Anna Seravalli, and Seppe De Blust



Urban Planning, 2023, Volume 8, Issue 2 Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity

Published by Cogitatio Press Rua Fialho de Almeida 14, 2º Esq., 1070–129 Lisbon Portugal

Design by Typografia® http://www.typografia.pt/en/

Cover image: C AndreyPopov from iStock

Academic Editors Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University) Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University) Anna Seravalli (Malmö University) Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich)

Available online at: www.cogitatiopress.com/urbanplanning

This issue is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY). Articles may be reproduced provided that credit is given to the original and *Urban Planning* is acknowledged as the original venue of publication.



### **Table of Contents**

Social Determinants, Urban Planning, and Covid-19 Response: Evidence From Ouito. Ecuador	
Susana Herrero-Olarte and Angela Díaz-Márquez	281–291
Experiential Evaluation to Create Risky Situations and Address Tensions in a Participatory Planning Process	
Lieve Custers, Liesbeth Huybrechts, and Oswald Devisch	292–306
Experts as Game Changers? A Critical Discourse Analysis of Climate Measures in the Metropolitan Region of Amsterdam	
Tanja Herdt and Víctor Muñoz Sanz	307–321
Designing Situated Vocabularies to Counter Social Polarizations: A Case Study of Nolo Neighbourhood, Milan	
Virginia Tassinari and Francesco Vergani	322–334
Strengthening Urban Labs' Democratic Aspirations: Nurturing a Listening Capacity to Engage With the Politics of Social Learning Anna Seravalli	335–346
Challenging the Master Narrative on Large-Scale Social Estates: Exploring Counterstories Through Digital Storytelling Younes Rifaad and Nele Aernouts	347–358
Social-Ecological Knowledge Integration in Co-Design Processes: Lessons From Two Resilient Urban Parks in Chile	l
Macarena Gaete	359–373
A Comparative Study of Polarization Management Around Energy Transition-Related Land-Use Conflicts in The Netherlands Christian Scholl and Eline Coolen	374–388
Planning Around Polarisation: Components of Finding Common Ground Based on Regeneration Projects in London and Gdańsk	
Piotr Lorens and Agnieszka Zimnicka	389–400



Article

# Social Determinants, Urban Planning, and Covid-19 Response: Evidence From Quito, Ecuador

Susana Herrero-Olarte <sup>1,2</sup> and Angela Díaz-Márquez <sup>2,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Economic Research, Universidad de Las Americas, Ecuador

<sup>2</sup> Place, Environment and Society Research Group, Universidad de Las Americas, Ecuador

\* Corresponding author (angela.diaz@udla.edu.ec)

Submitted: 5 September 2022 | Accepted: 22 March 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

#### Abstract

Covid-19 has put all urban planning systems around the world to the test. Cities' design and how these are managed are being observed, analyzed, and even questioned from the perspective of the pandemic. Density and poverty have been two fundamental aspects to manage in the pandemic scenario in cities of the Global South, which face this challenge along with other pre-pandemic planning problems. In the city of Quito, Ecuador, the response to the pandemic has been coordinated through regulations issued by the emergency operations center at the national level, and the information (number of cases) has been recorded per parish. The objective of this research is to determine if there is a relationship between Covid-19, poverty, and population density at the parish level for the canton of Quito. The results have shown that there is no correlation. What they did show is that due both to the difficulties of responding to the pandemic and the city's planning structure, another type of characterization, or characterizations, of the territory (for example, by scenarios or by situations) is needed, which can respond to the needs of the most vulnerable groups. Another observable result was that the gap between urban planning and management instruments and the complexity of territorial needs contributes to the polarization of local government approaches, which compromises urban planning with minimum continuity and coherence.

#### Keywords

Covid-19; pandemic scenario; Quito; social determinants; urban planning

#### Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

#### 1. Introduction

SARS-Cov-2 is one of the seven types of coronaviruses that infect humans and the cause of the Covid-19 disease (Turner-Musa et al., 2020). The "transmission of the virus occurs through the air via coughing and sneezing, close personal contact with someone infected with the virus, and touching an object or surface contaminated with the virus" (Turner-Musa et al., 2020). It was considered a major global public health emergency—like the world had never seen before—for three main reasons: (a) never has the world been more populated, (b) never has it been more urban than rural, and (c) never has it been so interconnected.

In a populated, urbanized, and interconnecting world, the differences between health equity and social determinants of health make it particularly difficult to address: a global pandemic that requires a local approach, especially when we understand that a social determinant for health refers to "conditions in the places where people live, learn, work, and play that affect a wide range of health risks and outcomes" (World Health Organization [WHO], 2020). Covid-19 is highly transmissible, and mitigation strategies were and remain key to the



containment of the pandemic. However, many of these strategies (physical distancing, accessing testing when symptomatic, maintaining hygiene measures, restricting mobility, etc.) are not accessible or sustainable for people with lower incomes or living in areas distant from health centers.

In March 2020, Covid-19 was declared a "public health emergency of international concern" by WHO. Since then, entities such as UNESCO (2020) have recognized that all cities in the world are affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. In response to the impact of the pandemic, the WHO (2020) created the "guide for strengthening preparedness for Covid-19 in cities and urban settings: interim guidance for local authorities." The WHO recognizes that by the nature of cities (high population density relative to rural settings), the risk of spreading infectious diseases is often high. The global entity shows special attention to congested areas and to the situation of people who often depend on extensive, crowded, public transport networks to get from one place to another. Density and precariousness, or poverty, are two factors that combine to make some populations more vulnerable than others.

The disparities in the incidence, prevalence, and mortality associated with Covid-19 are not always evident, even though "the conditions leading to these disparities may be a function of social determinants of health and stigma linked to the disease" (Turner-Musa et al., 2020). The WHO (2020) also recognizes that one of the greatest challenges for cities, particularly in the Global South, are slums, as a substantial proportion of their inhabitants are often unemployed or dependent on the informal economy for survival. The organization has indicated that the groups vulnerable to outbreaks of Covid-19 in urban settings are informal settlements; the urban poor; the homeless; people living in inadequate housing conditions; refugees and migrants; the elderly, especially those at risk of isolation; people with underlying medical problems; socially marginalized groups; and people at risk of interpersonal harm, violence, or self-harm due to physical distancing measures. Many of these groups considered vulnerable are found in slums on the outskirts of cities.

In the specific case of the Latin American urban reality, the Inter-American Development Bank, with the support of regional experts such as Alejandro Aravena (Pritzker Prize 2016, the most important prize in Architecture worldwide), built a guide of recommendations called *What Can We Do to Respond to the Covid-19 in the Informal City?* (Vera, 2020). This document states that the inhabitants of informal neighborhoods face Covid-19, although with greater vulnerability to risk, and for this reason proposed recommendations to improve public policy response, considering key social determinants. These recommendations also included urgent response, mitigation, and prevention measures. Identify, protect, connect, and control, are the four working axes to address the pandemic. Reactivate, train, reconfigure, mitigate, and reconditioning are the five axes of recovery proposed to address the pandemic's long-term impacts (Vera, 2020).

#### 2. Key Social Determinants in the Pandemic

Due to advances in science and information and communication technology, the pandemic has been monitored and studied as it impacts the population, and as the authorities in each country design and implement policies to help mitigate or contain it. Researchers from different areas of knowledge and different countries have worked to make visible the link between Covid-19 and other variables related to social determinants, helping to identify human groups vulnerable to the pandemic. Chang et al. (2022), for example, identified 21 predetermined country-level factors that explain variations in weekly Covid-19 morbidity and mortality in 91 countries between January 2020 and the end of that year. Although the study used only reported data, poverty and density were identified as key determinants. Looking at the United States, Burton et al. (2020) identified the variables education, economic status, and overall environment, while Abrams and Szefler (2020) identified poverty, physical environment (e.g., smoke exposure, homelessness), and race or ethnicity. Still in the United States, the percentage of non-English-speaking households, uninsured individuals under the age of 65, and that of individuals living at or below the poverty line also proved important variables (Fielding-Miller et al., 2020); finally, Rollston and Galea (2020) identified spending on health care and health outcomes.

Murgante et al. (2020) identified Covid-19 and geographical correlations in Italy: Their study analyzed spatial autocorrelations among area units (province level) and the effect of the interaction among (a) geographical, (b) environmental, and (c) socio-economic characteristics. Ataguba and Ataguba (2020) and Shammi et al. (2020) identified demographic risk groups in a Covid-19-ridden Bangladesh based on the public perception of a socioeconomic crisis and human stress levels in a resource-limited setting. Looking at the fatality rates in major urban agglomerations in India, authors linked Covid-19 to variables such as districts with international airports, population density, health indexes, human development indexes, expenditure on health per-capita (Suryawanshi et al., 2020), dilapidated buildings, housing conditions, shared precarious housing, main sources of drinking water, numbers of households not having latrine facilities within the premises, and drinking water from untreated sources (Mishra et al., 2020).

Exploring the effects of Covid-19 in Nairobi slums, Nyadera and Onditi (2020) insist on the historical marginalization of people who live in this kind of settlement—who are often excluded from economic and health policies—and focus on many variables grouped as basic habitability. For Latin American slums, Vera (2020) asked what could we do to respond to Covid-19 in the



"informal city" and showed that slums are still the areas of greatest concern in Latin America due to the accumulated social debt in health, education, and employment, all key social determinants in this situation. In Colombia, Varela et al. (2021) pointed to a lack of affiliation to the health system and low socioeconomic levels as key social determinants considered risk factors that could be monitored thanks to the early surveillance process established in the country.

In Chile, Cerda and García (2021) study the willingness to pay for the vaccine; their sample demographics included 71.3% of medium- to high-income individuals between 30 and 59 years of age, explaining why, in their results, more than 70% were willing to pay for the vaccine. The correlation of these results according to economic level shows that even *social inequality* is a key social determinant for Chile in the fight against Covid-19. Finally, in the Ecuadorian context, willingness to pay for the Covid-19 vaccine was associated with income and employment status—once again, social inequality is identified as a social determinant (Sarasty et al., 2020).

If the WHO and the Inter-American Development Bank recognize that slums contain social determinants that make them more vulnerable to facing Covid-19 and its socioeconomic consequences, if researchers around the world have been working on identifying variables to determine the most vulnerable human groups facing the pandemic; then it is logical to expect that the data to monitoring the Covid-19 infections responds to the previous distinction of the vulnerable human groups in each context. As this is only an assumption, we will check if this has been considered or not in the case of Quito, the most populated city in Ecuador.

#### 3. Case Study: Quito

In the emergency scenario derived from the pandemic, the Emergency Operations Committee (COE, following the Spanish name) is the Ecuadorian inter-institutional body responsible for coordinating the actions necessary to reduce risk, as well as the response to, and recovery from, an emergency and disaster situation (República del Ecuador, 2010). In the event of an emergency, like Covid-19, COEs are activated at three levels of the state: national, provincial, and cantonal. Due to this management model, the national level emits resolutions, protocols, and inter-ministerial agreements throughout the country (COE Nacional del Ecuador, 2021). The provincial level can emit its own resolutions if it does not contradict or reduce the binding nature of the dispositions issued at the national level (COE Provincial de Pichincha, 2021). In the case of the cantonal level (a part of a province), it does not issue resolutions, which makes visible, in a territorialized way, the cases of contagion, recovery, or mortality of the pandemic at the provincial level, even though the Quito canton has its own city hall.

On the other hand, the smallest unit of the politicaladministrative division of the Quito canton is the parish.

In fact, Quito canton (also called the Metropolitan District of Quito) divides its management into eight zonal administrations (municipal management offices) that administer several parishes (32 urban parishes and 33 rural and suburban ones, 65 in total). The city of Quito is still governed by management and planning units that were delimited in the Territorial Division Law of 1861 (followed by several others, until the last update of the Organic Law of Territorial Planning, Use and Management of Land of 2016 carried out in 2022). The inhabitants of Quito represent 86.9% of the population of the province of Pichincha, more than 70% of which lives in the 32 urban parishes, some 2,414.585 people as estimated by the National Institute of Statistics and Census (INEC; see also Municipio del Distrito Metropolitano de Quito, 2012, 2014).

In Ecuador, previous studies about poverty showed its multidimensional aspects. The multidimensional poverty index (MPI) was a significant effort to determine human groups in poverty, considering the elements that promote and/or perpetuate it. The increase in the growth of slums is one of the most complex challenges facing Ecuadorian cities. Housing depends not only on the construction of a space to live in but also on the accessibility conditions to the areas that concentrate the supply of employment and services in the city. This is one of the many reasons why the urban periphery in the city of Quito is growing. These neighborhoods, which are already part of the urban structure of the city, are included in an administrative macro-zoning of parishes (which integrates several neighborhoods of diverse typologies and economic conditions). However, this type of territorial planning organization has important limitations in identifying the most vulnerable citizens in the face of the pandemic situation.

According to the Ministry of Health of Ecuador, the first case of coronavirus was confirmed on February 29, 2020. On March 13, 2020, the COE was activated for the coordination of the emergency. This will henceforth be the only official channel of information on pandemic management. By April 2020, Ecuador had one of the highest Covid-19 mortality rates in all of Latin America (Torres & Sacoto, 2020). The city of Quito led, along with the city of Guayaquil, in infections and mortality rates (Carrión & Cepeda, 2021). This research identifies, among the causes of the high levels of mortality in the city of Quito, the impossibility of applying public policy measures focused on the needs of each group due to the lack of territorial information available.

The ability to identify the most vulnerable groups was especially important in Quito, not only because the capital was one of the main sources of infection, but because of its high inequality and high mobility (from one district to another) of its population. As for inequality in the city of Quito, the population in quintile 1 received 13% of the income of the highest quintile and could cover 19% of the cost of the basic basket (Instituto Metropolitano de Planificación Urbana [IMPU], 2018).



These high levels of inequality result in groups excluded from access to opportunities which would improve their quality of life (Olarte, 2021). In Quito, according to the multidimensional approach, 7.1% of the population was living in poverty. The figure is similar considering the poverty line. 3.35% of children work more than 25 hours a week (Planificación del Distrito Metropolitano de Quito, 2013). Quito also has a special capacity as a capital city to attract external migration, especially from Venezuela due to the country's context, as well as from rural Ecuador (Herrero-Olarte, 2018). In Quito, 13.1% of the population are migrants, 84% of whom have come from another province in the country (INEC, 2018). Having these groups monitored is essential for any improvement that you want to implement in the city, but it is especially important to manage a pandemic.

In practice, the territorial information available is erroneous because it is treated by parishes. As they are so large, in the same parish, different social classes coexist in neighborhoods which show an average income and access to basic services that are not representative of the reality that is lived in each parish. As a result, the vulnerable population did not receive the most attention to prevent infection within the territory because the territorial information is erroneous. This explains the results of this research, which concludes that the parishes with greater population density and poverty are not the ones that experienced the greatest contagions.

As of April 6, 2020, Ecuador had one of the highest Covid-19 mortality rates in Latin America, a country with a very asymmetrical context (Andean Cordillera, Amazon, coastal zone, and Galapagos Islands) that shows very different local capacities, communication, and geographical and ethnic factors (Torres & Sacoto, 2020). At the beginning of June 2020, the Covid-19 mortality rate in Ecuador was 8.5% (Alava & Guevara, 2021); the city of Quito has possibly the greatest amount of resources and installed capacity compared to other cities in the country. It was observed that coastal regions had higher rates than the highlands, and that living above 2,500 meters, as the city of Quito is located, was associated with a lower risk of mortality compared to populations living at lower altitudes (Ortiz-Prado et al., 2021); an advantage, if one does not take into account variables such as the governmental assignment of resources versus the levels and dimension of urban poverty.

Attending to the related literature, the parishes most affected by Covid-19 in Quito would be the poorest ones; the lower the incomes, the more difficult the access to private sanitation and Covid-19 tests. In addition, the poorest parishes have the highest rates of self-employment, defined by less accumulated capital and fewer opportunities to work from home. In addition, density rate would be a fundamental main factor to be considered. Parishes with higher residential density could not avoid physical contact or maintain the recommended social distancing. Consequently, these parishes would have undergone the most significant infection levels. In this research, we try to identify the link between COVID-19, poverty, and density by parish, attending the available data. To compare the data, we use the confirmed cases of COVID-19, the MPI, and the population density index, all by parish.

#### 4. Methodology

The objective of this research is to determine if there is a relationship between COVID-19, poverty, and population density at the parish level for the canton of Quito. Based on the 2010 Population and Housing Census conducted by INEC, Quito had 2,239,191 inhabitants (INEC, 2010). Based on projections estimated by INEC, in 2018, Quito had 2,781,641 inhabitants (INEC, 2018). Quito has 33 rural parishes and 32 urban parishes. We have only considered urban parishes. The data concerning the confirmed cases of COVID-19 is from the reports generated by the Provincial COE of Pichincha; its source is the Ministry of Public Health of Ecuador (COE Provincial de Pichincha, 2021). The information regarding confirmed cases corresponds to PCR tests done on the 4th of August.

To measure poverty, we used the MPI by household. As the MPI is not calculated at the parish level in Ecuador, we calculated it using the 2010 Population and Housing Census prepared by INEC (2011). It is the latest survey that considers the data by parish. The official calculation of the MPI takes into consideration 12 variables that try to capture the fulfillment of minimum standards concerning human rights. In this case, 10 indicators are available to calculate the MPI by parish in Quito. In Table 1, we detailed the 12 variables generally considered to calculate the MPI and the 10 that we take into account in this case. The multidimensional poverty rate (MPR) and the poverty intensity (IP) were first calculated. The MPI is defined as the product between MPR and IP. The MPR is the percentage of people who are deprived in one-third or more of the weighted indicators. The IP is the weight that the Ecuadorian State gives to the different indicators to give greater importance to some than to others (Castillo & Jácome, 2015).

To estimate population density, the 2010 Population and Housing Census was again used to obtain the number of persons, households, and dwellings for each parish. In this case, the data regarding the area of each parish were provided by the Municipality of the Metropolitan District of Quito. In this way, the population density is estimated by dividing the number of people in the parish by their respective area. Similarly, the density of households and dwellings is calculated. The data on the number of COVID-19 cases, the MPI, and the population density by parish are presented in three maps. In two dispersion diagrams, the data is related. In the first one, we link the COVID-19 cases and the MPI; in the second one, the COVID-19 cases and density.



|--|

Dimension		Shortcomings	Criteria	Weighting INEC (National)	Weighting from CENSUS (Parishes)
		Failure to attend basic education and high school	Children between 5 to 14 years old who do not attend a basic education center and teenagers between 15 to 17 who do not attend school.	33%	50%
Education	25%	Non-access to higher education for economic reasons	Teens between 18 to 29 years old, having completed high school, who cannot access tertiary education due to a lack of financial resources.	33%	_
	-	Incomplete educational attainment	People between 18 to 64 years old who have not completed basic education, that is, with less than 10 years of schooling and who do not attend a formal education center.	33%	50%
Labor and		Child and teen employment	Children between 5 and 14 years old who are employed in the reference week, are identified as private of the right to work, to be considered prohibited child labor. For adolescents between 15 to 17 years old, they are considered deprived of the right to work if, while they are employed in the reference week, fulfill one of the following conditions: received less than the Unified Basic Salary remuneration, do not attend school, or work over 30 hours.	33%	33%
Social Security	25%	Unemployment or inadequate employment	People 18 years old or older who in the reference period were unemployed. In addition, are considered deprived, employ people who have inadequate employment.	33%	33%
		No contribution to the pension system	Employed people 15 years old or older who do not contribute to any form of social security; excluding deprivation of employed people aged 65 or more who do not contribute, but receive retirement pension. People who are unemployed or economically inactive, aged 65 years or more, are considered in deprivation if they do not receive retirement pension, BDH, or Bond Joaquin Gallegos Lara.	33%	33%
Health, Water, and	25%	No public water service network	Members of households that obtain water that is not sourced from the public network.	50%	100%
Food		Extreme poverty by income	People whose family per capita income is below the extreme poverty line.	50%	—
Habitat, Housing, and Healthy Environment	25%	Overcrowding	Members of households that have more than three people per bedroom exclusively for sleeping.	25%	25%
		Housing shortage	People whose housing, due to materials or the state of the walls, floor, and ceiling are considered in qualitative or quantitative deficit.	25%	25%
		Without excreta sanitation	People from urban areas whose house has no toilet connected to sewerage. In rural areas, deprived people are those whose housing does not have a sewer or septic tank.	25%	25%
		Without garbage collection service	People who live in homes that do not have access to municipal waste management services are classified as deprived in this indicator.	25%	25%

Source: INEC (2011).



#### 5. Results

The first map shows the number of COVID-19 cases per 1,000 dwellings per urban parish in Quito (Figure 1).

The urban parishes in the south and downtown have the highest level of COVID-19 cases. The urban parish with the highest number of cases is Chillogallo, with approximately 72.2 cases per 1,000 dwellings, and the lowest number of cases is 1.6, in Ponceano, in the north. This graph answers the question of where the largest number of COVID-19 cases in the city of Quito is.

The second map shows the MPI by household (Figure 2). The urban parishes with the highest levels of poverty are on the borders of the city, in the north and the south, and in the downtown area. The urban parish with the highest MPI is Guamaní, with 0.182, and the lowest value is 0.031 in La Concepción. We should remember that this is one of the most important social determinants considered worldwide as key in pandemics. This graph answers the question: Where is the largest number of people living in poverty in the city of Quito?

The third map shows the population density by urban parish (Figure 3). The urban parishes with the lowest levels of density are on the borders of the city, in the north and the south. The urban parish with the lowest density is El Condado, with approximately 1,569.7 inhabitants per km<sup>2</sup>, and the highest value is 17,564 inhabitants per km<sup>2</sup>, in Solanda. This graph answers the question: Where is the highest concentration of people in the city of Quito?

The union of the three questions answered by the graphs is "Where is the population most vulnerable to COVID-19 in the city of Quito?" to design effective and territorialized contingency strategies such as availability of more medical resources if needed, availability of detection brigades, availability of additional biosecurity measures, etc.

Figure 4 shows the relationship between COVID-19 cases and the MPI by parish. We would expect a positive correlation, which means that in the parishes with the highest MPI, the cases of COVID-19 would be most elevated. We could not find the awaited relationship. The correlation coefficient is 17% and the R2 correlation coefficient is 29%.

Figure 5 shows the relationship between COVID-19 cases and density by parish. We also expected a positive correlation, meaning that in the parishes with the highest density, the cases of COVID-19 would be most elevated. We could not find the expected relationship. The correlation coefficient is 15% and the R2 correlation coefficient is 2%.



**Figure 1.** COVID-19 in urban parishes. Source: Authors based on data from INEC (2018).



Figure 2. MPI. Source: Authors based on data from INEC (2018).





Figure 3. Population density per km<sup>2</sup>. Source: Authors based on data from INEC (2018).

#### 6. Discussion

If poverty and population density have been identified as key social determinants in the contagion of COVID-19, and in some studies with mortality, in Quito, the lack of correlation is due, among other factors, to an urban planning structure that does not correspond to the current needs of the territory, and which is of little use in the event of such an emergency. To implement targeted public policy strategies, it would be necessary to work through smaller territorial units, such as neighborhoods. The development of public policy through parishes makes it difficult to implement strategies differentiated according to density and poverty not only because of the pandemic but also in many other areas related to the quality of life of citizens. As a result of the difficulty in territorial planning, a commitment to mass vaccination was made through public



Figure 4. COVID-19 and MPI.



Figure 5. COVID-19 and density.



policy. On the one hand, there was the challenge of sending key messages with the least risk of interpretation, but on the other hand, this need to standardize the message did not respond to the diversity of territorial needs, which should have considered the social determinants of health (WHO, 2020) indicated by several studies from the health area.

The lack of territorialized information at the neighborhood level is an example of the limited importance traditionally given to urban planning in Quito, as in other Latin American cities, and that has defined its form. The ruling class moved to different neighborhoods when the ones they were occupying were not equipped by public policy with the inputs needed to maintain their quality of life. The upper classes have moved on several occasions, in turn moving the economic center of the city; currently they have ended up moving to the gated communities on the outskirts of the city, where they do not need public intervention, pursuing the idea of a garden city. The result is a dispersed city with several centralities that merit differentiated strategic interventions that in practice do not take place because there is no budget for it (Bustamante-Patiño & Herrero-Olarte, 2017).

The city of Quito has not had obligatory urban planning, just as it has not had the necessary resources to cover the basic needs of citizens. Despite this, significant efforts have been made to rethink the city from a perspective that more adequately considers its current dynamics, such as the proposals for the dynamization of centralities, to balance the territory; but with the changes brought about by municipal authorities, these efforts have been dismissed (Herrero-Olarte & Díaz-Márquez, 2019). The lack of a public budget responds to the economic model followed by the country, which has sought minimum participation of the State in the economy. The developmental model in the South, as it evolves from the neoclassical model in the North, questions the effectiveness of a State, which would absorb resources that could be used by the market more efficiently (Friedman et al., 1983). Proof of this is the lost Latin American decade, which has among its causes the misuse of the public debt of governments contracted in the seventies (Serbin et al., 2012).

Although this economic model has failed to improve the quality of life of citizens in Latin America (Rodrik, 2006), developmentalism continues to be understood as the way forward (Lander, 2000). Its mystification responds to the unidirectional and linear vision proposed by the model, which can only aspire to improvement. Since there is no self-image in relation to improving the quality of life, it cannot be seen as possible (Latouche, 2007). Without alternative referents, wanting a way of life that does not pursue the objectives previously defined by the model is not understood as something exceptional. Its uniqueness in practice validates the model. The capture of the State by the elite, always with the premise of avoiding that it grows and can inefficiently use these resources when it does not devote them to corruption, is what has limited the public policy, and therefore, urban planning (Zacatula et al., 2019).

It will then be necessary to rethink the economic model to generate more public resources for urban planification and thus achieve a micro-territorialization of the information of the city of Quito, able to overcome the parish and reach the neighborhood level. Only in this way will it be possible to offer differentiated treatment according to the needs of the different collectives and to identify some fundamental social determinants in terms of health, such as housing and neighborhood density, access to healthcare, incomes, cultural beliefs and belonging to a minority race, even in legal status (Harlem, 2020; Tai et al., 2021; Turner-Musa et al., 2020). At this point, it is important to remember the situation of displaced Venezuelans who arrive on foot at reception centers in various cities in the region.

Finally, evidence of these trends can be seen in the radical difference between the two management models of the last two periods of Quito's local governments. The vision of Quito 2040 (IMPU, 2018), whose documents were written by the local 2014–2019 administration (before the pandemic), was totally discarded, even though its construction was highly participatory. Instead, the next local government (2019–2023) started a completely different planning model that, among other things, eliminated the IMPU. In contrast, it implemented a public investment model that prioritized the number of specific projects carried out and not the impact of these actions.

This lack of integration of the previous urban visions or instruments causes the loss of options or alternatives in the management and/or planning of the city. For example, if the structure of urban centers described in Vision Quito 2040 had been used to address the COVID crisis, the authorities would have better understood the need for urban mobility, especially the reactivation of public transport, according to the levels of poverty described more precisely in this instrument, as well as the need for public space to address the need for physical distancing. These planning deficiencies, as well as not helping to obtain an adequate correlation between the data compiled on COVID and the location of poverty, also do not help the subsequent post-pandemic urban processes.

#### 7. Conclusion

Poverty and density have been identified as key factors common to many countries around the world (Chang et al., 2022); how urban planning tools estimate these social determinants within the planning system drives how the response is prepared, or at least with what baseline information the response actions are prepared. In the case of Quito, as in other Latin American cities, the political alternation has not contributed with minimum common standards—baseline—in urban planning. In the end, this has led to a gap between the different technical approaches to planning. In Quito's slums, reducing the social determinants (poverty and high density combined) that generate vulnerability in the face of an emergency (as was COVID-19) is a gradual task that struggles between addressing the accumulated socio-spatial debt and the urban problems of the present. The complication comes when we have to talk about "multivulnerable" people (for example women, single mothers, people with a low income, low education levels, and migrants from an ethnic minority) facing overlapping events (this same woman, just recently migrated from her hometown in Venezuela to Quito and is in a refugee shelter, but in a pandemic situation). How can these other variables be contemplated, when the city's planning structure does not yet have such a baseline in a binding way in the city's management?

This study only looked at one aspect of urban planning in the city of Quito and how it responded to the COVID-19 pandemic emergency. Other studies should contrast other issues, such as access to housing, the concentration of opportunities for entrepreneurship, and safety in public space, among others, with the current planning system to highlight opportunities for its improvement. It is recommended that this study be carried out in other Latin American capitals to observe the particularities of each case, so that shared challenges and unique territorial characteristics that conditioned the response to COVID-19 can be identified.

Finally, there is a gap between urban planning and management models and instruments, which is not aggravated by the polarization of traditional politicaleconomic approaches only: Every time local administrations disregard the efforts of past administrations, they contribute to this polarization. It will therefore be crucial to observe how self-management processes (bottom-up processes) are creating other ways of approaching the territory, even if they are not yet strong enough (in the case of Quito) to create a baseline or minimum agreements in the management and planning model of the city.

#### Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the Research Department of the Universidad de las Américas, as well as the research groups Center for Economic Research CIEE and Place, Environment and Society LMS.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

#### References

- Abrams, E. M., & Szefler, S. J. (2020). COVID-19 and the impact of social determinants of health. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 8(7), 659–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30234-4
- Alava, J. J., & Guevara, A. (2021). A critical narra-

tive of Ecuador's preparedness and response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Health in Practice*, *2*, Article 100127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhip. 2021.100127

- Ataguba, O. A., & Ataguba, J. E. (2020). Social determinants of health: The role of effective communication in the COVID-19 pandemic in developing countries. *Global Health Action*, *13*(1), Article 1788263. https:// doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2020.1788263
- Burton, É. C., Bennett, D. H. S., & Burton, L. M. (2020). COVID-19: Health disparities and social determinants of health. *International Social Work*, *63*(6), 771–776. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872820944985
- Bustamante-Patiño, B., & Herrero-Olarte, S. (2017). A classe dominante decisiva da forma de Quito [The decisive ruling class of Quito's form]. *Bitácora Urbano Territorial*, 27(3), 81–90.
- Carrión, F., & Cepeda, P. (Eds.). (2021). Quito: La ciudad que se disuelve: Covid 19 [Quito: The city that dissolves: Covid 19]. Polis.tic Urban Lab; FLACSO Ecuador.
- Castillo, R., & Jácome, F. (2015). *Medición de la pobreza multidimensional en Ecuador* [Measuring multidimensional poverty in Ecuador]. INEC. https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec/documentos/ web-inec/Sitios/Pobreza\_Multidimensional/assets/ ipm-metodologia-oficial.pdf
- Cerda, A., & García, L. (2021). Willingness to pay for a COVID-19 vaccine. *Applied Health Economics and Health Policy*, *19*(3), 343–351.
- Chang, D., Chang, X., He, Y., & Tan, K. J. K. (2022). The determinants of COVID-19 morbidity and mortality across countries. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), Article 5888. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-09783-9
- COE Nacional del Ecuador. (2021). *Resoluciones COE* [Resolutions COE]. https://www.gestionderiesgos. gob.ec/resoluciones-coe
- COE Provincial de Pichincha. (2021). *Resoluciones, situación provincial y cantonal* [Resolutions, provincial and cantonal situation]. https://coe-pichincha. senescyt.gob.ec/situacion-cantones-pichincha
- Fielding-Miller, R. K., Sundaram, M. E., & Brouwer, K. (2020). Social determinants of COVID-19 mortality at the county level. *PLOS One*, *15*(10), e0240151. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240151
- Friedman, M., Friedman, R., & Lladó, A. (1983). *Libertad de elegir* [Freedom to choose]. Orbis Barcelona.
- Harlem, G. (2020). Descriptive analysis of social determinant factors in urban communities affected by COVID-19. *Journal of Public Health*, 42(3), 466–469.
- Herrero-Olarte, S. (2018). ¿Cómo son las comunidades marginales que generan pobreza estructural? [How are marginalized communities generating structural poverty?] Papeles de Población, 24(98), 157–183.
- Herrero-Olarte, S., & Díaz-Márquez, Á. (2019). La necesidad de generar una nueva definición de centralidad para las ciudades latinoamericanas [The need to generate a new definition of centrality for Latin American cities]. *Arquitectura y Urbanismo, XL*(1), 89–99.

- Instituto Metropolitano de Planificación Urbana. (2018). Visión de Quito 2040 y su Nuevo Modelo de Ciudad [Vision of Quito 2040 and its New City Model]. https://repositoriointerculturalidad.ec/xmlui/ handle/123456789/33016
- Lander, E. (2000). Ciencias sociales: Saberes coloniales y eurocéntricos [Social sciences: Colonial and eurocentric knowledge]. In E. Lander (Ed.), La colonialidad del saber: Eurocentrismo y ciencias sociales, perspectivas latinoamericanas [The coloniality of knowledge: Eurocentrism and social sciences. Latin American perspectives] (pp. 11–37). CLACSO.
- Latouche, S. (2007). Sobrevivir al desarrollo: De la descolonización del imaginario económico a la construcción de una sociedad alternativa [Surviving development: From the decolonization of the economic imaginary to the construction of an alternative society]. Icaria editorial.
- Mishra, S. V., Gayen, A., & Haque, S. M. (2020). COVID-19 and urban vulnerability in India. *Habitat International*, *103*, Article 102230. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.habitatint.2020.102230
- Municipio del Distrito Metropolitano de Quito. (2012). *Plan metropolitano de desarrollo 2012–2022* [Metropolitan development plan 2012–2022]. https://www.quito.gob.ec/documents/Plan\_ Metropolitano desarrollo 2012-2022.pdf
- Municipio del Distrito Metropolitano de Quito. (2014). *Diagnóstico del territorio del Distrito Metropolitano de Quito* [Diagnosis of the territory of the Metropolitan District of Quito]. http://gobiernoabierto. quito.gob.ec/wp-content/uploads/documentos/ pdf/diagnosticoterritorio.pdf
- Murgante, B., Balletto, G., Borruso, G., Las Casas, G., Castiglia, P., & Dettori, M. (2020). Geographical analyses of Covid-19's spreading contagion in the challenge of global health risks: The role of urban and regional planning for risk containment. *TeMA-Journal of Land Use Mobility and Environment, 2020*, 283–304. https://doi.org/10.6092/1970-9870/6849
- National Institute of Statistics and Census. (2010). *Censo de población y vivienda 2010* [Population and housing census 2010]. http://www.ecuador encifras.gob.ec/censo-de-poblacion-y-vivienda
- National Institute of Statistics and Census. (2011). Base de datos: Censo de población y vivienda 2010 [Database: Population and housing census 2010]. https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec/base-dedatos-censo-de-poblacion-y-vivienda
- National Institute of Statistics and Census. (2018). *Tabulados Encuesta nacional de empleo, desempleo y subempleo* [Tabulations of the National survey of employment, unemployment and underemployment]. https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec/ enemdu-2018
- Nyadera, I. N., & Onditi, F. (2020). COVID-19 experience among slum dwellers in Nairobi: A double tragedy or useful lesson for public health reforms? *Interna*-

tional Social Work, 63(6), 838–841. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0020872820944997

- Olarte, S. H. (2021). ¿Qué variables de movilidad están asociadas con la pobreza urbana? El caso de Santiago de Chile y Quito [What mobility variables are associated with urban poverty? The case of Santiago de Chile and Quito]. ACE: Arquitectura, Ciudad y Entorno.
- Ortiz-Prado, E., Simbaña-Rivera, K., Barreno, L. G., Diaz,
  A. M., Barreto, A., Moyano, C., Arcos, V., Vásconez-González, E., Paz, C., Simbaña-Guaycha, F., Molestina-Luzuriaga, M., Fernández-Naranjo, R., Feijoo, J., Henriquez-Trujillo, A. R., Adana, L., López-Cortés, A., Fletcher, I., & Lowe, R. (2021). Epidemiological, socio-demographic and clinical features of the early phase of the COVID-19 epidemic in Ecuador. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *15*(1), Article e0008958. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0008958
- Planificación del Distrito Metropolitano de Quito. (2013). Diagnóstico de la niñez y adolescencia en el DMQ [Diagnosis of childhood and adolescence in the DMQ]. Municipality of the Metropolitan District of Quito.
- República del Ecuador. (2010). Decreto ejecutivo 489. Reglamento a La Ley de Seguridad Pública Del Estado: 6–7 [Executive decree 489. Regulation to the Public Security Law of the State: 6–7]. https://www. telecomunicaciones.gob.ec/wp-content/uploads/ 2018/06/Reglamento-a-la-Ley-de-Seguridad-Publica-y-del-Estado.pdf
- Rodrik, D. (2006). Goodbye Washington consensus, hello Washington confusion. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 44(4), 973–987.
- Rollston, R., & Galea, S. (2020). COVID-19 and the social determinants of health. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *34*(6), 687–689. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117120930536b
- Sarasty, O., Carpio, C., Hudson, D., Guerrero-Ochoa, P., & Borja, I. (2020). The demand for a COVID-19 vaccine in Ecuador. *Vaccine*, *38*(51), 8090–8098. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7832521
- Serbin, A., Martínez, L., & Ramanzini, H. (2012). El regionalismo "post-liberal" en América Latina y el Caribe: Nuevos actores, nuevos temas, nuevos desafíos ["Post-liberal" regionalism in Latin America and the Caribbean: New actors, new issues, new challenges]. CRIES.
- Shammi, M., Bodrud-Doza, M., Towfiqul Islam, A. R. M., & Rahman, M. M. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic, socioeconomic crisis and human stress in resource-limited settings: A case from Bangladesh. *Heliyon*, 6(5), Article e04063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020. e04063
- Suryawanshi, D. M., Venugopal, R., & Goyal, R. (2020). Factors influencing COVID-19 case burden and fatality rates findings from secondary data analysis of major urban agglomerations in India. *International Journal of Community Medicine and Public*



*Health*, 7(8), 3284–3292. https://doi.org/10.18203/ 2394-6040.ijcmph20203415

- Tai, D. B. G., Shah, A., Doubeni, C. A., Sia, I. G., & Wieland, M. L. (2021). The disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on racial and ethnic minorities in the United States. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 72(4), 703–706.
- Torres, I., & Sacoto, F. (2020). Localising an assetbased COVID-19 response in Ecuador. *The Lancet*, 395(10233), Article 1339. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30851-5
- Turner-Musa, J., Ajayi, O., & Kemp, L. (2020). Examining social determinants of health, stigma, and COVID-19 disparities. *Healthcare*, 8(2). https://doi. org/10.3390/healthcare8020168
- UNESCO. (2020). *Respuesta de las ciudades a COVID-19* [Cities' response to COVID-19]. https://es. unesco.org/creative-cities/content/respuesta-de-las-ciudades-Covid-19
- Varela, A. R., Florez, L. J. H., Tamayo-Cabeza, G., Contreras-Arrieta, S., Restrepo, S. R., Laajaj, R., Gutierrez, G. B., Guevara, Y. P. R., Caballero-Díaz, Y., Florez, M. V., Osorio, E., Barbieri, I. S., Sanchez, D. R., Nuñez, L. L., Bernal, R., Oliveros, S. R., Zapata, L. S.,

#### About the Authors

Guevara-Suarez, M., Uribe, A. G., & Behrentz, E. (2021). Factors associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection in Bogotá, Colombia: Results from a large epidemiological surveillance study. *The Lancet Regional Health—Americas, 2*, Article 100048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2021.100048

- Vera, F., Adler, V., Acevedo, P., Rojas, F. M., Uribe, M. C., Quintero, M. C., Huerta, C., Lew, S., Soulier, M., Nacke, M., & Simonez, V. (2020). What can we do to respond to COVID-19 in informal cities? Inter-American Development Bank. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.18235/0002348
- World Health Organization. (2020). About social determinants of health.
- Zacatula, J., Acevedo González, M., & Cruz Ramos, M. R. (2019). El desarrollo en la actual situación social. Un paradigma vigente ¿Alternativas teórico-académicas pasivas? [Development in the current social situation. A current paradigm: Passive theoreticalacademic alternatives?]. GeoGraphos. Revista Digital para Estudiantes de Geografía y Ciencias Sociales, 10(1), 34–59. https://doi.org/10.14198/geogra2019. 10.114



**Susana Herrero-Olarte** has a PhD in Applied Economics, a Master's in Cooperation and Development, and a BA in Economics. She is a researcher and consultant in Latin America, Africa, and Asia, a coordinator of the Center for Economic Research (CIEE) at Universidad de las Américas in Quito, Ecuador, and a member of CIDEAL Foundation for Research and Cooperation in Europe-Latin America.



**Angela Díaz-Márquez** has a PhD in urban planning and a degree in achitecture. She is an international cooperation specialist and trainer of trainers at the Sphere Project (Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Disaster Response). She was head of community outreach at Universidad de Las Américas Ecuador and head of the multidisciplinary research group Place, Environment and Society (LMS).



Article

## Experiential Evaluation to Create Risky Situations and Address Tensions in a Participatory Planning Process

Lieve Custers \*, Liesbeth Huybrechts, and Oswald Devisch

Faculty of Architecture and Arts, Hasselt University, Belgium

\* Corresponding author (lieve.custers@uhasselt.be)

Submitted: 29 October 2022 | Accepted: 27 February 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

#### Abstract

Planning processes often cause tensions between institutions and citizens because the local knowledge and values of the citizens are not included in the decision-making process, which can cause mistrust. This article builds on an ongoing PhD research that explores the potential of experiential evaluation as an alternative and experimental approach to "hybrid forums": an approach to open the participatory planning process for diverse actors and values. In order to render tensions visible and constructive in the participatory planning process, experiential evaluation creates "risky situations" in these hybrid forums. To discuss this approach of experiential evaluation, we use a methodological and analytical framework based on the four steps of strategic navigation techniques: tracing, mapping, diagramming, and agencying. We use these techniques to analyse two risky situations that were created through experiential evaluation within the participatory planning process of the neighbourhood spatial plan (NSP) of Zwijnaarde (Ghent, Belgium). Based on the analysis of the case, we observed that experiential evaluation was able to render tensions visible, but did not yet make them constructive. However, as a framework for a dialogue between institutions and citizens, the NSP leaves room to continue the experiential evaluation process that was initiated and to take further care of tensions on a smaller scale.

#### Keywords

democratic decision-making; hybrid forums; more-than-human actors; participatory design; staging; values

#### Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

#### 1. The Problem With Hybrid Forums

Participatory planning processes often cause tensions between institutions and citizens because it is difficult for all the involved actors to imagine the impact that these processes may have on their daily comings and goings. More often than not, these planning processes leave little room to include local knowledge and are not very transparent about whose values are considered, which can lead to mistrust between citizens and institutions (Custers et al., 2022).

In this article, we experiment with an alternative approach to participatory planning processes to better include local knowledge and values of engaged citizens in the decision-making process. The approach is based on the concept of "hybrid forums" as defined by Callon et al. (2009) in their essay *Acting in an Uncertain World*. This approach is not about creating situations to discuss whether an urban plan is a good or a bad plan, but how to open up the decision-making process to diverse actors in order to integrate other values into the discussion. In these situations, institutions and citizens together can arrive at other, more situated and embedded plans. The approach enables tensions to be redirected by exploring alternative futures that articulate shared values, and which enable a mutual learning process (Callon et al., 2009). By making this learning process and



can co-create alternative futures and thus new ways of thinking about, seeing, and acting in space (Callon et al., 2009). Such hybrid forums bring actors (city experts, politicians, designers, researchers, and concerned citizens) together and thus simultaneously address different spatial scales. Also, the political, ethical, technical, and scientific questions that are handled are diverse (Yaneva, 2022). The tensions that planning processes trigger are thus not handled as externalities, invisible forces that come from outside and that can be governed in a top-down way. The tensions are handled as "matters of concern," as something we care for (Latour, 2004a, 2004b). They are uncertain because of the (human and more-than-human) actors that assemble around them, not because they agree with each other but because these matters of concern bring them together as much as they divide them (Latour, 2004a; Yaneva, 2022).

We thus investigate hybrid forums because they offer a way to develop a more democratic approach towards handling tensions in participatory planning processes (Callon et al., 2009). However, Metzger (2016) criticises this approach because it fails to acknowledge how these forums are also exclusive by only including human actors in a deliberative way. This critique is related to how Callon et al. (2009, p. 33) describe citizens entering the decisionmaking process within these hybrid forums: "Everyone is asked to listen to other people, to respond clearly to their arguments, and to formulate counter-proposals." Metzger (2016) links this to communicative planning. This form of planning is related to the model of communicative action of Habermas, which conceived a notion of deliberative democracy based on the idea of dominationfree discourses and of seeking to reach a consensus via rational argumentation (Kühn, 2021). Metzger (2016) agrees with Callon and colleagues that this approach can work under certain conditions; however, it is important to be reflective of how these conditions work and for whom they work. Therefore, he calls for approaches that are not about inviting everybody into one "forum," but which "generate 'risky situations' that open up its participants to surprising insights and unpredicted collective becomings by staging events that offer a potential for learning in new ways" (Metzger, 2016, p. 591). As we have also underlined in previous work (Dreessen et al., 2014), these risky situations rely on experimental methods to invite actors to perform and experience together, rather than mere rational deliberation (Metzger, 2016).

"Experiential evaluation" is defined in this research process as a relational approach based on the actornetwork theory (Latour, 2005). It looks at the specific context of tensions and, more specifically, the power relations of the actors that are involved in the planning and the decision-making process to focus on the experiences and performances of these tensions. The power and politics that drive tensions are contextual and become obscured when these tensions are handled as an externality. Thus, a participatory planning process can benefit from a more contextualised, relational and experiential understanding of tensions (Latour, 2004b; Yaneva, 2022). The research that is the subject of this article was conducted as anthropological research in collaboration and joint activity with the actors embedded in their environment to get a grip on these relations and tensions (Ingold, 2008).

The next section introduces the approach of experiential evaluation. Section 3 introduces the case and how we engage in risky situations. Section 4 is the analysis of the case, specifically of two risky situations and the extent to which they helped, on the one hand, open up the participatory process to other actors and values, and, on the other hand, supported these other values become part of the decision-making process. Section 5 reflects on the process before concluding on how experiential evaluation can be an alternative and experimental approach to organising hybrid forums by creating risky situations that open up the participatory planning process for other actors and values to render tensions visible and constructive.

#### 2. Experiential Evaluation

Experiential evaluation is a methodology developed within the PhD research of the main author (Custers et al., 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022) as an alternative and experimental approach to the concept of hybrid forums in order to create "risky situations" within participatory planning processes. These risky situations are created by "staging" (see Section 2.1) the dialogue in the reallife context of the planning process (Metzger, 2014) and combining this staging with "democratic design experiments" (explained in Section 2.2; see also Binder et al., 2015). Combining staging and democratic design experiments makes experience and evaluation part of the same participatory planning process and renders the doubt and disagreement about the matters of concern visible. The design researcher takes up the role of a "stage director" (Pedersen, 2020) who strategically navigates (see Section 2.3) the participatory planning process by setting up new experiments in order to involve new actors on different scales, thus creating risky situations to deal with the complexity and diversity of the matters of concern that are inherent to planning processes.

#### 2.1. The Staging of a Dialogue in a Place

The first element of the experiential evaluation is "staging" the dialogue in a place. The place is then defined as the context of the planning process and the everyday life of the citizens. The place of the staging defined in the relational-materialist position of Metzger (2014, p. 94) is neither subjective nor objective but is, as the author outlined:

The full gamut of spatially positioned interrelated subject/object becomings in which intra-acting elements are endowed with identity and integrity...becomes joined together as an articulate place through the integrative, synthesising function of an instantiation of subjectivity-objectivity which senses the world in situated ways and generates specific images of the world.

When the dialogue is situated in a place, the place becomes part of the experiential evaluation and thus opens the dialogue for other values also related to the "more-than-human" actors present in the place, such as the water or the trees, because actors relate in different ways to the places they experience.

#### 2.2. Democratic Design Experiments

Binder et al. (2015) translated the concept of Callon et al. (2009) of hybrid forums into what they call "democratic design experiments." These democratic design experiments open a new role for design that is "about staging socio-material conditions for controversial issues in ways that facilitate contradictions, oppositions, and disagreement through direct engagement" (Binder et al., 2015, p. 153). A "socio-material condition" is an assemblage of human and more-than-human actors, which can change the space of interaction and performance and by doing so, open up the process for new ways of thinking and behaving (Binder et al., 2011). Applied to participatory planning, it is the assemblage of maps, prototypes, actors, and the place within which they interact that defines the room for action (Pedersen, 2020).

Binder et al. (2015) argue how democratic design experiments engage collectives in another kind of "decision-making," a more "designerly" way beyond the mere discursive. It is about real-life experiments and engagements with possible worlds, and thus literally drawing (or building) things together (Binder et al., 2015). They define the essence of democracy as the ability to disagree and explore other options. Democratic design experiments do this in a "more-than-human" way by engaging humans and more-than-humans such as trees, buildings, etc., and make issues and tensions experientially available in a way that possible futures become tangible, formable, or within reach of engaged (diverse) citizens (Binder et al., 2011).

#### 2.3. Experiential Evaluation as Strategic Navigation

Pedersen (2020) argues that the staging of a participatory process, a hybrid forum, requires a stage director. Staging does not require an objective facilitator, but someone who—instead of steering—navigates towards matters of concern. Staging thus implies political or strategic navigation (Devos, 2021; Hillier, 2011; Munthe-Kaas & Hoffmann, 2017; Yoshinaka & Clausen, 2020) of moving through an uncertain, complex, and dynamic network of actors on multiple scales, which requires constant management of tensions and thus looking for room to negotiate about the matters of concerns in an experimental way. This navigation requires skills to cope with a multitude of existing and emerging interests that do not enter the stage in an orderly fashion and are often competing or at least entwined, and shift across scales throughout the process (Yoshinaka & Clausen, 2020). These skills can be developed by engaging in diverse environments of ever-changing conditions of development and as such—by rehearsal design experiments, and ongoing negotiations in diverse articulations (Yoshinaka & Clausen, 2020).

Hillier (2011) developed four strategic navigation techniques based on the multiplanar theory of Deleuze and Guattari (1987, as cited in Hillier, 2011): tracing, mapping, diagramming, and agencying.

- Tracing entails the collaborative exploration of the potential of a particular planning challenge. The joint (re)definition of the research question. It is also about understanding how a certain issue came into being, by untangling and interpreting the processes and relations between actants.
- 2. Mapping builds on the insight of the tracing and is about matching the identified challenges with promising and affected actor networks. Therefore, mapping identifies new relational opportunities, values, and tensions.
- Diagramming entails collective future-making, thus making alternative futures tangible and, by doing so, supporting new socio-material assemblages to be formed.
- Agencying is aimed at strategically developing the necessary agencies to ensure the new dynamics that are formed around the planning issue are sustained, institutionalising these dynamics.

These navigation techniques can be applied as an analytical framework to analyse complex and dynamic participatory processes and as an alternative and experimental approach to participatory planning processes (Hillier, 2011). In a recent article, Devos (2021) uses Hillier's techniques as an analytical framework to deconstruct the interplay of multiple tactics deployed in two complex participatory processes. We will deploy these techniques in a similar way; however, the interplay between the actors (institutions and planning practitioners versus institutions and citizens) and the research questions differs.

In this article, we will reflect on the potential of experiential evaluation as an approach to introducing risky situations in participatory planning processes to make room for other actors and values and render tensions visible and constructive.

#### 3. Engaging in Risky Situations

In order to illustrate the potential of the experiential evaluation approach, we will use the four navigation techniques to deconstruct the participatory planning process in which the main author and the second author were involved. This process took place in Zwijnaarde, a



neighbourhood on the south side of Ghent, the second largest city of Flanders (Belgium), with around 263,000 inhabitants. Over two years, both authors set up a process of experiential evaluation by initiating situated experiments in close collaboration with key stakeholders. We use the framework to evaluate the impact of this approach of experiential evaluation by answering the following three questions, for each of the four stages put forward by the framework (see Table 1):

- 1. To which extent did the risky situations help open up the process to new actors?
- 2. To which extent did the risky situations help make tensions and dependencies between values visible?
- 3. To which extent did the risky situations help translate these other values into the decision-making process?

#### 3.1. The Case of Zwijnaarde

Zwijnaarde was an autonomous municipality until it became a part of the city of Ghent in 1977. It is a large neighbourhood (1,206 hectares) with only around 8,000 inhabitants. The distance to the city centre of Ghent is approximately six to seven kilometres. It is feasible by bike, and there is a light rail connection to the main train station and the city centre. The morphology of Zwijnaarde is diverse: low-density residential subdivisions, villas—but also a higher density around the historical centre, former working-class houses, and several business parks in the north part. These living environments are surrounded and divided from each other by open space (nature but also agricultural land).

The neighbourhood is heavily impacted (air quality and sound nuisance) by the large infrastructure (highways) on the north and east side, and a busy regional state road divides the neighbourhood into two parts. The business parks function as islands within the neighbourhood, which causes tensions with the more residential character of the neighbourhood. The river Scheldt forms the east border, although it is cut off from the neighbourhood by one of the highways.

There is an active neighbourhood committee. They are well-informed about the urban planning of Zwijnaarde and create a place for citizens to discuss issues with the city policy or other institutions during their meetings. Additionally, they communicate and inform the citizens about their actions via their Facebook page Toekomst van Zwijnaarde (Dutch for Future of Zwijnaarde). This "concerned group" (Callon et al., 2009, p. 82) is an important partner in the participatory process to create a local network.

#### 3.2. The Neighbourhood Spatial Plan

In 2018, the strategic policy Ruimte voor Gent (Dutch for "space for Ghent") was implemented (Stad Gent,

2018). This vision defines the spatial ambitions of the city's policy until 2030 and beyond. With this vision came also the engagement to develop neighborhood spatial plans (NSPs) for a number of neighbourhoods, including Zwijnaarde. The proximity to the city centre and connection with qualitative public transportation, together with the foreseen growth of citizens in the city, makes Zwijnaarde a strategic location for densification.

This NSP is a new spatial planning instrument that approaches the densification of the neighbourhood as an opportunity to define an alternative scenario for the sustainable transformation of the neighbourhood in the short, medium, and long term. The NSP contains sufficient degrees of flexibility towards changes in the future and focuses on the structural elements in the neighbourhood, which are spatial entities that are fundamental for future transformation. It is a new planning instrument with no predefined process and thus the assignment also explores what an NSP can or should be (Stad Gent, 2018).

#### 3.3. The Participatory Planning Process

The case that is the subject of this article is part of the PhD research of the main author, engaging in an anthropological way with a commissioned assignment by the policy of the city of Ghent in Belgium. The main author became part of the design team that developed the NSP for Zwijnaarde. This also allowed her to emerge in the world of the institution and the everyday life of the citizen. The second author and the supervisor of the first author worked as project leader of the participatory process in Ghent. The PhD research was not funded by-nor dependent on-this assignment, which enabled the design researchers to take the liberty to add extra research activities to the participatory process, which were always made transparent to the city expert in charge of the project. We conducted the assignment in collaboration with a design office. This office was in charge of the design of the NSP and the organisation of the co-creation sessions. We-as design researcherswere in charge of the participatory process and the translation of the contribution of the citizens to the design process.

The participatory planning process started in February 2020, just before the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic. This forced us to rethink the process and made us experiment with online tools and develop new tools. This resulted in a new process where we had an online and offline version ready for all the activities, in order to shift if the situation (and thus the health measures) changed.

#### 3.4. Creating Risky Situations

The assignment stated specifically that the process had to include a "people-oriented approach to planning." This meant that the process had to consider the everyday life of the citizens (the specific and everyday use of the



	Opening the process to actors and values	Making values visible	Translating values into decision-making process
Tracing	<ul> <li>Introduction tour together with design office to experience neighbourhood from outsiders' perspective.</li> <li>Online neighbourhood market 1 with members of neighbourhood committee to map challenges.</li> <li>Interview members of the project team to know their perspective on the assignment.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Introduction tour added on the website once it was launched.</li> <li>Report of the interviews handed over the city expert in charge of the NSP.</li> </ul>	• Challenges reframed as nine ambitions which became the foundation of the NSP.
Mapping	<ul> <li>Exploratory walks to engage</li> </ul>	Walk-app and website to	• Co-creation sessions organised
Step 1: Include local knowledge	<ul> <li>inhabitants in another way with their neighbourhood and include other values.</li> <li>Home visits to expand the network of engaged inhabitants.</li> <li>Workshop with pupils to include other values.</li> <li>Neighbourhood committee made a collective online walk with their values.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>visualise the physical maps of the exploratory walks and the pupils workshop.</li> <li>Audio fragments of pupils posted as stories on the website.</li> <li>Neighbourhood committee used the walk-app to make their values visible.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>with engaged inhabitants on preliminary design of the NSP.</li> <li>Collectively evaluate if the value were translated correctly in the ambitions and further in the preliminary design.</li> <li>Include local knowledge and other values in the refinement of the design of the NSP.</li> </ul>
Step 2: Evaluate alternatives	<ul> <li>Support the city experts with organising focus groups with different stakeholders to evaluate the NSP.</li> <li>Future walks to walk to strategic locations from the NSP and collectively evaluate in the place.</li> <li>Online future walks via the walk-app for inhabitants to explore the NSP at a convenient time.</li> <li>At the second neighbourhood market, participants could add feedback to a large-scale model with the NSP presented on.</li> </ul>	• Feedback from the participants of the future walks and neighbourhood market were added to the website.	• The feedback of the inhabitants was translated into the final design of the NSP.
Diagramming	• Organise a Live Project on two strategic locations of the NSP in order to make alternative futures tangible and allowing new actors and values to enter the process.	<ul> <li>Show the potential of the place for the larger area as a meeting place.</li> <li>Redirect the dialogue from individual challenges towards collective values.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Results of the Live Project were handed over to the design office to be included in the pilot project (related to the NSP).</li> <li>Co-creation session organised related to the pilot project with invited inhabitants to discuss the preconditions of densification in the neighbourhood.</li> </ul>
Agencying	<ul> <li>Potential to involve inhabitants in monitoring of the NSP via the action plan part of the NSP.</li> <li>Support actions of inhabitants to give them agency in the realisation of the NSP.</li> </ul>		~

 Table 1. Analytical framework based on the four strategic navigation techniques.

Source: Adapted from Hillier (2011).



space) and give citizens an active role in the spatial policy (co-creation). The NSP process was designed to intertwine our participatory work with the work of the design office. We developed different types of walks to connect with other actors and collect other values, which we alternated with the co-creation sessions around a scale model to collect the findings and proposals and translate them into the design. By alternating the walks with the co-creation sessions, we would be able to bring the local knowledge of the citizens into the NSP and also bring the NSP into the everyday life of the citizens.

We developed four types of walks: the introduction tour to discover the neighbourhood from an outsider's perspective; the exploratory walks invite the citizens to show us their neighbourhood from their perspective; the thematic walks let us experience the different themes of the spatial plan from another perspective; and the future walks bring the design of the spatial plan literally back to the neighbourhood. However, we were not able to organise the thematic walks because at that moment there was not enough room to introduce a risky situation due to tensions in a parallel mobility transition process which affected the NSP process. Also, there was a lockdown due to the Covid-19 pandemic, which made it impossible to physically meet people. In this article, we focus on two risky situations: the exploratory walks and the live project. We chose these situations because they were introduced in the process at moments when there was room to experiment (see Figure 1).

#### 3.4.1. Exploratory Walks

The exploratory walks are part of the second strategic navigation technique, the mapping: the joint seeking for new relations and the mapping of values and tensions. We divided this technique into two parts. The first part is to include the local knowledge into the NSP and thus engage with the everyday life of the citizens, and the second part is to collectively evaluate the alternative spatial scenario. The exploratory walks are the first part of the mapping technique to include the local knowledge in the NSP.

The exploratory walks supported the citizens to engage in an alternative way with their neighbourhood. We asked them to map different types of locations they felt a relation to in their neighbourhood and to organise them in a personal walk. We asked them to answer specific questions in relation to these places (see Figure 2). They had to answer the following questions: Which places were the start/end point of the walk? Which places do they visit often? Which places do they like to be and which are the places they do not like to be? Wich are the places that they miss in their neighbourhood and which are the places where they meet others? A walkbag (see Figure 3) was developed to support the citizens to design individual exploratory walks in their neighbourhood. Often, they chose a route-well-known to them-through the neighbourhood. However, the mapping assignment stimulated them to pay closer attention to the experience of their daily routine, by taking more conscious stops, taking a picture, making a note...

We also consciously addressed particular groups in the neighbourhood to organise a walk. For instance, we had the opportunity to do a workshop with pupils (10 to 11 years old) of an elementary school at the end of October 2020, right before the second lockdown (see Figure 4). At the start of the workshop, we handed over a walk-bag which the pupils used to draw their map of the neighbourhood. It was not feasible to do an actual walk because schools could not easily organise outdoor events, but we assisted them in making a map of their neighbourhood and asked several of the pupils to tell us how they saw the future of Zwijnaarde.

Additionally, we developed a walk-app, called De Andere Ruimte ("the other space"), designed to collect data while walking by making use of a mobile device with location services switched on. The basic development of the walk-app had already been started before the outbreak of the pandemic. The intention was to develop an online application to broaden the diversity of



Figure 1. Overview of the process and the room to experiment.





Figure 2. Example maps of the exploratory walks handed in by citizens. Picture by Maat Ontwerpers.

participants who could do the data input. However, with the outbreak of the pandemic, we decided to develop an application that goes beyond mere data input that could support us with ethnographic fieldwork during a time of social distancing (see Figure 5). The walk-app is linked to a website, which is called Plan Je Wijk ("map your neighbourhood"), which was used to visualise the collected data (see Figure 6). The online platform (and the walkapp) allowed people to share their spatial experience at any time, but also to discover the NSP at a moment convenient to them or make an autonomous choice in doing research into the places they were interested in.

#### 3.4.2. Live Projects

The live project is part of the diagramming step, which is about making alternative futures tangible to support the formation of new socio-material assemblages. In the live project, students of the second master architecture and the first master interior architecture step into a design process together with citizens, policymakers, and local actors to think about the possible futures of a certain place or a certain spatial issue. A live project aims to support the dialogue about future developments using critical design research (Harriss & Widder, 2014).



**Figure 3.** The design of the walk-bag. Picture by Maat Ontwerpers.



Figure 4. Workshop with the pupils.





Figure 5. Screenshot of the walk-app on a mobile device.

The first group of students worked on an underused open space next to a care home for the elderly and separated from a bike path by a fence (see Figure 7). Their project resulted in partly removing the fence to show the potential of this underused open space. The other group of students developed two tools to engage citizens in a dialogue about densification and tested these on two different locations for two days in the second week (see Figure 8). On the third and final day, they showed the results and the tools at a neighbourhood park.

#### 4. Case Analysis

In this part, we apply the analytical framework based on the four navigation techniques to the two risky situations: the exploratory walks and the live projects. For each risky situation, we analyse the extent to which the risky situation helped to open up the process to other actors; did it help make tensions and dependencies between values visible and did it support translating these other values into the decision-making process?

#### 4.1. Exploratory Walks

We organised the exploratory walks to include the local knowledge of the citizens in the NSP process. The city experts had already mapped a part of this local



Figure 6. Screenshots of the website.



Figure 7. Live project 1: Underused open space at a care home for the elderly.





Figure 8. Live project 2: Dialogue about densification in the neighbourhood.

knowledge via focus groups with stakeholders before the start of the process and the neighbourhood committee. We wanted to extend this network with other engaged citizens via the exploratory walks because we believed that there were other actors that also cared about the neighbourhood but were not yet involved.

We communicated to the citizens via different means (digital newsletter, brochure via mail, and social media) that they could pick up a bag at two locations in the neighbourhood, but the citizens did not spontaneously respond to this call. Also, due to the pandemic and the redirecting of the process, we were unable to meet citizens physically. That is why the lead researcher proposed conducting home visits in different parts of the neighbourhood, and we engaged in the workshop with the pupils.

#### 4.1.1. Opening the Process to Other Actors

The home visits aimed to engage citizens to make an exploratory walk (gather local knowledge) and meet the citizens in order to build their own network in the neighbourhood in addition to the already existing network built by the city experts. We would also be able to send reminders to the people to engage with their fieldwork assignment and invite them to future activities because we collected their contact details when we handed over the walk-bag. The lead researcher had completed five rounds of visits by mid-September 2020, each in a different part of the neighbourhood. The doorbells that she rang and thus the people that she talked to were randomly chosen. We observed, together with the city experts, that these home visits contributed to a more diverse network of participants in future activities and that these "other participants" bring in new values and tensions.

The workshop with the pupils gave us the opportunity to connect with a group of actors that are not easily reached in a participatory process. 4.1.2. Making Tensions and Dependencies Between Values Visible

The maps that were handed in by the participants showed that their relationship with the place shifted as they were asked to think about how they valued these places while they were in the place itself. The mapping assignment helped to collect richer data and thus allowed other values to enter the process. The places are the same, but the perspective and thus the relation to the place shifted as they were asked to think about how they value these places:

Wonderful silence! This path along the river near the business park is the only place where you can still walk without much noise. Now still unknown and undeveloped! [as a response to "a place where I like to be"]

This has the potential to be a public place? Perhaps there is an opportunity here to give more attention to this unused open space and to make it public as a park or resting place for the neighbourhood? [as a response to "a place I miss in my neighbourhood"]

At the same time, the participants used their walks to make their values explicit. For example, a participant that is a member of a youth movement indicated this on the map: "Green spaces like this are very important for youth and the youth movement."

The interpretation of the exploratory walks as a workshop with pupils disconnected the group from the experience of being in space. During these "walks," the children connected their values and local knowledge to spaces on a physical map via their imagination. There was thus an imaginary connection to the space which departed from the spaces the persons were familiar with. The pupils sometimes took this exercise a step further and expressed their values via imaginary places, like the transformation of the neighbourhood into a park for dinosaurs, which expressed the pupils' concern for more trees in the neighbourhood for their ecological value.

A few representatives of the neighbourhood committee used the walk-app just after it was launched to make a collective walk. In this walk, they added their knowledge about the spatial development of the neighbourhood, which includes opinions and information about larger urban developments, heritage buildings, and the history of certain places, and they thus directly made their values visible via the website.

We used the walk-app and the website to report and dynamically communicate about the process by digitalising and visualising the physical maps. This made the process more transparent and by doing so, it has the potential to open the process and invite others in (DiSalvo, 2022). For example, at the start of the focus group with the farmers (later in the process), they called upon their right to be heard in the process, because they saw the stories of the pupils: "Why were the pupils asked to participate and we were not?"

#### 4.1.3. Translating Values to the Decision-Making Process

After the exploratory walks, the design office initiated co-creation sessions to discuss the preliminary design of the NSP with different stakeholders. Initially, there

were no sessions planned with citizens, but after a discussion with the project team, we decided to organise three online neighbourhood brainstorming sessions with engaged citizens (Figures 9 and 10). In preparation for the sessions, the design office did a first exercise to translate the collected values and concerns from the previous steps into nine ambitions and then translated these ambitions into the preliminary design of the NSP. The aim of the neighbourhood brainstorm was twofold: first, we wanted to check if we had translated the values correctly into the ambitions and the preliminary design and second, we wanted to include local knowledge and other values in the further development of the NSP. The engaged citizens had to sign up as a "neighbourhood planner," which meant that they were interested to be more involved in the process of the NSP.

After the neighbourhood brainstorming session, the design team refined the design of the NSP based on the feedback from this session and the sessions with other stakeholders. During the session, there were also discussions about conflicting values between citizens. For example, about the implementation of a "school street." A young parent found that it was a priority to add it to the preliminary design because she wanted to cycle to school with her young children in a safe way. For an older person, it was something he did not see the use of.



Figure 9. Overview online whiteboard neighbourhood brainstorm. Design by Maat Ontwerpers.





Figure 10. Zooms of an online whiteboard with feedback from participants. Design by Maat Ontwerpers.

#### 4.2. Live Project

After the mapping, the design of the NSP was finalised. However, the future transformation of the neighbourhood as it was defined in the NSP remained abstract for most of the citizens, specifically on the part of densification. This created mistrust around the intentions of the city policy about the NSP, and thus about the future of their neighbourhood. Also, the area of the NSP is large, which makes it difficult for the participants to translate the NSP to the scale of their everyday life. Therefore, we decided to organise a live project in two locations in order to make it more tangible.

#### 4.2.1. Opening the Process to Other Actors

The live project invited new actors into the process. At the first location, the students engaged with the elderly people, the children of a nearby school, the owner of a vegetable garden on the other side of the path, and the users of the path (pedestrians, a lot of them with dogs, and cyclists). Also at the second location, the prototyping allowed new actors to enter the dialogue, like the homeowners, visitors, people passing by, or contractors working in the neighbourhood.

The members of the project team were also involved and they met with the students on a regular basis during the two weeks. New experts participated in the live project to guide the students. For example, the coordinator of the local service centre participated in the pitch at the end of the first week to give feedback on the proposals of the students.

### 4.2.2. Making Tensions and Dependencies Between Values Visible

The re-opening of the fence at the first location showed the potential for the underused space for the larger area. The citizens could experience the reconnection of the space with the elderly care home, but also the nearby park with the school, the local service centre, the sports centre, and the library. The students installed a small bench along the bike path to emphasise the potential of a meeting place at a crossroads for future connections.

In the second location, the tools developed in the live project helped to redirect the dialogue with the citizens beyond pro or against densification. Specifically, the students started the discussion with the citizens from the perspective that the neighbourhood is already densifying and asked them under what preconditions a densification in Zwijnaarde would be acceptable, and also what the neighbourhood could "gain" from this densification, in a sense of what collective needs this densification should or could meet. This redirected the dialogue as a form of "meaningful bargaining" (Mäntysalo et al., 2011) from individual challenges towards collective values.

#### 4.2.3. Translating Values to the Decision-Making Process

The live project was located in two strategic locations of the NSP, which means that multiple spatial concepts of the NSP came together in these locations. Also, the design office worked on one pilot project within the NSP and the live project was located within the area of this pilot project. Specifically, the pilot project focussed on a densification strategy for a certain part of the neighbourhood, the second location of the live project. The results of the second live project were handed over to the design office. Additionally, the design office initiated a co-creation session to define the preconditions for densification with city experts of different departments. They agreed to open up the session for three citizens of Zwijnaarde (members of the neighbourhood committee) and one citizen of another neighbourhood (as an external layman; see Figure 11). The design office developed two scale models of two densification scenarios to support a dialogue on the preconditions for densification (see Figure 12). It was not the intention to arrive at a design proposal for the pilot project but to map opportunities and challenges regarding densification at this location. The session was an interesting negotiation between the values of the different participants as they were for





Figure 11. Co-creation session initiated by the design office. Picture by Mike De Brie.

example discussing what "collectively" means, but also the different personal meanings of public green space.

#### 5. Discussion

In the previous part, we analysed two risky situations created via experiential evaluation to open up the participatory planning process of Zwijnaarde. In this part, we will share some reflections and learnings based on this process. We formulate these findings as elaborations towards an alternative and experimental approach to hybrid forums (Callon et al., 2009).

#### 5.1. Experiential Evaluation Supports Multiple Roles

Experiential evaluation in the process of the NSP in Zwijnaarde was able to open up the process for new actors and created not only new relationships between city experts and citizens but also new collaborations between the city experts of different departments. With the live projects, new relationships were also created between citizens. The action plan that is part of the NSP has the potential to sustain these new dynamics and thus initiate agencying, the fourth strategic navigation technique, and by doing so, hand over the role of stage director to the city experts.

### 5.2. Experiential Evaluation Takes Place at Multiple Scales

Experiential evaluation renders tensions and dependencies between values visible but these tensions were not made constructive at some given point in time within this process. The NSP is rather an open-ended instrument that focuses on the large spatial structures of the neighbourhood. It defines a certain future scenario for the neighbourhood, but not everything is determined and there are blank spots that leave room for negotiation. Also, the scale of the NSP is large. In fact, Zwijnaarde is a collection of different neighbourhoods and there



Figure 12. Scale models of two densification scenarios to support dialogue. Design and pictures by Maat Ontwerpers.



were two parts of another neighbourhood (Sint-Denijs-Westrem) added to the area. These parts all have their own tensions, which cannot be handled by the NSP but citizens want to have them taken into account and that is why, for them, the NSP is too abstract. The case made clear that, in order to take proper care of tensions between and among institutions and citizens, these need to be handled simultaneously at multiple scales. The experiential evaluation thus needed to create risky situations for multiple places on multiple scales to render tensions constructive. This requires a spatial plan to function as a platform for actions that contribute to the future transformation of the neighbourhood. This platform would sustain the new dynamics between the actors in which the city experts take upon the role of stage directors.

### 5.3. Experiential Evaluation Supports the Making of Territorial Stakeholders

The experiential evaluation and the creation of risky situations also give the designer as a stage director (Pedersen, 2020) a "designerly" mode of agency (Binder et al., 2015). The exploratory walks and the live projects were designed to extend the network of engaged citizens that were not involved yet. These risky situations were able to gather the participants that cared (Puig de la Bellacasa, 2017), which enhanced their "stakeholderness" (Metzger, 2013, p. 787) in the sense that their "stake" is related to what they value or care for, and the risky situations rendered these values visible (Metzger, 2013). After the values were made visible, they were translated into the decision-making process, which was opened up to engaged citizens. They were able to participate in the translation process of their individual values to collective values on a neighbourhood scale and potentially connected their values to the values of other engaged citizens, which turned them into "territorial stakeholders" (Metzger, 2013, p. 788). This makes experiential evaluation a process of "making" territorial stakeholders and not of "mapping" stakeholders (Metzger, 2013).

#### 5.4. Experiential Evaluation and More-Than-Humans

Experiential evaluation, as an earthly and situated approach, opened the process for other values and also more-than-human values. The exploratory walks made the citizens include their appreciation for nature, which trees they value, and where they like to sit on a bench to unwind. The nuisance (air pollution and noise hindrance) of the infrastructure became an important element in the NSP, because citizens were attentive to it, while water was less visible. The live project made them rethink the value of underused open space. There is thus potential within experiential evaluation to include more-thanhumans in a more explicit way to give them a direct voice in the process. This would not only require a rethinking of the experiential element but also the evaluation element in order to value the consequences for more-thanhumans, because every decision in a planning process that defines a certain future scenario also excludes all the other options and thus allows more-than-humans to thrive (Metzger, 2016).

#### 6. Conclusion

In this article, we explored the potential of experiential evaluation as an alternative and experimental approach to hybrid forums (Callon et al., 2009) in order to open the participatory planning process for other actors and values and thus create risky situations (Metzger, 2016). We used a methodological and analytical framework based on the four steps of strategic navigation techniques (tracing, mapping, diagramming, and agencying; Hillier, 2011) to analyse how the experimental evaluation enables the creation of these risky situations within the participatory planning process of the NSP of Zwijnaarde. This leads us to three final questions.

Experiential evaluation was able to include other engaged actors in the process and to hand over the role of stage director to the city experts. Would it be possible to hand this role to a collective of engaged citizens, a concerned group?

Experiential evaluation was able to make values visible and, at the same time, also rendered tensions visible. However, these tensions were not made constructive in one moment in time. Therefore, the experiential evaluation needs to be developed over time, at multiple places on multiple scales. This requires a spatial plan to function as a platform for actions that contribute to the future transformation of the neighbourhood. How can a more continuous work with experiential evaluation enable such a platform for the actions of the citizens and smaller processes to render tensions constructive?

Finally, experiential evaluation is a process of making territorial stakeholders and has the potential to include "more than humans" more explicitly. By doing so, it enhances the democratic character in a more-thanhuman way. How can experiential evaluation consciously address the tensions that exist between humans, and between humans and more-than-humans?

#### Acknowledgments

Our thanks to the reviewers for the critical comments which helped to improve the article substantially, to the experts of the city of Ghent, to Maat Ontwerpers, and the inhabitants of Zwijnaarde for their essential contribution and participation. We would also like to thank the students of the University of Hasselt for their engagement in the live project.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.



#### References

- Binder, T., Brandt, E., Ehn, P., & Halse, J. (2015). Democratic design experiments: Between parliament and laboratory. *CoDesign*, *11*(3/4), 152–165. https://doi. org/10.1080/15710882.2015.1081248
- Binder, T., De Michelis, G., Ehn, P., Iacucci, G., Linde, P., & Wagner, I. (2011). *Design things*. MIT Press.
- Callon, M., Lascoumes, P., & Barthe, Y. (2009). Acting in an uncertain world: An essay on technical democracy. MIT Press.
- Custers, L., Devisch, O., & Huybrechts, L. (2019). A participatory approach to societal cost benefit analysis (SCBA) as a way to start the debate on transforming residential subdivisions. In Association of European Schools of Planning (Eds.), *AESOP 2019 conference: Planning for transition* (pp. 4035–4043). Association of European Schools of Planning; Università Iuav di Venezia.
- Custers, L., Devisch, O., & Huybrechts, L. (2020). Experiential evaluation as a way to talk about livability in a neighborhood in transformation. In C. Del Gaudio, L. Parra, S. Agid, C. Parra, G. Poderi, D. Duque, L. Villezcas, A. Botero, F. César Londoño, & P. Escandón (Eds.), *PDC '20: Proceedings of the 16th participatory design conference 2020—Participation(s) otherwise* (Vol. 2, pp. 114–118). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3384772.3385128
- Custers, L., Huybrechts, L., & Devisch, O. (2021). A matter of scales: Experiential evaluation as a caring platform across scales. In E. Brandt, T. Markussen, E. Berglund, G. Julier, & P. Linde (Eds.), Nordes 2021: Matters of scale (pp. 259–268). Design Research Society. https://doi.org/10.21606/nordes.2021.28
- Custers, L., Huybrechts, L., & Devisch, O. (2022). A matter of scales: Experiential evaluation as a scaling device to support a scaling platform in a case of urban design. *Artifact: Journal of Design Practice*, 9(1), 25.1–25.23. https://doi.org/10.1386/art\_00025\_1
- Devos, T. (2021). Government planners and critical planning practices as allies: Tactics for sociospatial planning innovations. *disP—The Planning Review*, 57(2), 30–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02513625.2021.1981009
- DiSalvo, C. (2022). *Design as democratic inquiry: Putting experimental civics into practice*. MIT Press.
- Dreessen, K., Ho, D. K. L., Huybrechts, L., Lee, Y., Schepers, S., Schoffelen, J., & Storni, C. (2014). *Participation is risky: Approaches to joint creative processes*. Valiz.
- Harriss, H., & Widder, L. (Eds.). (2014). Architecture live projects: Pedagogy into practice (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Hillier, J. (2011). Strategic navigation across multiple planes: Towards a Deleuzean-inspired methodology for strategic spatial planning. *Town Planning*

*Review*, *82*(5), 503–527. https://doi.org/10.3828/tpr. 2011.30

- Ingold, T. (2008). Proceedings of the British Academy: Volume 154—2007 lectures. British Academy.
- Kühn, M. (2021). Agonistic planning theory revisited: The planner's role in dealing with conflict. *Planning Theory*, 20(2), 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1473095220953201
- Latour, B. (2004a). *From realpolitik to dingpolitik or how to make things public*. MIT Press.
- Latour, B. (2004b). *Politics of nature: How to bring the sciences into democracy*. Harvard University Press.
- Latour, B. (2005). *Reassembling the social: An introduction to actor-network-theory*. Oxford University Press.
- Mäntysalo, R., Balducci, A., & Kangasoja, J. (2011). Planning as agonistic communication in a trading zone: Re-examining Lindblom's partisan mutual adjustment. *Planning Theory*, *10*(3), 257–272. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473095210397147
- Metzger, J. (2013). Placing the stakes: The enactment of territorial stakeholders in planning processes. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *45*(4), 781–796. https://doi.org/10.1068/a45116
- Metzger, J. (2014). The subject of place: Staying with the trouble. In T. Haas & K. Olsson (Eds.), *Emergent urbanism: Urban planning & design in times of structural and systemic change* (pp. 91–99). Routledge.
- Metzger, J. (2016). Cultivating torment: The cosmopolitics of more-than-human urban planning. *City*, *20*(4), 581–601. https://doi.org/10.1080/13604813. 2016.1193997
- Munthe-Kaas, P., & Hoffmann, B. (2017). Democratic design experiments in urban planning: Navigational practices and compositionist design. *CoDesign*, *13*(4), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/15710882. 2016.1233284
- Pedersen, S. (2020). Staging negotiation spaces: A co-design framework. *Design Studies*, 68, 58–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2020.02.002
- Puig de la Bellacasa, M. (2017). *Matters of care: Speculative ethics in more than human worlds*. University of Minnesota Press.
- Stad Gent. (2018). *Ruimte voor Gent: Structuurvisie 2030* [Space for Ghent: Structural vision 2030]. https:// stad.gent/nl/wonen-bouwen/stadsvernieuwing/ toekomstvisie-voor-stadsvernieuwing/ruimte-voorgent

Yaneva, A. (2022). Latour for architects. Routledge.

Yoshinaka, Y., & Clausen, C. (2020). Navigating with people and objects: Strategic concerns. In C. Clausen, D. Vinck, & S. Pedersen (Eds.), Staging collaborative design and innovation: An action-oriented participatory approach (pp. 252–265). Edward Elgar Publishing.



#### **About the Authors**



**Lieve Custers** is an architect, spatial planner, and PhD candidate at the Faculty of Architecture and Arts, Hasselt University, Belgium. In her PhD research, she developed the methodology of experiential evaluation as an experimental and alternative approach to include other actors and values in participatory planning process in neighbourhoods in transformation. As part of the research cluster Spatial Capacity Building, she is involved in several research projects with a particular focus on participatory planning processes.



**Liesbeth Huybrechts** is an associate professor and works in the areas of participatory design, design anthropology, and spatial transformation processes in the research group Arck, Hasselt University. She has developed a research interest in the design for/with participatory exchanges and processes of capacity building between human and the material/natural environment and the "politics" of designing these relations. She explores this in several research and educational projects and in her work on the level of coordination and policy.



**Oswald Devisch** is a professor in urban design at the Faculty of Architecture and Arts, Hasselt University, Belgium. He is the coordinator of the research cluster Spatial Capacity Building exploring themes such as autonomous transformation processes, collective learning, strategic participation, and the gamification of participatory planning.



Article

# Experts as Game Changers? A Critical Discourse Analysis of Climate Measures in the Metropolitan Region of Amsterdam

Tanja Herdt <sup>1,2,\*</sup> and Víctor Muñoz Sanz <sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> IRAP Institute of Spatial Development, OST Eastern Switzerland University of Applied Sciences, Switzerland <sup>2</sup> Department of Urbanism, Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands

\* Corresponding author (tanja.herdt@ost.ch)

Submitted: 31 October 2022 | Accepted: 26 January 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

#### Abstract

This article analyzes the acceptance of climate policy measures in the Metropolitan Region of Amsterdam to understand how policy and planning interrelate with private and public interests. While legitimizing climate policy and measures, values can also cause conflict when operationalized locally. By analyzing value conflicts in public discourse, we gain insights into questions of environmental behavior and their influence on the acceptance of climate action. We report on quantitative and qualitative discourse analysis covering 410 articles from Dutch newspapers between 2015 and 2021 in the Metropolitan Region of Amsterdam related to the energy transition, mobility, and urban greening. Our findings show that public discourse mostly remains abstract and detached from local contexts. As experts and politicians dominate the debate, the discourse mainly addresses science- and policy-related arguments, representing the public interest but reflecting only insufficiently private interests and the local (re-)distribution of benefits and burdens. Therefore, we attribute spontaneous protest to the lack of reference to differentiated values at the local level and find the argument of NIMBYism insufficient to explain residents' opposition. Instead, our findings point to experts' and decision-makers' lack of recognition of the local "idea of place" and a community's identity as an explanation for the sudden emergence of protests. Here, urban design may bridge the gap between policy and planning by translating technical and economic constraints into place-specific designs.

#### Keywords

climate change adaptation; climate change mitigation; critical discourse analysis; environmental behavior; identity of place; public acceptability; urban design; urban planning; values

#### Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

#### 1. Introduction

In 2019, several actions by the Extinction Rebellion movement shook the city of Amsterdam. Activists and sympathizers blocked roads and protested at Dam Square to demand radical political actions against the climate emergency: "I am quite angry that my generation is not being listened to. I have stopped flying and eating meat, but politicians hardly take any serious measures to improve the climate. It feels like we're being abandoned," said Evaline Vink, one of those demonstrators, to the press (Khaddari & Wiegman, 2019, para. 37). In 2021, another climate demonstration took place in Dam Square, organized by the citizens' initiative "Windalarm" to protest plans to build wind turbines near their neighborhood. Although the demonstration was against the implementation of climate measures, Naut Kusters, one of Windalarm's co-founders, told the newspaper that the initiatives' ultimate goal was to reach the net-zero targets as soon as possible: "That is not a point of discussion" (van Zoelen, 2021, para. 5).

This contradictory protest behavior highlights the discrepancy between abstract climate policy goals and the realities of implementation and is symptomatic of the



political and social challenges associated with the transition to climate neutrality and the adaptation of our cities. The accumulation of such conflict articulations suggests that the reason for the protest is not solely due to individual unwillingness, often derided as NIMBYism, the "Not In My Backyard" reactivity. NIMBY implies that local citizens are unwilling to accept personal costs in exchange for public interest. We argue that a more plausible reason for conflict is that, despite far-reaching consequences, the values of those affected locally are not sufficiently considered. Thus, becoming evident in a radical simplification of public debate on climate measures.

This article examines the tension between political climate goals and local acceptance of those measures. It analyses how conflicts of public and private interest are represented in public debate and how well public interest, as represented by experts, is connected to citizens' environmental values. This research is based on the hypothesis that considering people's values in planning and communicating climate measures will increase acceptance.

We examine to which degree experts mainly work with arguments that embody commonly accepted values in the public interest, appealing to the consensus of climate goals without addressing conflicts and contradictions in their implementation. We investigate the role of media when shaping the public discourse. We posit that journalism operationalizes a particular type of expert voice, namely that of trained scientists and professionals with direct and indirect involvement in city planning. While we recognize that community members possess situated forms of expert knowledge of their environment, the actors we consider experts in this article are those whose technical knowledge is institutionally legitimized.

We analyze public discourse on climate adaptation and mitigation in Dutch media outlets covering the Metropolitan Region of Amsterdam (MRA, Metropoolregio Amsterdam) from 2015 to 2021. This interlinking of measures reflects the limited space for intervention in Dutch cities, which lets municipalities often combine measures for climate mitigation with those for climate adaptation (e.g., subsidizing green roofs and solar panels). We used quantitative conceptual and relational content analysis to question dimensions of distributive justice and values of climate adaptation and mitigation in public debate. Our objectives were (a) to identify conflict-related arguments highlighting tensions between values and interests; (b) to question how interests and values relate, whose voice is represented in discourse, and the types of arguments used; and (c) to understand instances of support and protest as related to agreement, disagreement, or questioning of specific climate measures.

Because discourse influences the extent to which the spatial distribution of benefits and burdens is perceived as equitable and whether individuals and communities feel represented (Herdt & Jonkman, 2021), this analysis may help improve how municipalities, planning administrations, and governmental bodies communicate planning-related climate actions.

The structure of the article is as follows. First, we provide some theoretical basis for our analysis, looking at how values relate to questions of climate adaptation and mitigation and planning conflicts. We then discuss our mixed-methods approach, comprising qualitative and quantitative data analysis, the results of which are reported and discussed in Section 4. We conclude by emphasizing the importance of understanding how planning processes can connect public and private interests, how to communicate, and how to involve citizens. Here, we believe urban design can play an important role as a "bridge practice" (Mehrotra, 2020), between global policy ambitions and local community values.

#### 2. Values and the Acceptance of Climate Policies and Projects

Values are general goals or ideals that people consider important in their lives and according to which they orient their behavior (Schwartz, 1992). Because of their abstract nature, values allow us to make assumptions about an expected or desired future or the behavior of others. They encompass diverse situations and actions, comprising various pro-environmental perspectives and actions (Seligman & Katz, 1996). One of the two value dimensions described by Schwartz (1992) is that of selfenhancement vs. self-transcendence. This dimension reflects the extent to which a person values the welfare and interests of others (self-transcendent) as opposed to their own personal interests (self-enhancing). Four categories of values influence people's behavior with regards to climate policy or climate-related measures (De Groot & Steg, 2008; Perlaviciute et al., 2018):

- 1. Biospheric values, which address concerns for nature and the environment;
- 2. Altruistic values, which express concern over the well-being of others and society;
- 3. Egoistic values, which concern safeguarding personal resources such as wealth and status;
- 4. Hedonic values, which address seeking pleasure and comfort.

The first two address public interest and are selftranscendent, whereas the latter two address personal interest and self-enhancement.

Rarely do climate projects, such as energy projects, exclusively address the biospheric value category. Instead, such projects have a variety of characteristics that can negatively impact some of the four values categories while benefitting others (Perlaviciute et al., 2018). Values that drive climate action range from individual to global concerns and can change over time (Martiskainen et al., 2020). Therefore, people's acceptance of climate measures is not given by a particular value scheme, and



there is no strong link between socio-demographics and environmental values (Sargisson et al., 2020). Other factors like personal and social norms may be more closely related to environmental behavior (Klöckner, 2013). In general, biospheric, altruistic, and egoistic values seem most relevant for environmental behavior (Perlaviciute, 2022).

The importance of core values and beliefs is particularly evident when looking at negative responses to climate policies and projects, which often occur when people's individual core values are threatened, emotional reactions are evoked, or elements of distributive or procedural justice are not adequately addressed (Marshall et al., 2019; Perlaviciute et al., 2018; Sargisson et al., 2020). One can distinguish two forms of protest which respond to different value categories. Social movements in favor of climate policies (e.g., Fridays For Future) address the absence of climate policies and action in individual concerns about the global and local environment and the wellbeing of future generations, vulnerable populations, etc., as well as concerns that their own families are being negatively affected by climate change. Here, biospheric, altruistic, and egoistic values are being addressed simultaneously (Martiskainen et al., 2020; Wallis & Loy, 2021). When threatening egoistic values, e.g., increasing costs or decreasing property value, climate policies and projects can evoke protest. The same action may equally address altruistic values, particularly if individuals feel that benefits and burdens are not equally distributed or if people feel excluded from decision-making processes. Here, it is assumed that people use a form of "practical rationality" to evaluate the given situation in terms of each value category. The mechanism of opposition to or rejection of climate measures appears to be related to the extent to which various project features violate or support the individuals' core values.

#### 2.1. Value Conflicts in Urban Planning

In addition to tensions between climate policy, projects and individuals' core values, conflicts between the values themselves are at the heart of todays' urban planning. Values mediate the tensions between development for environmental, economic, and social sustainability (Campbell, 2016). They are also ethically motivated. The belief in something essential and legitimate serves to justify actions or to establish specific rules of conduct (Langford, 2004). Values are, therefore, deeply embedded in infrastructure and existing regulations and shape communities and their behavior (van den Hoven et al., 2015). During the planning process, inherent values become operationalized by experts and are transformed into social norms, which then shape design strategies and the implementation of projects (Dignum et al., 2016; van den Hoven et al., 2015).

Conflicts can arise from various "translation gaps" during the planning process. A gap between inherent

values and a design strategy may result from a structural change in the planning process, e.g., in legislation or administrative procedures. Such change can affect people's sense of the equitable distribution of benefits and burdens (e.g., access to public resources and goods) and procedural justice (e.g., not being involved in the decision-making process). Recent studies have shown that these two factors significantly influence individual decisions and address values of all kinds, e.g., selfish and hedonistic values, altruistic values, and biospheric values (Perlaviciute et al., 2018).

#### 2.2. Acceptance of Climate Measures

Conflicts can also arise if the planning process does not translate embedded values well enough into project design. At the beginning of a planning process, climate mitigation measures are usually addressed in abstract terms, referring to altruistic and biospheric values, e.g., sustainability or climate protection for future generations. They provide legitimacy to policy and planning. Government agencies and communities express such values in the public interest, and early in the planning process, they are usually supported by the majority. However, when these values are operationalized for specific local projects, they may face opposition from the community.

Furthermore, administrative practices and experts within government agencies may alter values (Langford, 2004). Any outcome often stems from complex relationships among various organizational frameworks such as funding and budgeting, legislation, and administrative regulations, which rely heavily on expert knowledge, making them hard to communicate to the general public.

Current research shows that people resist climate policies especially when they feel excluded from decision-making (Carattini et al., 2019; Gross, 2007). Public participation is, therefore, often cited as a possible means of addressing public resistance. But, if people have the perception of being asked too late or not having any significant influence on the outcome of the project, involvement is perceived as fake participation and can, again, fuel public resistance (Colvin et al., 2016; Gross, 2007; Perlaviciute et al., 2018; Reilly et al., 2016; Terwel et al., 2012).

Experts, therefore, play an important role in the operationalization of values during the planning process. They not only contribute to a project through their knowledge and expertise but also must translate values into coherent design strategies at multiple stages of the design process. They need to align a project with the organization's internal standards and consider the three relevant value categories important to the public.

#### 2.3. Beyond NIMBYism

Public opposition against climate adaptation and mitigation projects is often dismissed as NIMBY, implying that



local citizens are unwilling to incur personal costs for the public interest. However, the influence of NIMBYism on the acceptance of climate mitigation measures is controversial: on the one hand, NIMBYism is used in public discourse as presumptive argument to explain local resistance to climate measures (Verhoeven, 2021); on the other, public support does distinguish different types of climate mitigation projects, e.g., urban greening vs. the installation of wind turbines. Criteria such as role perception, communication of complex planning processes, or individual reputation seem to play a role in the use of NIMBYism as an argument in public discourse. For instance, experts may use NIMBYism to explain the stopping of a project without further explanation of the complex administrative and legal actions behind it (Verhoeven, 2021). Similarly, local stakeholders and interest groups may insist on NIMBYism as a reason for opposition to a project, even if they must adjust their arguments to maintain their public appearances (Esaiasson, 2014).

While there is evidence for a correlation between the physical distance to a project's implementation and the responses to climate change or support for a specific project (Hart et al., 2015), the NIMBYism argument often ignores residents' other genuine concerns, such as a fair distribution of costs and benefits and the impact of climate projects on the identity and symbolic value of a place (Devine-Wright, 2005, 2013). Research on place attachment in climate adaptation projects has shown that place identity is situated within wider socio-political structures, institutions and cultural symbols. It is formed at multiple scales (Gustafson, 2009; Hernandez et al., 2007), and influenced by multiple factors such as personal mobility (Lewicka, 2011) as well as identity processes which are embedded in occupations carried out in particular places (Breakwell, 1986). This assumption is supported by research findings on climate mitigation projects, such as windfarms, suggesting that projects can disrupt and threaten place related identities and evoke resistance when perceived by residents to be "out of place" (Devine-Wright, 2009).

Following Patrick Devine-Wright (2011), we aim to investigate links between social values, identities, and collective actions, especially "NIMBY" resistance to climate adaptation and mitigation strategies. In debates about climate measures, it is often claimed that private interests (e.g., protection of ownership, property value, and character of place) may dominate. This set of interests may relate to conflicting values, but may also reflect a lack of influence in decision-making processes or a physical outcome poorly connected to the identity of place. To go beyond NIMBYism as an explanation and to better understand how climate is debated, our research aims to elucidate how private and public interests are addressed and connected in the public debate around climate adaptation and mitigation projects in the MRA.

Since research has shown that mass media's influence on the significance people afford to climate-related issues in their daily lives (Boykoff, 2011; M. Boykoff &

J. Boykoff, 2004; McAllister et al., 2021), this article examines as well how the public discourse about climate is affected by media coverage and use of journalistic practices such as so-called "balanced reporting." Here, research on media coverage sheds light on the role of the expert in public opinion making through the use of balanced reporting and, the use of social media by individuals' and local interest groups' role on public opinion making (Painter, 2011; Painter & Ashe, 2012).

#### 3. Methodology

#### 3.1. Case Study

The MRA is a partnership comprising thirty-two municipalities in two provinces, North Holland and Flevoland. The MRA has the largest population in the Netherlands (2.5 million inhabitants, i.e., 14% of the Dutch population). Its agenda for 2020–2024 features an implementation line on transition planning that addresses, among other things, climate adaptation, energy transition, and their relation to the landscape. The MRA has the city of Amsterdam at its center. With the approval of the Roadmap Amsterdam Climate-Neutral 2050 (*Routekaart Amsterdam Klimaatneutraal 2050*) in 2020 and the Environmental Vision 2050 (*Omgevingsvisie 2050*) in 2021, the city has taken a pioneering role in planning and implementing a diverse portfolio of climate measures.

#### 3.2. Comparative Analysis of Public Debates: Mixed-Method Content Analysis

This article analyses the tensions between public and private interests in the public discourse on climate adaptation and mitigation in Dutch media outlets from 2015 to 2021. During this period, the Paris Agreement was signed, new roadmaps for climate neutrality were developed, and Amsterdam's Environmental Vision 2050 was approved. We used quantitative conceptual and relational content analysis to investigate dimensions of distributive justice and climate adaptation and mitigation values in public debate as portrayed in public media. The dataset comprised ten Dutch public media outlets from the online archive Nexis Uni (Table 1; see also Supplementary File). It did not include professional journals, planning documents, or community-led media. The regional and local newspapers were chosen because their overall core local news coverage falls within the MRA. To ensure we only considered news within the MRA, we filtered the database according to location search terms (names of municipalities and regions; Table 2; see also Supplementary File).

We used 48 search terms organized into four topics to identify relevant articles in the online archive (Table 1). We set three search terms common to all topics to identify newspaper articles specifically about climate adaptation and mitigation projects. Three topics and keywords are grounded in the so-called strategic choices due



**Table 1.** Alignment of topics, strategic choices of Amsterdam's Environmental Vision, and search terms to identify relevant articles in the database.

	Strategic choices	Common search	Common search	Topic specific search	Topic specific search
Торіс	Amsterdam	terms (Dutch)	terms (English)	term (Dutch)	term (English)
Climate measures		klimaatverandering, klimaatadaptatie, klimaatmitigatie, klimaatmaatregel*	Climate change, climate adaptation, climate mitigation, climate measure*	maatregel* plan planen 	measures plan plans 
Urban greening	<i>Rigoureus vergroenen</i> [Rigorous greening]	klimaatverandering, klimaatadaptatie, klimaatmitigatie, klimaatmaatregel*	Climate change, climate adaptation, climate mitigation, climate measure*	vergroen* openbaare groen vegetatie hitte-eilandeffect 	greening public green vegetation heat island effect 
Sustainable mobility	Duurzaam en gezond bewegen [Sustainable and healthy mobility]	klimaatverandering, klimaatadaptatie, klimaatmitigatie, klimaatmaatregel*	Climate change, climate adaptation, climate mitigation, climate measure*	parkeerduurbeperking parkeerbeperking parkeerverordening parkeerverbod 	parking time restriction parking restriction parking ordinance parking prohibition 
Energy transition	Groeien binnen grenzen [Growing within boundaries]	klimaatverandering, klimaatadaptatie, klimaatmitigatie, klimaatmaatregel*	Climate change, climate adaptation, climate mitigation, climate measure*	windmolen windenergie energietransitie energiezuinig 	wind turbines wind energy energy transition energy-efficient 

Note: Complete table in the Supplementary File.

to their specific connection to climate adaptation and mitigation, as described in Amsterdam's Environmental Vision 2050 (Gemeente Amsterdam, 2021, pp. 49–69). The fourth topic looked at climate adaptation and mitigation projects in general.

With these parameters, we retrieved a dataset of 410 articles and got insights into temporal trends and on the weight of each category in the discourse.

We identified seven codes that align social, economic, and environmental categories related to climate adaptation and mitigation plans and projects with the models of value orientation and values related to climate policy proposed by De Groot and Steg (2008) and Perlaviciute et al. (2018). Some codes fall into two or more value-orientation categories, highlighting the dynamics of values recognized in the literature. In this way, we seek to identify conflict-related arguments that indicate tensions between values and interests (Table 2). To increase the precision of the analysis, we defined multiple keywords within each code (Table 3).

We used the qualitative analysis software ATLAS.ti to investigate the dataset, applying iterative rounds of coding, to quantify the number of hits per code and identify trends over the period of analysis. This process gen-

erated an overview of different types of discourse, topics, and the analytic categories attached to them, instances of co-occurrence between analytic categories, and how these co-occurring categories relate to conflict between public and private interests. Furthermore, we used quantitative content analysis to examine how interests and values relate, whose voice is shaping the discourse, and the types of arguments put forward. For this, we made a context-appropriate distinction between experts and citizens. By "experts," we mean the actors who influence and are actively involved in policy, planning, and implementation of climate measures (i.e., politicians, scientists, and planning professionals). Secondly, we analyzed manually positions and arguments. We focused specifically on those sentences and paragraphs coded under "Public support and protest." We ran a qualitative content analysis to identify nuances within this category through the choice of wording as well as the choice of sentence structure: support and agreement (positive sentiments towards climate measures), protest (in demand of or against climate measures), disagreement (negative sentiment towards climate measures), explicit instances of NIMBYism, or questioning of the specific measures proposed (as insufficient or ineffective) or of the process



Value orientation	Values	Codes
Egoistic	Social power (control)	CONTROL, FREEDOM
	Wealth (material possessions)	COST
	Authority, influential (having impact on people and events)	PARTICIPATION, PUBLIC SUPPORT, AND PROTEST
Altruistic	Social justice	JUSTICE
	Equality	ACCESSIBILITY
	Helpful (helping welfare of others)	HEALTH, COST
Biospheric	Respecting the earth	SUSTAINABILITY
	Unity with nature	CLIMATE, PUBLIC, AND GREEN SPACE
	Protecting the environment, preventing pollution	ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH
Hedonic	Pleasure, enjoying life, gratification for oneself	HEALTH, PUBLIC, AND GREEN SPACE

#### Table 2. Codes and related value orientation and values.

of implementation. As a result, we could then visualize the intensity and development of different sentiments.

#### 4. Data Analysis and Results

#### 4.1. Development of Discourse: Codes

We found that the number of quotes coded under "Public support and protest" rose significantly over the period 2019–2021, coincident to the period of drafting of several documents naming specific plans concerning climate measures (Table 4). When looking at the number of citations in each of the four topics of study per year, citations coded under "Public support and protest" in the topic of energy transition increased particularly in 2021, the year where the municipality of Amsterdam disclosed options for new locations for wind turbines on municipal land (Figure 1).

When analyzing in detail how those quotes under "Public support and protest" related to instances of support, disagreement, or questioning of the measures, we noted how, in the topic of climate measures in general, disagreement escalated starting in 2019. Again, the subtopic of the energy transition is the one in which measures were questioned more often. This trend can be attributed to the aforementioned planning options for installing wind turbines in the environs of residential neighborhoods in the east and north of the city. These plans fueled demonstrations and protests that successfully gained media attention.

#### 4.2. Development of Discourse: Timeline of Events

To contextualize the data, we constructed a timeline of the most important climate related events and policy acts at the various levels of the planning process. When we look at the development of the discourse over time, and relate it to those major events guiding international, national, and local planning and policy, we can identify two very distinct phases. Before 2019, the debate was very general with hardly any reflection of climate measures. Then, 2019 shows a peak in protests demanding climate actions, moved mainly by biospheric values, highlighting the reverberations of the "Fridays for Future"

Code	Explanation	Keywords (Dutch)
JUSTICE	Distributive, procedural justice	justitie, gerechtigheid, billijkheid, billijk*, oneerlijk*, onrechtvaardig*, onwettig*, onrechtmatig*
PUBLIC SUPPORT AND PROTEST	(Dis-)agreement, mobilisation	publieke steun, protest*, burgerinitiatie*, tegenstand*, demonstratie*, petitie*
COST	Financial costs, affordability, increase or loss of value	kosten, prijswaardevermeerdering*, waardevermindering*, financiele schade, betaalbaar*, onbetaalbaar*
PARTICIPATION	Active participation, citizen engagement, having a voice	actieve deelname, deelnem*, participatie, co-creatie, enquête* workshop*

Table 3. Examples of codes, their explanation, and keywords.

Note: Complete table and English translation in the Supplementary File.



0			, ,				
Year	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Number of articles	24	9	30	34	134	179	338
		Number of	citations per o	code			
Public support and protest	3	1	6	14	153	86	244
Costs	2	0	7	12	118	128	88
Justice	8	1	22	8	67	43	34
Freedom	2	1	4	10	27	51	48
Health	0	0	2	6	38	51	94
Environmental impact	5	0	4	8	13	41	94
Participation	0	2	3	3	30	39	170

Table 4. Overview of categories of codes and number of citations per year.

movement initiated by Greta Thunberg, and demonstrations by globally acting groups such as Extinction Rebellion.

With the realization of the severity of the climate crisis and the announcement of the European Green Deal and other European plans, urban planning and policy measures concerning climate adaptation and mitigation started to become more concrete, in documents such as the National Environmental Vision (*Nationale Omgevingsvisie*, or NOVI) and the working document of Amsterdam's Environmental Vision. At that point, we notice a clear shift in public discourse, towards disagreement and protest against local implementation plans by citizens, and interest groups (Figure 2).

#### 4.3. Most-Cited Arguments, 2015-2021

The most cited topics picked up in the discourse concern the economic impact on people. Quotes on costs relate to the conflict between the private interest concerning values as wellbeing, ontological security and affordable lifestyle, and the public interest of sustainability and climate protection. However, it is interesting to note that arguments centered around the topic of participation have a comparable share. Indeed, we found that disagreement is usually accompanied by criticism of the planning process, a feeling of not being heard or recognized, and a demand for greater and more meaningful citizen participation (Figure 3).



Figure 1. Development of discourse, 2015–2021: Categories of codes and number of citations per year per topic.




Figure 2. Timeline showing development of discourse: Protest for climate vs. disagreement with climate measures.

### 4.4. Main Themes and Trends Related to Disagreement or Dissatisfaction With Climate Measures

Looking at the progression of these arguments in time, our analysis suggests that costs and participation in climate adaptation and mitigation projects may be the most important aspects driving future discourse. In this respect, they can tip the balance in favor of, or against, climate adaptation and mitigation initiatives more than questions around their impact on the environmental qualities of a place or arguments linking measures to improved health (Figure 4).

#### 4.5. Whose Voices Shape Discourse? Who Is Talking?

This sudden change from broad agreement to strong protest is also reflected in the concreteness of communication. If we analyze how climate measures are being



Code co-occurrence: Public Support and Protest + ...

Figure 3. Most-cited arguments (2015–2021) and most-cited topics in co-occurrence with the "Public support and protest" code.



Figure 4. Main themes and trends related to disagreement or dissatisfaction with climate measures.

discussed in the media, it is striking that the discourse is dominated by a high level of abstraction and detachment from the implications of climate actions in the local context. In our sample of news articles, there is an over-representation of experts (politicians, scientists, planners, among others), who represent public interests such as the need for a sustainable economy and consumption. The discourse represents a set of values and norms for climate adaptation and mitigation, based on scientific facts. This is particularly evident in articles concerning the topic of the energy transition (Figure 5).

## 5. Three Themes Out of the Qualitative Analysis of Coded Citations Within the Dataset

#### 5.1. Global vs. Local: Why Here, Why Us?

We observed a general disconnect in the public imagination between the abstract terms used by experts in public debates, highlighting biospheric and altruistic values, and the strategies for locally implementing specific climate measures:

I understand that this measure has been taken to reduce our emissions, but why should the Netherlands with its 17 million inhabitants feel responsible to solve climate change? Because while we are all going to drive at 100 on this very small piece of earth, they continue full throttle in America and in Asia. We are too small to make a difference. (van Herk, 2019, para. 4)

Firstly, we noticed that the debate does not address questions related to "benefits and burdens" of climate mitigation measures sufficiently. Then, there seems to be difficulties in apprehending the complexity and systemic nature of climate change, and its connectedness to local action. This relates to questions on who should be held accountable. This argument often arises in reactions of protest as a: "why here, why us" question.

## 5.1.1. Disconnect Between Different Levels and Agencies of Planning

Secondly, we identified a disconnect in communication concerning the different levels of planning and the planning process, i.e., from national policy to regional strategy to local implementation:

An additional disadvantage is that thirty regions in the country are each working separately on their own Regional Energy Strategy. So it is a patchwork quilt. Van den Berg: 'What you then see, for example, is that all windmills are planned on the border with



Figure 5. Most represented voices in discourse, 2015–2021.

one other region, so that objections are only made from one side. Then you are no longer talking about a national assessment, but about a regional interpretation.' (van der Woud, 2021, para. 11)

The different phases of the planning process are not well communicated by the experts who devise the strategies, and the discourse does not give information on the significance of the planning steps and its actors. Experts follow the logics of their own organizations, and that is sometimes at odds with public expectation. In the case of the wind turbines in Amsterdam, the information on search areas resulted in local protests in the eastern area of IJburg. However, the planning document that stirred conflict was actually not meant to fix a specific location for their installation-it just declared areas with potential for wind energy. Yet, instead of opening a process of dialogue towards the further definition of the plans. the way it was communicated made residents feel that the installation of wind turbines in their environs was a fait accompli. This is not only a problem of communicating the process, but in the manner of communication, that emphasizes the notion that the planning process is a black box.

In the case of the green energy production by wind turbines and so-called solar meadows, such instances of resistance ultimately lead to the abandonment of plans and relocation to areas where no great resistance is expected, such as natural areas outside settlements or urban areas with less political or economic leverage. Such actions may result in an uneven distribution of burdens amongst residents and makes evident that questions of distributive justice need to be addressed in the planning of climate measures.

#### 5.1.2. Green Is Not Idyllic

Finally, there is a problem with the communication and comprehension of the true spatial dimensions of some measures. Most climate mitigation measures concerning, e.g., the energy transition involve large infrastructure and industrial facilities:

Wherever those windmills and solar meadows are planned, the protest against those plans is growing. Solar meadows and wind farms—however idyllic the names may sound—are not an asset to the landscape. They are in fact industrial installations, and who wants that in their backyard? (Wegman, 2021, para. 9)

Names such as "solar meadow" can give lay people false expectations about the dimensions and appearances of such installations. We argue that a mismatch between promises and expectations—and an emphasis on abstract ideas decoupled from outcome—relates also to urban design gaps when it comes to the context-specific integration of such infrastructures in densely populated regions such as the MRA. In that regard, the question of addressing the identity of place through urban design gains great relevance.

#### 6. Discussion and Conclusions

Our survey revealed a great disconnect in the public debate between public interest, as represented by experts and politicians, and the interests of residents. Private interests that reflect egoistic or hedonistic values play only a minor role in shaping the debate. Instead, public debate is characterized by globally legitimated arguments and recommendations presented by experts and politicians, who address climate mitigation measures as a public interest and under a set of biospheric values. "The consequences of climate change are already noticeable, with hot summers and heavy rainfall. That is why we are investing not only in measures to make the city more sustainable, but also in measures to keep the city liveable," noted Marieke van Doorninck, Amsterdam's alderwoman of Sustainability and Spatial Development ("Amsterdam schept banen," 2020, para. 2).

We also noticed a significant imbalance in value categories represented in public debate. Contributions by experts and planners are often characterized by a reductive oversimplification of the population's environmental behavior, also reflected in their use of terminology. Following the idea of "balanced reporting," public media continue to rely on experts to display knowledge and share scientific facts. Yet, our research shows that reporting on climate change in public media generally does not connect to the local communities, their concerns, and facts on the ground. Local resident groups hardly find a voice in the debate, and their individualities are amalgamated into a uniform, generic group. The most frequently mentioned addressee in the analyzed dataset is simply mensen ("the people"). Instead, local activists in the Amsterdam region use social media to share opinions and organize local protests. This segmentation of public debate into different media channels could make a common debate on local actions even more difficult.

When the debate on climate adaptation and mitigation focuses primarily on costs, it pits experts and politicians against the general public comprised of taxpayers and property owners. In such a debate, the expert's role is to uphold altruistic and biospheric values against potential cost and public spending increases. In contrast, the general public is reduced to defending their taxpayers' and property owners' interests associated with egoistic values. This is evident in how van Doorninck referred to economic aspects as the way to appeal for support: "Doing nothing [in terms of climate adaptation and mitigation] costs more, both in terms of quality of life and in the wallet" (van Zoelen, 2020, para. 8). In public debates, experts are often portrayed as separate from their roles as individuals and members of communities and families, and their portrayal does not consider the distribution of responsibilities among them. Additionally, this portrayal of experts pits their knowledge against that of locals.

Amongst experts, public opposition is often attributed to the NIMBY effect (Verhoeven, 2021; Wicki et al., 2022), often ignoring the potential of residents' other genuine concerns, such as a fair distribution of costs and benefits amongst residents, equal rights in public decision-making, and the impact of local projects on the identity and symbolic value of a place. Lumping everything into NIMBYism also disregards the complex balancing of value categories in individual decisionmaking processes, in which egoistic values are not necessarily more influential than biospheric and altruistic value categories (Perlaviciute, 2022). Research on participation has further shown that, if residents' concerns are not adequately addressed, negative emotions are likely to persist (Perlaviciute et al., 2018).

Overall, our analysis shows that the communication of measures from institutions to residents often follows the so-called decide-announce-defend model, a top-down, barely participatory method of public policy, known from the implementation of large-scale environmental measures such as energy infrastructures, flood protection, landfills, and nuclear repositories (Wolsink, 2007). The big difference between those projects and the smaller climate measures studied here is that the latter must be accommodated in, or close to, urban areas and within an existing framework of communities and diverse stakeholders. Accordingly, the organizational and administrative context of planning and implementation (which includes the planning approach, the design, and the legal framework) differs substantially from the small-scale context of urban transformation projects.

The experts in public debate on climate measures often follow the logic of an existing organizational framework, with opaque administrative processes barely transparent to the public. Policies addressing abstract goals such as the protection of nature and quality of life for future generations, the outcomes of policy implementation seem disconnected from public expectations. In that context, the public debate also shows a lack of recognition of the local "idea of place" and/or identity of inhabitants and community.

In the public discourse, we find a disconnect between different levels of planning—ranging from the European Union or the national government initiatives to regional strategies and local implementation—which puts in question the feasibility of participatory approaches. While participatory planning is to some extent already the norm in the Netherlands, processes differ very much and include various degrees of involvement. Municipalities generally consider public participation in urban planning as processes where inhabitants can inform themselves and comment on already elaborated design proposals. Processes of cooperative design or co-creation are only rarely part of the aforementioned established processes. Today, participative measures' impact on connecting to



place attachment and the identity of place is very limited. Since place attachment and identities are highly relevant for understanding climate adaptation, mitigation, and risk communication (Devine-Wright, 2013), this may help explain the unexpected emergence of opposition, specifically in Amsterdam, 2019–2021. Accordingly, in 2021 the municipality of Amsterdam experimented with a representative citizen assembly meant to give advice on ways to reduce the city's carbon footprint. While its twenty-six recommendations were highly relevant, the assembly outcomes had no binding effect on the choice of climate measures, their spatial allocation, and design (Brenninkmeijer et al., 2021; Bürgerrad, 2021).

Komendantova and Battaglini (2016) already pointed out that people nowadays long for meaningful engagement in finding solutions to minimize impact and not only be informed about outcomes. We concur with these authors' call for early engagement and transparency in the planning and implementation of climate measures despite or even because of challenges in communicating and comprehending the actual spatial dimensions of some measures. A dialogue-based communication strategy as part of a dependable participation process can help reconcile experts' positions and opinions with those of residents. Referring to Langford's idea of operationalizing values in planning processes, we would like to suggest a necessary adaptation of existing planning processes in the context of climate measures. Introducing valuebased participative processes should lead to a better alignment of policy with local design projects and residents' expectations. We see potential in changing the role of experts; specifically, planners and urban designers could engage more in the participative process to foster value-based solutions on the local level.

As a result of our research, we recommend that administrations revise their communication strategies, reporting local planning and opportunities for participation through multiple media channels. Local situations and voices from the population require more emphasis. Additionally, deeply democratic forms of climate governance should be explored, facilitating grassroots and climate action "from below." As Appadurai (2001, p. 42) claims, "deep democracy" alludes to "roots, anchors, intimacy, proximity and locality," and therefore speaks about ways to bring about socio-environmental change that hold deep and true representation in the local place (Zapata Campos et al., 2021). Here, an integration of urban design methods into participation processes may help to translate technical and economic constraints into place-specific designs.

Future research could look at existing planning processes in the Netherlands and other national planning contexts to investigate how they manage or fail to connect public and private interests in climate measures. Such results would offer insights into the transferability of our findings and the types of practices that need to be incorporated in the organization of planning from an early stage on. Here, the use of social media analysis, interviews, and focus groups could offer a broader understanding on the relationship between the instruments and organization of planning processes, opportunities for participation, and the role of experts as facilitators and communicators of climate measures.

In conclusion, because of the strong link between attachment to a place, identity, and the acceptance of climate measures, future research could explore a more robust integration of urban design into the planning of local climate measures. Urban design methods hold the potential to further integrate alternative design scenarios conceptually and visually into planning, communication, and decision-making processes. In this respect, urban design, serving as a "bridge practice" between the physical characteristics of a city, socio-economic demands, and governance guidelines and regulations (Mehrotra, 2020), seems ideally suited to address the challenge of integrating climate action in cities in a way that is both socially inclusive and specific to the location.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

#### Supplementary Material

Supplementary material for this article is available online in the format provided by the authors (unedited).

#### References

- Amsterdam schept banen door groene projecten [Amsterdam creates jobs through green projects]. (2020, December 17). *Noordhollands Dagblad*. https://www.noordhollandsdagblad.nl/cnt/ dmf20201217\_57440345
- Appadurai, A. (2001). Deep democracy: Urban governmentality and the horizon of politics. Environment and Urbanization, *13*(2), 23–43. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/095624780101300203
- Boykoff, M. (2011). Who speaks for the climate? Making sense of media reporting on climate change. Cambridge University Press.
- Boykoff, M., & Boykoff, J. (2004). Balance as bias: Global warming and the US prestige press. *Global Environmental Change*, 14, 125–136.
- Breakwell, G. M. (1986). *Coping with threatened identities*. Methuen.
- Brenninkmeijer, A., Cornelissen, A., Methorst, D., Rooker, I., & Arensman, S. (2021). *Een miniburgerberaad over een maxi-vraagstuk: Amsterdam* van 37% naar 55% CO2 -reductie in 2030 [A mini citizens' advisory board on a maxi issue: Amsterdam from 37% to 55% CO2 reduction in 2030]. Gemeente Amsterdam. https://klimaatweb.nl/wp-content/ uploads/po-assets/600460.pdf
- Bürgerrad. (2021). Amsterdam citizens' assembly recommends climate forest. https://www.buergerrat.de/



en/news/amsterdam-citizens-assemblyrecommends-climate-forest

- Campbell, S. D. (2016). The planner's triangle revisited: Sustainability and the evolution of a planning ideal that can't stand still. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, *82*(4), 388–397. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/01944363.2016.1214080
- Carattini, S., Levin, S., & Tavoni, A. (2019). Cooperation in the climate commons. *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy*, 13(2), 227–247. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/reep/rez009
- Colvin, R. M., Witt, G. B., & Lacey, J. (2016). How wind became a four-letter word: Lessons for community engagement from a wind energy conflict in King Island, Australia. *Energy Policy*, *98*, 483–494.
- De Groot, J. I., & Steg, L. (2008). Value orientations to explain beliefs related to environmental significant behavior: How to measure egoistic, altruistic, and biospheric value orientations. *Environment and Behavior*, 40(3), 330–354.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2005). Beyond NIMBYism: Towards an integrated framework for understanding public perceptions of wind energy. *Wind Energy: An International Journal for Progress and Applications in Wind Power Conversion Technology*, 8(2), 125–139.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2009). Rethinking NIMBYism: The role of place attachment and place identity in explaining place protective action. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, *19*(6), 426–441.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2011). Public engagement with large-scale renewable energy technologies: Breaking the cycle of NIMBYism. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, *2*(1), 19–26.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2013). Think global, act local? The relevance of place attachments and place identities in a climate changed world. *Global Environmental Change*, *23*(1), 61–69.
- Dignum, M., Correljé, A., Cuppen, E., Pesch, U., & Taebi, B. (2016). Contested technologies and design for values: The case of shale gas. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 22(4), 1171–1191.
- Esaiasson, P. (2014). NIMBYism: A re-examination of the phenomenon. *Social Science Research*, *48*, 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2014.06.005
- Gemeente Amsterdam. (2021). Omgevingsvisie 2050. Een menselijke metropool [Environmental vision 2050. A human metropolis]. https://amsterdam2050. nl/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Omgevingsvisie-Amsterdam-2050\_Lage-resolutie.pdf
- Gross, C. (2007). Community perspectives of wind energy in Australia: The application of a justice and community fairness framework to increase social acceptance. *Energy Policy*, *35*(5), 2727–2736.
- Gustafson, P. (2009). More cosmopolitan, no less local: The orientations of international travellers. *European Societies*, *11*, 25–47.
- Hart, P. S., Stedman, R. C., & McComas, K. A. (2015). How the physical proximity of climate mitigation projects

influences the relationship between affect and public support. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *43*, 196–202.

- Herdt, T., & Jonkman, A. (2021, November 25–27). Spatial justice and the NIMBY effect: An analysis of the urban densification debate in Switzerland and the Netherlands [Paper presentation]. 14th Conference of the International Forum on Urbanism, Delft, The Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.24404/ 615ec0f601ef1c0009df6e3a
- Hernandez, B., Carmen Hidalgo, M., Salazar-Laplace, M. E., & Hess, S. (2007). Place attachment and place identity in natives and non-natives. *Journal of Envi*ronmental Psychology, 27, 310–319.
- Khaddari, R., & Wiegman, M. (2019, December 21). Nederland in 2019: van de ene naar de andere demonstratie gaan [The Netherlands in 2019: Moving from one demonstration to the other]. *Het Parool*. https:// www.parool.nl/nederland/nederland-in-2019-vande-ene-naar-de-andere-demonstratie-gaan~ bb01f12e
- Klöckner, C. A. (2013). A comprehensive model of the psychology of environmental behaviour—A metaanalysis. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(5), 1028–1038.
- Komendantova, N., & Battaglini, A. (2016). Beyond decide-announce-defend (DAD) and not-in-mybackyard (NIMBY) models? Addressing the social and public acceptance of electric transmission lines in Germany. *Energy Research & Social Science, 22*, 224–231.
- Langford, J. W. (2004). Acting on values: An ethical dead end for public servants. *Canadian Public Administration*, 47(4), 429–450.
- Lewicka, M. (2011). On the variety of people's relationship with places. *Environment and Behavior*, 43, 676–709.
- Marshall, N. A., Thiault, L., Beeden, A., Beeden, R., Benham, C., Curnock, M. I., Diedrich, A., Gurney, G. G., Jones, L., Marshall, P. A., Nakamura, N., & Pert, P. (2019). Our environmental value orientations influence how we respond to climate change. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, Article 938.
- Martiskainen, M., Axon, S., Sovacool, B. K., Sareen, S., Del Rio, D. F., & Axon, K. (2020). Contextualizing climate justice activism: Knowledge, emotions, motivations, and actions among climate strikers in six cities. *Global Environmental Change*, *65*, Article 102180.
- McAllister, L., Daly, M., Chandler, P., McNatt, M., Benham, A., & Boykoff, M. (2021). Balance as bias, resolute on the retreat? Updates & analyses of newspaper coverage in the United States, United Kingdom, New Zealand, Australia and Canada over the past 15 years. *Environmental Research Letters*, *16*, Article 094008. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ ac14eb
- Mehrotra, R. (2020). Imaginations beyond architecture. In M. Chen & F. Carré (Eds.), *The informal economy*



*revisited: Examining the past, envisioning the future* (pp. 132–135). Routledge.

- Painter, J. (2011). *Poles apart: The international reporting* of climate scepticism. Reuters Institute.
- Painter, J., & Ashe, T. (2012). Cross-national comparison of the presence of climate scepticism in the print media in six countries, 2007–10. *Environmental Research Letters*, 7, Article 044005.
- Perlaviciute, G. (2022). Contested climate policies and the four Ds of public participation: From normative standards to what people want. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, *13*(1), Article e749.
- Perlaviciute, G., Steg, L., Contzen, N., Roeser, S., & Huijts, N. (2018). Emotional responses to energy projects: Insights for responsible decision making in a sustainable energy transition. *Sustainability*, *10*(7), Article 2526.
- Reilly, K., O'Hagan, A. M., & Dalton, G. (2016). Moving from consultation to participation: A case study of the involvement of fishermen in decisions relating to marine renewable energy projects on the island of Ireland. Ocean & Coastal Management, 134, 30–40.
- Sargisson, R. J., De Groot, J. I., & Steg, L. (2020). The relationship between sociodemographics and environmental values across seven European countries. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, Article 2253.
- Schwartz, S. H. (1992). Universals in the content and structure of values: Theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 25, pp. 1–65). Academic Press.
- Seligman, C., & Katz, A. N. (1996). The dynamics of value systems. In C. Seligman, J. M. Olson, & M. P. Zanna (Eds.), *The psychology of values: The Ontario symposium* (Vol. 8, pp. 53–75). Psychology Press.
- Terwel, B. W., ter Mors, E., & Daamen, D. D. (2012). It's not only about safety: Beliefs and attitudes of 811 local residents regarding a CCS project in Barendrecht. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 9, 41–51.
- van den Hoven, J., Vermaas, P. E., & van de Poel, I. (2015). Design for values: An introduction. In J. van den Hoven, P. Vermaas, & I. van de Poel (Eds.), *Handbook* of ethics, values, and technological design: Sources, theory, values and application domains (pp. 1–7). Springer.
- van der Woud, R. J. (2021, June 10). Samenwerking tussen gemeenten en Rijk kan stukken beter, vindt Purmerendse wethouder Thijs Kroese: "Als je een gelijkwaardige partner wilt zijn, zul je vaker aan tafel moeten zitten dan eens per half jaar" [Cooperation between municipalities and the national government could be much better, says Purmerend alderman Thijs Kroese: "If you want to be an equal

partner, you will have to sit down at the table more often than once every six months"]. *Noordhollands Dagblad*. https://www.noordhollandsdagblad. nl/cnt/dmf20210610\_41733714

- van Herk, M (2019, November 13). Automobilisten over maximaal 100: 'Mijn boetes gaan nu wel erg oplopen' [Car drivers about the maximum of a 100: 'My fines are now going to increase a lot']. *Het Parool*. https://www.parool.nl/nederland/automobilistenover-maximaal-100-mijn-boetes-gaan-nu-wel-ergoplopen~b87809e8
- van Zoelen, B. (2020, March 6). Stad moet volledig op de schop als Amsterdam klimaatdoelen wil halen [The city must be completely overhauled if Amsterdam wants to achieve climate goals]. *Het Parool*. https://www.parool.nl/amsterdam/stad-moetvolledig-op-de-schop-als-amsterdam-klimaatdoelenwil-halen~b43dbb3d
- van Zoelen, B. (2021, May 21). Dossier windmolens: Hoe de wind opeens draaide in Amsterdam [Dossier windmills: How the wind suddenly turned in Amsterdam]. *Het Parool*. https://www.parool.nl/amsterdam/ dossier-windmolens-hoe-de-wind-opeens-draaidein-amsterdam~b087b788
- Verhoeven, I. (2021). Contentious governance around climate change measures in the Netherlands. *Environmental Politics*, *30*(3), 376–398.
- Wallis, H., & Loy, L. S. (2021). What drives proenvironmental activism of young people? A survey study on the Fridays for Future movement. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *74*, Article 101581.
- Wegman, W. (2021, June 11). Warmt moeder Aarde straks het Gooi? Groeiend verzet tegen windparken en zonnevelden, en dus komt geothermie in beeld—opinie [Will mother earth soon warm het Gooi? Growing opposition to wind farms and solar fields, and so geothermal energy comes into the picture—Opinion]. *De Gooi-en Eemlander*. https:// www.gooieneemlander.nl/cnt/dmf20210603\_ 29031242
- Wicki, M., Hofer, K., & Kaufmann, D. (2022). Planning instruments enhance the acceptance of urban densification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *119*(38), Article e2201780119.
- Wolsink, M. (2007). Wind power implementation: The nature of public attitudes: Equity and fairness instead of "backyard motives." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *11*(6), 1188–1207.
- Zapata Campos, M. J., Carenzo, S., Kain, J.-H., Oloko, M., Reynosa, J. P., & Zapata, P. (2021). Inclusive recycling movements: A green deep democracy from below. *Environment and Urbanization*, *33*(2), 579–598. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247820967621



#### **About the Authors**



**Tanja Herdt** is a professor of urban design at OST, Switzerland, and a guest researcher at TU Delft. She is an academic and a practicing urban designer with an emphasis on urban transformation, methods of urban analysis, and the history and theory of the city. Tanja received her PhD from the Department of Architecture at ETH Zurich, where she also was head of research on sustainable urban development at ETH-CASE. From 2019 to 2022 she was an associate professor of theory and methods of urban design at TU Delft. Her book on Cedric Price entitled *The City and the Architecture of Change* was published by Park Books in 2017.



Víctor Muñoz Sanz is an assistant professor of urban design at TU Delft, currently leading research on productive cities and landscapes. Prior to this, he was a postdoctoral researcher at TU Delft, coordinator of the Jaap Bakema Study Centre, and co-principal researcher of Automated Landscapes at Het Nieuwe Instituut. Víctor holds a degree in architecture from Escuela Técnica Superior de Arquitectura de Madrid, an MA in architecture in urban design from Harvard University, and a PhD cum laude in architecture from Universidad Politécnica de Madrid.



Article

### Designing Situated Vocabularies to Counter Social Polarizations: A Case Study of Nolo Neighbourhood, Milan

Virginia Tassinari <sup>1,\*</sup> and Francesco Vergani <sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Luca School of Arts, KU Leuven, Belgium

<sup>2</sup> Department of Design, Politecnico di Milano, Italy

\* Corresponding author (virginia.tassinari@luca-arts.be)

Submitted: 31 October 2022 | Accepted: 26 February 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

#### Abstract

Many neighbourhoods are currently serving as laboratories where new methods are being explored for collaboratively redesigning cities and tackling the social, environmental, and cultural issues affecting them. These redesign processes are often supported by local communities who increasingly develop bottom-up initiatives to innovate and preserve the neighbourhood's "common goods." This is certainly the case of Nolo, an area in the city of Milan (Italy) that has recently undergone an urban regeneration process thanks to the presence of a proactive community of actors living and working in the neighbourhood. Despite effective social innovation practices enacted by part of the local community, several "voices" in Nolo—mainly belonging to marginalized communities—are still excluded from the current process of urban regeneration. This lack of attention is rather problematic for the whole community, as it is leading to increasing in rather than mitigating social polarization. To address this issue, we approached Nolo and its community through a participatory design experimentation, generating a series of collaborative platforms to enable those marginalized voices-humans as well as non-humans—to be heard, to enter into agonistic conversations with one another, and to question what they (should) all care about. What this (still ongoing) experimentation is currently showing is that to co-design collaborative platforms to counter polarization needs to be carefully balanced, negotiating between all the actors involved and acknowledging their thick entanglements to finally unravel how they radically inter-depend on one another. This kind of "ontologizing" practice is currently proving to be pivotal to counter "antagonisms" (and, therefore, mitigate social polarizations), and re-framing them in "agonistic" terms. This article reports how we operated this "ontologizing" practice in a particularly debated area of the neighbourhood by embracing the perspective of marginalized actors, encouraging them to collaborative and transformative actions for their own situated context.

#### Keywords

agonism; marginalized communities; participatory design; radical interdependence; situated knowledges; social polarization; urban regeneration

#### Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

#### 1. Introduction

Many neighbourhoods across the globe are currently serving as laboratories where new methods are being explored for collaboratively re-designing cities and tackling the social, environmental, and cultural issues affecting them (Fassi & Vergani, 2022) from a communitycentred perspective (Burayidi et al., 2020). Those "creative communities" (Meroni, 2007) supporting this exploration are increasingly developing initiatives to innovate and preserve the "common goods" (Marttila et al., 2014; Ostrom, 1990; Wall, 2005)—intended as resources or assets, such as streets, sidewalks, and parks, which are shared among community members—while producing



processes of inclusive and democratic, environmental, economic, and social regeneration (Fassi & Vergani, 2020; Manzini, 2019). In such neighbourhoods, this process is fueled by proactive people-those belonging to the "creative class" (Florida, 2002) or "professionals of the everyday" (Meroni, 2007) who tackle communities' issues-expressing their "voices" and proposing new initiatives for the sake of the community to which they belong. This process of "active involvement" is often triggered by the community's proactive fringe, which has easier access to sociocultural tools and resources. If this leads to the development of social innovation processes, it can also be problematic as it fails to include voices in the neighbourhood that are somehow silent or silenced (Vergani et al., 2022)-for instance, those in "under the radar" (Emilson et al., 2014) groups with a "low degree of social resilience" (Thorpe & Manzini, 2018) belonging to fragile communities (newcomers, the elderly, children, people with physical or mental disabilities), but also those of non-human agents, such as plants and animals, which tend to be completely excluded or marginalized from social innovation processes (Manzini & Tassinari, 2022).

In this framework, participatory design (PD) can play a critical role in promoting social cohesion, empowering citizens to tackle the challenges of living in urban contexts and envisioning alternatives (Smith et al., 2016). It can help to create inclusive and accessible spaces that facilitate community engagement, encouraging people to take an active role in shaping the spaces around them (Huybrechts et al., 2017). PD is often the primary approach driving this process, as it plays a fundamental role in enlarging the democratic arena (Huybrechts et al., 2017), embracing the participants' different points of view (Björgvinsson et al., 2010) while managing the divergences and complexities of those communities identified in the scale of the city by the dimension of "proximity" (Manzini, 2021). As a matter of fact, communities are places where different "voices" converge, creating a "pluralistic" (Mouffe, 2009) context in which "agonism" (DiSalvo, 2010; DiSalvo & Lukens, 2011; Hillgren et al., 2016; Mouffe, 2000) comes into play. In this process of sharing and discussing the different points of view, PD can help to identify common "matters of care" (de la Bellacasa, 2017; Huybrechts et al., 2022b; Manzini & Tassinari, 2022), i.e., something we fundamentally all "care" about, as we recognize our own lives depend on it. de la Bellacasa's (2017) definition of care proves pivotal to the question of what may be in-between different kinds of publics-their common matters of carewithout forcing them into a consensus. Care "includes everything that we do to maintain, continue and repair 'our world' so that we can live in it as well as possible" (de la Bellacasa, 2017, p. 3). However, what it explicitly means to design with "care" may prove problematic (Huybrechts et al., 2022b) as engaging situated communities in PD processes-maintaining an inclusive and ecosystemic perspective-may therefore raise some issues

(von Busch & Palmås, 2023). While co-designing and co-producing more sustainable and just futures (Smith et al., 2016), it is complex to develop effective changes on a city scale (von Busch & Palmås, 2023) while also comprising the "radical interdependence" (Escobar, 2018) between all actors.

To trigger a process of transformation on a neighbourhood scale, several levels of engagement are required, ranging from bottom-up drivers promoted by local groups to top-down initiatives supported by institutional bodies (Fassi & Manzini, 2021; Fassi & Vergani, 2022). According to Tomitsch et al. (2021), within this range, a medium level of involvement can be described as "middle-out engagement," an approach that brings together representatives from bottom-up and top-down initiatives working to reach specific common goals. In this sense, local administrations often become more aware of the potential role of neighbourhood communities, developing open calls to invite citizens to develop, co-design, and co-produce new initiatives. These calls—which are often shared through digital tools—promote temporary design approaches in which "creative" (Meroni, 2007) or "project-based" (Fassi & Manzini, 2021) communities are directly involved in renewing public areas. Many of those experimentations are proving that it may be useful to form "coalitions" (Tomitsch et al., 2021) of local citizens, businesses, associations, and informal groups, as well as policymakers, institutions, and municipal bodies, to bring different perspectives into the picture.

In this framework, designers can play a fundamental role (Manzini & Rizzo, 2011), as their PD work might contribute to the simplification and integration of policies or other administrative regulations, drawing attention to specific scenarios which might spark fresh perspectives on given socio-environmental challenges (Fassi & Sedini, 2017). To do so, one needs to go beyond the solely human realm and expand the political agency we traditionally envision for PD (Binder et al., 2015; DiSalvo, 2010, p. 201) into a (cosmo)political one (Huybrechts et al., 2022b; Stengers, 1997). In design terms, this may translate into re-framing the PD approaches of "infrastructuring" (Björgvinsson et al., 2010; Ehn et al., 2014), "commoning" (Marttila et al., 2014; Seravalli, 2018; Teli et al., 2020), and "institutioning" (Foth & Turner, 2019; Huybrechts et al., 2017; Teli et al., 2020) from an "ontological perspective" (Huybrechts et al., 2022b; Willis, 2006). However, "ontologizing" PD processes (Huybrechts et al., 2022a) may prove difficult to implement. To counter PD's risk of working in an exclusionary and polarizing way, we propose here to address "agonism" from within the perspective of care, working to enable diverse publics to enter an agonistic debate, acknowledging how we inter-depend on one another. More specifically, recognizing how all human actors in a situated context inter-depend on non-human agents might help to embrace the need to preserve non-human communities (for instance, plants), and identify this as a



common matter of care binding initially polarized human publics together and enable them to act collaboratively.

The PD work addressed here describes a process of disarticulation and re-articulation of contesting points of view in Nolo (Milan, Italy), where not only human but also non-human voices have been considered. By articulating an ongoing case study, the authors are investigating PD's potential to enable more inclusive and eco-systemic processes of commoning, infrastructuring, and institutioning. This explicitly translates into developing "ontological mappings" and "collaborative platform building" (Huybrechts et al., 2022a), where the "platforms" are intended to be prompts "to bring together a diversity of actors to exchange knowledge and generate in dynamic ways a collective form of intelligence" (Huybrechts et al., 2022a) and not strictly as technological and digital urban platforms (Barns, 2020; Graham, 2020). In this sense, the tools here articulated are twofold: a commoning tool, in the form of ontological mapping, and an *infrastructuring* tool, a collaborative platform called Situated Vocabulary (SV) in which to converge, translate, and mediate the different situated knowledges (Haraway, 1988) coming from (ontologically) diverse communities of the same neighbourhood, thus countering antagonism (and therefore social polarizations) by prompting agonism. In addition, the article addresses a second collaborative platform we are currently using in this ontologizing process, an *institutioning and commoning tool* provided by the Municipality of Milan (called Collaborative Pact) to unpack the criticalities of Transiti Square, a small part of the Nolo neighbourhood.

By addressing the collaborative platforms of the SV and Collaborative Pact, and the ontological mapping developed thanks to the SV, this article aims to show how ontologizing the PD process might prove effective in:

- Countering polarizations of human communities in particularly critical situated contexts by embracing non-humans in the conversation;
- Prompting proactiveness in situated communities;
- Envisioning scenarios of future transformative actions to be later developed by situated communities.

#### 2. A Literature Background on Participatory Design

As already outlined in the introduction, in the attempt to counter "antagonisms" (Mouffe, 2013) where polarizing forces are opposed to one another, PD processes sometimes tend to ultimately drive contesting opinions towards a convergence without a serious process of negotiation between the different parties, and this way often tends to oversimplify the complexity and diversity of contesting publics, cutting out what is at the fringes of the participatory process (Björgvinsson et al., 2010; Brodersen & Pedersen, 2019). When this happens, we mistake "antagonism" for "agonism" (Mouffe, 2013), whose "pluralisms" (Mouffe, 2009) keep democracy striving.

When we design without carefully balancing processes of negotiation, there is a risk of eventually promoting a culture of "consensus" rather than of "dissensus" (Mouffe, 2013; Rancière, 2015). When we do so, we miss the chance to counter social polarizations, as we underestimate the potential of dissensus to not only strengthen democracy but also to counter "antagonism" (Mouffe, 2013), and the polarizations that contribute to shaping it. This is finally where the concept of "agonism" (DiSalvo, 2010; DiSalvo & Lukens, 2011; Hillgren et al., 2016; Koskinen, 2016; Mouffe, 2000) comes into play. Mouffe's understanding of "agonism" as a "double moment of disarticulation/re-articulation" (Mouffe, 2013) points to the fact that agonistic counterhegemonic practices might serve to question and challenge polarizing points of view-characterizing "antagonism" (Mouffe, 2013)-contesting the sedimentations of the meanings and values they underpin and bringing them into an open and dynamic confrontation by re-articulating new configurations.

From these new configurations, a reassessment of one's own points of view is always possible. This exercise of self-critique can eventually help to unmask the sedimentation of prejudices and misconceptions and therefore challenge the fundamental lack of empathy underpinning social polarizations leading to a form of "agonistic pluralism" (Mouffe, 1999), where diverse publics can listen to one another and eventually re-assess their contesting points of view, negotiating between them. If one follows Mouffe's line of reasoning, then PD interventions serving as agonistic counterhegemonic practices have the potential to mitigate social polarization. Furthermore, if one investigates the misconceptions and sedimentations of meanings at the basis of many antagonistic points of view, one can see that there is often a lack of understanding of the complexity of the entanglements connecting diverse publics to one another. If one adds to this level of complexity the entanglements between human and non-human agents (Latour, 2018), then the entanglements between social and environmental issues also become evident. When entering an agonistic debate, the double moment of disarticulation/re-articulation of all parties involved might lead to reassessing some of these misconceptions and learning to acknowledge the relation of "radical interdependence," binding them with one another and with the other agents (not necessarily human ones). PD practices can prove pivotal there, in supporting those diverse publics to become more aware of this complexity, by mapping it and making it tangible. As argued by Brodersen and Pedersen (2019, p. 966), "in participatory design such negotiations are often carefully staged and navigated by a designer and draw attention towards the designer's ability to navigate the design process by staging, facilitating, and learning from/synthesising the results of negotiations." In other words, PD can enable and facilitate those processes of negotiation which are essential to an "agonistic" and pluralistic society (Binder



et al., 2015; Clark, 2008; Storni et al., 2015) and have the potential to counter "antagonism" (and, therefore, also social polarizations).

In this process of negotiation, PD may help identify some common "matters of care" (de la Bellacasa, 2017)i.e., something we fundamentally all care about (de la Bellacasa, 2017)—around which to collectively assemble (Latour, 2018). However, to effectively address and preserve these "matters of care," it is essential to acquire the knowledge and skills needed to learn how to "care" (Huybrechts et al., 2022b). Yet, to learn to "care" means first to learn to recognize what needs care, as we interdepend from it: in other words, the entanglements which have been disrupted by anthropocentric choices, and yet are essential to our own life. What is really "in-between" (Arendt, 1958/2013; Tassinari & Staszowski, 2020) us is not just the political, but the "cosmo-political" (Stengers, 1997), the "radical interdependence" (Escobar, 2018) binding us all humans with one another, but also with non-human agents. To look for those interdependencies also means to re-assess the intimate, often mystified connection between the environmental and the social. To do so, PD needs to re-frame its politics in the light of the challenges of the Anthropocene and reconsider its political agency in terms of cosmo-politics, thus recognizing the "thick" (Tsing et al., 2020) entanglement between human and non-human agents.

When looking at "ontologizing" practices, the creation of platforms for mapping these thick entanglements in situated contexts might serve as a very real way to *ontologize infrastructuring* (the SV platform), *commoning* (the ontological mapping), and *institutioning* (the Collaborative Pact platform).

#### 3. Methodology

Our case study is an ongoing experiment the research team POLIMI DESIS Lab developed in the urban living lab Off Campus Nolo. The living lab is hosted in the local municipal market of Nolo and is part of a wider initiative from the Politecnico di Milano, called "Polisocial," to make the university's presence in the city more tangible, providing the possibility for researchers and scholars to be more responsible, attentive to social challenges, and closer to the territory and its community. The SV is a participatory action research (Crouch & Pearce, 2012; Muratovski, 2015) that benefits from multiple co-designed sessions to collect data and produce a situated kind of knowledge to be further used in developing transformative actions for and by the local community. The research project was launched with the opening of Off Campus Nolo and aimed at understanding the complexity of the neighbourhood by gathering qualitative data through mapping "voices" and information from the different communities.

The founding idea of the project is that the SV starts as a collaborative platform in which to disarticulate and re-articulate contesting points of view, nego-

tiating them to identify common "matters of care" (de la Bellacasa, 2017) thanks to a commoning process of "ontological mapping" (Huybrechts et al., 2022b), where the entanglements between all local stakeholders (human and more than human) start to be flashed out. The co-created SV takes the form of a physical artefacta booklet, following the structure of a vocabulary to collect all the different meanings of the words-as well as an online podcast developed in collaboration with the neighbourhood participatory radio, managed by the local community, in which the vocabulary is translated in an oral format hosting the recorded voices of people. Both the booklet and the podcast should be considered as an "agonistic space" (Mouffe, 2007) for contesting voices, designed to also include the marginalized ones (such as children, the elderly, newcomers, and people with disabilities). The project is built around nine keywords (Public Space, Degradation, Common Good, Sense of Belonging, Memory, Fun, Commitment, Change, and Nolo) chosen by the neighbourhood during two co-design sessions conducted with part of the proactive community of Nolo (Vergani et al., 2022). Those words served as a basis for collecting those voices which had not yet been involved in the urban regeneration process. As those voices (for instance, of newcomers) are often polarized with the ones that are already part of the urban transformation process, we designed the SV platform to enable the beginning of a process of agonistic negotiation amongst them, bringing them into dialogue to map their common matters of care (and, particularly, how they all actually care for the plants in the public spaces), and demystifying the misconception that newcomers do not care for this common good.

The diverse voices included in the SV have been gathered through interviews, comments on social media, and co-design sessions with the Nolo community, but also linguists, philosophers, anthropologists, writers, artists, activists, botanists, zoologists, geologists, and microbiologists, who could, together with environmental activists and practitioners, bring in other points of view, such as those of non-human agents (Figure 1). The SV served as a basis to develop an ontological mapping, identifying the thick entanglements connecting all agents, in other words, the common "matters of care" (de la Bellacasa, 2017) binding them together, also trying to address and un-mask the polarizing misconceptions. Using tailor-made co-design sessions, each keyword of the SV addressed a specific marginalized community of Nolo. While Public Space was guite open to all the neighbourhood communities, Degradation paid specific attention to the voices of newcomers to the neighbourhood. Common Good focused on children and the points of view of non-human agents, and Sense of Belonging addressed the points of view of the elderly. All the data collected in this "ontological mapping" were later used to prompt collective actions by envisioning future "scenarios" (Carroll, 1995; Jégou & Manzini, 2008), taking this eco-systemic and social complexity into account.





Figure 1. The methodological process for Transiti Square supported by the collaborative platforms of the SV and the Collaborative Pact.

#### 4. The Case Study: The Situated Vocabulary

#### 4.1. Mapping the Complexity and Fostering Agonism With the Situated Vocabulary

In the context of Nolo, we did not have to start from scratch. Many bottom-up initiatives—such as the community-managed Radio Nolo (the neighbourhood web radio from which we developed the SV podcast) or the Neighbourhood Breakfasts—were already in place (Fassi & Manzini, 2021). Also, the online Facebook group Nolo Social District (comprising more than 12,000 members) has in recent years produced a series of online and offline social innovation initiatives (Camocini & Fassi, 2017; Fassi & Manzini, 2021; Fassi & Vergani, 2022). However mainly for linguistic and socio-cultural reasons, many voices are still excluded from the initiatives launched by the local community. This lack of confrontation often translates into polarizations, where cultural minorities of new-coming communities from other contexts are seen as responsible for urban degradation processes. In the past, cultural misconceptions fostered the creation of social frictions, characterized by widespread

degradation both from an environmental and social point of view. Those misconceptions, which in this context are particularly hard to get rid of, have been the starting point for our PD work. Because the context of Nolo is rather complex and diverse, it was necessary to be very cautious about how to represent those voices which are, for many different reasons, reluctant to participate (or simply cannot, as in the case of non-human agents; Huybrechts et al., 2022a). Since the opening of Off Campus Nolo, the SV has served as a compass to guide our work in the neighbourhood, defining a PD process which allowed us to know the community better and get in touch with both its visible as well as its hidden issues. Thanks to the work enacted with the first word of the SV, i.e., the one addressing the word 'Public Space, we identified the most critical "spatial nodes" (intended as neighbourhood public spaces to be redesigned; Fassi & Vergani, 2022) and started the ontological mapping of those nodes to identify common "matters of care" (de la Bellacasa, 2017; see Figure 2).

The mapping prompted by the words Public Space led us to identify a specific contested spatial node: Piazzetta Transiti (Transiti Square; Figure 3). This is a small





Figure 2. The spatial nodes identified in Nolo thanks to the co-design activity conducted at Off Campus Nolo with the neighbourhood communities.

park perceived as having been particularly degraded due to several issues, mainly focussing on marginalized communities of newcomers who are considered responsible for the process of local degradation. Over the last decade, there have been many frictions between the different local communities, which have been gradually configuring the spatial, and therefore social and environmental, assets of the space. The result of this process is that Transiti is currently a rather degraded public park surrounded by street-facing buildings and commercial activities and is quite congested during mornings and evenings mostly because of its proximity to the entrance of the subway, used by workers who commute every day. Also, the park polarizes the community between Italians and non-Italians, which misses out how some Italians are also an active part of the square's degradation process, as well as the fact that many non-Italians (such as a local association called "Para Todos," working for many years to help the community of newcomers to better integrate with the social tissue) are proactive

stakeholders involved in many regenerative initiatives for the neighbourhood.

In the beginning, citizens used to gather and enjoy the park, making use of its street furniture to relax. In the last few years, the situation has slowly changed. The opening of kiosks for cheap food and drinks attracted new people to the area, transforming the square into a day and night shelter, especially for unemployed people (amongst whom were many jobless newcomers) who started to appear on the benches and sidewalks, making noise and leaving empty bottles and rubbish in the park. These behaviours annoyed many of the inhabitants around the park, who asked for the Municipality's intervention. Eventually, a high metal fence was built, converting the square into a park with strict opening and closing times, thus avoiding people gathering, especially at night. The intervention also led to the removal of the street furniture, making the park impractical not only for the "night community" (considered to be solely responsible for the degrading process) but also for those





Figure 3. Transiti Square plan.

citizens—especially the elderly—who used to appropriate the space daily. This decision eventually led to the square no longer being an asset for the public, a common good, becoming instead a mere place to pass by. The square's transformation, on the one hand, satisfied part of the population, but on the other, ended up creating general discontent as it only moved the night issue outside the fence, giving the night regulars the opportunity to continue their behavior sitting on sidewalks or between parked cars. The park ended up becoming even more degraded and unsafe, attracting people from outside the neighbourhood—most of the time newcomers looking for spaces of sociality—to buy cheap drinks in the shops around the square and eventually vandalize it.

#### 4.2. Identifying Misconceptions With the Word "Degradation" in Transiti Square

When we started working on Transiti Square we decided to use the word Degradation (the second out of nine keywords) as the main compass to guide our PD work. As previously described, the ontological mapping prompted by the SV addressing this word helped us to collect all the "voices" of the situated stakeholders around Transiti. Even if today the space seems quite desolated and currently represents a contested issue polarizing the local community into locals and newcomers, our field research enacted with the SV helped us to uncover the agonistic and, therefore, democratic potential that such a contested space might host. Transiti is indeed rich in pluralities and diversities and can be considered as a "friche" (Clément, 2016)—a residual area rich in biodiversity caused by the fragmentation of the landscape over time—as it is also a shelter for those agents (both human

and non-human) that are often marginalized. Therefore, we had to be aware of this treasure without losing any of its potential.

The interviewees revealed polarizing memories of the park. Some remember it as a space where older people and families would spend time together, others as a place of micro-criminality and degradation. Some others blame the community of newcomers hanging out at the kiosks, others the homeless people frequenting the space. Parts of the community pointed their fingers at those living in the building illegally occupied in front of the square, while others addressed the social and cultural influence of the nearby arterial road with a high presence of newcomers. While there is indeed a significant number of newcomers who misuse the park and render it unsafe for kids to play, there is at the same time the Para Todos association representing a resource for countering the square's degradation, as well as the local shop owners, who are perceived as a serious part of the problem but were revealed as being interested in taking care of the square. Also, not all Italians are interested in this renovation process, as some are actually an active part of the problem. Yet, newcomers are often perceived as being a major part of the problem rather than contributing to looking for a solution and repurposing the square. This is the misconception addressed and disarticulated by the SV's work.

The ontological mapping enacted with the SV was pivotal as it led to envisioning several design scenarios acknowledging the misuse of the square (and thus its social degradation) and connecting it to its eco-systemic degradation—aiming at improving the social and environmental conditions by bringing together the currently polarized communities (for instance, those who



wanted the fence and the newcomers who are unfairly seen as responsible for the degradation) to re-purpose the square. In more detail, we found out that the eco-systemic degradation made certain types of inappropriate use of the common good more probable and that actors who appeared polarized in the first instance, such as the neighbourhood's residents and newcomers, in fact, cared for the social and environmental situation of the square. As the initial focus on addressing social issues of the park was somehow sensitive-the risk of working only on the contested issue of the fence was rather high-we decided instead to focus first on the park's environmental issues, about which a diverse public clearly cares, so as to then engage them, in the second instance, in more sensitive social issues. These scenarios (Figure 4) were later disseminated to the neighbourhood through social networks (Facebook and Instagram) and displayed at Off Campus Nolo, and prompted us to return to Transiti after the mapping process to develop with the community a Collaborative Pact, an institutioning collaborative platform offered by the Municipality of Milan.

#### 4.3. The Collaborative Pact

Ontologizing PD approaches implies the ability to develop collaborative platforms enabling ontological mapping when a specific context or specific publics require it (Huybrechts et al., 2022a). If SV is a platform enacted by the research team as an ontological infrastructuring tool, the platform Collaborative Pact represents for us an ontological institutioning as well as a com-

moning tool (Huybrechts et al., 2022a), as it serves to identify new commons by taking the eco-systemic and social entanglements into account and to find new ways to enable collaboration with institutions based on this acknowledgement.

The Collaborative Pacts are tools provided by the Municipality for the implementation of the shared administration of common goods through which one or more active citizens and public bodies define the terms of the collaboration for the care of both tangible as well as immaterial common goods. The pact gives the signatories the permission to act and take care of a specific space, carrying out initiatives and projects that would normally require longer bureaucratic times to be processed. This is thanks to the more direct relations with the municipal administrations, which are also signatories, that directly coordinate the bureaucracy of certain requests. Furthermore, some specific stakeholders (e.g., external supporters) may also provide resources and materials (in our case, plants and wooden containers) to be used for the co-imagined activities. However, Collaborative Pacts are not timeless, as their timeframe usually lasts between six months and three years. In this span of time, the signatories temporarily "adopt" the public space, envisioning and co-producing activities to be put in place with the aim of transforming (or reframing) the "spatial node" as an active common good. Therefore, the collective's commitment is essential and formal, as the co-envisioned actions must be completed in a limited amount of time. Once the pact is over, the common good returns to the Municipality's hands.



**Figure 4.** Several visual scenarios (made of collages) developed in the framework of the SV from the work on Degradation; from the top left: "Neighbourhood Collective," "Model Nolo," "Green Thread," and "Collaborative Pacts."



In PD practices with such a rich pool of agents, it is difficult to balance the complexity of institutioning processes (Huybrechts et al., 2017). Working with situated communities in public urban spaces on a neighbourhood scale means struggling with intricacies due to local policies limiting the actions of the stakeholders involved. Acting in the framework of Nolo helped us to reinforce our knowledge about those tools given by the Municipality to promote new institutioning and commoning practices (Huybrechts et al., 2017; Teli et al., 2020), paving the way for the creation of a specific group of situated stakeholders enriched by the collaboration of institutions and other political bodies. The involvement of those diverse actors took shape throughout a PD process in which we (co)designed and (co)produced local events, meant to generate a dialogue between key institutional actors, both on a micro scale (the neighbourhood), as well as on a meso scale (the city). The last of these events was the formalization of the new collective working to collaboratively take care of the square, where all the actors involved signed the Collaborative Pact. The new coalition formed by the actual signatories in Nolo, including different types of stakeholders such as inhabitants, associations, informal groups, and the Municipality (see the Acknowledgments section) also includes "representatives" (Latour, 2018) of non-human voices (activists and experts), reinforcing our will to be as open as possible in merging in the PD work social and environmental justice issues.

With the coalition, we continued our ontologizing process unpacking all those polarizing points of view directly in the field and organizing weekly meetings in

the square to discuss the different ideas. Being physically present in Transiti helped us to prove that something was changing, and attracted citizens to freely express their own opinions about the space. In the loop of this re-iterative process of negotiation, and by comprising diverse actions in the field, we were able to facilitate the process of disarticulation of some of the polarizing points of view, fostering the development of a real agonistic discussion where all the stakeholders involved were able to democratically express their opinions. Some moments of friction in the process were registered, especially due to some stakeholders feeling that the hidden agenda behind the pact was to dismantle the presence of the metal fence. The process of negotiation proved to be particularly hard, and therefore it was pivotal for us to shift the focus of the discussion from the fence (a social issue) to possible actions to be done collectively to green the space (an environmental issue), intertwining discussions with actions. Here the environmental issues represented a Trojan horse for us to address the social ones avoiding ending up feeding polarizations that only focused on the fence.

The events we organized all aimed at providing the community with the possibility to work together, testing some activities, and experiencing the place in a different way, bringing the square back for a day to its main purpose—being a common good—and not as a mere space of passage (Figure 5). One of those events started with the cleaning of the park and saw citizens actively collaborate in taking care of the space by removing bottles, cans, and other rubbish thrown over the gate by regular night visitors. After the collaborative cleaning of the



**Figure 5.** Some of the events organized in Transiti Square; from the top left, a co-design session for the Pact, a summer event for children, a collection of ideas for the future of the square, and the cleaning of the park.



square, we organised two parallel activities. The first consisted of the co-construction of a *piñata* (built with the help of the community coming from South America, who were a section of the newcomers identified by the inhabitants as those having brought degradation to Transiti) with children from the neighbourhood. The second activity saw the situated stakeholders involving passers-by and curious citizens in creating a billboard to trace other ideas for the facilities to be designed and implemented in the square.

All these events, which take place throughout the year, are currently mitigating the polarizations not only in the square but also between single individuals of the pact, fostering the development of a shared, yet rich in pluralities, process to care about the place. However, while on the one hand, the community was revitalized thanks to the Pact and initially polarized social groups and individuals are now working together to take collaborative care of the square and its plants, on the other hand, the issue of night regulars is still yet to be tackled. Further processes of negotiations are required in which local associations like Para Todos and shop owners can play a significant role.

#### 5. Conclusions

It is particularly difficult to evaluate currently active projects. And yet, what we have witnessed until now is that the PD work enacted with the two platforms has enabled us to map the complexity of this situated context, unpack and focus on specific issues affecting the community, and partially disarticulate the polarization by re-articulating the discussion towards a common goal. While the first step helped us to scratch the surface, bringing to light the antagonism present within the community and allowing an ontological mapping of both the community around the spatial node and the topic of the degradation in the area, the second was successful in re-packing, maintaining, and protecting the plurality of points of view, addressing them towards a productive flow that merged into the platform of the Pact. We noticed that action is fundamental in the processes of disarticulation and re-articulation from antagonism to agonism. We have clearly seen how remaining stuck in conversations continued to generate polarization while the actions triggered by the Pact helped to mitigate the discussions related to both cultural misconception and the metal fence, leading the stakeholders involved to feel more like a community. Moreover, we understood how drawing on matters of care identified in the non-human part of the neighbourhood community (plants and the greenery in Transiti) helped to develop a process to overcome antagonism and polarization.

The Collaborative Pact allowed a high fluidity of action for the stakeholders involved, who are free to enter and exit from the commitment and aggregate in different forms and purposes for the sake of the common goal. What we have realized so far is that to "ontologize"

our PD process—(co)creating platforms designed as agonistic spaces from which to collaboratively map "radical interdependencies" and envision regenerative futures from this awareness-is currently helping us to better engage with the local community and address its complexity, confronting matters of exclusion and countering easy polarizations between members of the community, but also between social and environmental issues. In this sense, the experience has effectively triggered a democratic discourse, addressing criticism and polarizations into a process that, until today, struggled to be formalized as it ran aground on the issues (the metal fence and degradation) without focusing on the actions. However, there are still considerable critical issues that are emerging in the process. The group has not yet been able to fully integrate part of the community of newcomers who generated the degradation in Transiti. If, on the one hand, the community of newcomers is represented within the pool of the stakeholders, on the other, we see that this cultural misconception has shifted from a "locals/non-locals" polarization to a collective action against those fringes of noisy newcomers and locals (those hanging out at the kiosks in the evenings). Unfortunately, the night regulars still perpetuate their actions outside the park, disturbing both inhabitants and passers-by. More PD work is needed here, to re-address the issue through new participatory actions. However, there are limits to what one can reach by means of PD actions. Here, institutioning practices and political bodies must also come into place in a more substantial way, taking some infrastructural decisions that might more significantly help to mitigate those phenomena, and helping grassroots initiatives that struggle alone to face such a deep-rooted social problem. In this sense, the benefits prompted by the Collaborative Pact might help the same institutions to be more present in the field and take braver actions strongly desired by the community of citizens aggregated in these forms of coalitions, such as the removal of the fence.

What we are currently experiencing is that to counter polarization we needed to stay in the situation, understand and engage with the context, learn from it, taking the time to (co)create agonistic platforms of contesting publics: polyphonic, "situated" (Haraway, 1988) communities where "consensus" is not the aim, but rather the agonistic and open-ended process of recognition of common matters of which to care about, as they interest all the actors involved, beyond previous misconceptions and crystallized opinions that might have led in the past (and might still lead) to polarizations. In these kinds of agonistic processes, new commons have been identified (Custers et al., 2020; Seravalli et al., 2015), and new, more transversal kinds of local collaborations have arisen to better address them (Akama et al., 2020). We are aware that issues of power and perspectives are still in play and this needs to be further problematized, particularly when it comes to the point of representing/translating some of those voices in the PD process



(Huybrechts et al., 2022b; Spivak, 2021). This is helping us somewhat to reassess our role as designers in the PD process and better engage with its fallibility. Besides, it is also helping us to protect the agonistic space we created, keeping the differences rather than forcing different voices into a convergence, a common language where in the end nobody is truly represented. We can only start to unpack, even if in a fallible and inconclusive way, the complexity of those relationships by identifying where we need to *care* for them, re-generating them, restoring them, re-framing them; and yet, we need to recognize that this exercise needs to be envisioned in an open-ended, fallible way (Huybrechts et al., 2022b).

#### Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to all the actors and bodies involved in the project, starting from the support given by Fondazione Cariplo, Labsus, Italia Nostra Onlus Association, and the Department of Design of the Politecnico di Milano, to the members of the coalition including the Municipality of Milan, FAS Association (Gruppo Ferrante Aporti Sammartini A. P. S.), Reteambiente Milano Circolo Legambiente Association, Para Todos Association, Atelier Spazio Xpò Association, La Città del Sole-Amici del Parco Trotter Association, Nolo 4Kids (informal group) and the active citizens (Desiré Musumeci, James Conrad Baker, Luigi Colaianni, Patrizia Ciardello, and Elena della Mora). We also thank all our colleagues (the "off-campusers") involved in the process of Transiti: Davide Fassi, Ida Castelnuovo, Ambra Borin, Maria Maramotti, Elisa Scrignar, Valentina Ferreri, and Francesca Magliocchetti.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

#### References

- Akama, Y., Light, A., & Kamihira, T. (2020). Expanding participation to design with more-than-human concerns. In C. Del Gaudio, L. Parra-Agudelo, R. Clarke, J. Saad-Sulonen, A. Botero, F. C. Londoño, & P. Escandón (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 16th Participatory Design Conference 2020—Participation(s) otherwise* (Vol. 1, pp. 1–11). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385010.3385016
- Arendt, H. (2013). *The human condition*. University of Chicago Press. (Original work published 1958)
- Barns, S. (2020). Re-engineering the city: Platform ecosystems and the capture of urban big data. *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, *2*. https://doi.org/10.3389/ frsc.2020.00032
- Binder, T., Brandt, E., Ehn, P., & Halse, J. (2015). Democratic design experiments: Between parliament and laboratory. *CoDesign*, 11(3/4), 152–165.
- Björgvinsson, E., Ehn, P., & Hillgren, P.-A. (2010). Par-

ticipatory design and democratizing innovation. In T. Robertson (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 11th Biennial Participatory Design Conference* (pp. 41–50). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/ 10.1145/1900441.1900448

- Brodersen, S., & Pedersen, S. (2019). Navigating matters of concern in participatory design. *Proceedings of the Design Society: International Conference on Engineering Design*, 1(1), 965–974. https://doi.org/10.1017/ dsi.2019.102
- Burayidi, M. A., Allen, A., Twigg, J., & Wamsler, C. (Eds.). (2020). The Routledge handbook of urban resilience. Routledge.
- Camocini, B., & Fassi, D. (2017). *In the neighbourhood: Spatial design and urban activation*. Franco Angeli.
- Carroll, J. M. (1995). Scenario-based design: Envisioning work and technology in system development. Wiley.
- Clark, B. (2008). Resources for action in the negotiation of participatory design projects. In D. Hakken (Ed.), *Proceedings of the Tenth Anniversary Conference on Participatory Design 2008* (pp. 206–209). Indiana University Press.
- Clément, G. (2016). *Manifesto del terzo paesaggio* [Manifesto of the third landscape]. Quodlibet.
- Crouch, C., & Pearce, J. (2012). *Doing design research*. Berg Publishers.
- Custers, L., Devisch, O., & Huybrechts, L. (2020). Experiential evaluation as a way to talk about livability in a neighborhood in transformation. In C. Del Gaudio, L. Parra, S. Agid, C. Parra, G. Poderi, D. Duque, L. Villezcas, A. Botero, F. C. Londoño, & P. Escandón (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 16th Participatory Design Conference 2020—Participation(s) otherwise* (Vol. 2, pp. 114–118). Association for Computing Machinery.
- de la Bellacasa, M. P. (2017). *Matters of care: Speculative ethics in more than human worlds* (Vol. 41). University of Minnesota Press.
- DiSalvo, C. (2010, July 7–9). *Design, democracy and agonistic pluralism* [Paper presentation]. Design and Complexity—DRS International Conference 2010, Montreal, Canada.
- DiSalvo, C., & Lukens, J. (2011). Nonanthropocentrism and the nonhuman in design: Possibilities for designing new forms of engagement with and through technology. In M. Foth, L. Forlano, C. Satchell, & M. Gibbs (Eds.), *From social butterfly to engaged citizen: Urban informatics, social media, ubiquitous computing, and mobile technology to support citizen engagement* (pp. 421–435). The MIT Press.
- Ehn, P., Nilsson, E. M., & Topgaard, R. (Eds.). (2014). *Making futures: Marginal notes on innovation, design, and democracy*. The MIT Press.
- Emilson, A., Hillgren, P.-A., & Seravalli, A. (2014). Designing in the neighborhood: Beyond (and in the shadow of) creative communities. In P. Ehn, E. M. Nilsson, & R. Topgaard (Eds.), *Making futures: Marginal notes on innovation, design, and democracy* (pp. 35–61). The MIT Press.



- Escobar, A. (2018). Designs for the pluriverse: Radical interdependence, autonomy, and the making of worlds. Duke University Press.
- Fassi, D., & Manzini, E. (2021). Project-based communities: Lessons learned from collaborative city-making experiences. *CoDesign*, 18(1), 4–15. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15710882.2021.2001535
- Fassi, D., & Sedini, C. (2017). Design actions with resilient local communities: Goals, drivers and tools. *Strategic Design Research Journal*, 10(1), 36–46.
- Fassi, D., & Vergani, F. (2020). Designing solutions for the commons. In T. Issa, T. Issa, T. B. Issa, & P. Isaias (Eds.), Sustainability awareness and green information technologies (pp. 463–477). Springer.
- Fassi, D., & Vergani, F. (2022). Designing proximity with situated stakeholders. In D. Lockton, S. Lenzi, P. Hekkert, A. Oak, J. Sádaba, & P. Lloyd (Eds.), DRS 2022: Bilbao, 25 June–3 July (pp. 177–192). Design Research Society.
- Florida, R. (2002). *The rise of the creative class* (Vol. 9). Basic Books.
- Foth, M., & Turner, T. J. (2019). The premise of institutioning for the proliferation of communities and technologies research. In H. Tellioglu (Eds.), Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Communities & Technologies—Transforming Communities (pp. 24–28). Association for Computing Machinery.
- Graham, M. (2020). Regulate, replicate, and resist— The conjunctural geographies of platform urbanism. *Urban Geography*, 41(3), 453–457.
- Haraway, D. (1988). Situated knowledges: The science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective. *Feminist Studies*, *14*(3), 575–599.
- Hillgren, P.-A., Seravalli, A., & Eriksen, M. A. (2016). Counter-hegemonic practices: Dynamic interplay between agonism, commoning and strategic design. *Strategic Design Research Journal*, 9(2), 89–99.
- Huybrechts, L., Benesch, H., & Geib, J. (2017). Institutioning: Participatory design, co-design and the public realm. *CoDesign*, *13*(3), 148–159. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15710882.2017.1355006
- Huybrechts, L., Devisch, O., & Tassinari, V. (2022a). Beyond polarisation: Reimagining communities through the imperfect act of ontologising. *CoDesign*, *18*(1), 63–77.
- Huybrechts, L., Devisch, O., & Tassinari, V. (2022b). *Re-framing the politics of design*. Public Space Publishing.
- Jégou, F., & Manzini, E. (2008). Collaborative services: Social innovation and design for sustainability. POLI.design.
- Koskinen, I. (2016). Agonistic, convivial, and conceptual aesthetics in new social design. *Design Issues*, *32*(3), 18–29.
- Latour, B. (2018). Down to earth: Politics in the new climatic regime. Wiley.
- Manzini, E. (2019). *Politics of the everyday*. Bloomsbury Publishing.

- Manzini, E. (2021). *Abitare la prossimità: ldee per la città dei 15 minuti* [Livable proximity: ldeas for the 15-minute city]. Egea.
- Manzini, E., & Rizzo, F. (2011). Small projects/large changes: Participatory design as an open participated process. *CoDesign*, 7(3/4), 199–215.
- Manzini, E., & Tassinari, V. (2022). Designing down to earth: Lessons learnt from transformative social innovation. *Design and Culture*, *14*(3), 1–14.
- Marttila, S., Botero, A., & Saad-Sulonen, J. (2014).
  Towards commons design in participatory design. In
  H. Winschiers-Theophilus & V. D'Andrea (Eds.), Proceedings of the 13th Participatory Design Conference: Short papers, industry cases, workshop descriptions, doctoral consortium papers, and keynote abstracts (Vol. 2, pp. 9–12). Association for Computing Machinery.
- Meroni, A. (Ed.). (2007). *Creative communities: People inventing sustainable ways of living*. POLI.design.
- Mouffe, C. (1999). Deliberative democracy or agonistic pluralism? *Social Research*, *66*(3), 745–758. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40971349
- Mouffe, C. (2000). The democratic paradox. Verso Books.
- Mouffe, C. (2007). Artistic activism and agonistic spaces. *Art & Research*, 1(2), 1–5.
- Mouffe, C. (2009). Democracy in a multipolar world. *Millennium*, 37(3), 549–561.
- Mouffe, C. (2013). *Agonistics: Thinking the world politically*. Verso Books.
- Muratovski, G. (2015). *Research for designers: A guide to methods and practice*. SAGE.
- Ostrom, E. (1990). *Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action*. Cambridge University Press.
- Rancière, J. (2015). *Dissensus: On politics and aesthetics*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Seravalli, A. (2018). Infrastructuring urban commons over time: Learnings from two cases. In L. Huybrechts, M. Teli, A. Light, Y. Lee, J. Garde, J. Vines, E. Brandt, A. M. Kanstrup, & K. Bødker (Eds.), Proceedings of the 15th Participatory Design Conference: Full papers (Vol. 1, Article 4). Association for Computing Machinery.
- Seravalli, A., Hillgren, P.-A., & Agger-Eriksen, M. (2015, November 7–9). Co-designing collaborative forms for urban commons: Using the notions of commoning and agonism to navigate the practicalities and political aspects of collaboration [Paper presentation]. First Thematic IASC Conference on Urban Commons, Bologna, Italy.
- Smith, R. C., Vangkilde, K. T., Otto, T., Kjaersgaard, M. G., Halse, J., & Binder, T. (2016). *Design anthropological futures*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Spivak, G. C. (2021). The politics of translation. In L. Venuti (Ed.), *The translation studies reader* (pp. 320–338). Routledge.
- Stengers, I. (1997). *Power and invention: Situating science* (Vol. 10). University of Minnesota Press.



- Storni, C., Binder, T., Linde, P., & Stuedahl, D. (2015). Designing things together: Intersections of co-design and actor–network theory. *CoDesign*, 11(3/4), 149–151.
- Tassinari, V., & Staszowski, E. (2020). *Designing in dark times: An Arendtian lexicon*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Teli, M., Foth, M., Sciannamblo, M., Anastasiu, I., & Lyle, P. (2020). Tales of institutioning and commoning: Participatory design processes with a strategic and tactical perspective. In C. Del Gaudio, L. Parra-Agudelo, R. Clarke, J. Saad-Sulonen, A. Botero, F. C. Londoño, & P. Escandón (Eds.), *Proceedings* of the 16th Participatory Design Conference 2020— Participation(s) otherwise (Vol. 1, pp. 159–171). Association for Computing Machinery.
- Thorpe, A., & Manzini, E. (2018). Weaving people and places: Art and design for resilient communities. *She Ji: The Journal of Design, Economics, and Innovation*, *4*(1), 1–10.

Tomitsch, M., Fredericks, J., Vo, D., Frawley, J., & Foth, M.

# (2021). Non-human personas: Including nature in the participatory design of smart cities. *Interaction Design and Architecture(s)*, *50*, 102–130.

- Tsing, A. L., Deger, J., Keleman Saxena, A., & Zhou, F. (2020). *Feral atlas: The more-than-human Anthropocene*. Stanford University Press.
- Vergani, F., Tassinari, V., & Ferreri, V. (2022, November 1–3). Radical interdependence on a neighborhood scale: Raising awareness among children about human and more-than-human entanglements [Paper presentation]. Design for Adaptation: Cumulus Detroit, Detroit, MI, USA.
- von Busch, O., & Palmås, K. (2023). The corruption of co-design: Political and social conflicts in participatory design thinking. Routledge.
- Wall, D. (2005). Babylon and beyond: The economics of anti-capitalist, anti-globalist and radical green movements. Pluto Press.
- Willis, A.-M. (2006). Ontological designing. *Design Philosophy Papers*, 4(2), 69–92.

#### About the Authors



**Virginia Tassinari**'s research focuses on how philosophy can contribute to the contemporary design research discourse. She is currently a lecturer at the Politecnico di Milano (IT) and LUCA School of Arts (BE). She is a visiting scholar at Parsons, the New School of Design (USA), visiting lecturer at Université de Nîmes (FR), and design researcher at foresight and design studio Pantopicon (BE). She is currently a member of the International Coordination Committee of DESIS Network.



**Francesco Vergani** is a PhD student in Design at the Politecnico di Milano. He is member of Polimi DESIS Lab where he collaborates in research activities about the reactivation of local communities in urban contexts such as "Vocabolario di Quartiere" (2019–ongoing), a situated vocabulary in the Nolo neighborhood (Milan) developed within the living lab "Off Campus Nolo." Since 2018, he is teaching assistant at the School of Design of the Politecnico di Milano.



Urban Planning (ISSN: 2183–7635) 2023, Volume 8, Issue 2, Pages 335–346 https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v8i2.6439

Article

### Strengthening Urban Labs' Democratic Aspirations: Nurturing a Listening Capacity to Engage With the Politics of Social Learning

#### Anna Seravalli

School of Arts and Communication, Malmö University, Sweden; anna.seravalli@mau.se

Submitted: 2 November 2022 | Accepted: 27 March 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

#### Abstract

Urban labs are arenas for fostering urban sustainable transitions, where different actors experiment and learn together how to create inclusive and sustainable cities. A key aspect of these processes is social learning, which is the collaborative learning process through which new understandings and practices emerge from the activities of urban labs. Social learning also includes the process through which these understandings and practices are further anchored and can transform the organizations participating in urban labs. Social learning is seen as key to tackling polarization and creating transformational capacity at different levels. This article explores how social learning can strengthen urban labs' democratic ambitions. Building on the insights emerging from a collaborative learning process with civil servants within an urban lab, it highlights the need for ensuring plurality and challenging privilege in social learning. It also emphasizes the importance of nurturing a listening capacity within urban labs and municipal organizations.

#### Keywords

listening capacity; pluralism; privilege; social learning; sustainable city planning; sustainable development; urban labs

#### Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

#### 1. Introduction

In the European context, cities are increasingly exploring and driving sustainable transitions (Eales et al., 2021) and striving—in line with UN SDG no. 11—to develop cities that are inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable (UN, n.d.).

Currently, a key approach to promote urban sustainability transitions is that of urban labs. Grounded in transition management (Köhler et al., 2019; Markard et al., 2012), urban labs come with different names (urban labs, urban living labs, innovation platforms, etc.) but share the same nature; they are arenas that engage different local actors in exploring and learning together how to create sustainable cities (Schöll et al., 2017). Social learning is the process through which urban labs' participants collaboratively learn from joint experiences (Bos et al., 2013). Social learning allows for addressing possible conflicts among different interests about sustainable transformations by engaging participants in explor-

ing and learning by bringing together their knowledge and perspectives (Pahl-Wostl, 2007). The notion of social learning also includes the process through which urban labs' findings and learnings are further anchored in different organizations to create changes in their ways of working (Forrest & Wiek, 2014). Social learning is recognized as key to fostering transformative capacity (Castán Broto et al., 2019) and several efforts have been made towards articulating its nature. Some have focused on articulating learning within urban labs activities (Beukers & Bertolini, 2021; Van Poeck et al., 2020), while others have looked at organizational learning (Luederitz et al., 2017; Seravalli, 2021), the process through which urban labs outcomes are further anchored in participating organizations. A less explored question is the relationship between social learning and democratic concerns related to urban labs. Despite their participatory nature and democratic ambitions, urban labs often struggle to generate public value and tend to respond to the interests of a few actors (Eneqvist et al., 2022).



This article explores how social learning can enhance urban labs' democratic aspirations. Firstly, it articulates the political nature of social learning, then it provides some insights on how to understand and organize social learning as a democratic effort. It does so by building on the theoretical relationship between social learning and participation and by reflecting on the insights emerging from a collaborative reflective process within a Swedish urban lab that engaged civil servants working with participatory processes in city planning and development. The intertwining of theoretical and practical insights points to the need to sustain plurality while challenging privileged knowledge regimes and fostering a listening capacity within urban labs and municipal organizations.

#### 2. Social Learning for Sustainable City Development

This section overviews the idea of social learning as discussed in sustainable transition studies. Then, it focuses on the political dimension of social learning and its importance for urban labs.

#### 2.1. In Between Experiential and Organizational Learning

Social learning represents a cornerstone within sustainable transition studies (Bos et al., 2013). Sustainability is recognized as a complex problem that requires ongoing collective learning and adaptation to be tackled (Pahl-Wostl, 2007). Social learning is also seen as key to fostering changes among people and organizations, nurturing collective intelligence and shaping better governance (Van Poeck et al., 2020).

When it comes to urban labs, two kinds of social learning have been identified. The first one is the learning that happens within urban labs activities, which is about collaboratively evaluating joint experiences out from participants' different knowledge and perspectives (Beukers & Bertolini, 2021; Van Poeck et al., 2020). To articulate this kind of learning, pragmatist theory (Dewey in Rodgers, 2002) and experiential learning theory (Kolb, 1984) have been used. Reflecting in and on experience allows the correction of errors using established rules and procedures, but also the revision of existing rules and procedures if they do not fit new challenges. This is done by engaging with the core values, purposes, and principles that guide current ways of doing and thinking about the issue at hand (Argyris & Schön, 1974).

The second kind of learning is about the spreading of urban labs results and insights to organizations, namely organizational learning (Luederitz et al., 2017; Seravalli, 2021). The concept of organizational learning is entangled with the idea of organizational change. It involves creating opportunities within organizations for people to learn and to act upon that learning by using new insights and understandings to improve ways of working and organizational structures (Senge, 1990). This form of learning is often resisted as it challenges not only structures and routines, but also existing mindsets and power relationships in an organization (Argyris & Schön, 1974). Organizational learning is key to transferring the outcomes of urban labs and for transforming municipal organizations as well as governance modes toward the creation of sustainable and just cities (Schöll et al., 2017).

#### 2.2. The Politics of Social Learning

Sustainable transition studies frame social learning as a matter of shifting mindsets and practices to achieve sustainability (Bos et al., 2013; Pahl-Wostl, 2007). When it comes to its political dimension, social learning is seen as an opportunity to deal with the possible controversies that might emerge around sustainable transformations that, if not carefully handled, can lead to destructive polarizations (Collins & Ison, 2009; Pahl-Wostl, 2007). Schöll et al. (2017) have recognized the importance of including marginalized actors in urban labs to strengthen their democratic legitimacy and capacity to generate public value. Castán Broto et al. (2019) observed how urban labs displaying a high degree of social learning considered inclusive forms of urban governance and deliberately tried to empower communities. However, they also noted that only a few urban labs are working proactively with social learning. Furthermore, Enequist et al. (2022) have been highlighting how, in urban labs, the participation of different actors does not necessarily entail more democratic processes, and there is a risk for urban labs to become instrumental in the pursuit of specific interests rather than the public good. Moreover, transition studies are approaching social learning mostly as a rational process (Beukers & Bertolini, 2021; Luederitz et al., 2017; Van Poeck et al., 2020) and little attention is given to how different interests are at play in and shape learning processes. Flyvbjerg (1998) captured how specific rationalities, and thus knowledge, are shaped in city planning and development to serve the interests of certain actors and to reproduce existing power relationships in the urban context. Overall, this calls for a careful engagement with the politics of social learning.

### 3. Unpacking the Politics of Social Learning in Urban Labs

To articulate the politics of social learning, this article relies on the relationship between social learning and participation. On one side, the collaborative and collective nature of social learning (Bos et al., 2013; Pahl-Wostl, 2007) makes it a participatory process that combines exploration and deliberation by bringing together different knowledge and perspectives (Pahl-Wostl, 2007). On the other hand, within urban planning, there is an increased understanding of participation not as a deliberative process, but rather as a process that is about gathering different perspectives and knowledge to learn about how to handle the complexity of contemporary urban development (De Blust et al., 2019). Thus, in social



learning processes, a key concern is not only "who is deciding" (Arnstein, 1969), but how understandings are created and, for example, what kind of knowledge (and thus interests) are given priority in the process (Collins & Ison, 2006, 2009). Additionally, social learning engages with existing structures and procedures within organizations (Seravalli, 2021) that are shaped by underlying views and rationalities that are difficult not only to change but even just to expose (Argyris & Schön, 1974).

#### 3.1. Fostering and Maintaining Plurality While Questioning Privilege

The notion of "unpacking participation" has been introduced by Cornwall (2008) as she recognized how the traditional way of framing citizens as a homogeneous group (Arnstein, 1969) was challenged in practical work with participation. She highlights, for example, how the intersection of ethnicity and class among citizens determines a plurality of interests and different capacity for participation. As a consequence, certain citizens might be more aligned with authorities' representatives than with other citizens (Cornwall, 2008). Thus, urban labs need to pay attention not only to the engagement of different actors (Schöll et al., 2017), but also to what perspectives are present and which are absent in their social learning processes. It is also crucial to follow how plurality is maintained or dismissed along the processes. Democratic achievements of participatory processes depend not only on who is invited but also on the dynamics that emerge among participants engaged in the process and on how processes' outcomes are further integrated into ordinary activities (Palmås & Von Busch, 2015). As a consequence, the involvement and valuing of plurality in social learning processes does not automatically entail that marginal/marginalized perspectives influence the development of shared understandings. It is key to recognize the role of taken-for-granted perspectives and specific actors' interests in shaping single processes and formal structures and thus limiting the possibility for plurality to be maintained. This demands a careful engagement with the way that established views, structures, and practices are challenged or reproduced in social learning, recognizing how striving towards plurality cannot be separate from undoing privilege (Pease, 2010), i.e., the systematic questioning of taken for granted ideas, ways of working and positions about and around the issue at stake.

## 3.2. Beyond "Having a Say": A Listening Capacity for Social Learning

Maintaining plurality in urban labs is not just a matter of providing marginal/marginalized voices with the opportunity to "have a say" (Schöll et al., 2017); it is also vital for these voices to be "heard." This highlights the importance of listening in social learning processes, which can be defined as a political act that gives atten-

tion to voices and perspectives that might be marginalized (Coles, 2004), and that fosters deep engagement among radically different perspectives (Bickford, 1996). Listening has already been recognized as a key capacity for engaging with tacit knowledge in participatory city planning and development (Moore & Elliott, 2016). It is a capacity that is determined both by individuals' skills and attitudes, as well as by organizational structures and routines (Moore & Elliott, 2016). Here, I suggest that a listening capacity can also enhance urban labs' democratic foundation, by fostering learning from diversity among urban lab participants and within municipal organizations. This kind of learning also requires unlearning (Visser, 2017), which is the ability to recognize and question taken-for-granted knowledge regimes and rationalities, and the way they shape urban labs' processes as well as municipal ordinary activities. The aim would be not only to make space for different views but to question power dynamics that regulate positions of marginality and privilege (Pease, 2010) in city planning and development, in order to ensure that plurality is maintained.

## 4. Method: A Collaborative Learning Process Within an Urban Lab

The practical insights presented in this article were developed as part of an urban lab promoted by the city of K (the name of the city is fictious to ensure the informants' anonymity), which included the Planning Department, the Environmental Department, and the Buildings and Streets Departments of the City. This was The Innovation Arena (TIA). The lab focused on driving several planning efforts in the city by experimenting with new ways of working, with a particular focus on citizens' participation.

In the frame of TIA, together with a civil servant, I ran an initiative to enhance social learning about TIA's participatory planning processes. This was the Forum for Citizens' Involvement (FCI). We involved people working in TIA and colleagues from different departments. Similar to the format used by De Blust et al. (2022), FCI consisted of regular meetings among civil servants to share experiences, collaboratively reflect on single processes and their challenges, and analyze the organizational settings in which they were operating. We decided to involve only civil servants on an operative level, as we wanted to create a safe space for them to support learning and unlearning (Visser, 2017) about their practice and the role of organizational aspects (Argyris & Schön, 1974) in shaping opportunities and hindrances for participation in planning processes.

Each meeting was about two hours long and started with a presentation, given by us (the civil servant and I) or one of the participants, delineating a case or issue to discuss and reflect upon. This was followed by a series of exercises aimed at fostering collaborative reflection. We applied traditional participatory design approaches (Brandt et al., 2012), combining exercises where people talked with exercises where people could draw and



work with different materials (particularly, collaborative mappings and visualizations) to allow them to engage with and express both their explicit and tacit knowledge (Brandt et al., 2012; see Figure 1). In each meeting, we also ensured a mix of exercises. In some of them, participants could think on their own to formulate their own position; in others, participants discussed in small groups different positions and experiences to develop shared formulations and understandings. There were also plenary sessions where they shared the small groups' insights and identified common themes and differences.

Data were collected in two ways. During all sessions, participants were asked to summarize personal reflections and group discussions with short sentences, often prompted by specific questions that the project secretary and I formulated beforehand. At the same time, the civil servant and I were also documenting the small group sessions and the plenary sessions by listening and taking notes.

In between one meeting and the next one, the civil servant and I analyzed the materials produced by the participants and the notes we took during each session. We used an "analysis on the wall" method (Sanders & Stappers, 2012) where we engaged our different perspectives (that of a participatory design researcher and a civil servant) to cluster and connect data, identify insights, and name emerging themes (Figure 2). During these sessions, we also jointly reflected on the emerging themes

and tried to formulate some preliminary conclusions. The outcomes were short written reports summarizing the main insights emerging from each session as well as our joint reflections. These reports were shared with participants and discussed (and in case adjusted) at the beginning of the following meeting. The data used in this paper are the insights and reflections from the written reports.

A limitation of the method is related to the involved people. All FCI participants were interested and passionate about questions of participation in city planning and development and, therefore, their understandings and position cannot be considered as representative of their departments.

#### 5. Case: The Forum for Citizens' Involvement

TIA was the third iteration of an urban lab in the city of K. TIA was managed by the environmental department and focused on developing approaches for sustainable city planning and development. TIA was financed through a mix of internal funding and funding coming from an EU structural funds project and a national project financed by the Swedish Innovation Agency. The city of K has a strong tradition of addressing climate adaptation and ecological sustainability in city planning and development. In the last years, there has been also a growing focus on how to tackle problems related to segregation



Figure 1. One of the templates we used for the individual exercises.





Figure 2. The "analysis on the wall" of one of the meetings.

and social inequalities. The first two iterations of the urban lab focused on the question of how to plan for sustainable and inclusive cities. They raised the need for better anchoring the urban lab's efforts within different departments' ordinary activities to support the spreading of their outcomes. Thus, in the planning of TIA, it was decided to dedicate a full project activity to learning with the aim of not only supporting learning within processes, i.e., experiential learning (Beukers & Bertolini, 2021; Van Poeck et al., 2020), but also fostering new ways of working within ordinary activities, i.e., organizational learning (Luederitz et al., 2017; Seravalli, 2021). Given my profile as a participatory design researcher, I took the responsibility for conducting a learning process about citizens' participation, in collaboration with TIA project secretary. This was how the FCI came to be. We framed it as a collaborative learning initiative focusing on supporting learning within single planning processes in TIA (experiential learning), between these processes and ordinary activities (organizational learning), and on identifying opportunities and hindrances for organizational learning within ordinary activities.

FCI ran between November 2018 and June 2019 and consisted of seven meetings gathering between 30 to 35 civil servants from the Environmental Department, the Planning Department, the Buildings and Streets Department, the Service Department, and the Central City Office. All the participants came voluntarily, and they were all working with and being passionate about participation.

The last meeting took place right before the summer of 2019. There were plans to continue in the autumn by trying to involve both politicians and managers from the departments engaged with city planning and development to discuss how to organize long-term participatory work across departments. However, because of a lack of personnel (many people in TIA's leading team quit their position, among them, the project secretary; the reasons were the difficulties in anchoring TIA outcomes within ordinary activities), the leading group of TIA decided to stop FCI and rather focus on the deliverables demanded by the external financing bodies. I used the input gathered in FCI to formulate a report about methods for citizens' participation that focused on the importance of organizational aspects for participatory processes.

Table 1 provides a summary of the focus of each meeting and the main findings that emerged. The single insights are categorized as they relate to the different themes developed in the analysis: (a) participation as social learning; (b) political aspects related to planning and social learning; (c) the listening capacity, opportunities, and challenges related to it.



Tahla 1	Description	ofeach	FCI	meeting	and it	c main	incights
Table T.	Description	UI Each	гсі	meeting	anun	s main	mongines.

Meeting focus	Insights related to single planning processes	Insights related to organizational aspects		
1. Case: River Park, the planning of a new neighborhood with a focus on sustainability and sharing economy. The case was presented by the civil servant who was part of the communication group that included civil servants and building companies and had the task to involve citizens in the shaping of the area. Particularly, the presenter raised the tensions that emerged in this process between the economic interests of the building companies and public interests.	Citizens' participation is about establishing learning between citizens, civil servants, politicians, and other actors (a) There should be a special focus on supporting learning between citizens and politicians (a, b) The importance of moving from temporal and short-term processes to long-term permanent dialogue and learning (c) Besides having dialogues with citizens, it is important to work with small-scale experimentations to provide quick feedback to citizens. This might also allow for an organic development of an area, so when people move in, they can influence the process (a) Is it possible to design a city "for all"? Or rather, is it better to ensure that the interests of groups that are often forgotten (e.g., children) are given priority in planning processes? (b)	Different departments have different pre-conditions for driving participation. They have different resources and different relationships with citizens, politicians, and other actors (for example, the planning department has to ensure that every planning processes include participatory/dialogue sessions with interested actors; the streets and buildings department has a much closer relationship with politicians than other departments) (c) There are general rules in the city about how to conduct communication activities. These rules can be a hindrance to developing learning in participatory processes because they don't allow to adapt the style of communication in relation to the involved groups of citizens (c)		
2. Own practice. Participants were invited to discuss and reflect on their own way of working with citizens' participation.	The importance of having a repertoire of methods and tools but also a particular sensibility to choose and adapt the method to the situation (c) It is important to distinguish between self-evaluation (i.e., self-reflection) and	Participation is a 360° process. There is a need to focus also on involvement within one's own organization (managers, colleagues, and politicians) to ensure that processes' outcomes and learnings are appropriated (a)		
	evaluation (i.e., a systematic way to evaluate participatory processes) (a)	The departments lack internal routines for systematically evaluating citizens' participation efforts (c)		
	within the process, it is important to be aware of what knowledge and perspectives are given priority (a, b)	It is important that civil servants make visible to politicians the compromises that are made in planning processes to accommodate the economic interests of property owners and building companies (b)		
3. Organizational learning and challenges: The meeting included civil	The need for managing conflicts between expert/professional knowledge and citizens/users' knowledge (a,b)	The difficulty of integrating tacit and experiential knowledge in bureaucratic processes (a, c)		
servants and researchers working in another Swedish city with participatory planning processes. They presented their cases and then there was a discussion about organizational	How to make space for different forms of knowledge in planning processes? (a)	How to create an organization that can systematically listen? For example, how it might be possible to use input from city services that have daily contact with citizens (e.g., schools or libraries) in planning processes? (c)		
aspects related to participation.		How to combine expert and local knowledge? Could it be possible to have a planning process run by local citizens and actors with the participation of city planners? (b, c)		



Meeting focus	Insights related to single planning processes	Insights related to organizational aspects		
4. Case: Reconversion of a former industrial area. The area was a former railway deposit (owned by a private company) that was hosting	The importance of involving property owners to ensure that participation efforts and their outcomes are integrated into both planning and development processes (a, c)	The city lacks internal routines, structures, and resources to engage in long-term local collaborations about city planning and development (c)		
cultural actors and creative companies. Because of its central location, the city wanted to reconvert it into a residential area. The presenters were the planners involved in the process that tried to establish a fair and long-term collaboration between the landlord and the current tenants with the goal of ensuring that the old industrial buildings were not demolished and that the current tenants could have a future in the area.	How to move from short-term interventions to a long-term collaboration between different actors? (c) How to ensure a fair relationship between the property owners and current tenants? Could long-term contracts that clarify and regulate their relationship be a possible solution? (b)			
5. Participation in projects vs. participation in ordinary activities.	The importance of starting from "a not-knowing position" (c) It is important to build trust with citizens,	It is difficult to promote and spread new ways of working both for urban lab initiatives as well as for efforts within ordinary activities (a)		
The session was based on a dialogue between two civil servants. The first one had been working with citizens'	but it takes time (c) If one has time and mandate to work locally in an area, one does not need so many resources to create a long-term	Internal mandate, legitimacy, and resources influence the way one can work with participation (c)		
planning and development projects. The second one	citizens' dialogue (c) A long-term engagement in an area gives	It is important to anchor participatory processes internally (c)		
had been working with participation in a specific neighborhood for several	the opportunity to develop a more nuanced understanding of different citizens' perspectives and interests (b, c)	Most of us work isolated in our departments. It is important to find ways to meet and learn across		
ordinary tasks.	Being a good facilitator is not so much about methods. It is more important to focus on mindsets. One needs to be able to integrate theory and practice (c)	departments (a, c)		
	There is a need to move beyond representation, one cannot expect single participants to represent the interests of larger citizens' groups. It also might be counterproductive to define possible citizens' groups as there are so many different factors that are determining citizens' interests and positions (b)			

 Table 1. (Cont.) Description of each FCI meeting and its main insights.



Table 1.	(Cont.)	Description	of each	FCI meeting	and its mai	n insights
TUDIC I.	cont.	Description	or cucii	i ci niccung	s unu its inu	ii iiisigiits.

Meeting focus	Insights related to single planning processes	Insights related to organizational aspects		
6. Mapping the before, during, and after, of participatory planning processes.		There is a gap between "formal" and "practical" mandates for participation. The formal mandate has usually higher ambitions that cannot be achieved		
Participants were invited to map current processes they were involved in and		because of a lack of resources and mandate to integrate results in ordinary activities (a)		
consider the preconditions for processes and the outcomes/effects		There is a lack of shared understandings and approaches to work with participation across departments (a, c)		
generated.		There is no shared structure to bring back the results of processes across departments (a, c)		
		On the organizational level, there is little focus on the outcomes/effects of participatory processes (a, c)		
7. Discussion on the results from the mapping of preconditions, and outcomes/effects of participation in planning	The importance of understanding citizens' participation as a learning process and the importance of including in this process also property owners and other actors. A learning process that can depart from questions that are coming from the city, but also from the citizens and/or other actors (a, b)	Planners see the need for having a better understanding of local areas and being able to map needs and potentials. However, they often lack the resources to be able to do that (a)		
processes. This last meeting focused on discussing further and elaborating on the results of the provious		A focus on participation requires a radica change in planners' roles since they need to be able to capture and integrate		
session. It started with a short presentation summing up the main	One needs good knowledge about an area to be able to reach citizens that are rarely involved in participatory processes (b)	different forms of knowledge in the planning process. This shift needs to be discussed with managers and politicians		
insights from the previous session.	One needs a flexible mandate and resources to be able to intervene with different methods in relation to the characteristics of an area (high level of participation, low level of participation, possible tensions and polarizations) (c)	support for working in this way (c)		
	Participatory processes could also drive questions/issues which are important for citizens rather than the city (b)			

#### 6. Analysis

This section summarizes the main findings that emerged from the FCI highlighting elements that are related to (a) participation as social learning, (b) political aspects related to planning and social learning, and (c) opportunities and challenges related to listening.

#### 6.1. Participation as Social Learning

The centrality of social learning emerged already from the first FCI meeting. Single planning processes were explicitly defined as learning processes that needed to involve

not only civil servants and citizens, but also other actors engaged in city planning and development (De Blust et al., 2019). Planners felt the need for knowing more about an area but often lacked the resources for doing so (De Blust et al., 2019). Emphasis was also put on the need of supporting learning between politicians and citizens. Participants showed a good understanding of the political challenges of social learning by raising the importance of mobilizing and involving different kinds of knowledge in planning processes and the difficulties of doing so. They also discussed the importance of small-scale interventions, but mostly as a matter of providing feedback to citizens rather than as means for social learning.



While the expression organizational learning was not explicitly used by participants, they lifted the importance of and challenges in bringing back results of participatory processes in ordinary activities. With the idea of participation as a 360-degree process, they pointed to the importance of reaching citizens and external stakeholders as well as involving colleagues, managers, and politicians. They recognized how both urban labs' efforts and internal attempts to introduce new ways of working with participation were meeting resistance (Argyris & Schön, 1974). They stressed how, internally, there was little focus on evaluating participatory processes and lifted the need for distinguishing between self-reflection and more systematic ways to evaluate participatory processes and thus improving the way they were dealt with on an organizational level. They highlighted the lack of structures and routines across the departments to feed back the outcomes of participatory processes and to learn about participation. The civil servants who had long experience working with participation highlighted that they perceived a gap between strategic aims about participation and what could be achieved in practice, due to a lack of resources and poor attention to how the outcomes of participatory efforts were integrated into planning processes. Overall, they recognized that to support participation as a social learning process, planners needed to take another role and focus on capturing and integrating different kinds of knowledge (De Blust et al., 2019). A role that required different structures and routines within the departments and in the interaction with politicians.

#### 6.2. Political Aspects Related to Planning and Social Learning

Participants in FCI were highly sensitive to political questions. When it comes to planning processes, emphasis was put on the need to better respond to the needs of marginal/marginalized groups in planning processes. They also raised the problem of the privileged position of property owners and builders in planning and development processes (Flyvbjerg, 1998). On one side, they were interested in finding pragmatic ways of balancing the strong role of these actors (i.e., the idea of long-term agreements between current tenants and property owners) on the other, they expressed the wish of making politicians more aware of the compromises that were made in planning processes to accommodate the interests of these actors. They also challenged taken-forgranted ideas about participation in urban planning, like the criteria of representation (Cornwall, 2008), and suggested the idea of planning out from the interests of marginal/marginalized groups, like children. They recognized how knowledge of an area was vital to have a deep understanding of diverse interests and views.

They also articulated some political challenges of social learning. They were aware that different forms of knowledge had different possibilities to shape planning

processes and their results. This was both raised in terms of conflicts between experts' and citizens' knowledge, but also the need of taking into consideration which views, and perspectives were applied in the evaluation of participatory efforts. They were also fully aware of the challenges that current structures and procedures posed in terms of making space for citizens' perspectives and they speculated around the possibility of restructuring planning processes so that they were driven by local communities rather than planners, thus giving priority to citizens' knowledge and perspectives rather than experts' views. They also considered how participatory processes could be organized so that they could be used by citizens to explore and learn about issues that mattered to communities rather than to the municipality. Both these suggestions can be seen as a matter of questioning positions of privilege (Pease, 2010) in planning processes.

## 6.3. Existing Opportunities and Challenges Related to Listening

Listening emerged as a crucial aspect to enhance social learning. Participants explicitly talked about the importance of starting from "a not-knowing position" as a matter of trying to avoid preconceptions and thus being open to different perspectives (Bickford, 1996). They described listening as being related to single planning processes alongside organizational conditions (Moore & Elliott, 2016). When it comes to the interaction with citizens, civil servants highlighted the importance of long-term and area-based efforts that could allow the development of good knowledge about an area, build local trust, and thus ensure a broad and deep understanding of different local interests. They highlighted that this required a flexible mandate and the freedom of adapting methods and approaches to the specific situation. They saw this way of working as not requiring so many resources, but rather being more a question of having the possibility and capacity to work out from the local settings. They also discussed the importance of attitudes and mindsets over methods for doing this kind of work.

On the organizational level, a key problem was recognized in the fragmentation across departments. They had different pre-conditions to work with participation. They lacked shared structures and routines and ways to integrate back participatory processes' results, evaluate participatory efforts, and learn together how to improve their way of working. Moreover, existing communication standards in the municipality were seen as a hindrance to working in flexible ways. During the discussions, it emerged also the proposal of exploring how it might be possible to engage in planning processes representatives from municipal services that had everyday contact with citizens (i.e., schools and libraries), given that they had a good overview of a local area and could facilitate interactions with different groups.



#### 7. Discussion

As already highlighted, FCI's participants were civil servants who valued participation and who were involved in complex urban development processes. Their understandings were advanced and some of their proposals were quite radical, yet they pointed at some interesting insights that could be used to improve the way urban labs engage with the politics of social learning and strengthen their democratic ambitions.

## 7.1. Maintaining Plurality While Challenging Privilege Through Social Learning

Urban labs have already recognized the importance of fostering plurality (Schöll et al., 2017) as a means of strengthening their democratic nature. The findings from FCI confirm the significance of including different knowledge and perspectives in Urban Labs, particularly those that tend to be marginalized, to ensure that the understandings developed through social learning and the decisions that follow are democratically grounded. At the same time, it also becomes evident that creating space for plurality cannot be separated from challenging existing conditions of privilege (Pease, 2010). Therefore, urban labs should focus on engaging with plurality while questioning taken-for-granted knowledge regimes and rationalities. When it comes to social learning, this requires paying attention to the type of knowledge and perspectives that inform understandings and decisions as well as monitoring social learning processes capacity to challenge privileged knowledge regimes and foster unlearning (Visser, 2017) among those involved in (re)producing these regimes. This entails recognizing and tracing the role of planners', property owners', building companies', and other privileged actors' perspectives in the learning process. At the same time, urban labs could experiment with these perspectives, for example, by involving politicians and the public in learning about how privilege and marginalization operate in urban development processes, exploring ways of mitigating privileged conditions (like the agreement between tenants and property owners), or directly challenging them (like the idea of having citizens rather than planners driving planning processes). It is also crucial to work on internal structures and practices within municipal organizations, making visible how they are informed by specific views and knowledge regimes (Argyris & Schön, 1974), and exploring to what extent they allow or neglect the possibility of integrating a plurality of perspectives. This internal process needs to be grounded and to involve civil servants, managers, and politicians to create a shared understanding of the limitations of current structures in driving more democratic planning processes.

In this way, social learning can take on a new dimension. Besides being a process that focuses on integrating different forms of knowledge and managing possible polarizations around sustainable transitions (Collins & Ison, 2009; Pahl-Wostl, 2007), it could also enhance urban labs' capacity to maintain plurality and questioning privilege in their activities and outcomes and in relation to existing structures and procedures within ordinary municipal activities.

#### 7.2. Nurturing a Listening Capacity

Civil servants involved in FCI highlighted how, in maintaining plurality and challenging privilege, listening represents a key capacity as the ability to deeply engage with diversity (Bickford, 1996). They emphasized how listening required long-term local engagement and a flexible approach for developing a deep understanding of an area, its citizens, and their diverse interests. This requires new ways of framing and organizing participation in urban planning, like, for example, the permanent involvement of schools and libraries in these processes, but also a new role for the city planner. In line with Moore and Elliott (2016), the listening capacity is defined by single planning processes as well as organizational aspects. It depends on individual civil servants' attitudes and skills, formats and procedures for participatory processes, as well as on mandate and resources, the way participatory process results are integrated into ordinary activities, systemic evaluation, and learning about participation. Additionally, FCI participants emphasized the importance of political bodies in enhancing listening. They discussed the need for making politicians aware of the compromises made in urban planning and for directly involving them in participatory processes.

Urban labs could work towards enhancing a listening capacity in and across single planning processes, municipal departments, and political bodies overseeing planning processes. On the level of the single planning process, they could foster the exploration of attitudes and approaches, but also the testing of new ways of framing and organizing participation with an explicit focus on "listening" (Bickford, 1996) besides "providing a say" (Arnstein, 1969), and with a clear understanding of the limits of the "representation criteria" and the need for "unpacking" (Cornwall, 2008) citizens' and other actors' interests. Through dedicated social learning processes, and similarly to what we did with FCI, these explorations could be connected to ordinary activities to identify possible organizational hindrances or opportunities to enhance a listening capacity on organizational level (Moore & Elliott, 2016). However, it is crucial that these processes reach out to political bodies overseeing urban planning to ensure that they are aware of the limits of current participatory practices and organizational structures and, hopefully, ensure a mandate to enhance their listening capacity.

#### 8. Conclusions

Urban labs are rapidly spreading in Europe as an approach to promoting sustainable city development.



Despite their participatory nature and democratic ambitions, urban labs are at risk of promoting the interests of a few actors rather than serving the public good (Eneqvist et al., 2022). This article explores how social learning, a key feature in urban labs, could be used not only to tackle sustainability challenges while mitigating possible polarizations (Pahl-Wostl, 2007) but also to enhance urban labs' democratic aspirations.

The article builds on the insights of FCI, a collaborative learning process about participation in sustainable city planning and development, that was organized within an urban lab in the Swedish city of K. FCI participants highlighted the importance of social learning to enhance the democratic quality of planning processes and the centrality of a listening capacity (Moore & Elliott, 2016) in planning processes and municipal organizations to engage with the political challenges of social learning.

The key insights are that besides fostering plurality in their activities (Schöll et al., 2017), urban labs should focus on how plurality is maintained over time and to what extent marginalized perspectives inform learnings and decisions in their own activities as well as within municipal ordinary activities. When it comes to social learning, this entails not only engaging with a diversity of perspectives, but also challenging taken-for-granted perspectives and the privileged position of experts' and other influential actors' views in informing understandings of and actions in urban labs and, more in general, urban development processes.

#### Acknowledgments

Acknowledgments and thanks are due to the former TIA project secretary for driving FCI together with me, and analyzing the material we collected along the way. Thanks to FCI participants for generously sharing their experiences and reflections. Thanks to the former TIA management group that trusted me in running FCI. The writing of this article has been financed by the Institute for Sustainable City Development, a Malmö University and Malmö Municipality joint initiative.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The author declares no conflict of interests.

#### References

- Argyris, C., & Schön, D. A. (1974). *Theory in practice: Increasing professional effectiveness*. Wiley.
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 35(4), 216–224.
- Beukers, E., & Bertolini, L. (2021). Learning for transitions: An experiential learning strategy for urban experiments. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 40, 395–407.
- Bickford, S. (1996). The dissonance of democracy: Listen-

ing, conflict, and citizenship. Cornell University Press.

- Bos, J. J., Brown, R. R., & Farrelly, M. A. (2013). A design framework for creating social learning situations. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(2), 398–412.
- Brandt, E., Binder, T., & Sanders, E. B. N. (2012). Tools and techniques: Ways to engage telling, making and enacting. In J. Simonsen & T. Robertson (Eds.), *Routledge international handbook of participatory design* (pp. 145–181). Routledge.
- Castán Broto, V., Trencher, G., Iwaszuk, E., & Westman, L. (2019). Transformative capacity and local action for urban sustainability. *Ambio*, *48*, 449–462.
- Coles, R. (2004). Moving democracy: Industrial areas foundation social movements and the political arts of listening, traveling, and tabling. *Political Theory*, 32(5), 678–705.
- Collins, K., & Ison, R. (2006, June 4-7). Dare we jump off Arnstein's ladder? Social learning as a new policy paradigm [Conference paper]. Participatory Approaches in Science & Technology Conference, Edinburgh, UK.
- Collins, K., & Ison, R. (2009). Jumping off Arnstein's ladder: Social learning as a new policy paradigm for climate change adaptation. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 19(6), 358–373.
- Cornwall, A. (2008). Unpacking "participation": Models, meanings and practices. *Community Development Journal*, *43*(3), 269–283.
- De Blust, S., Devisch, O., & Schreurs, J. (2019). Towards a situational understanding of collective learning: A reflexive framework. *Urban Planning*, 4(1), 19–30.
- De Blust, S., Devisch, O., & Vandenabeele, J. (2022). Learning to reflect collectively: How to create the right environment for discussing participatory planning practice? *European Planning Studies*, *30*(6), 1162–1181.
- Eales, R., White, O., Saudaskis, R., Heeckt, C., Rode, P., & Martins, I. P. (2021). Urban sustainability in Europe: Avenues for change (Report No. 06/2021).
  European Environmental Agency. https://www.eea. europa.eu/publications/urban-sustainability-ineurope-avenues
- Eneqvist, E., Algehed, J., Jensen, C., & Karvonen, A. (2022). Legitimacy in municipal experimental governance: Questioning the public good in urban innovation practices. *European Planning Studies*, 30(8), 1596–1614.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (1998). *Rationality and power: Democracy in practice*. University of Chicago Press.
- Forrest, N., & Wiek, A. (2014). Learning from success— Toward evidence-informed sustainability transitions in communities. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 12, 66–88.
- Köhler, J., Geels, F. W., Kern, F., Markard, J., Onsongo, E., Wieczorek, A., Alkemade, F., Avelino, F., Bergek, A., Boons, F., Fünfschilling, L., Hess, D., Holtz, G., Hyysalo, S., Jenkins, K., Kivimaa, P., Martiskainen, M., McMeekin, A., Mühlemeier, M. S., ... Wells, P. (2019).



An agenda for sustainability transitions research: State of the art and future directions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, *31*, 1–32.

- Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development*. Prentice-Hall.
- Luederitz, C., Schäpke, N., Wiek, A., Lang, D. J., Bergmann, M., Bos, J. J., Burch, S., Davies, A., Evans, J., König, A., Ferrelly, M. A., Forrest, N., Frantzeskaki, N., Gibson, R. B., Kay, B., Loorbach, D., McCormick, K., Parodi, O., Rauschmayer, F., . . . Westley, F. R. (2017). Learning through evaluation— A tentative evaluative scheme for sustainability transition experiments. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 169, 61–76.
- Markard, J., Raven, R., & Truffer, B. (2012). Sustainability transitions: An emerging field of research and its prospects. *Research Policy*, *41*(6), 955–967.
- Moore, K. R., & Elliott, T. J. (2016). From participatory design to a listening infrastructure: A case of urban planning and participation. *Journal of Business and Technical Communication*, *30*(1), 59–84.
- Pahl-Wostl, C. (2007). Transitions towards adaptive management of water facing climate and global change. *Water Resources Management*, 21(1), 49–62.
- Palmås, K., & Von Busch, O. (2015). Quasi-quisling: Co-design and the assembly of *collaborateurs*. *CoDesign*, 11(3/4), 236–249.

- Pease, B. (2010). Undoing privilege: Unearned advantage in a divided world. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Rodgers, C. (2002). Defining reflection: Another look at John Dewey and reflective thinking. *Teachers College Record*, 104(4), 842-866.
- Sanders, E. B. N., & Stappers, P. J. (2012). Convivial toolbox: Generative research for the front end of design. Bis.
- Schöll, C., Agger Eriksen, M., Baerten, N., Clark, E., Drage, T., Essebo, M., Hillgren, P.-A., Hoeflehner, T., de Kraker, J., Rijkens-Klomp, N., Seravalli, A., Wachtmeister, A., & Wlasak, P. (2017). *Guidelines for urban labs.* https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/ record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1404995&dswid=9608
- Senge, P. M. (1990). *The art and practice of the learning organization*. Currency Double Day.
- Seravalli, A. (2021). In search of (organizational) learning and translation in public innovation labs. *Nordes: Nordic Design Research*, *9*, 338–347.
- United Nations. (n.d.). Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable. https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal11
- Van Poeck, K., Östman, L., & Block, T. (2020). Opening up the black box of learning-by-doing in sustainability transitions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 34, 298–310.
- Visser, M. (2017). Learning and unlearning: A conceptual note. *Learning Organization*, 24(1), 49–57.

#### About the Author



**Anna Seravalli** is an associate professor of design at the School of Arts and Communication of Malmö University. She has extensive experience working at the boundary of design research and practices with a focus on urban sustainable transitions and public sector innovation.



Article

# Challenging the Master Narrative on Large-Scale Social Estates: Exploring Counterstories Through Digital Storytelling

Younes Rifaad and Nele Aernouts \*

Cosmopolis Centre for Urban Research, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Belgium

\* Corresponding author (nele.aernouts@vub.be)

Submitted: 15 November 2022 | Accepted: 7 March 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

#### Abstract

The challenging and reframing of dominant narratives have been recognized as crucial to the regeneration of stigmatized areas. This article builds upon a digital storytelling process in the social estate of Peterbos, Brussels, to investigate how the counterstories of inhabitants challenge the "master narrative." The counterstories foreground the spatial agency of tenants, the (dis)enabling role of space, and the difficult relationship with social housing companies. The article concludes that counterstories not only reveal dominant spatial imaginaries about high-rise estates but also have the potential to foster a more situated and experiential understanding of the relationship between people and space. However, it is important to note that digital storytelling is not a substitute for inclusive planning. Critical engagement with ongoing planning processes remains crucial.

#### Keywords

counterstories; digital storytelling; inclusive planning; social housing

#### Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

#### 1. Introduction

As research moved away from the positivist ideal of technocratic planning, lay knowledge and the experience of residents and non-planners have been gaining importance in planning, both in theory and practice (Fischer & Forester, 1993; Innes, 1998). As part of this evolution, storytelling or narrative processes have been seen as ways to include more diverse groups of residents (Schuman, 1987), particularly those who had often been excluded from the deliberative arena (Albrechts, 2002). Incorporating storytelling as "a method for planning" (Van Hulst, 2012) would facilitate other forms of communication that are different from the technical jargon used in the design charette or the planning process in general (Bulkens et al., 2015).

The focus of this article is the exploration of the use of *counterstories* in planning. Apart from a recent publication developed by Lopez et al. (2018), few planning researchers have actively engaged with the concept of counterstories. In addition, rarely have they focused on the way digital storytelling can be used as a tool to capture such counterstories. Through a discussion of our action research in a social high-rise estate in the Brussels-Capital Region (Belgium), we hope to demonstrate the relevance of this approach, especially in places that are subject to stigmatization. While large-scale social housing estates are relatively rare in Belgium due to the strong liberal-economic character of the Belgian housing order, the promoted preference for private ownership of freestanding houses over compact housing development has resulted in an image problem for such estates. Debates in media and regional parliaments in Belgium have centered around the liveability of these estates (De Decker & Pannecoucke, 2004).

Through our analysis of planning documents and a self-initiated digital storytelling project in the context of the regeneration of the social estate of Peterbos



in Anderlecht, Brussels, we identified two key benefits of counterstories. First, examining planning documents as forms of stories helped us to recognize the subtle ways in which culturally dominant representations of high-rise estates are enacted in texts and images in planning documents such as master plans and action programs. Second, the process of digital storytelling, in which counterstories emerged through conversations, moving images, and voices, helped to develop more contextualized and situated understandings of space and social behaviour.

This article is organized as follows: First, we examine the role of storytelling in planning and introduce the concept of counterstories. We highlight their significance in marginalized areas and, specifically, in planning processes in high-rise social housing estates. Next, we discuss the context and methodologies used to capture the stories of planners and residents. We frame the ongoing planning processes as a form of storytelling and, by doing so, show how planners respond to prevailing narratives of high-rise estates. In the analysis that follows, we illustrate how counterstories of residents, conveying their experiences in space, enable us to challenge these narratives. Before concluding the article, we emphasize that counterstories generate knowledge that can inform a critical planning practice, particularly in places with contested narratives, while also underscoring the critical questions and dilemmas that arise with the tool of digital storytelling.

## 2. Positioning Counterstories in the Planning of Large-Scale Social Estates

The analytical perspective of this article is inspired by the resurgence of stories and narratives in planning over the past three decades (Sandercock, 2010; Throgmorton, 2003). This "story turn" has been conceptualized as both a model of planning and a model for planning (Van Hulst, 2012). Framing storytelling as a model of planning draws attention to the importance of crafting good narratives within planning processes (Secchi, 1984). Throgmorton (2003), for instance, demonstrated that by writing "texts," using a particular language, such as plans and visual renderings, planners are inevitably involved in persuasive storytelling. In the wake of shifts in ethics and epistemology (Innes, 1998), storytelling has also been promoted as a model for planning (Sandercock, 2010; Van Hulst, 2012). By creating spaces for stories to be heard, planning practice could become more therapeutic, democratic, and/or inclusive (Sandercock, 2010). More recently, the notion of counterstories has been coined by scholars in the field. Lopez et al. (2018), for instance, highlighted how counterstories can offer critique but also hope, enabling planning practice to learn from community voices. Fattah and Walters (2020) have similarly shown how counternarratives of people living in informal settlements can produce solidarities to resist evictions. However, these recent publications primarily focus on counterstories developed in

response to larger "common sense assumptions" (Lopez et al., 2018, p. 108) that are part of traditional planning in polarized contexts. Although crucial, they do not show how stories of planners and inhabitants deviate within planning processes that are not conceived in a top-down way but rather include levels of citizen participation (Arnstein, 1969). As such, knowledge about the more subtle ways that common sense assumptions about marginalized places and people enter contemporary public planning processes is incomplete. Further, situated knowledge of what planners can learn from counterstories in the context of ongoing regeneration processes is lacking. Finally, these recent publications are mostly focused on textual data such as interviews, focus groups, and ethnographic fieldwork notes, and less on visual material or creative tools such as digital storytelling. In order to explore these intersections, it is first necessary to gain a clearer understanding of the concepts of stories, narratives, and spatial imaginaries, as well as their role in planning processes and the regeneration of large-scale social estates, in particular.

Stories, on the one hand, are seen as a sequence of events unfolding in time and space. They describe a change in a situation and help us to make sense of it (Ameel, 2017; Verloo, 2015). Narratives, on the other, are analytical reflections on these stories that reconstruct different storylines and add meaning to them (Verloo, 2015), representing a particular point of view for a particular audience (Ameel, 2017). In planning, such analytical reflections are intertwined with spatial imaginaries (Davoudi, 2018). The latter are collective understandings and representations of a place that supposedly emerge from a range of characteristics and phenomena associated with that place (Davoudi, 2018). While they can generate a sense of belonging and community, they can also create exclusion (Davoudi, 2018). The naturalization or reproduction of spatial imaginaries is therefore not a neutral process, but rather one that is imbued with power relations. Indeed, those in power have a normalizing judgement (Foucault, 1991) that dictates what is considered the "true" narrative of a place by silencing other experiences or "by 'othering' competing interpretations" (Watkins, 2015, p. 512). Lindemann (2020) uses the concept of master narratives to describe such hegemonic paradigms or ideas, similar to the concepts of grands récits or metanarratives (Bamberg, 2004). Master narratives often operate below the level of conscious recognition, implicitly shaping smaller stories and daily life. As such they are not only descriptive but also constitutive of reality, guiding our interactions (Sandercock, 2003).

This seems especially relevant in marginalized areas, where inhabitants' social and political identities are subject to different forms of discrimination. In addition to ethnicity, factors such as class, religion, disability and appearance can contribute to their disadvantage. Inhabitants of marginalized areas not only lack agency in shaping their image (Costera Meijer, 2013), but they also often face the consequences of negative



spatial imaginaries. In social housing estates, stigma is frequently cited as a primary issue, exacerbating other problems (Hastings & Dean, 2003; Hicks & Lewis, 2020). Authors such as Arthurson et al. (2014), Wacquant (2008), and Warr (2005) have compellingly described how dominant narratives derived from spatial imaginaries, which depict estates as barren, chaotic, and rough, negatively affect internal social cohesion and personal well-being. This is why several authors have emphasized the importance of image building in neighbourhood renewal (Hastings & Dean, 2003; Wassenberg, 2004). However, while planners responsible for such renewal do not necessarily perpetuate problematic reputations as commercial media tend to do, Hastings and Dean (2003) have demonstrated that they do respond to the narratives mentioned above, thereby inadvertently reinforcing negative spatial imaginaries.

Several authors have argued that narratives can serve as not only oppressive but also as healing experiences when they accurately recount personal experiences (Sandercock, 2010). In this regard, counterstories appear to be interesting means of image building. Counterstories have their roots in critical race theory, where they have been embraced as a primary way to give a platform to voices from the "outgroup" (Delgado, 1989, p. 2413). Counterstories do so by sharing real, lived experiences that highlight the cracks in the master narrative and "open new windows of reality" (Delgado, 1989, p. 2414). This attention to lived experiences is based on the firm belief that knowledge stems from the social position. In spatial disciplines, a few tools have been developed in order to capture such lived experiences, such as GIS-based spatial narratives (Elwood, 2006) and countermapping (Peluso, 1995). Community organizations have adopted GIS-based maps and images to include their spatial knowledge in decision-making processes. Countermapping, on the other hand, frames mapping as a power-laden representation (Dalton & Mason-Deese, 2012). The choice of what to show on a map (e.g., national boundaries) or what not to show (e.g. ancestral native lands) renders it a tool for hegemonic forces to reinforce their power positions in spatial development. Countermapping seeks to find different ways to envisage spaces in maps, in order to "increase the power of people living in the mapped area to control representations of themselves" (Peluso, 1995, p. 387). In our analysis, we used digital storytelling, which is a tool with which participants create short videos that consist of moving images, pictures, and drawings. In these videos, participants talk about their own lives in their own voices (Truchon, 2016). The tool is often used among marginalized and sensationalized communities to make their unheard voices be heard (Gregori-Signes & Pennock-Speck, 2012). It promotes them as experts in their own lives (Truchon, 2016) and makes them active subjects in the formation of their neighbourhood's imaginary (Costera Meijer, 2013).

In order to use counterstories as a mode of inquiry, Delgado (1989) suggests first examining how stories con-

tribute to a master narrative, perpetuating a specific version of social reality. He then proposes analysing counterstories by showing what such stories leave out, potentially preparing the way for a new story. We will follow this order of inquiry to study how stories of planners derogate from stories of residents of large-scale social estates. In doing so, we will reflect on the "generic styles [stories] can take" (Martinez, 2014, p. 38). To explore the stories, we will highlight the specificity of planning documents, in which not only texts but also graphs, plans, and images respond to dominant representations of space. For the counterstories, we will focus on the tool of digital storytelling and how we applied it in the context of Peterbos. We will highlight its strengths but will also show some limitations regarding its potential to capture counterstories.

#### 3. Context and Methodology

#### 3.1. The Regeneration Plans

The context of this analysis is Peterbos, a high-rise social housing estate located in the Brussels-Capital Region, Belgium. The estate, which was built after the Second World War, comprises 18 high-rise towers with 1,400 housing units, as well as a few commercial and social services. It is situated in an open and green landscape on the periphery of the city region and is surrounded by low-rise neighbourhoods. At the time of writing, the site is undergoing various planning processes aimed at the renovation of public spaces and several towers. In our analysis of the "master narratives," we focus on two main regeneration plans.

The first regeneration plan is a master plan that was initiated by a social housing company in 2014 but was ultimately rejected by the housing authorities of the Brussels-Capital Region. The plan exists of two reports: one called *Sketch Design Phase* and another called *Preliminary Draft Phase*. While initially seen as a guide-line, it became a detailed plan that included a progressive renovation of the towers and public spaces.

The second regeneration plan includes a "diagnostic," "priorities," and an "action program," developed within the context of a "sustainable neighbourhood contract." These documents were adopted in early 2019 and formed the primary guidelines for developing new facilities and renovating the public space in Peterbos. The neighbourhood contract is a transversal planning policy that has been adopted in various countries in Europe as an instrument steering participatory regeneration processes in areas facing social and economic difficulties (Aernouts et al., 2022). In Brussels, the policy was adopted in 1993 and changed in 2010 in order to give more attention to environmental dimensions, hence the "sustainable" neighbourhood contract. Nowadays, it combines planning interventions with socio-economic actions, bringing together various stakeholders, such as the region and its planning institutions, the municipality, citizens, and, in


this case, social housing companies. In this article, we solely discuss the three documents (diagnostic, priorities, and program), made by an external multidisciplinary urban planning agency during the first year of the neighbourhood contract. We do not focus on the plans and activities developed afterwards, such as a master plan, social-cultural activities, and social economy projects.

# 3.2. The Digital Storytelling Project

In light of sensationalizing and stigmatizing media coverage following incidents of violence between inhabitants and the police in the spring of 2018 (see for instance Grymonprez, 2018; Debaets, 2018; "Peterbos: Une zone de non-droit à Bruxelles?," 2018), we were drawn to the idea of using digital storytelling as a means to showcase more diverse perspectives of Peterbos. Over a period of seven months, from October 2018 to May 2019, we organized six workshops and two feedback sessions with eight inhabitants of Peterbos, during which we created short videos using a combination of texts, pictures, drawings, and short moving images. To recruit inhabitants, we explained the project to passers-by in the public space of Peterbos and also used the knowledge of social workers to identify those who might be interested in an audio-visual project or benefit from telling their story. As such, our selection was based on the needs and motivations of inhabitants rather than on research interests or representativeness. We presented the stories and findings from the digital storytelling process to both participants and inhabitants of the neighbourhood, in order to understand how some elements were shared among estate inhabitants. Each workshop included assignments to reflect on the message of these videos. The eight inhabitants were divided into two groups: a Monday morning group with two women and two men, and a Wednesday afternoon group with one woman and three teenage boys. To understand the conditions that led to the creation of these stories, the two authors of this article attended the sessions as participant observers. Joint by a third researcher, throughout the process, we formed researcher-inhabitant duos to provide support and act as soundboards for specific assignments. This support ranged from helping people with disabilities to cross the area or to take pictures, to contributing to the writing process in case of language barriers. By actively supporting one or two participants each, we aimed to normalize our presence as part of the process. A fourth researcher, who played a key role in developing the digital storytelling tool, guided the sessions and compiled the videos.

We conducted an analysis of both the plans and the digital storytelling project within the framework of action research on inclusive regeneration strategies for large-scale social housing estates. Indeed, our research delved into not only an in-depth study of how the regeneration was experienced locally but also engagement with planning stakeholders who were involved in the regeneration process, by conducting interviews and

attending meetings, presentations, and workshops. Our collaboration with the planning stakeholders, on the one hand, explains how we got access to the regeneration plans. We did a narrative analysis of these regenerating plans by examining the planning documents presented above, including the texts, graphs, plans, and images, and by identifying how they related to broader imaginaries and narratives on high-rise estates present in the context of Peterbos as well as in national and international literature on large-scale social estates. Our engagement with the inhabitants through the digital storytelling project, on the other, was limited to a relatively small group of eight people. We tried to develop a meaningful interpretation by taking into account inhabitants' social and political identities and how these related to their experiences. The first author of this article, Younes Rifaad, also conducted interviews with four of the eight inhabitants to discuss our interpretation of the stories.

# 4. Revealing the Master Narratives Within the Regeneration Plans

In both the master plan and the documents of the sustainable neighbourhood contract, we identified two key narratives that were responded to: the impact of modernist high-rise architecture and the homogeneity of social renters. In this section, we link the stories of the planners to national and international literature on large-scale estates and study how they are reproduced in the analysis of these plans.

According to the master plan, Peterbos possesses the positive qualities of a good modernist neighbourhood, such as an "abundance of qualitative green spaces" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 22). However, the large amount of public space is also viewed as its weakness, as "most of it currently remains undefined" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 88), making hierarchization and privatization of parts of the public space the priority of the plans. The undefined spaces in their current state "make the neighbourhood confusing and thus, unsafe" (Office 1, 2014b, p. 38). Additionally, the current social composition of the neighbourhood is considered a "social mix...that is unhealthy" (Office 1, 2014b, p. 36), which is illustrated with various diagrams. In one of the diagrams, the revenues of Peterbos, the municipality, and the entire region are compared. Below the diagram, it is stated that there are too many elderly and unemployed inhabitants, particularly when compared to the statistics in other places. In another graph called "Spaces With a Healthy Mix" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 36), the ratios between social rent and rent and ownership for middle-class households for an area in Sheffield and Amsterdam are displayed. The plan proposes to densify the site by introducing housing for middle-class inhabitants. The additional buildings would be constructed right next to the existing towers, forming ensembles and collectivizing parts of public space.

As a result, the remaining public space would become easier to understand, enabling "better



appropriation by inhabitants, and as such a better management" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 88). In addition, the densification would create the critical mass needed to provide more commercial and cultural facilities, located on a central and structuring lane. This would also break the monofunctionality of the site, which "provides no reason for people in adjacent neighbourhoods to visit" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 58), increasing their isolation. The team responsible for the master plan consulted inhabitants of the neighbourhood through "tent discussions" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 38), with questions mostly relating to the public space. Regardless, most of their conclusions involving the functioning of the public space came from a reading of spatial characteristics.

The "diagnostic," "priorities," and "action program" of the neighbourhood contract, the second set of regeneration plans that were subject to our analysis, offer a more sensitive and refined reading of the site, yet propose solutions that are similar to those in the master plan. For instance, the priorities report notes that "urbanism in open order has both spatial and ecological qualities, but it also causes problems in terms of appropriation and social control" (Office 2, 2018b, p. 10). In response to these problems, the planners aim to re-activate public spaces by introducing new functions to the area. One solution is to construct a large central facility that would attract visitors from the surrounding areas, thereby breaking the isolation of the neighbourhood. Another proposed solution is to create a network of services primarily for local inhabitants. Together with new "conviviality spaces" (Office 2, 2018c, p. 84) and renovated walkways, these facilities would create a new hierarchy that encourages the appropriation of public space and fosters social interaction among residents.

The plan's authors also aim to involve tenants in the construction of these conviviality spaces, believing that it would make them feel more connected to the neighbourhood and thus more responsible for it. As highlighted above, the language used in the documents of the neighbourhood contract is less forceful than in the master plan. The designers of the neighbourhood contract aim to value local knowledge, in this case, acquired by a team of architects and sociologists who conducted the fieldwork and organized participatory workshops, albeit operated in a very challenging time frame.

Although the two regeneration plans and the analyses supporting them differ significantly from each other, they both respond to two prevalent ideas in discussions about high-rise social housing estates. Firstly, modernism has been criticized for failing to create functional spaces (Sendi et al., 2009). While modernist estates were initially based on progressive ideals of equality and good living conditions for all (Turkington et al., 2004), they quickly became a quick and cheap solution to house large amounts of households, in the context of slum clearances (Declerck, 2004) or to rebuild destroyed housing after the Second World War (Wassenberg, 2004). As a result, the initial architectural ambitions of the movement quickly decayed and essential elements such as collective facilities (Vervloesem et al., 2008) or the importance of orientation (Declerck, 2004) became less present. This led to a standardised and monotonous construction of high-rise towers (Zimmer, 2009), often in cheaper, peripheral locations with few facilities (Turkington et al., 2004). Modernist architecture subsequently became the subject of criticism (Lees & Baxter, 2011), particularly in the case of Belgium, where freestanding owner-occupied housing is still considered the norm (De Decker & Pannecoucke, 2004). In recent years, however, this criticism has evolved in architects' and urbanists' circles, with a reconsideration and appreciation of high-rise housing (Dejemeppe, 2010). Their demolition is increasingly seen as ecologically irresponsible, while their high density and collectivity are viewed as a qualitative solution to population growth in major cities. Nevertheless, as shown by the plans presented above, open spaces in high-rise estates are still often seen as unreadable and confusing, hindering personal investment and leading to an anonymous environment (Hall, 1997; Lefrançois, 2022). This is believed to result in a lack of social control that allows for the physical degradation of the estate (Lefrançois, 2022), as no one feels responsible for the environment.

Secondly, while the importance of maintaining and renovating social housing is increasingly recognized in the context of Belgium, where there is a strong lack of social housing, actors involved in regeneration plans tend to problematize the social composition of social housing estates. In Belgium, social housing is seen as a safety net, catering to the most precarious households (De Decker & Pannecoucke, 2004). As in other countries such as the UK and France (Musterd & Andersson, 2005), this spatial concentration of precariousness has been deemed to amplify individual problems (De Decker & Pannecoucke, 2004). Contemporary planning solutions often aim to break this spatial separation from wealthier households, either in the form of introducing middle-class housing (as in the case of the master plan) or in the form of attracting visitors by introducing public facilities (as in the case of the neighbourhood contract). Even if such approaches have been criticized in other contexts for their weak empirical foundations (Crump, 2002) and a lack of understanding of how groups mix (Lees, 2008), they remain part and parcel in regeneration plans in Belgium.

In the following section, we will compare these stories of planners with those of inhabitants and participants in the storytelling process, focusing on those stories that are excluded from these key ideas.

# 5. Searching for Counterstories

# 5.1. Place Attachment

Both regeneration plans present a spatial imaginary of an inside-outside dichotomy, portraying an isolated,



undefined, modernist estate that prevents appropriation by its tenants. The plans are based on the belief that people are confined within the "borders" of "an island" (Office 2, 2018b, p. 68), resulting in a dynamic of "people withdrawing in themselves and...not leaving the neighbourhood often" (Office 2, 2018b, p. 6). The "lack of structure and difficult orientation" is also believed to "contribute to the isolation of the neighbourhood" (Office 1, 2014a, p. 25), leading to design strategies focused on redefining and hierarchizing public space. However, the digital storytelling process challenges these ideas by showing the inhabitants' mental maps, the contemplative character of appropriation, and hidden uses of the landscape.

The inhabitants' mental maps do not correspond with the neighbourhood being isolated or a singular entity. Even though the site is homogeneous in terms of architecture and ownership structure, the digital storytelling trajectory shows that people's daily geography is not restricted to the "borders" of the site (see Figure 1). For instance, one resident created a video about his social life outside the neighbourhood, including information about his friends and acquaintances in Brussels and his participation in a community agriculture project. Referring to his own neighbourhood, he describes that he "only passes through" (video Participant 1 [P1]). For the teenagers, their neighbourhood and daily lives do not limit them to the site of Peterbos. When asked to discuss their neighbourhood in the workshops and their videos, they chose to discuss a snack bar close to their school, clothing shops in the center, and a municipal park, among others.

Inhabitants also make sense of the public space, enjoying the green environment and nature the site offers. They recognize it as a valuable asset in a strongly urbanized environment and make use of the open-air sports facilities, take walks, or smoke cigarettes in designated places. As much as they enjoy some places, they avoid others, such as those occupied by drug dealers, creating a mental hierarchy that assigns certain uses and behavior to certain places. In other words, residents learned how to (re)act in specific spaces, creating differentiation in "publicness." This mental reading and hierarchy do not prevent inhabitants from appreciating the site as a whole, although they do so in a more contemplative manner, as opposed to the active appropriation pursued in the plans. For example, one resident mentions in his video that he enjoys watching children play and people walking their dogs. The teenagers dedicated their videos to the animals they encounter at Peterbos and are "proud to know the whole neighbourhood, every nook and cranny" (video P6; Figure 2). They even included images and short clips of a fox and a bird's nest in their video, which they had originally shared on social media. This exemplifies the positive emotions associated with certain gualities of the site that allow individuals to express themselves and contribute to their identity (Fleury-Bahi et al., 2008).

Some uses remain overlooked by the planners, such as those of the shared spaces in the apartment blocks. For inhabitants, these are social spaces where neighbourly relationships play out in elevators or hallways, where people know each other by sight, greet each other, and/or chat. These spaces function as parochial



Figure 1. Stills of video fragment of resident showing her daily walks with her dogs (video P4).



Figure 2. Stills of a video fragment of a youngster showing his appreciation for the wildlife in Peterbos (video P6).



spaces (Lofland, 1998), providing opportunities for acts of reciprocity, such as exchanging food and clothes (see Figure 3). In a workshop, one resident recounted living in a building with large hallways where neighbours left their doors open and even placed chairs outside to converse. In his new building, the smaller hallways create a barrier to getting to know his neighbours in the same way. The generous circulation space in older apartment blocks is thus a notable spatial quality that enables socialization.

The examples show that Peterbos is not a place devoid of social interactions. Although the connections between neighbours may be shallow, the fact that they recognize each other and sometimes socialize spontaneously is valuable (Blokland, 2009). However, this does not prevent some residents from experiencing profound loneliness. During the workshops, several participants expressed sentiments of isolation.

These perceptions and lived experiences of residents highlight the risk that some of the planners' responses to commonplace ideas on modernist architecture overlook the actual nature of place attachment and fine-grained uses of the urban form. While the residents interact with the built environment (Blokland, 2009), their relationships with the site and with others are not determined by it. On the contrary, inhabitants actively engage with the space and introduce their own meanings and uses.

#### 5.2. Disabling Spaces

By focusing on a lack of appropriation and lively spaces, the two plans not only overlook certain uses and practices of space but also fail to understand why people interact with physical space in a certain way. For instance, while the neighbourhood contract does recognise the problematic state of the pathways, it mostly attributes "the lack of animation in the public space" (Office 2, 2018a, p. 72) to the lack of services on the ground floor, whereas the digital storytelling process highlighted the significant impact of physical (dis)ability on inhabitants' spatial agency. Moreover, the process showed that the built environment itself plays a large role in "disabling" tenants (Lid & Solvang, 2016).

During the workshops and meetings with residents, it became evident that many inhabitants face challenges when moving around in the area. One notable example is a community worker who gave a lift to two workshop participants, despite their house being less than 200 m away. Additionally, while taking pictures on the site, a resident with reduced mobility took various shortcuts to reach a specific location, disregarding the existing walkways and the large central staircases, instead traversing the hilly terrain diagonally. Furthermore, a resident struggling with an illness only walked to the nearby shopping centre on days she felt well.

This reduced mobility of Peterbos inhabitants also makes the malfunctioning elevators in the towers particularly problematic. The buildings range from six to 19 stories high, making elevators a basic necessity for many people. In one workshop, a resident stated that when the elevators of her building broke down, elderly inhabitants barely left their homes. Another inhabitant with reduced mobility commented that the housing company puts his life in danger as he sometimes needed to take the dark and dirty stairs.

The strong focus on the lack of public space appropriation (Office 1, 2014a; Office 2, 2018a) and on "disenclaving" (Office 2, 2018b, p. 20) the neighbourhood in the two regeneration plans, not only downplays residents' agency but also the theme of accessibility. Given the concentration of various kinds of precarity in the area, reduced mobility is part and parcel of Peterbos. Moreover, poverty and health issues (Hughes & Avoke, 2010) can be both the cause and consequence of reduced mobility. Around half of the participants in the storytelling project ended up in social housing due to health problems. For them, poverty not only represents a lack of money but also creates cumulative barriers to well-being (Hughes & Avoke, 2010), leading to poor health and decreased participation (Clarke et al., 2011). As physical space strongly influences these individuals' capacities (Lid & Solvang, 2016; Wanka, 2017), accessibility is their primary concern in the design of public space.

#### 5.3. Paradoxical Empowerment

The regeneration plans explicitly aim to foster a sense of responsibility among residents through "mental and social appropriation processes" (in the case of the master plan; Office 1, 2014a, p. 82) and by involving them "in the use, management and maintenance of collective







materials" in specific public spaces (in case of the neighbourhood contract; Office 2, 2018c, p. 87). Additionally, they seek to "work on the emancipation and widening of horizons of residents" (Office 2, 2018b, p. 10).

However, the responsibility discourse presented in the plans contrasts with the daily experiences of residents who care for the neighbourhood. As one woman stated in her video: "We can work on the neighbourhood, but I also wish that 'they' would not neglect the neighbourhood so much" (video P5). During the workshops, participants frequently expressed their frustration with pending elevator repairs, which once lasted several months. In this particular case, the social housing company only took action when residents started a protest that garnered media attention. Housing companies often attribute malfunctioning elevators to the residents' incorrect use of them, invoking the responsibility of residents. Instruction posters in the elevators that show appropriate and inappropriate behavior seem to reinforce this narrative. During one of the discussions, a researcher asked why residents did not immediately call the operator to speed up repairs. One man responded that the social housing company reprimanded him when he did so. Another resident agreed, expressing doubts as to whether his complaints "even made it past the secretary," and even if they did, "he was gone for months" (P2; final group discussion on May 21, 2019). The fact that he could not promptly take care of his living environment made him feel insignificant and ignored, as if he was not allowed to speak up because he lived in a social housing estate. This frustration, which is linked to the status of social tenants, extended to other domains of his life, leading to feelings of depression. Another resident shared the same feeling and preferred to connect with people outside the estate, distancing himself from the other residents (Wacquant, 2008). Others simply suggested that the social housing companies should "maintain the buildings better, inside and outside" (video P5; Figure 4).

By cultivating a sense of responsibility among social tenants, the regeneration plans do not challenge but rather sustain the prevailing moral discourse on their "re-education" (Flint, 2004). In contrast, the digital storytelling process shows that true emancipation requires a critical examination of the power dynamics between

institutions and tenants (Arnstein, 1969). This may be beyond the planners' control but is essential for meaningful change.

# 6. A Plea for Digital Storytelling?

The analysis above highlights several strengths of the digital storytelling process in capturing counterstories and feeding alternative spatial imaginaries, thereby countering dominant narratives of space. Firstly, the empirical findings widened generic discussions on the relationship between residents and the built environment, by providing situated and experiential spatial knowledge. Such knowledge shows how people structure their everyday lives (Davoudi, 2018) and assign meanings to certain spaces, which can lead to more inclusive designs for these spaces (Lefrançois, 2022).

Secondly, the comparison between the planning document analysis and the digital storytelling process interrogated the visual representations at the centre of planning. In the regeneration plans, visual tools such as diagrams and plans were used to represent "neutral data." Some of these data, like the graphs that represent places with a "healthy mix," hold spatial imaginaries on housing estates and their inhabitants, in which both the tenure form (social rent) and social composition of social housing neighbourhoods are deemed unhealthy. More generally, they fail to show how individuals shape space. In contrast, the intonations in the voice recordings, the moving drawings, pictures and videos, highlight some characteristics of the hidden transcript (Scott, 1990) of the planning process, revealing how people make sense of the built environment of their neighbourhood and appropriated it in their way. Hence, using new forms of media to represent space, such as countermapping (Peluso, 1995) and digital storytelling, has transformative potential in itself.

Thirdly, the digital storytelling process offered us an interesting tool *for* planning by actively seeking to impact real-world situations (Ameel, 2017). It provides a valuable tool for critical planners, engaging with feminist, anti-racist, anti-classist, or other marginalized perspectives and experiences of "the other" (Piccolo, 2008; Rahder & Altilia, 2004). These approaches value lived experiences and explicitly produce knowledge in relation



Figure 4. Stills of a video fragment of a resident describing the rigid structure of the social housing companies (video P2).



to a political struggle. As such, they acknowledge epistemological traditions in which "stories do not just recall or make sense of something, they create everything, and are implicated in all aspects of ongoing, lived experience" (Potter, 2020, p. 1544).

Inevitably, the digital storytelling process also had some weaknesses. Similar to countermapping, it created "new types of power relations around control and knowledge" (Peluso, 1995, p. 387) through storytelling technologies. For instance, we only developed seven videos with eight inhabitants, a fraction of the 3,000 inhabitants of the site. The workshops were moderated by one researcher, who also compiled the material into videos. The workshops were each time attended by four residents, two to three researchers, and one social assistant. The researchers and the social assistant participated in the different exercises, but only the stories of the inhabitants were captured in a video. Although we organized two sessions dedicated to feedback on the drafts of their videos and enquired inhabitants to discuss our interpretations of them, these different constraints show that digital storytelling is not devoid of "expert" dynamics that can exclude inhabitants from participating fully. The co-construction generated throughout the process can be empowering for some but disempowering for others, such as those who do not wish to be associated with the neighbourhood, as was the case for one inhabitant who decided not to publish his video.

As such, digital storytelling should not be viewed as a quick fix for planning issues (Hodgson & Schroeder, 2002). In our case, the stories helped us to define themes and gain situated knowledge that we integrated into meetings with planning stakeholders. We shared the videos with participants and other residents, discussed them, and confirmed our findings during a neighbourhood festival and community-building activities. We also presented the storytelling project to various stakeholders responsible for the regeneration of Peterbos, showing them the videos and sharing our observations and findings. The urbanists responsible for the follow-up assignment of the neighbourhood contract attended the presentation, and although they emphasized the inside-outside dichotomy in their plan, which was challenged by the storytelling project, they carefully considered the accessibility of public spaces. This highlights the modest, yet significant potential contribution of our work. The storytelling project also sparked new projects and stories, which further explored how residents experience and perceive their living environment. Social workers utilized the project to facilitate more direct discussions on issues between residents and housing officials. As a result of the discussions that emerged during the project, the inhabitants and the social worker set up an upcycling project. The development of counterstories should thus be viewed as an ongoing process that is deeply embedded in ongoing regeneration practices and their imaginaries, where "spaces for micro-interaction" (Aernouts et al., 2022, p. 6) between both could be crucial for success. It is important to note that, in our case, these forms of interaction were not created out of the blue. As action researchers, we translated the counterstories into narratives, by analytically reflecting on them and positioning them against the stories of planners. In this endeavour, we mostly took an antagonistic stance, by highlighting areas where the planners' analysis and envisaged future did not correspond with our findings on the ground, trying to illuminate "how the world looks from behind someone else's spectacles" (Delgado, 1989, p. 2240). In doing so, we occupied an interstitial space (Aernouts et al., 2022) within the planning process, where diverse forms of interaction-collaboration, communication, but also friction and conflict-between different actors were mobilized to nurture the planning process.

# 7. Conclusion

We started this article by presenting opportunities for storytelling. We understand all planning as storytelling that disseminates narratives and shapes spatial imaginaries. We then put forward the lens of counterstories (Delgado, 1989; Lindemann, 2020). While we see the master narratives as dominant and hegemonic viewpoints that put certain representations and spatial imaginaries into reality, counterstories are efforts to challenge them by including the experiences of marginalized groups. By doing, we do not necessarily want to state that all planners adopt master narratives, nor minimize the potentially challenging time frames within which planners often have to operate. We rather want to show how planners sometimes respond to dominant representations, unintentionally reproducing them (Hastings, 2004). We then studied counterstories, building on empirical data of action research, including the study of plans and a digital storytelling trajectory, both developed in the context of a regeneration process of a social housing estate in the Brussels-Capital Region, Belgium.

Empirically, the study of the planning documents drew attention to how specific discourses on the modernist patrimony and inhabitants of social estates find their way in the planning process, in line with national and international thinking about modernist social housing estates. The counterstories showed less visible forms of appropriation, the role of (dis)ability in residents' interaction with space, and the constraints of notions such as "emancipation."

Methodologically, the tool of digital storytelling seems especially interesting from an epistemological point of view, showing new windows into reality through other forms of data, such as voices, intonation, and moving images. They can feed new spatial imaginaries that contribute to seeing and characterizing certain spaces, especially those that are marginalized, different. Nevertheless, digital storytelling should not by any means be seen as a panacea for developing more inclusive planning processes. Above all, such a narrative approach to planning acknowledges the messy reality of engaging in real-life contexts, in which planners continuously need to remain critical and reflect on the stories on which they base themselves.

# Acknowledgments

Both authors are equal co-authors. This research was funded by JPI Urban Europe and Innoviris under Grant Agreement No. 693443 for the project "Soholab: The regeneration of large-scale social housing estates through LivingLabs." We would like to thank the participants for devoting their time and energy to the storytelling project, community worker Natalie Decamps from SAAMO for her enthusiasm and engagement in the project and researcher Jeanne Mosseray for her participation and feedback on the article. We also want to thank Nele Gulinck of Odisee University College for devising the storytelling tool (see also http://insjalet.be/nl/ digital-storytelling) and for guiding the sessions.

# **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

# References

- Aernouts, N., Cognetti, F., & Maranghi, E. (2022). Introduction: Framing living labs in large-scale social housing estates in Europe. In N. Aernouts, F. Cognetti, & E. Maranghi (Eds), Urban living lab for local regeneration (pp. 1–15). Springer.
- Albrechts, L. (2002). The planning community reflects on enhancing public involvement: Views from academics and reflective practitioners. *Planning Theory and Practice*, *3*(3), 331–347.
- Ameel, L. (2017). Towards a narrative typology of urban planning narratives for, in and of planning in Jätkäsaari, Helsinki. URBAN DESIGN International, 22, 318–330.
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 35(4), 216–224.
- Arthurson, K., Darcy, M., & Rogers, D. (2014). Televised territorial stigma: How social housing tenants experience the fictional media representation of estates in Australia. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 46(6), 1334–1350.
- Bamberg, M. (2004). Considering counter narratives. In M. Bamberg & M. Andrews (Eds.), *Considering counter narratives: Narrating, resisting, making sense* (pp. 351–371). John Benjamins Publishing.
- Blokland, T. (2009). *Oog voor elkaar: Veiligheidsbeleving en sociale controle in de grote stad* [An eye for each other: Perceptions of safety and social control in the big city]. Amsterdam University Press.
- Bulkens, M., Minca, C., & Muzaini, H. (2015). Storytelling as method in spatial planning. *European Planning*

Studies, 23(11), 2310-2326.

- Clarke, P. J., Ailshire, J. A., Nieuwenhuijsen, E. R., & de Kleijn–de Vrankrijker, M. W. (2011). Participation among adults with disability: The role of the urban environment. *Social Science & Medicine*, *72*(10), 1674–1684.
- Costera Meijer, I. (2013). When news hurts: The promise of participatory storytelling for urban problem neighbourhoods. *Journalism Studies*, *14*(1), 13–28.
- Crump, J. (2002). Deconcentration by demolition: Public housing poverty and urban policy. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, *20*(5), 581–596.
- Dalton, C., & Mason-Deese, L. (2012). Counter (mapping) actions: Mapping as militant research. ACME: An International Journal for Critical Geographies, 11(3), 439–466.
- Davoudi, S. (2018). Imagination and spatial imaginaries: A conceptual framework. *Town Planning Review*, *89*(2), 97–124.
- Debaets, B. (2018, April 25). Peterbos, waar zijn de ouders? [Peterbos, where are the parents?]. *De Standaard*. https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf201804 24\_03481554
- Declerck, N. (2004). Belgium: Impact of modernism in a divided country. In R. Turkington, R. van Kempen, & F. Wassenberg (Eds.), *High-rise housing in Europe: Current trends and future prospects* (pp. 117–128). Delft University Press.
- De Decker, P., & Pannecoucke, I. (2004). The creation of the incapable social tenant in Flanders, Belgium: An appraisal. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *19*(3), 293–309.
- Dejemeppe, P. (Ed.). (2010). *Brussel, de torens, de stad* [Brussels, the towers, the city]. Erfgoed Brussel.
- Delgado, R. (1989). Storytelling for oppositionists and others: A plea for narrative. *Michigan Law Review*, 87(8), 2411–2441.
- Elwood, S. (2006). Beyond cooptation or resistance: Urban spatial politics, community organizations, and gis-based spatial narratives. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, *96*, 323–341.
- Fattah, K. N., & Walters, P. (2020). "A good place for the poor!": Counternarratives to territorial stigmatisation from two informal settlements in Dhaka. *Social Inclusion*, *8*(1), 55–65.
- Fischer, F., & Forester, J. (1993). *The argumentative turn in policy analysis and planning*. Duke University Press.
- Fleury-Bahi, G., Félonneau, M. L., & Marchand, D. (2008). Processes of place identification and residential satisfaction. *Environment and Behavior*, 40(5), 669–682.
- Flint, J. (2004). Reconfiguring agency and responsibility in the governance of social housing in Scotland. *Urban Studies*, *41*(1), 151–172.
- Foucault, M. (1991). Governmentality. In G. Burchell, C. Gordon, & P. Miller (Eds.), *The Foucault effects: Studies in governmentality* (pp. 87–104). Harvester Wheatsheaf.



- Gregori-Signes, C., & Pennock-Speck, B. (2012). Digital storytelling as a genre of mediatized selfrepresentations: An introduction. *Digital Education Review*, 2012(22), 237–250.
- Grymonprez, S. (2018, April 28). Ligt het aan de woontorens of aan de mensen? [Is it the towers or the people?]. *De Standaard*. https://www.standaard.be/cnt/ dmf20180427 03487690
- Hall, P. (1997). Regeneration policies for peripheral housing estates: Inward-and outward-looking approaches. *Urban Studies*, *34*(5/6), 873–890.
- Hastings, A. (2004). Stigma and social housing estates: Beyond pathological explanations. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *19*(3), 233–254.
- Hastings, A., & Dean, J. (2003). Challenging images: Tackling stigma through estate regeneration. *Policy and Politics*, *31*(2), 171–184.
- Hicks, S., & Lewis, C. (2020). Nobody becomes stigmatised "all at once": An interactionist account of stigma on a modernist council estate. *The Sociological Review*, 68(6), 1370–1385.
- Hodgson, D., & Schroeder, R. (2002). Dilemmas of counter-mapping community resources in Tanzania. *Development and Change*, 33, 79–100.
- Hughes, C., & Avoke, S. K. (2010). The elephant in the room: Poverty disability and employment. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 35(1/2), 5–14.
- Innes, J. E. (1998). Information in communicative planning. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, *64*(1), 52–63.
- Lees, L. (2008). Gentrification and social mixing: Towards an inclusive urban renaissance? *Urban Studies*, 45(12), 2449–2470.
- Lees, L., & Baxter, R. (2011). A "building event" of fear: Thinking through the geography of architecture. *Social and Cultural Geography*, *12*(2), 107–122.
- Lefrançois, D. (2022). Participation and the architect: Creative partnership or communication breakdown? In N. Aernouts, F. Cognetti, & E. Maranghi (Eds), *Urban living lab for local regeneration* (pp. 175–191). Springer.
- Lid, I. M., & Solvang, P. K. (2016). (Dis)ability and the experience of accessibility in the urban environment. *Alter*, 10(2), 181–194.
- Lindemann, H. (2020). Counter the counterstory: Narrative approaches to narratives. *Journal of Ethics and Social Philosophy*, *17*(3), 285–298.
- Lofland, L. H. (1998). *The public realm: Exploring the city's quintessential social territory*. Routledge.
- Lopez, M., Planning, P., Lugo, A., Vargas, O., & Mattheis, A. (2018). Counternarratives of community-based advocacy as sources of knowledge for urban planning. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 7(2), 97–117.
- Martinez, A. Y. (2014). A plea for critical race theory counterstory: Stock story vs. counterstory dialogues concerning Alejandra's "fit" in the academy. *Composition Studies*, *42*(2), 33–55.

- Musterd, S., & Andersson, R. (2005). Housing mix social mix and social opportunities. *Urban Affairs Review*, 40(6), 761–790.
- Office 1. (2014a). *Globaal Plan Peterbospark Inzake Duurzame Ontwikkeling: Rapport Schetsfase* [Global plan Peterbos parc for sustainable development: Report sketch phase]. Unpublished manuscript.
- Office 1. (2014b). Globaal Plan Peterbospark Inzake Duurzame Ontwikkeling: Rapport Voorontwerpfase [Global plan Peterbos parc for sustainable development: Report preliminary draft]. Unpublished manuscript.
- Office 2. (2018a). *Diagnostic Contrat de Quartier Durable "Peterbos"* [Analysis Sustainable Neighbourhood Contract "Peterbos"]. Commune of Anderlecht.
- Office 2. (2018b). *Priorités Contrat de Quartier Durable "Peterbos"* [Priorities Sustainable Neighbourhood Contract "Peterbos"]. Commune of Anderlecht.
- Office 2. (2018c). Programme Contrat de Quartier Durable "Peterbos" [Program Sustainable Neighbourhood Contract "Peterbos"]. Commune of Anderlecht.
- Peluso, N. L. (1995). Whose woods are these? Counter-mapping forest territories in Kalimantan, Indonesia. *Antipode*, *27*(4), 383–406.
- Peterbos: Une zone de non-droit à Bruxelles? [Peterbos: A lawless zone in Brussels?]. (2018, April 29). *RTL info*.
- Piccolo, F. (2008). Planning research "with" minorities in Palermo: Negotiating ethics and commitments in a participatory process. *Planning Practice and Research*, 23, 187–209.
- Potter, E. (2020). Contesting imaginaries in the Australian city: Urban planning public storytelling and the implications for climate change. *Urban Studies*, *57*(7), 1536–1552.
- Rahder, B., & Altilia, C. (2004). Where is feminism in planning going? Appropriation or transformation? *Plan*ning Theory, 3(2), 107–116.
- Sandercock, L. (2003). Cosmopolis II: Mongrel cities of the 21st century. Continuum.
- Sandercock, L. (2010). From the campfire to the computer: An epistemology of multiplicity and the story turn in planning. In L. Sandercock & G. Attili (Eds.), *Multimedia explorations in urban policy and planning* (pp. 17–37). Springer.
- Schuman, T. (1987). Participation, empowerment, and urbanism: Design and politics in the revitalization of French social housing. *Journal of Architectural and Planning Research*, 4(4), 349–359.
- Scott, J. C. (1990). Domination and the arts of resistance: Hidden transcripts. Yale University Press.
- Secchi, B. (1984). *Il racconto urbanistico* [The urban planning story]. Einaudi.
- Sendi, R., Aalbers, M. B., & Triguetro, M. (2009). Public space in large housing estates. In R. Rowlands, S. Musterd, & R. van Kempen (Eds.), Mass housing in Europe: Multiple faces of development change and response (pp. 131–156). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Throgmorton, J. A. (2003). Planning as persuasive story-



telling in a global-scale web of relationships. *Planning Theory*, *2*(2), 125–151.

- Truchon, K. (2016). Le digital storytelling: Pratique de visibilisation et de reconnaissance méthode et posture de recherche [Digital storytelling: Visibilization and recognition practice, method and research posture]. *Anthropologie et Sociétés*, 40(1), 125–152.
- Turkington, R., van Kempen, R., & Wassenberg, F. (2004). High-rise housing in Europe: Current trends and future prospects. Delft University Press.
- Van Hulst, M. (2012). Storytelling, a model of and a model for planning. *Planning Theory*, *11*(3), 299–318.
- Verloo, N. (2015). Develop stories develop communities: Narrative practice to analyze and engage in urban conflict. In E. Gualini (Eds.), *Planning and conflict: Critical perspectives on contentious urban developments* (pp. 279–296). Routledge.
- Vervloesem, E., Ryckewaert, M., & Dedecker, P. (2008). Onzichtbaar aanwezig: Sociale huisvesting in Vlaanderen, vandaag [Invisibly present: Social housing in

About the Authors

Flanders today]. Vlaamse Bouwmeester.

- Wacquant, L. (2008). Urban outcasts: A comparative sociology of advanced marginality. Polity Press.
- Wanka, A. (2017). Disengagement as withdrawal from public space: Rethinking the relation between place attachment place appropriation and identity-building among older adults. *The Gerontologist*, *58*(1), 130–139.
- Warr, D. (2005). There goes the neighbourhood: The malign effects of stigma. *Social City*, *19*(3), 1–11.
- Wassenberg, F. (2004). Large social housing estates: From stigma to demolition? *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, *19*(3), 223–232.
- Watkins, J. (2015). Spatial imaginaries research in geography: Synergies, tensions, and new directions. *Geography Compass*, *9*, 508–522.
- Zimmer, P. (2009). BGHM 25 jaar: Diachronische analyse van de Brusselse sociale huisvesting [BGHM 25 years: Diachronic analysis of Brussels social housing]. BGHM.



**Younes Rifaad** obtained his master's degree in sociology in 2017 and his master's in urbanism in 2019 at the Vrije Universiteit Brussel. His research interests lie in the use of sociological theory and participatory methods in planning practice, both as a way to produce inclusive and critical planning outcomes and to evaluate the underlying planning theory itself.



**Nele Aernouts** is an assistant professor of urban design and planning at the Cosmopolis Centre for Urban Research, Vrije Universiteit Brussel. Her research and teaching center around the urban design, planning, and governance of social and collective housing, with a specific focus on how these arrangements are lived by disadvantaged or marginalized individuals and their impact on a broader right to housing. In order to capture these perspectives, she is interested in exploring novel social-spatial research methods, including visual, ethnographic, and participatory planning tools. Theoretically, her work is informed by debates on participatory planning, housing studies, and the commons.



Urban Planning (ISSN: 2183–7635) 2023, Volume 8, Issue 2, Pages 359–373 https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v8i2.6522

Article

# Social-Ecological Knowledge Integration in Co-Design Processes: Lessons From Two Resilient Urban Parks in Chile

Macarena Gaete 1,2

<sup>1</sup> Department of Management in the Built Environment, Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands <sup>2</sup> School of Architecture, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, Chile; mgaete1@uc.cl

Submitted: 21 November 2022 | Accepted: 10 April 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

# Abstract

Cities worldwide face multiple social and ecological challenges, such as climate change and its impacts. Adapting and transforming our urban environments is urgent to improve their resilience to uncertain scenarios. These challenges require renewed urban solutions and force us to rethink their design processes. Multiple actors are involved in such processes, coming from different sectors, and sometimes having conflicting agendas and knowledge backgrounds. Many of these processes can be considered co-design processes, with actors interacting to improve the design quality, legitimacy, and feasibility. Many conceptualise cities as social-ecological systems and public spaces are their subsystems. A collaborative approach to designing public spaces contributes to integrating the social-ecological knowledge from the public, private, and citizen actors. The question remains: How is sometimes conflicting social-ecological knowledge integrated into public space co-design processes? We study two large-scale urban parks in Chile. We framed them as social-ecological systems and analysed their co-design processes. This study aims to provide insights into the difficult-to-grasp phenomena of knowledge integration in co-design processes. We analysed these cases in previous studies. Now we provide insights into social-ecological knowledge integration in co-design processes. Although framed in Latin America, the findings may be helpful elsewhere.

# Keywords

Chile; co-creation; co-design; knowledge integration; public space; resilience; social-ecological systems

# Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

# 1. Introduction

Cities worldwide face multiple social and ecological challenges, such as climate change and its impacts. Impacts, floods and land erosions, displaced refugees, housing shortages, wildfires, wealth disparities, and pandemics are some of the problems cities face. They should be addressed with urban transformations in integrated ways (Webb et al., 2018). They require new solutions, so we should rethink the processes to design them (Colloff et al., 2017; Saad-Sulonen et al., 2018). Some suggest a resilient evolutionary approach (Davoudi et al., 2012) and climate-sensitive planning (Haasnoot et al., 2013; Peker & Ataöv, 2021) to adapting cities through nature-based solutions (Ersoy & Yeoman, 2020).

Resilience emerged in the 1970s in ecological research to define the ability of a system to change when under stress (Holling, 1973). This definition includes the capacity to withstand, re-organise, and recover (Berkes et al., 2008; Brown et al., 2021). Three resilience interpretations are often recognised: the engineering, the ecological, and the evolutionary. While the engineering approach focuses on returning to its previous state, the ecological approach accepts change as adaptation (Fingleton et al., 2012; Rose, 2004). The evolutionary resilience approach emerged to define the capacity of a system to change as a dynamic, relational, and transformable process (Carpenter et al., 2001; Davoudi et al., 2012; Folke et al., 2010; Gunderson & Holling, 2001; Walker et al., 2004). The latter is often suggested for urban planning (Davoudi, 2021). Urban resilience has been defined



as the capacity of urban systems and their social, ecological, and technical networks across temporal and spatial scales to adapt or transform (Meerow & Stults, 2016). An evolutionary approach defines that cities should be prepared for change (Davoudi et al., 2012) through participatory approaches (Peker & Ataöv, 2021). In this study, we adhere to the evolutionary resilience approach and understand cities as social-ecological systems that can persist, adapt, and transform.

Cities are often conceptualised as complex and evolving social-ecological systems (Berkes, 2017; Biggs et al., 2021; Folke, 2006; Ostrom, 2009). An adaptive resilience approach to cities as social-ecological systems challenges expert-driven processes and call for new understandings of space and time (Davoudi, 2021; Gaete Cruz et al., 2021). This study addresses the dichotomy between social and ecological systems (Berkes & Folke, 1994), where diverse actors collaborate to respond to crises creating social networks and shared visions (Folke et al., 2005). This study conceptualises public spaces as socialecological systems and analyses their co-design processes.

Designing public spaces requires social and ecological parties (Webb et al., 2018). Designers, experts, stakeholders, and citizens are involved in such processes, coming from different sectors with sometimes conflicting agendas, values, and knowledge backgrounds (Agid & Chin, 2019; Gaete Cruz et al., 2021, 2022a, 2022b). This diversification brings together different forms of knowledge from and beyond disciplines. Multiple formal and informal knowledge, empirical knowledge (Gibbs et al., 2018), local knowledge (d'Hont & Slinger, 2022), implicit or tacit knowledge (Sanders, 2002), and perceptions (Ducci et al., 2023) from practices and experiences, capabilities (Janssen & Basta, 2022), and even values, and aims converge (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b). Indigenous, local, and citizen expertise knowledge forms can complement traditional academic disciplines (Biggs et al., 2021). Collaboration in design challenges conventional procedures within multi-stakeholder settings to improve context-suitability (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b; Mattelmäki & Visser, 2011; Sanders & Stappers, 2008).

Public space processes involve actors with diverging aims and knowledge fields (Webb et al., 2018). They may come from different sectors and backgrounds. Public spaces are contested, and interventions often raise conflicts. In designing them, multiple aspects should be discussed, negotiated, and deliberated (Brysch & Czischke, 2022; Castro, 2021). The wider the diversity of knowledge, aims, and values integrated into the process, the more the awareness of the diversity and uncertainty in addressing social and ecological challenges. When intervening within cities, knowledge integration is critical for systemic change (Berkes, 2009; Folke, 2006).

The co-design concept defines design processes in which actors interact to improve the design quality, legitimacy, and feasibility (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b; Sanders & Stappers, 2008). Such interactions may result in the integration of diverse knowledge forms. We found that in co-design processes, multiple actors interacted and played a role within three co-design arenas: strategic, transdisciplinary, and socio-cultural (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b). Then we analysed the knowledge integration design mechanisms throughout the processes (Gaete Cruz et al., 2023). However, the types of knowledge integrated still need to be determined.

In designing within social-ecological systems, knowledge integration is crucial, especially when the knowledge is conflicting, diverse, and specific. This study aims to provide insights into the difficult-to-grasp phenomena of knowledge integration throughout co-design processes. It follows previous studies analysing the same co-design processes and advances in answering how is sometimes conflicting social-ecological knowledge integrated into public space co-design processes.

The question remains: How is sometimes conflicting social-ecological knowledge integrated into public space co-design processes? To answer this question, we conceptualise public spaces as social-ecological systems and analyse the integration of knowledge throughout the co-design processes. We study two large-scale urban parks in Chile. We aim to understand how social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge is integrated throughout the design processes. We start by analysing the actors involved in the processes and the disciplinary or non-disciplinary knowledge from consultancies and organisations. Then, we analyse the integration of knowledge reported throughout the processes based on the interviews. We were able to map the trajectories of the cases throughout the design.

This study contributes to the difficult-to-grasp phenomena of knowledge integration in blurry co-design processes. This study provides new insights into social-ecological knowledge integration in public space co-design processes. This study follows previous studies on the same cases (Gaete Cruz et al., 2021, 2022b, 2023) and elaborates further on the complex phenomena of public space co-design for resilience.

# 2. Social-Ecological Co-Design for Resilience

Due to the interdisciplinary nature of the resilience approach, frameworks are essential as overarching guides for collaboration (Biggs et al., 2021). Frameworks identify and organise factors to understand a phenomenon (McGinnis, 2011). In social-ecological systems research, frameworks define concepts, elements, processes, and relationships to explain or predict outcomes (Biggs et al., 2021). This study combines co-design processes and the social-ecological systems approach. We build on literature to define the analytical approach to studying social-ecological knowledge integration.

#### 2.1. Public Space Co-Design Processes

Design is both a practice and a discipline that uses and produces new knowledge to solve ill-defined problems



(Cross, 1982, 2001; Krogh & Koskinen, 2020). Urban design and planning have dealt with uncertainties and change for a long time (Healey, 1992; Innes & Booher, 1999). Many collaborative and communicative turns have been suggested to overcome the distance between designers, planners, their users, and other stakeholders. Collaborative and participative approaches to design have emerged in the last decades to address complex problems (Manzini, 2015; Mattelmäki & Visser, 2011).

Co-design approaches refer to the collaboration of multiple actors in design processes to improve the projects (Sanders & Stappers, 2008). This study defines co-design as the collaborative approach to the design process in which multiple actors from diverse sectors and backgrounds interact, collaborate, and integrate knowledge (De Blust et al., 2019; Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b). Co-design processes are iterative and evolving, and most focus on the early phases and the fuzzy front end (Sanders & Stappers, 2014). We adhere to the iterative, cyclical, and somewhat chaotic nature of collaboration and its changes through time (Botero & Hyysalo, 2013; Di Siena, 2020; Gaete Cruz et al., 2022a).

In previous studies, we contributed two analytical co-design frameworks (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022a, 2022b). We adhered to the cyclical design conceptualisations defining the steps and phases of the projects (Hansen et al., 2019; Jonas, 2007; Roozenburg & Eekels, 1995). We then linked them to Arnstein's (1969) participatory ladder (see also Collins & Ison, 2006) to analyse processes and overcome the academic bias of focusing on co-design activities (McDonnell, 2018; Saad-Sulonen et al., 2018).

The design cycles occur throughout the phases and define how the project develops in the four steps of collection, analysis, ideation, and evaluation. This approach is conceptualised as the "trial-and-error process that consists of a sequence of empirical cycles in which the knowledge of the process, as well as the solution, increases empirically" (Roozenburg & Eekels, 1995, p. 90). As shown in Figure 1, the cycle is repeated in each phase as a frame for the analysis. The design process has a conceptual, a preliminary, and a final design phase before the implementation (Van de Ven et al., 2016). In the conceptual phase, the problem, objectives, and foremost criteria are defined to produce outline proposals (Cross & Roozenburg, 1992; Roozenburg & Eekels, 1995). In the preliminary phase, a scheme is developed from possible spatial layouts, functional displays, and material propositions (Cross & Roozenburg, 1992; Roozenburg & Eekels, 1995). During the detailing phase, the technical definitions are developed and defined (Cross & Roozenburg, 1992).

Despite the linear timeline shown in Figure 1, our understanding of co-design processes is fuzzy (Sanders & Stappers, 2008), messy, and cyclical (Botero & Hyysalo, 2013). The timeline is a simplified conceptual representation used to analyse different aspects of iterative co-design processes. This background section combines this timeline with a social-ecological system approach to further analyse knowledge integration processes.

#### 2.2. Social-Ecological Knowledge

Urban and ecological approaches have been integrated for decades to produce socio-technical and ecological spaces and processes. For decades urban functional approaches have been contested (Geddes, 1968; Lynch, 1964; Olmsted et al., 1997; Rossi, 1966) and many have urged for the integration of urban infrastructures and the environments that support them (Carson, 1962/2009; McHarg, 1969; Spirn, 1984). Urban and ecological approaches have been brought together to broaden the limits of urbanism (Bélanger, 2016; Brown & Stigge, 2017; Mostafavi & Doherty, 2016; Waldheim, 2016). In this integrative turn, the social-ecological systems approach is helpful to conceptualise the two interlinked and interdependent systems. A collaborative approach to their design processes may improve such urban designs.

Cities have been conceptualised as complex and evolving social-ecological systems (Berkes, 2017; Biggs et al., 2021; Folke, 2016; Ostrom, 2009). The socialecological system approach integrates humans into nature, stressing their interdependence, interconnectedness, and reciprocal feedback (Folke et al., 2016). Human and ecological systems are understood as interdependent, inseparable, and intertwined. The term emerged in the early 1990s amongst scholars in ecological economics and common-pool resource systems (Berkes et al., 1989; Ostrom, 2009). It combines social and ecological systems and an integrated adaptive system with feedback and dynamics (Biggs et al., 2015; Folke et al., 2010) that constantly change in response to internal or external pressures (Davoudi et al., 2012).

In urban design, new projects should account for the interconnectedness and interplay between the social and ecological systems and their emergent features and processes (Biggs et al., 2021; Preiser et al., 2018). To do so, they use the available knowledge within their systems, combined into a whole through human creativity in design processes (Devisch et al., 2018; Roozenburg & Eekels, 1995).

Academic disciplinary knowledge is often conceptualised as mental frames and models, technical and

Collection	Analysis	Ideation	Evaluation	Collection	Analysis	Ideation	Evaluation	Collection	Analysis	Ideation	Evaluation
CONCEPTUAL DESIGN PHASE				PRELIMINARY DESIGN PHASE				DETAILING DESIGN PHASE			
CO-DESIGN PROCESS											

Figure 1. Generic timeline for co-design processes: Cyclical steps and phases.



design knowledge (Christiaans, 1992). Non-disciplinary knowledge is often informal and refers to the practice, technical, experiential, and value-oriented knowledge. However, such classifications refer to the sources of such knowledge and their type. This study conceptualises knowledge as the information, methods, and solutions needed to design spaces, functions, flows, and institutions. It focuses on the systems that frame such knowledge types, particularly their co-design processes.

Social-ecological knowledge is needed to make cities for people and nature. Social, ecological, and socialecological knowledge are defined in Table 1. For the scope of this study, such knowledge systems are focused on public space design. Our definition follows previous ones in understanding spatial, temporal, and organisational scales (Biggs et al., 2021). Also, the actionoriented perspectives define actors, areas, and flows (Tjallingii, 2015). We recognise that social, ecological, and social-ecological forms of knowledge are contributed to and integrated into co-design processes, as shown in Figure 2.



**Figure 2.** Diagram of the social-ecological knowledge within the system.

We recognise social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge systems, as shown in Table 1. We acknow-

ledge that drawing boundaries to the components of systems is challenging but valuable for analysis (Biggs et al., 2021). For this study, these categories were defined to study them interconnectedly. The social knowledge system is broadly understood and comprises socio-cultural aspects, values, and physical infrastructure details to support human settlements. The ecological knowledge system is the information about biotic and abiotic elements that allow us to comprehend, protect, and intervene towards sustaining biodiversity, forestry, flows, and supporting structures. The social-ecological knowledge system is the combined approach to the information that links and connects social and ecological spaces, functions, and institutions. We acknowledge the importance of social-ecological integrated knowledge when designing integrated and resilient public space projects.

#### 2.3. Social-Ecological Co-Design Processes Framework

Due to the interdisciplinary nature of resilience and the social-ecological systems approach, there is a conceptual and methodological pluralism (Colding & Barthel, 2019). Analytical and conceptual frameworks have been said to be important in social-ecological systems research as overarching guides to facilitate collaboration (Biggs et al., 2021). They contribute to defining concepts, elements, and processes. In this study, we develop an analytical framework that allows different forms of knowledge to be mapped in a timeline (Figure 3).

This study's analytical framework links social, ecological, and social-ecological forms of knowledge with a generic timeline. The framework focuses on the types of knowledge present in co-design processes. In doing so, a social-ecological knowledge landscape is defined. Although schematic, the framework allows different co-design processes to be mapped, and different process trajectories can be compared for further analysis.

The framework is an evolution of the co-design process framework previously developed by the author (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022a) and contributes to further conceptualising co-design processes (Bossen et al., 2016;

Table 1. Definitions of knowledge systems.

	Definition	References		
Social	Social, economic, political, cultural, technological, physical, dynamic, and institutional elements regarding communities and institutions, activities and flows, physical infrastructure, and geomorphologies	Biggs et al. (2021); Folke et al. (2016); Landman (2021); Ostrom (2007); Tyler and Moench (2012); Webb et al. (2018)		
Social-ecological	Interconnected, interdependent, and interactive social and ecological systems are equally important; elements, relations, and processes	Berkes (2017); Berkes et al. (2000); Biggs et al. (2021); Colding and Barthel (2019); Ostrom (2007)		
Ecological	Biotic (population dynamics, food interactions, biodiversity) and abiotic (nutrient flows, climate patterns, forestry, water, soil, and air) physical, dynamic, and institutional elements	Biggs et al. (2021); Ostrom (2007)		





Figure 3. The social-ecological co-design processes framework.

Drain & Sanders, 2019; Nguyen, 2022; Szebeko & Tan, 2010). It contributes to studies on the resilience of social-ecological systems.

# 3. Method and Cases

A case study approach was used to compare two urban park co-design processes in the Atacama Desert in Chile. This section briefly introduces the cases and methodological approach.

This study analyses two co-design processes of public space projects that the author had previously analysed (Gaete Cruz et al., 2021, 2022b). The two cases were selected due to their resilience approach and collaborative design processes. Both cases are big-sized urban parks. In their design, multiple actors contributed knowledge and collaborated. The designers, experts, stakeholders, and citizens involved belonged to the public, the private, the third sector, and academia. These cases are some of the few examples of this in the country.

#### 3.1. Kaukari Urban Park

Kaukari Urban Park is a naturalisation of the riverbank of the Copiapó River in Copiapó City (Figure 4). The urban park is 60 ha wide and develops along the river for 3.5 km in the middle of the city. In the design processes, multiple actors were involved. The process studied consists of a conceptual phase (2009–2010), where the municipal regulation plan was developed; the preliminary design phase (2011–2012), where the urban park was further designed; and the detailing phase



Figure 4. Picture of Kaukari Urban Park. Source: Courtesy of Tomás Gómez.



(2013–2014), where the construction documents and plans were developed. Many participatory sessions were undertaken with citizens throughout the process. Two public ministries had a strategic role; one (Ministry of Housing and Urbanism) focused on the urban park, while the other (Ministry of Public Infrastructure) focused on the riverbank restoration.

All interviewees considered Kaukari Urban Park an integrated social and ecological park. As defined early in the process, the riverbed urban park provides social and ecological urban solutions. This was done by integrating social and ecological knowledge provided by relevant actors such as the landscape architect and hydraulic engineering design teams and was driven and supported by the public entities involved in the process (Ministry of Housing and Urbanism and the Ministry of Public Infrastructure). However, as reported, such a solid and integrated stakeholder cohesion was complemented by a rather conventional and informative citizen participation process within a non-participative and top-down social scenario (Gaete Cruz et al., 2021).

Even though there was a general sense of urgency to restore the riverbed due to the drought (dry from 2005 until 2012), an initial lack of agreement on how the vast area had to be addressed was reported. Some initiatives that reveal such a lack of compatibility are the Rock Without River music festival on-site, the Active River water mirror, and playground structures to be installed in the river. The Kaukari Urban Park riverbed restoration can host festivals, playground areas, and other functions.

The project was designed based on community participation, which was reportedly shallow and conventional, achieving informative and consultive collaboration levels (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b). This can be observed in the designed project with generic recreational functions and areas: multifunction squares, football fields, multi-sport fields, public toilets, extended planters, treelined boulevards, and promenades. This was reported to have changed in recent years as citizen participation evolved, and a wider diversity of cultural, sports, and economic functions were incorporated into the original project. One interviewee reported: "We now involve citizens in the decision-making processes of the park."

Climate change awareness was said to have evolved in the community. There was a lack of trust in such a different approach to river flooding defences. The project support started to change after implementing one park section, and two catastrophic flooding events occurred in the city (2015 and 2017). This happened towards the end of the process, requiring the project to be adjusted. As one of the interviewees commented: "We had to improve the river's capacity dramatically...after the floodings."

Ecological restoration and naturalisation of the river were central aims of the project, so river inflow knowledge was a central research concern and project outcome. During the design process, the caring capacity of the project was defined considering the available knowledge. However, the water volume had to be updated after the design process due to the improved climate change awareness acknowledging uncertainty. Even though the riverbed restoration played a central role in the design, it may have shadowed other ecological restoration opportunities identified in the early research phase, such as the existing greenery and trees in the desertic valley, the tailing dumps, and the possible nearby rainwater drainage, amongst others.

#### 3.2. Antofagasta Seaside Park

Antofagasta Seaside Park is a public space throughout the 35-km-long city (Figure 5). CREO Antofagasta, a public-private citizen partnership with a living lab approach, led the project. First, many actors were summoned during the partnership's initial years in a relationship-building process (2012–2014). Then, a public contest for ideas defined the design consortium based on a proposal. Finally, the consultancy occurred (2017–2021).

The interviewees valued Antofagasta Seaside Park due to the initial collaborative approach. Stakeholders from diverse backgrounds and sectors (public, private, third sector, community, academia) were involved in an open process where the problem was defined and analysed. From this early set of participative activities promoted by the CREO Antofagasta NGO, a partnership was built for developing this and other urban development projects for the city. Interviewees valued the shared understandings as outcomes of the process. Some interviewees reported trust issues due to the lack of communication in the following phases (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b). However, most interviewees valued that the leading designers were recognised as high quality, so there was a sense of expectation about the resulting project.

The general community supported the project due to the collaborative collection that had taken place over a couple of years. Industry associations, academics, and community and sports organisations reported this. A general sense of awareness had been built regarding the seaside's socio-cultural value and urban functions and the need to integrate the existing interventions (restaurants, sports fields, fishing areas, seaside sports structures, greenhouses, commercial areas, artificial beaches, amongst others). With a conflict matrix method, conflicting areas and activities were collectively recognised.

Neither interviewee did not report climate change awareness, and there was no mention of the sea level rise in the design process. However, interviewees reported that many natural and ecological hotspots were recognised and spatially protected early in the process with the built structures and didactic signages. This was the case with water springs, birds nesting, fishing, and rocky seashell areas.

The design team reported some iterations regarding diminishing the breakwater defence structures in the beach areas. This demonstrated a will to use fewer





Figure 5. Picture of Antofagasta Seaside Park. Source: Courtesy of Nicolás Sepúlveda.

materials and intervene at the seaside less. They reported having opted for an overall discreet intervention of the coastal areas focalising major structures only on the two artificial beaches to be built.

#### 3.3. Case Study

This study uses a case study approach to analyse a contemporary, complex, and context-sensitive phenomenon of co-design for resilience (Yin, 1994). We chose two cases and analysed their co-design processes retrospectively. This approach allows the analysis of processes from practice and develops new knowledge (Ridder, 2017). We aim to produce both specific and generalisable knowledge for science and practice. We took an instrumental approach and developed a framework that structured the analysis and interpreted the results (Stake, 1995).

The study builds on primary and secondary data that the author obtained in fieldwork conducted in Chile in 2019 and 2020. Primary data consisted of 27 semi-structured in-depth interviews with key actors of the cases studied. To make the sampling extensive, the interviewees were selected from diverse sectors such as the public, private, third sector, academia, and society (Ridder, 2017). Secondary data were written reports, social media, press, project plans, and images.

The interviews aimed to collect the participants' perceptions regarding the processes they were involved in. They were asked to define the processes and their involvement. Explicit questions regarding the social and ecological knowledge and aspects of public spaces are designed to capture perceptions of the social-ecological systems. The interviews and data underwent a content analysis with the Atlas Ti software. A coding system was developed to classify data based on the framework of this study (Table A1 in the Supplementary File).

The author has previously studied both cases. The enablers and barriers to collaboration and design were analysed from an evolutionary resilience approach (Gaete Cruz et al., 2021). Then, the levels of collaboration of the diverse actors in the different design steps were assessed by analysing the co-design activities (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022b). The acknowledgement of the relevance of knowledge integration and co-production in co-design processes was made evident. From there, another study analyses how interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary knowledge integration occurs in co-design processes, especially if framed as multi-stakeholder design processes (Gaete Cruz et al., 2023). This study analyses the types of knowledge integrated throughout the process and validates the co-design phenomenon's results and overall complexity.

The author of this study was partially involved in the two co-design processes. In the first case, she was the project leader within the leading architecture design firm Teodoro Fernández Associated Architects. In the second case, she was the design leader of the CREO Antofagasta NGO during some time of the co-design process. The key roles in both processes allowed access to data and interviewees that would have been impossible otherwise. Additionally, valuable insights were gained due to her previous involvement in the cases and connections to relevant practitioners and organisations. We acknowledge that such involvement might bring legitimacy issues, so we addressed it through verification and triangulation. The study of these co-design processes has been iterative and from diverse conceptual approaches, as reported in previous academic publications (Gaete Cruz et al., 2021, 2022b). The analysis and results of this study were shared and verified with some interviewees for clarification and validation purposes.

# 4. Results: Social-Ecological Knowledge Integration

#### 4.1. Social-Ecological Knowledge in the Cases

We classified the main stakeholders, design teams, and experts involved in the two processes according to their main knowledge contribution. The interviewees were asked to report on the knowledge or information that may have played a role in the co-design processes. The questions were kept open for them to reflect on the main aspects discussed and how they evolved when collectively prioritised. Sometimes interviewees referred to the design outcome and how the designed project considered, disregarded, or neglected certain aspects.

The interviews were complemented and verified with secondary data. This was done in two steps. First, a classification of the stakeholders, and then the design teams and experts. Table A2 in the Supplementary File shows the main stakeholders involved in the cases studied, and Table A3 the main disciplines and experts involved in the design consultancies. In Figure 6, the stakeholders are classified according to their main knowledge focus (Table A2 in the Supplementary File). Different actors took an integrated social-ecological approach in the two cases. In Case 1, the leading stakeholders were reported to be interested in the urban park's social and ecological functions. In Case 2, not all leading stakeholders aimed for a social-ecological approach. However, this was a primary concern for the leading NGO CREO Antofagasta, the architectural firm, and some community organisations. Interestingly, no stakeholder was reported to pursue predominately ecological aims.

Figure 7 shows the design disciplines and expert studies for each design consultancy (Table A3 in the Supplementary File). This data was collected from reports and other secondary data and verified with the interviews. In Case 1, the leading design teams were urban landscape designers and hydraulic engineering design. They have played one of the most critical roles in the design process, combining river tide and urban park requirements in integrated spaces. It is worth noticing that social aspects



Figure 6. Classification of the stakeholders involved in the co-design processes according to their main knowledge focus.



Figure 7. The design teams and experts involved in the co-design processes are classified according to their main know-ledge focus.



were mainly reduced to public consultancies about the possible recreation functions of the park. Also, technical engineering projects were classified under the social category because they aim to address human needs. For Case 1, the leading design teams, and public organisations (Ministry of Housing and Urbanism and the Ministry of Public Infrastructure) aimed for a social-ecological integrated approach. This was confirmed by some interviewees that the design teams of architects and hydraulic engineers "had a common idea on the naturalisation and restoration of the riverbed" and that they "developed a way of working together throughout the design process." This was also confirmed by the public servants that commented: "They had to convince the higher authorities to work together with the Ministry of Housing and Urbanism." In Case 2, only the urban designers aimed for socialecological knowledge integration. This may explain why they reported difficulties getting the engineers on board with such an approach. The public servants interviewed commented that they "tried to convince the neighbour public entities to commit to the project." This is further explained in the following sections.

The interviewees were asked for the informal knowledge gathered to complement the analysis of the design teams and experts involved. According to the interviewees, both cases initially aimed to collect information from citizens and citizen organisations. For both cases, this social-ecological knowledge was reported to have been collected in the conceptual phase. It influenced the following phases in which more conventional design disciplines played a more relevant role.

For Case 1, only a low amount of informal knowledge from citizen participatory studies was reported. Much of what was reported consisted of public space requirements such as football fields, traditional dance squares, market areas, open-air auditoriums, kiosks, and skate squares. Although these requirements are very relevant, they are rather conventional and generic.

Case 2 had much more informal social and ecological knowledge brought to the process. The informal social knowledge reported to have been gathered consisted of requirements for recreation and commercial functions (fishing market areas, delimitation of car parking areas, distributed cafeterias, and snack bars, amongst others), the experiential usage knowledge from citizens, sports organisations (bodyboard, surf, swimming, water polo), and local fishermen, and the existing commercial uses and activation hotspots. This was complemented by social-ecological knowledge from the historical evolution of the seaside, the experiences of the annual Sea Festival to test and promote water sports, and the value of several sports waves for surf and bodyboarding. This is in addition to the ecological knowledge of bird nesting zones, the biodiversity in the rocky seaside areas, the water spring as ecological hubs in the desert, and the natural rock pools throughout the seaside.

Social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge was recognised to have been relevant in the co-design

processes. Both cases dealt with social awareness building, social activities, and social spaces. The processes considered ecological site-specific values spatially, and conservation and restoration areas were combined with urban functions. Some sense of awareness of the climatic crisis was observed in both cases. The following section explains how knowledge integration evolved throughout the processes.

# 4.2. Social-Ecological Knowledge Integration Throughout the Co-Design Processes

Co-design processes can be understood throughout the three phases in which the project is developed. Figure 3 shows how social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge was (or was not) integrated into the two cases throughout the different phases.

The design processes started with the conceptual phase, and collaboration was fostered to integrate social and ecological knowledge from multiple actors. According to Figure 8, in Case 1, social and ecological knowledge was integrated. As reported by interviewees, this mainly occurred amongst the design teams and the two public entities involved. On the other hand, in Case 2, social and ecological knowledge was integrated, but the design teams lost the social-ecological integrated approach in the following phases.

In the preliminary phase, one first design is developed, which is further technically detailed in the final phase. In Case 1, this phase sustained the socialecological knowledge integration achieved in the previous phase. The leader of the architectural firm reported to "have worked in the same office with the hydraulic engineering team." The engineering design leader commented: "We worked together, and both disciplines developed the plans and proposals together."

On the contrary, in Case 2, the preliminary phase was challenging and failed to maintain social and ecological knowledge integration. Interviewees within the architectural design teams reported having problems "working with the engineers because of their conventional ways" and no "flexibly or willingness to make any extra coordination work." This aligns with the miscommunications and mistrust reported by industrial and society interviewees.

Towards the end, the project's technical aspects are defined in the detailing phase. Expert designers conventionally do this, so collaboration with other actors may only occur if fostered by them. How social-ecological knowledge integration happens in the previous phases determines how the technical design decisions respond to them. However, in co-design processes, knowledge influences the technical details of the projects implemented and the space's future use, management, and cooperation. Other actors may play relevant roles in preparing the future implementation of the projects.

In Case 1, the Ministry of Housing and Urbanism started with the "governance of the park" meetings to open the operation decision-making to interested





**Figure 8.** Social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge in the co-design processes of Kaukari Urban Park (Case 1) and Antofagasta Seaside Park (Case 2).

people. They "invited public servants, cultural organisations, NGOs, academics and citizens" and reported that this measure improved the project's legitimacy and social knowledge towards the end of the process. This allowed them to verify some functions and sports that could be changed in the project to suit the current needs better. Similarly, the floodings that occurred towards the end of the design process also prompted changes in the final project. An additional design change had to be done to the hydraulic design for the river to contain more significant amounts of water to safeguard the city in extreme weather events.

Moreover, in Case 2, the leading NGO organisation changed its executive director, and the project leader assumed its leading role. This was said to improve the communication and involvement of the relevant actors in the first phase and to improve the process and the project definitions in this final stage.

# 5. Discussions and the Three Dimensions of Public Spaces as Social-Ecological Systems

In this study, we adhere to the conceptualisations of cities and their public spaces as social-ecological systems under uncertainty. Urban design practices should be collaborative to address such complexities. In doing so, social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge are integrated. We have taken a co-design approach to analyse two co-design processes from practice.

According to the results, all three types of knowledge play a role in public space design. In the processes studied, there were different trajectories due to how the integration evolved from the initial collection of knowledge to the development of the projects where the leading design teams had a predominant role in knowledge integration. In Case 1, the leading design teams worked integrated, which was reported from the processes, the practices, and the project. In Case 2, the design teams did not maintain the initial integration. Even though the project did not address many ecological aspects, they were reported to have protected most of the ecological values mentioned.

Knowledge integration is crucial when co-designing social-ecological systems. Conflicting knowledge and polarisation were observed in the cases studied. First, there were conflicting agendas and aims amongst the diversity of stakeholders involved in the projects. Then, the projects to be implemented generated conflict among the different actors. In Case 1, the citizen and social media were sceptical of the project and its implementation. In Case 2, the inclusiveness of the conceptual phase was challenging to maintain in the following phases, so the project was mistrusted and had to change over time. The idea of knowledge integration speaks of selection. Conflicting knowledge needs to be addressed and therefore prioritised. This is especially relevant when integrating social, ecological, and social-ecological knowledge. From the knowledge collected, some aspects were disregarded or not addressed in the final designs.

Four design steps were used to conceptualise the design cycles. The first three steps are crucial to knowledge integration. The first step contributes to collecting data, information, and knowledge. The analysis and synthesis are crucial in prioritising different forms of knowledge. In this step, selection occurs with conflicting knowledge, which leads to knowledge integration. This was the case of some stakeholder or citizen knowledge and requirements that could have been considered in the projects. The ideation step is where new knowledge is produced. In some cases, social-ecological knowledge was produced as design strategies or designed projects.

Social and ecological knowledge was reportedly integrated into both processes studied. We found that knowledge is attached to its institutions. A collaborative approach to urban landscape design facilitates knowledge integration. A social-ecological approach to knowledge may contribute to opening design not only to spaces, functions, and flows but also to less conventional



forms of knowledge. In these cases, many involved actors and stakeholders pursued urban and social aims rather than ecological ones. The fact that the Natural Environment Ministry of Chile, currently in charge of promoting climate adaptation projects throughout the country, was not involved in the cases may suggest why the projects privileged urban requirements over ecological ones. This may be why ecologically focused projects are still exceptional in the country. In this study, we found that there is no perfect process and no perfect socialecological project.

In the conceptual phase, the problem is defined and agreed upon, which allows for defining the main criteria and objectives to which the project should respond. The fact that social-ecological knowledge was present and increasing in this phase influenced the following phases. In the embodiment phase, the first design proposals are ideated, so if relevant knowledge was integrated before, it is used. The detailing phase is often technically oriented, but it is also when the implementation, use, management, and further operation can be fostered.

Findings suggest that the social-ecological systems approach to public space design may widen urban design's focus on spatial layouts and essential functions. As suggested by the interviewees, the physical and spatial dimensions were combined with dynamic and institutional ones. We found that an urban landscape project should consider physical and temporal (dynamics, flows, and activities that can be unexpected) and that they depend on their institutional systems. We confirmed that public spaces could be conceptualised as social-ecological systems. The physical dimension of public spaces considers their spaces with urban and ecological elements. The dynamic dimension involves flows, activities, mobility, and ecological biodiversity. The institutional dimension refers to the actors, their rules, and their interactions. Urban social-ecological systems should be conceptualised, analysed, and designed as interdependent spaces, dynamics, and institutions. Doing so may contribute to the awareness of social and ecological conflicts and uncertainties and open possibilities for urban resilience and adaptation.

Social-ecological systems should be studied across space and time, considering the actors at stake. This should happen not only during the design process but also throughout the whole span of the lifecycle of public space, including the previous and the implementation and operation phases. The more the awareness of unpredictable functions flows, and dynamics, the more flexible and transformable spaces will be incorporated into the design. Designers should define the crucial elements of their social-ecological systems while keeping them open for future change.

#### 6. Conclusions

We analysed knowledge integration throughout the co-design processes of two big-sized public spaces.

We wanted to answer how is sometimes conflicting social-ecological knowledge integrated into public space co-design processes. We wanted to know who contributed and integrated, what kinds of knowledge, and when this happened.

To answer the research question, we developed an analytical framework to analyse social-ecological knowledge in co-design processes. The two cases had been previously studied (Gaete Cruz et al., 2021, 2022b). This study conceptualises social-ecological systems and knowledge in co-design processes and focuses on the contents of the projects.

This study connects various bodies of academic literature. It builds on co-design literature following the author's previous studies (Gaete Cruz et al., 2022a, 2022b, 2023). This study is a step towards uncovering the roles of knowledge in co-design processes, which is especially relevant in social-ecological systems literature. According to the main findings, more stakeholders and design teams should hold a social-ecological integrated approach. Ecological expertise and design approaches should be fostered to improve urban resilience in contexts where innovation is rare.

The findings of this study should be contrasted by analysing other cases. The difficulty in grasping and communicating knowledge made it difficult for interviewees to relate to the object of study. There may be limitations to the framework's applicability and findings in other contexts. The trajectories express knowledge integration but must differentiate between interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary approaches. Further studies could focus on the roles of knowledge within and beyond disciplines. Also, the roles of tacit and explicit knowledge could be studied. This would be especially interesting if analysed in the different design steps.

Analysing social-ecological knowledge in co-design processes allowed us to discuss generalisable and context-specific findings and contribute knowledge for practice. This study contributes an analytical framework to study co-design as a social-ecological knowledge integration process. We found that multiple forms of knowledge were integrated (social, ecological, and socialecological) throughout the three design phases (conceptual, preliminary, and detailing). This knowledge integration occurs in the collection, analysis, and ideation design steps. Stakeholders, design teams, experts, and citizens contribute and integrate knowledge in these steps. This study advances the conceptualisation of knowledge integration in co-design.

Further research should aim to understand how integrating sometimes conflicting social-ecological knowledge may improve resilience. Approaching socialecological systems as unfolding in space, dynamics, and institutions may allow the assessment of urban resilience. This study is the baseline for analysing public space projects and the embodied resilience of their design strategies. The author is currently assessing the resilience of public space design strategies.



Although the cases are framed in the Latin American context, findings may be useful elsewhere. The framework may be used for social-ecological systems research, and findings may provide guidelines for co-design practice.

#### Acknowledgments

The argument evolved through teaching the "Resilient Public Spaces and Infrastructures for Climate Change" course at Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile with Tomás Gómez. At the same time, Macarena Gaete Cruz pursued her PhD research at the Delft University of Technology while funded by the Chilean National Agency for Research and Development (ANID2018) under the supervision of Ellen van Bueren, Darinka Czischke, and Aksel Ersoy. The author was previously involved in two organisations mentioned in this study, and she was employed at Teodoro Fernández Arquitectos Asociados and CREO Antofagasta. This involvement allowed access to data and interviewees and provided valuable insights that may have been impossible otherwise.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The author declares no conflict of interests.

#### **Supplementary Material**

Supplementary material for this article is available online in the format provided by the author (unedited).

#### References

- Agid, S., & Chin, E. (2019). Making and negotiating value: Design and collaboration with community led groups. *CoDesign*, *15*(1), 75–89.
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Planning Association, 35(4), 216–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/0194436690897 7225
- Bélanger, P. (2016). *Landscape as infrastructure: A base primer*. Routledge.
- Berkes, F., Feeny, D., McCay, B. J., & Acheson, J. M. (1989). The benefits of the commons. *Nature*, *340*, 91–93.
- Berkes, F. (2009). Evolution of co-management: Role of knowledge generation, bridging organisations and social learning. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90(5), 1692–1702. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jenvman.2008.12.001
- Berkes, F. (2017). Environmental governance for the Anthropocene? Social-ecological systems, resilience, and collaborative learning. *Sustainability*, *9*(7), Art-icle 1232. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9071232
- Berkes, F., Colding, J., & Folke, C. (2008). Navigating social-ecological systems: Building resilience for complexity and change. Cambridge University Press.
- Berkes, F., & Folke, C. (1994). Linking social and ecolo-

gical systems for resilience and sustainability (Beijer Discussion Paper Series No. 52). Beijer International Institute of Ecological Economics; The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences.

- Berkes, F., Folke, C., & Colding, J. (Eds.). (2000). Linking social and ecological systems: Management practices and social mechanisms for building resilience. Cambridge University Press.
- Biggs, R., de Vos, A., Preiser, R., Clements, H., Maciejewski, K., & Schlüter, M. (Eds.). (2021). The Routledge handbook of research methods for social-ecological systems. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/97810 03021339
- Biggs, R., Schlüter, M., & Schoon, M. L. (2015). An introduction to the resilience approach and principles to sustain ecosystem services in social-ecological systems. In R. Biggs, M. Schlüter, & M. L. Schoon (Eds.), *Principles for building resilience: Sustaining ecosystem services in social–ecological systems* (pp. 1–31). Cambridge University Press.
- Bossen, C., Dindler, C., & Iversen, O. S. (2016). Evaluation in participatory design: A literature survey. In C. Bossen, R. C. Smith, A. M. Kanstrup, J. McDonnell, M. Teli, & K. Bødker (Eds.), PDC '16: Proceedings of the 14th Participatory Design Conference (Vol. 1, pp. 151–160). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2940299.2940303
- Botero, A., & Hyysalo, S. (2013). Ageing together: Steps towards evolutionary co-design in everyday practices. *CoDesign*, 9(1), 37–54. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15710882.2012.760608
- Brown, H., & Stigge, B. (2017). Infrastructural ecologies: Alternative development models for emerging economies. The MIT Press.
- Brown, P., von Daniels, C., Bocken, N. M. P., & Balkenende, A. R. (2021). A process model for collaboration in circular oriented innovation. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 286*, Article 125499. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.125499
- Brysch, S. L., & Czischke, D. (2022). Affordability through design: The role of building costs in collaborative housing. *Housing Studies*, *37*(10), 1800–1820.
- Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Anderies, J. M., & Abel, N. (2001). From metaphor to measurement: Resilience of what to what? *Ecosystems*, 4(8), 765–781. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0045-9
- Carson, R. (2009). *Silent spring*. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt. (Original work published 1962)
- Castro, D. (2021). Argumentation and persistent disagreement. *Informal Logic*, 41(2), 245–280.
- Christiaans, H. H. C. M. (1992). Creativity in design: The role of domain knowledge in designing [Doctoral dissertation, TU Delft]. TU Delft Repositories. http://resolver.tudelft.nl/uuid:cb556def-8fe0-497d-88ba-0f8a5a7b572f
- Colding, J., & Barthel, S. (2019). Exploring the socialecological systems discourse 20 years later. *Ecology and Society*, *24*(1).



- Collins, K., & Ison, R. (2006, June 4–7). Dare we jump off Arnstein's ladder? Social learning as a new policy paradigm [Paper presentation]. Participatory Approaches in Science & Technology Conference, Edinburgh, UK.
- Colloff, M. J., Martín-López, B., Lavorel, S., Locatelli, B., Gorddard, R., Longaretti, P.-Y., Walters, G., van Kerkhoff, L., Wyborn, C., Coreau, A., Wise, R. M., Dunlop, M., Degeorges, P., Grantham, H., Overton, I. C., Williams, R. D., Doherty, M. D., Capon, T., Sanderson, T., & Murphy, H. T. (2017). An integrative research framework for enabling transformative adaptation. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *68*, 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2016.11. 007
- Cross, N. (1982). Designerly ways of knowing. *Design Studies*, *3*(4), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0142-694x(82)90040-0
- Cross, N. (2001). Designerly ways of knowing: Design discipline versus design science. *Design Issues*, *17*(3), 49–55. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1511801
- Cross, N., & Roozenburg, N. (1992). Modelling the design process in engineering and in architecture. *Journal of Engineering Design*, 3(4), 325–337. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09544829208914765
- Davoudi, S. (2021). Resilience, uncertainty, and adaptive planning. In A. Ataöv & E. Peker (Eds.), Governance of climate responsive cities: Exploring crossscale dynamics (pp. 9–19). Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-73399-5\_2
- Davoudi, S., Shaw, K., Haider, L. J., Quinlan, A. E., Peterson, G. D., Wilkinson, C., Fünfgeld, H., McEvoy, D., & Porter, L. (2012). Resilience: A bridging concept or a dead end? *Planning Theory & Practice*, *13*(2), 299–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649357. 2012.677124
- De Blust, S., Devisch, O., & Schreurs, J. (2019). Towards a situational understanding of collective learning: A reflexive framework. *Urban Planning*, *4*(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v4i1.1673
- Devisch, O., Huybrechts, L., Vervoort, P., & Pisman, A. (2018). Fuzzy participatory planning processes as arenas for collaborative learning. *Town Planning Review*, 89(6), 557–574. https://doi.org/10.3828/tpr. 2018.39
- d'Hont, F. M., & Slinger, J. H. (2022). Including local knowledge in coastal policy innovation: Comparing three Dutch case studies. *Local Environment*, *27*(7), 897–914.
- Di Siena, D. (2020). Diseño cívico: proceso circular [Civic design: A circular process]. Actas de las Jornadas de Investigación de la FADU-UBA, 2020, 539–559. http://repositoriouba.sisbi.uba.ar/gsdl/collect/ actasfadu/import/2020/36.html
- Drain, A., & Sanders, E. (2019). A collaboration system model for planning and evaluating participatory design projects. *International Journal of Design*, *13*(3), 39–52.

- Ducci, M., Janssen, R., Burgers, G.-J., & Rotondo, F. (2023). Mapping local perceptions for the planning of cultural landscapes. *International Journal of E-Planning Research*, 12(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/ 10.4018/ijepr.317378
- Ersoy, A., & Yeoman, R. (2020). Reconfiguration of public space via nature-based solutions. In J. Riegler & J. Bylund (Eds.), Unfolding dilemmas of urban public spaces: Recommendations by JPI Urban Europe's AGORA (pp. 25–29). Urban Europe.
- Fingleton, B., Garretsen, H., & Martin, R. (2012). Recessionary shocks and regional employment: Evidence on the resilience of U.K. regions. *Journal of Regional Science*, 52(1), 109–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9787.2011.00755.x
- Folke, C. (2006). Resilience: The emergence of a perspective for social-ecological systems analyses. *Global Environmental Change*, *16*(3), 253–267. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.04.002
- Folke, C., Biggs, R., Norström, A. V., Reyers, B., & Rockström, J. (2016). Social-ecological resilience and biosphere-based sustainability science. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3), Article 41. https://www.jstor.org/ stable/26269981
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S. R., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Chapin, T., & Rockström, J. (2010). Resilience thinking: Integrating resilience, adaptability and transformability. *Ecology and Society*, *15*(4), Article 20. https://doi.org/10.5751/es-03610-150420
- Folke, C., Hahn, T., Olsson, P., & Norberg, J. (2005). Adaptive governance of social-ecological systems. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 30(1), 441–473. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy. 30.050504.144511
- Gaete Cruz, M., Ersoy, A., Czischke, D., & van Bueren, E. (2021). How co-design of public space contributes to strengthening resilience: Lessons from two Chilean cases. In E. Peker & A. Ataöv (Eds.), Governance of climate responsive cities: Exploring cross-scale dynamics (pp. 105–125). Springer.
- Gaete Cruz, M., Ersoy, A., Czischke, D., & van Bueren, E. (2022a). A framework for co-design processes and visual collaborative methods: An action research through design in Chile. Urban Planning, 7(3), 363–378. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v7i3.5349
- Gaete Cruz, M., Ersoy, A., Czischke, D., & van Bueren, E. (2022b). Towards a framework for urban landscape co-design: Linking the participation ladder and the design cycle. *CoDesign*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/15710882.2022.2123928
- Gaete Cruz, M., Ersoy, A., Czischke, D., & van Bueren, E. (2023). How collaboration improves design: Knowledge integration steps in public space co-design. Unpublished manuscript.
- Geddes, P. (1968). Sociology as civics. In P. Abrams (Ed.), *The origins of British sociology*. University of Chicago Press.
- Gibbs, P., Neuhauser, L., & Fam, D. (2018). Introduction-



The art of collaborative research and collective learning: Transdisciplinary theory, practice and education. In D. Fam, L. Neuhauser, & P. Gibbs (Eds.), *Transdisciplinary theory, practice and education: The art of collaborative research and collective learning* (pp. 3–9). Springer.

- Gunderson, L. H., & Holling, C. S. (2001). *Panarchy: Under*standing transformations in human and natural systems. Island Press.
- Haasnoot, M., Kwakkel, J. H., Walker, W. E., & ter Maat, J. (2013). Dynamic adaptive policy pathways: A method for crafting robust decisions for a deeply uncertain world. *Global Environmental Change*, *23*(2), 485–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.12.006
- Hansen, N. B., Dindler, C., Halskov, K., Iversen, O. S., Bossen, C., Basballe, D. A., & Schouten, B. (2019).
  How participatory design works: Mechanisms and effects. In A. Lugmayr (Ed.), *OzCHI'19: 31st Australian Conference on Human-Computer-Interaction* (pp. 30–41). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1145/3369457. 3369460
- Healey, P. (1992). Planning through debate: The communicative turn in planning theory. *Town Planning Review*, 63(2), 143–162.
- Holling, C. S. (1973). Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 4, 1–23. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2096802
- Innes, J. E., & Booher, D. E. (1999). Consensus building and complex adaptive systems: A framework for evaluating collaborative planning. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 65(4), 412–423.
- Janssen, C., & Basta, C. (2022). Are good intentions enough? Evaluating social sustainability in urban development projects through the capability approach. *European Planning Studies*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09654313.2022.2136936
- Jonas, W. (2007). Research through DESIGN through research. *Kybernetes*, *36*(9/10), 1362–1380. https:// doi.org/10.1108/03684920710827355
- Krogh, P. G., & Koskinen, I. (2020). Drifting by intention: Four epistemic traditions from within constructive design research. Springer.
- Landman, K. (2021). Rapidly changing cities: Working with socio-ecological systems to facilitate transformation. Urban Planning, 6(2), 139–142. https://doi.org/ 10.17645/up.v6i2.4472
- Lynch, K. (1964). The image of the city. MIT press.
- Manzini, E. (2015). *Design, when everybody designs: An introduction to design for social innovation*. The MIT Press.
- Mattelmäki, T., & Visser, F. S. (2011). Lost in Co-X: Interpretations of co-design and co-creation. In N. F. M. Roozenberg, L. L. Chen, & P. J. Stappers (Eds.), Diversity and unity: Proceedings of the IASDR 2011—4th World Conference on Design Research (pp. 1–12). International Association of Societies of

Design Research.

- McDonnell, J. (2018). Design roulette: A close examination of collaborative decision-making in design from the perspective of framing. *Design Studies*, *57*, 75–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2018.03.001
- McGinnis, M. D. (2011). An introduction to IAD and the language of the Ostrom Workshop: A simple guide to a complex framework. *Policy Studies Journal*, *39*(1), 169–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0072.2010.00401.x
- McHarg, I. L. (1969). *Design with nature*. American Museum of Natural History.
- Meerow, S., & Stults, M. (2016). Comparing conceptualizations of urban climate resilience in theory and practice. Sustainability, 8(7), Article 701. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/su8070701
- Mostafavi, M., & Doherty, G. (Eds.). (2016). *Ecological urbanism*. Lars Müller.
- Nguyen, Q. (2022). Evaluation in participatory design— The whys and the nots. In V. Vlachokyriakos, J. Yee,
  C. Frauenberger, M. Duque Hurtado, N. Hansen,
  A. Strohmayer, I. Van Zyl, A. Dearden, R. Talhouk,
  C. Gatehouse, D. Leishman, S. Agid, M. Sciannamblo,
  J. Taylor, A. Botero, C. Del Gaudio, Y. Akama, R. Clarke,
  & J. Vines (Eds.), *PDC '22: Proceedings of the Participatory Design Conference 2022* (Vol. 2, pp. 161–166).
  Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3537797.3537828
- Olmsted, F. L., Beveridge, C. E., & Hoffman, C. F. (1997). *The Papers of Frederick Law Olmsted: Writings on public parks, parkways, and park systems* (Vol. 1). Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Ostrom, E. (2007, February 15–19). Sustainable socialecological systems: An impossibility? [Paper presentation]. Annual Meetings of the American Association for the Advancement of Science ("Science and Technology for Sustainable Well-Being"), San Francisco, CA, USA. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.997834
- Ostrom, E. (2009). A general framework for analyzing sustainability of social-ecological systems. *Science*, 325(5939), 419–422. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1172133
- Peker, E., & Ataöv, A. (2021). Governance of climate responsive cities: Scale matters! In A. Ataöv & E. Peker (Eds.), Governance of climate responsive cities: Exploring cross-scale dynamics (pp. 1–8). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-73399-5 1
- Preiser, R., Biggs, R., De Vos, A., & Folke, C. (2018). Socialecological systems as complex adaptive systems: Organizing principles for advancing research methods and approaches. *Ecology and Society*, 23(4), Article 46. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-10558-230446
- Ridder, H. G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10(2), 281–305.
- Roozenburg, N. F. M., & Eekels, J. (1995). *Product design: Fundamentals and methods* (1st ed.). Wiley.



- Rose, A. (2004). Defining and measuring economic resilience to disasters. *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal, 13*(4), 307–314. https://doi.org/10.1108/09653560410556528
- Rossi, A. (1966). *La arquitectura de la ciudad* [The architecture of the city]. Gustavo Gilli.
- Saad-Sulonen, J., Eriksson, E., Halskov, K., Karasti, H., & Vines, J. (2018). Unfolding participation over time: Temporal lenses in participatory design. *CoDesign*, 14(1), 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/15710882. 2018.1426773
- Sanders, E. (2002). From user-centered to participatory design approaches. In J. Frascara (Ed.), *Design and the social sciences: Making connections* (pp. 18–25). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203301302
- Sanders, E., & Stappers, P. J. (2008). Co-creation and the new landscapes of design. *CoDesign*, *4*(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15710880701875068
- Sanders, E., & Stappers, P. J. (2014). Probes, toolkits and prototypes: Three approaches to making in codesigning. *CoDesign*, 10(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15710882.2014.888183
- Spirn, A. W. (1984). Granite garden. Basic Books.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). *The art of case study research*. SAGE. Szebeko, D., & Tan, L. (2010). Co-designing for society.
- Australasian Medical Journal, 3(9), 580–590. https:// doi.org/10.4066/AMJ.2010.378
- Tjallingii, S. (2015). Planning with water and traffic networks: Carrying structures of the urban landscape.

#### About the Author



- Tyler, S., & Moench, M. (2012). A framework for urban climate resilience. *Climate and Development*, 4(4), 311–326. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529. 2012.745389
- Van de Ven, F. H. M., Snep, R. P. H., Koole, S., Brolsma, R., Van der Brugge, R., Spijker, J., & Vergroesen, T. (2016). Adaptation planning support toolbox: Measurable performance information based tools for co-creation of resilient, ecosystem-based urban plans with urban designers, decision-makers and stakeholders. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 66, 427–436. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2016.06.010
- Waldheim, C. (2016). *Landscape as urbanism: A general theory*. Princeton University Press.
- Walker, B., Holling, C. S., Carpenter, S. R., & Kinzig, A. P. (2004). Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/es-00650-090205
- Webb, R., Bai, X., Smith, M. S., Costanza, R., Griggs, D., Moglia, M., Neuman, M., Newman, P., Newton, P., Norman, B., Ryan, C., Schandl, H., Steffen, W., Tapper, N., & Thomson, G. (2018). Sustainable urban systems: Co-design and framing for transformation. *Ambio*, 47(1), 57–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13280-017-0934-6
- Yin, R. K. (1994). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (2nd ed.). SAGE.



**Macarena Gaete** is an assistant professor at the School of Architecture at Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, finishing her PhD research at the Delft University of Technology. Her research focuses on the collaborative design of resilient public spaces. She is an architect and urban co-designer with an MSc in Architecture from Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile. She has experience in academia and practice in designing and managing urban design processes within the public, private, and third sectors. She organises workshops on collaborative design and can be found on social media as Maca Gaete Cruz.



Urban Planning (ISSN: 2183–7635) 2023, Volume 8, Issue 2, Pages 374–388 https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v8i2.6584

Article

# A Comparative Study of Polarization Management Around Energy Transition-Related Land-Use Conflicts in The Netherlands

Christian Scholl <sup>1,\*</sup> and Eline Coolen <sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Maastricht Sustainability Institute, Maastricht University, The Netherlands

<sup>2</sup> Sustainability Policy Advisor, Bender Groep, The Netherlands

\* Corresponding author (christian.scholl@maastrichtuniversity.nl)

Submitted: 5 December 2022 | Accepted: 16 March 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

# Abstract

The Dutch national government has decided to push the implementation of the "energy transition" it aspires to by inviting clusters of municipalities (so-called RES regions) to develop a regional energy strategy (RES). However, since the new renewable energy land-use claims compete with a growing number of land-use demands, RES implementation confronts land-use conflicts, resulting in complex trade-offs for conflict resolution and planning around polarization. In the Dutch context of land scarcity and a rich planning tradition that arose specifically to deal with this and ensuing conflicts, the need for integrated landscape management seems obvious. This article offers a comparative case study of two RES-related landuse conflicts and their management in South Limburg, focusing on the question of how far these cases display elements of an integrated landscape approach (ILA). The ILA is applied as an analytical framework to evaluate the land-use conflict management processes of the case studies by assessing which elements of ILA are present and whether their relative presence and quality help to resolve the conflicts. Based on document and media content analysis and 15 interviews, this article analyzes the different land-use claims, objectives, and landscape values identified in two RES areas and how they overlap or compete, resulting in conflicts or synergies. Our findings show that the ILA provides useful guidelines for tackling RES-related land-use conflicts, but does not pay sufficient attention to the political dimension.

# Keywords

energy transition; integrated landscape approach; land-use conflict management; land-use conflicts; renewable energy development; the Netherlands

# Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

# 1. Introduction

If the Netherlands wishes to meet its national climate goal of reducing carbon emissions by at least 49% in 2030 and 95% in 2050 (Rijksoverheid, 2019), large-scale renewable energy development, like solar and wind farms, is likely to make an increasing claim on already scarce land resources. The National Program Regional Energy Strategy sets out the Dutch national government's plan to generate 35 TWh of renewable electricity on land by 2030. To achieve this goal, 30 clusters of municipalities (so-called RES regions) have been established within the existing twelve Dutch provinces. This way, the national government aims to incentivize local governments, residents, businesses, grid operators, and civil society organizations to jointly develop a regional energy strategy (RES) and identify RES search areas for renewable energy development. The RES aims to be an important guiding document that determines how much renewable electricity each RES region can contribute to the national target, recognizing that each region faces unique opportunities and limitations (Stuurgroep RES Zuid Limburg,



2020). On 1 July 2021, the RES Zuid Limburg 1.0 was submitted to the state for the South Limburg region. The RES is supposed to be updated every two years based on national agreements and new insights and developments. However, it is important to note that the RES for each region has no formal status until it is approved by municipal and provincial democratic bodies.

Given the significant spatial implications of the energy transition, the RES can also be seen as a spatial transition that may lead to land-use conflicts. Land-use conflicts occur when "there is incommensurability between different land uses" (Boonstra, 2009, p. 10), which happens when forms of land use are mutually exclusive (Boonstra, 2009). Incommensurability outlines an "essential difference between interests and values" since "interests can be made commensurable (often financially) but values cannot be measured with a common scale" (Boonstra, 2006a, p. 2). Brown and Alessa (2005) introduced the concept of landscape values for land-use planning: People who develop a degree of place attachment to an area, are more likely to resist changes in land-use that disrupt this attachment, due to identification with, or dependency on these places. Alessa et al. (2008, p. 29) define landscape values as "those values people associate with the places where they live, work, visit, or otherwise attach meaning to." Building on this, Brown et al. (2015, p. 196) identify land-use conflicts as "differences in landscape values and land use preferences."

In the Netherlands, RES-related land-use values are competing with multiple other land-use claims. Being one of the most crowded countries globally in terms of population density and economic production per square kilometre, the Netherlands experiences an increase in spatial pressure, which is expected to grow towards 2050 (College van Rijksadviseurs, 2020; DenkWerk, 2020). Several competing demands claim extra space, which will lead to difficult choices. To account for a rising number of households, an estimated 1.6 million new homes are needed, of which 10 to 12,000 are needed in Limburg, the Dutch province with the smallest growth in housing supply (Hubers, 2021). Provinces must also acquire tens of thousands of hectares of new nature to reach biodiversity targets, and land needs to be allocated differently to adapt to the impacts of climate change (van Dinther, 2020). Additionally, if farmers want to preserve farmland for producing food and work less intensively and more organically, a larger space is needed (Berezow, 2017). The transition to a circular economy requires not only technology and expertise but also land as companies request the necessary space and infrastructure to achieve this (Leunissen, 2020).

The energy and spatial transition are particularly complex for the RES region of South Limburg, intending to contribute 1.3 TWh to the national task, made up of wind-on-land (0.17 TWh), large-scale solar on roof (0.71 TWh), and solar on land (0.45 TWh); only 0.056 TWh is yet realized (Stuurgroep RES Zuid Limburg, 2021). Several land-use restrictions are in place, embodying a protected National Landscape and Natura 2000 area and the second most urbanized area of the Netherlands. These restrictions are illustrated by the Provincial Zoning Plan Limburg (*Provinciale Omgevingsvisie* in the original, also known as POL14), which currently forms the provincial spatial vision and is reflected in regional and local policy. The plan considers the national landscape of South Limburg unsuitable for the placement of wind turbines and, therefore, excludes this area for wind energy, except for the urbanized area.

Considering that change in the social and physical environment is inevitable and a catalyst for conflicts, the focus should be on conflict management instead of conflict avoidance (Boonstra, 2009; Brown & Raymond, 2014; Keough & Blahna, 2006). As land-use conflicts deal with incommensurable values, conflict resolution is not applicable because it aims for commensuration (Boonstra, 2006b). Therefore, management better indicates the efforts made to bring values together and reach mutually beneficial outcomes in land-use planning (Keough & Blahna, 2006). Nonetheless, managing landuse conflicts and competing objectives is complicated and context-specific, as it deals with social dynamics, complex natural systems, uncertainties, and long-time scales (Petrescu-Mag et al., 2018; Sayer et al., 2013).

Reflecting the wider shift to governing by governance (Jordan, 2008; Stoker, 1998) and horizontal coordination for joint problem-solving (Bowen et al., 2017), the Netherlands decentralized spatial planning, increased regional partnerships as instruments for realizing state policy, and privatized key elements such as the energy system (Kuindersma & Boonstra, 2010; van Dinther, 2021). The RES is an example of this, making provinces and municipalities responsible for guarding the spatial quality, collaborations, land-use conflict management, and decision-making processes.

Due to this decentralization of power and responsibilities, participative approaches for land-use planning and conflict management are increasingly used to secure legitimacy and support (Boonstra, 2006b). Many scholars encourage inclusive participation of stakeholders in decision-making to encompass a diversity of values, prevent collective protests and safeguard natural resources (Keough & Blahna, 2006; Mann & Jeanneaux, 2009; Reed et al., 2017; Sayer et al., 2017). By assembling stakeholders and recognizing their aspirations for the landscape within an effective facilitation and negotiation process, sociocultural, economic, and environmental goals can be aligned (Keough & Blahna, 2006; Reed et al., 2017; Sayer et al., 2013).

Provinces and municipalities struggle to reach their climate goals as land-use conflicts emerge, which are challenging to reconcile. In North Limburg, in 2018, a conflict around the construction of a wind farm in Venlo resulted in a political dispute, lawsuits, and damage claims; the same month, environmental group Schinnen-Spaubeek declared to do "anything to prevent" energy parks being developed, after learning that land



near De Horse industrial estate is marked as a search area for the RES (Claessens, 2021). These debates are not surprising considering 46% of Limburg inhabitants affirmed in research for the new Provincial Zoning Vision that energy development should not be at the expense of the landscape (Provincie Limburg, 2020). Considering the diversity and complexity of the land-use demands involved, the Dutch context of land scarcity, and a rich planning tradition that arose specifically to deal with this and the ensuing conflicts, the need and the opportunity for integrated landscape management are present.

The integrated landscape approach (ILA) received increasing attention in the recent scientific literature (Arts et al., 2017; Esch et al., 2017; Ros-Tonen et al., 2018). As developing countries face the effects of competing demand for natural resources and increasing pressure on nature the most, the landscape approach arose as a "decision support solution" for the growing number of development issues, e.g., conflicting claims (Horn & Meijer, 2015, p. 7). ILA is internationally regarded as an answer to current and future global challenges by reconciling competing objectives for natural resources (Freeman et al., 2015; Reed et al., 2020; Sayer et al., 2017; van Oosten et al., 2021). It is an alternative approach to conventional sectoral land-use planning by removing silo-thinking and acknowledging that land comprises multiple cross-sectoral objectives (Arts et al., 2017; Horn & Meijer, 2015; Reed et al., 2015). This article adopts the definition of ILA as employed by Sayer et al. (2013, p. 8349), i.e., as "processes, tools, and concepts for allocating and managing land within a landscape of competing land uses, to achieve social, economic and environmental objectives" to analyse RES-related planning around polarization. Sayer et al. (2013) synthesized the consensus on landscape approaches and good practices in "Ten Principles for a Landscape Approach to Reconciling Agriculture, Conservation, and Other Competing Land Uses," which are used in this article to examine RES-related land-use conflict management.

This article uses a comparative case study approach to analyze how far the management of RES-related landuse conflicts in the RES region of South Limburg displays elements of the ILA and whether the relative presence and quality of these help resolve the conflicts. We chose two case studies for comparative analysis: the RES search areas Abdissenbosch and Akerweg, both located in the municipality of Landgraaf, part of the conurbation called Parkstad in the Dutch province of Limburg. Parkstad is the second most urbanized area in the Netherlands, with a high population and building density. Both cases sparked a need to reconcile competing land-use claims. These finalized cases are suitable for comparison, as they operate in a similar governance context.

Considering the energy transition is just starting to unfold, research has yet to identify and evaluate the emerging challenges for land use. Given the complex and pressing nature of land-use conflicts that arise from the energy transition, effective management strategies are urgently needed. This research contributes to this field by presenting a comparative case study that examines the effectiveness of the ILA in managing polarization and conflict around energy transition-related land use. By shedding light on the potential of the ILA to facilitate collaboration and coordination among stakeholders with varying values and interests, this study emphasizes the importance of considering local contexts and unique challenges when implementing land-use management strategies.

#### 2. The Integrated Landscape Approach

The landscape (level) theory is particularly relevant for this research, as competing land-use claims may result in wicked problems, demanding a more integrated and interdisciplinary approach with a better understanding of complex social dynamics and natural systems. Furthermore, interpreting the landscape as a socioecological system (Denier et al., 2015, p. 26), allows for studying land-use conflicts and their management on multiple scales and levels, supporting better problem formulation, and preventing a type III error—solving the wrong problem (Hoppe, 2010).

Following the definition of ILA as employed by Sayer et al. (2013), the landscape approach is called "integrated" because it brings together stakeholders of different sectors and integrates their pursued objectives to establish more sustainable development. Horn and Meijer (2015) created a useful overview that shows the integrated nature of ILA by placing the different stakeholders and their primary objectives within a 3-set Venn diagram (people, planet, profit). We will address this as the 3P-diagram hereafter. In Figure 1, the ILA can be seen right in the middle, incorporating the three domains and their associated stakeholders. ILA aims to develop a shared vision among stakeholders and improve understanding of the landscape conditions (e.g., ecosystem health) and needs (e.g., biodiversity). By increasing knowledge of the dynamics in a landscape and the ecosystem services, ILA intends to support long-term sustainable planning and decision-making to reduce the harmful impacts of human activities (Horn & Meijer, 2015).

The 3P-diagram is a practical tool to map the stakeholders and their objectives identified in the case studies and illustrates which objectives overlap or compete with each other. However, it remains unclear which objectives are linked to which actors, as they are displayed separately, which we have added in our application of this tool (see the 4P-diagram in Figure 6). A plethora of landscape frameworks and initiatives arose over the years across various sectors, resulting in knowledge fragmentation and redundant re-inventions (Reed et al., 2015). Following an intergovernmental and inter-institutional process, Sayer and colleagues' guidelines were developed and accepted broadly by scholars and practitioners (see Arts et al., 2017). Figure 2 illustrates Sayer et al.'s (2013) ten principles and the objectives they





Figure 1. ILA 3P-diagram based on Horn and Meijer (2015).

pursue. They are applied to the case studies of this article to investigate land-use claims and the complex act of collectively managing the competing social, economic, and environmental objectives, trade-offs and synergies within the landscape, the role of public participation and the inclusion of stakeholders, and the role of sustainability in the planning, management, and decision-making processes related to land-use conflicts.

The ILA has received both praise and criticism. One common critique of the approach is the assumption

1 Continual learning and adaptive management	6 Negotiated and transparent change logic			
Embrace iterative learning and adjustment processes using multiple sources to account for the dynamic and uncertain nature of landscapes.	Create understanding and acceptance of the general logic, legitimacy and justification for a course of action, including the risks and uncertainties.			
2 Common concern entry point	7 Clarification of rights and responsibilities			
Build trust and confidence among stakeholders by establishing and moving forward with immediate easy-to-reach targets.	Clarify the influence of rules for resource access and land-use and increase understanding and acceptance of the rights and responsibilities of different actors.			
3 Multiple scales	8 Participatory and user-friendly monitoring			
Grow awareness of the different factors influencing the outcomes at any scale to improve decision-making and inform policy-makers.	Develop knowledge systems that integrate different kinds of information and interpret progress and threats to facilitate collaborative learning and adaptation.			
4 Multi-functionality	9 Resilience			
Reconcile stakeholders' multiple needs, preferences and aspirations for the landscape and address trade-offs in an ecosystem-driven manner.	Improve system-level resilience by active recognition of threats and vulnerabilities, promoting capacity building and increasing knowledge.			
5 Multiple stakeholder	10 Strengthened stakeholder capacity			
Ensure inclusive stakeholder management and engage them in decision-making to realize solutions that encompass a fair distribution of benefits and incentives.	Attract and support representatives equipped to contribute to the issues raised by the process and answer the demands of effective participation.			

Figure 2. Objectives of the ten principles outlines by Sayer et al. (2013).



that competing objectives can be integrated at the landscape level and that all stakeholders share the same desire to achieve sustainable development (Arts et al., 2017). However, in reality, stakeholders often hold different and incommensurable values, and achieving consensus may be difficult or even impossible. Additionally, ILA may face challenges in measuring progress and outcomes in a wicked problem domain, where simple performance assessment and analytical evaluations may not be adequate (Sayer et al., 2013). Another obstacle to successful cross-sectoral integration is the bureaucratic structures of modern administrations, which often operate in sectorial silos with distinct decision logics (Arts et al., 2017). Such structures and institutions can limit collaboration and coordination across different sectors and make it difficult to achieve meaningful integration of objectives. Finally, Sayer et al. (2013) note that less developed countries may lack the resources and capability to cultivate long-term multi-stakeholder engagement. Advanced economies may achieve greater success by leveraging good governance practices and a more powerful civil society. Overall, these criticisms suggest that the ILA may face significant challenges in practice.

# 3. Methodology

The article is based on exploratory research investigating land-use claims and conflicts in relation to the RES South Limburg. A comparative case study approach using qualitative research methods was adopted to recognize the context-specific factors influencing land-use claims, conflicts, and their management in South Limburg as they operate within a socio-system (Patten & Newhart, 2017). The research was conducted from June to August 2021.

A preliminary screening of potential cases in South Limburg was done through desktop research on the RES search areas identified by Stuurgroep RES Zuid Limburg. Then, media content analysis was performed using the media search engine LexisNexis and the online archive of the regional daily newspaper De Limburger to identify competing land-use claims and land-use conflicts in these search areas and to analyze land-use claims and objectives. The media affirmed that Parkstad faces challenges in achieving its RES targets with emerging land-use conflicts. The municipality of Landgraaf frequently featured in regional news about the developments of the energy park Abdissenbosch and solar park Akerweg. Both initiatives display a need to reconcile competing land-use claims. Landgraaf takes a frontrunner position in Parkstad, carrying out the RES while neighboring cities such as Heerlen and Kerkrade have not decided yet on concrete locations. For that reason, two finalized cases in Landgraaf were selected for comparison, being well suited for this purpose due to their similar governance contexts. In total, 26 media reports were examined for land-use claims, objectives, and values, in addition to patterns and relationships related to Sayer et al.'s (2013) ten principles.

To complement the media analysis, document analysis was performed based on government publications, records of council meetings, and other official reports related to the energy transition and the case studies. The online city council archive was used, providing a rich source of data. It contains amendments, political questions to the college, decision lists, motions, city council information letters, and commitments made by the college. We analyzed all council meeting notes and documents from 11 April 2018-15 July 2021. In addition, we analyzed the recorded council meetings of 25 February 2021 and 16 June 2021 as they covered the political discussion on the energy parks and the RES targets. Moreover, the websites of the identified actors were investigated for (research) reports and perspectives. In total, 55 documents were included in the analysis of land-use claims, objectives, and values in addition to patterns and relationships related to the ten principles.

Finally, we held 15 semi-structured in-depth interviews to analyze the context and dynamics behind the land-use claims, conflicts, and conflict management in the case studies. We used purposive sampling based on the previous document and media content analysis and an additional online search, and selected actors based on their (potential) knowledge about the case study. Nearly all interviews were conducted online and followed an iterative approach, allowing for supplementary questions in the following interviews.

For analyzing the landscape claims, objectives, and values involved in both cases, the typology of 14 landscape values classified by Brown (2004) served as the basis for mapping the actors' landscape values. We added *climate*, *well-being*, and *ecological* as standalone landscape values to adapt to the specific contexts and data of the case study. Furthermore, a clear distinction is made between biological values, where stakeholders admire areas because of the existence of plants and animals, and *ecological* values, where biodiversity and the ecosystem play a more prominent role. As a result, 17 spatially-representative landscape values are identified (see Figure 3). For most actors, the research found several landscape values, without specifying ranking. For this reason, we included all the identified values to account for completeness and prevent bias. Also, actors often used ancillary issues (von der Dunk et al., 2011) when voicing their conflicts. Therefore, the values are depicted in alphabetical order in the table, as no rank order is implied or should be inferred.

For the analysis and easy visual representation of overlapping and competing land-use claims, we customized Horn and Meijer's 3P-diagram to show the interconnected nature of the various land-use claims in the case studies. Considering land claims are made to achieve land-use objectives, the identified actors and their objectives were placed in the corresponding circles—*people*, *planet*, and/or *profit*. The resulting diagrams for each case study illustrate which objectives



Landscape values	Description
Aesthetic	Area valued of the attractive scenery, such as sights, smells or sounds
Biological	Area valued because it provides places for a variety of plants and animals
Climate	Area valued because it can help meet climate ambitions
Cultural	Area valued because people can continue to pass down wisdom, traditions and a way of life
Ecological	Area valued of its significance on biodiversity and support of the ecosystem
Economic	Area valued because it offers economic opportunities
Future	Area valued as they allow future generations to know and experience the areas as they are now
Heritage	Area valued because they have natural and human history
Intrinsic	Area valued for their own sake, now matter what others think about them or whether they are used
Learning	Areas valued because they can be used to learn about the environment
Life-sustaining	Areas valued because they help produce, preserve, clean and renew air, soil and water
Recreational	Area valued because it offers recreation activities and experiences
Spiritual	Area valued because they are sacred, religious, spiritually important
Subsistence	Area valued because it provides for necessary food and materials to sustain people's lives
Therapeutic	Area valued because they make people feel better, physically and/ or mentally
Well-being	Area valued because it supports or protects human well-being
Wilderness	Area valued because they are wild



overlap or compete. The area where all three circles overlap depicts reconciled objectives and a shared vision among stakeholders. Since politics forms a critical domain of external influence, affirmed by the case studies, the customized 3P-diagrams were then extended by adding a fourth P—politics—creating a 4P-diagram. Politics is displayed as an external sphere and not presented as a fourth circle, since the model aims to provide a simplified and easy-to-understand representation. The 4P-diagrams illustrate how the political actors connect to the other actors and how their objectives and (political) decisions influence the process.

For the analysis of the conflict management in these cases, Sayer et al.'s (2013) ten principles for an ILA were used as an analytical framework to map and analyze the land-use conflict management process of the Abdissenbosch and Akerweg area. Thereby, we analyzed how and why the competing land-use claims resulted in land-use conflicts or synergies. We determined 21 process indicators connected to the ten principles to assess the realization of the principles in the case studies. These process indicators were established by identifying the elements for a successful reconciliation process by studying descriptions of the ten principles, the identified objectives, and their related challenges and opportunities. The land-use conflict management process of Abdissenbosch and Akerweg was analyzed and described by qualitatively scoring the performance of the process indicators on a Likert scale and comparing

the results (see Supplementary File 3). Document analysis, media content analysis, and interviews were used to obtain the data.

# 4. Results: Land-Use Claims, Conflicts, and Management in Two RES Areas of Landgraaf

# 4.1. The Case Studies

The first case study in Abdissenbosch is a former landfill site known as Kreupelbusch, located on the northern outskirts of the municipality, next to the border with Germany (see Figure 4). As the landfill was finished off with a covering layer, excavating may go no deeper than 60 cm (Arcadis, 2019). The Kreupelbusch area fulfils various functions: former landfill, landfill gas extraction, nature, recreation, and energy development. Despite its history and recent developments, the area falls in the protected Gold-Green nature zone and is positioned between Natura 2000 areas Brunssummerheide and Tevenerheide. Nevertheless, the area was located as a search area for wind turbines in PALET 1.0 and the concept version for RES but was later adjusted in the final version.

The second case study is located on the northeastern outskirts of Landgraaf (see Figure 5). The area consists of three separate parcels of farmland totaling approximately 9.6 hectares and is surrounded on the right by forest considered Gold-Green Nature (Kronos Solar,





Figure 4. Abdissenbosch map captured using Openstreetmap on PDOK.

2020). The area falls outside of Natura 2000 and the Nature Network Netherlands, but is designated as a "silence area" and has medium, high-to-very high archaeological expectations (Provinciale Staten van Limburg, 2019). Within the PALET and RES, the area is located in the search area for large-scale solar energy generation (Bos, 2021). However, resulting from the zoning plan, the following uses are assigned for the area: sustainable agriculture; control and prevention of soil erosion and flooding; preservation and development of the natural, landscape, cultural-historical, and archaeological values present; protection of the adjoining nature reserve, the so-called buffering; opening up of the individual plots; recreational co-use (Kronos Solar, 2020). Therefore, within the rules of the current zoning plan, it

is not permitted to realize a solar park at this location, and a planning permit must be applied for.

# 4.2. Land-Use Claims, Objectives, and Landscape Values

Eight of the 17 predefined Landscape values were identified for the Abdissenbosch area (see Supplementary File 1): *biological, ecological, climate, well-being, economic, aesthetic, recreational,* and *learning.* The advisory group counts the most landscape values (4x), which may reflect the fact that the group consisted of people from diverse backgrounds, representing different interests. In addition, two of the values identified for this group—recreational and *learning*—were not identified for any other group. The landscape values



Figure 5. Akerweg map captured using Openstreetmap on PDOK.



cultural, future, heritage, intrinsic, life-sustaining, spiritual, subsistence, therapeutic and wilderness were not identified for any stakeholders making claims on the Abdissenbosch area.

In the Akerweg case, eight of the 17 predefined Landscape values were identified (see Supplementary File 2): biological, climate, aesthetic, economic, subsistence, recreational, ecological, and well-being. The political parties share many values with local residents, which may reflect that they represent the population and a variety of different interests. The value well-being was identified exclusively for the political parties SP, VVD, OPL, and Progressieven, taking place on a local level and social scale (Gemeente Landgraaf, 2021a, 2021b). For six (out of 11) actor groups, the value biological was recognized, covering all 4 Ps, playing out on a local level as the actors claim to share the importance of nature and farmland conservation, and deer protection. The landscape values cultural, future, heritage, intrinsic, learning, life-sustaining, spiritual, therapeutic, and wilderness were not identified for any stakeholders making claims.

Comparing the two cases shows that seven of the eight recognized landscape values are similar (i.e., *biological*, *climate*, *aesthetic*, *economic*, *recreational*, *eco* 

*logical*, and *well-being*) but that the value *learning* was exclusively found for Abdissenbosch and the value *subsistence for* Akerweg. In both cases, the value *biological* was recognized as being the most prominently present, compared to the other values. However, the landscape value *aesthetic* appeared more dominant for Akerweg. The landscape values *cultural*, *future*, *heritage*, *intrinsic*, *life-sustaining*, *spiritual*, *therapeutic*, and *wilderness* have not been identified for any stakeholders in either case.

#### 4.3. Overlapping and Competing Land-Use Claims

Figures 6 and 7 illustrate the use of a 4P-diagram in which land-use objectives overlap or compete with each other. In both cases, the research identified that the energy development objectives of the municipality, province, and initiators compete with residents because they desire pleasant scenery and with local parties due to environmental and well-being protection. For the Abdissenbosch area, the *planet* actors *Natuurmonumenten* ("nature monuments") and Natuur en Milieufederatie Limburg Limburg (Federation for Nature and Environment Limburg) directly opposed the energy development objectives due to the Gold-Green



**Figure 6.** 4P-diagram of Abdissenbosch and overview of stakeholders and their objectives. Notes: CDA stands for Christian Democratic Appeal, GBBL for Common Citizens Interest Landgraaf, LWH for List Wiel Heinrichs, IKL for Landscape Organisation Limburg, NMF for Nature and Environment Foundation, OPL for Senior Party Landgraaf, SP for Socialist Party, and VVD for People's Party for Freedom and Democracy.



**Figure 7.** 4P-diagram of Akerweg and overview of stakeholders and their objectives. Notes: CDA stands for Christian Democratic Appeal, GBBL for Common Citizens Interest Landgraaf, IKL for Landscape Organisation Limburg, LWH for List Wiel Heinrichs, NMF for Nature and Environment Foundation, OPL for Senior Party Landgraaf, SP for Socialist Party, and VVD for People's Party for Freedom and Democracy.

status and ecological connection, when in the Akerweg area they stated conditions for the construction of a solar park. However, the data did not reveal any *profit* actors opposing energy goals in the Abdissenbosch case, whereas for the Akerweg, the desire of farmers to preserve farmland did conflict with the solar park plan. In addition, initiator Bodemzorg (which means "soil care") in the Abdissenbosch case overlaps with *planet* because of its (mandatory) goal to invest in natural values and therefore stands closer to the environmental objectives of residents, local parties, and environmental groups. In comparison, initiator Kronos Solar of Akerweg is placed solely in *profit*. Nevertheless, our research found there to be no overlapping objectives among *profit* and *people* for both cases.

cogitatio

Many of the identified land-use claims are recognized to be related to sustainability, but the corresponding landscape values are playing out on various scales and levels, affirming Giller et al.'s (2008) theory. Research shows that for both cases the circle *planet* contains the most actors' land-use objectives which are related to nature preservation and animal protection and that all the political parties link to *planet* by their ambition to protect the green areas valued by citizens. These

biological landscape values manifest on a local level. The land-use claims of the province, municipality, and initiators also relate to sustainability with their renewable energy goals but differ from each other by their landscape values: The province and municipality value the two areas because they can help meet regional and national climate ambitions; initiator Kronos Solar has an economic landscape value; initiator Bodemzorg has, besides their economic landscape value, also an ecological landscape value because of their regional task to keep the environment around the old waste site safe. In the Abdissenbosch case, the province has three different sustainable land-use objectives competing with each other: achieving climate goals through the RES targets, conserving important nature zones, and enhancing the ecological connection with the Heidenatuurpark.

#### 4.4. Land-use Conflict Management

The land-use conflict management process of Abdissenbosch and Akerweg were analyzed and described qualitatively, scoring the performance of the process indicators on a Likert scale and comparing the results (see Supplementary File 3).



For both cases, the research identified that no evaluation or documentation had taken place to establish learning for the future. Nevertheless, two respondents stated that continual learning about the energy transition and its challenges and opportunities does occur through various regional bodies such as the Parkstad incubator for energy projects, the wind energy acceleration team, the management committee on sustainability, and management and working groups of RES (South) Limburg. Nevertheless, two other respondents argued that more international and best practice studies concerning multi-functionality should be undertaken or reviewed, such as the combination of solar parks and agriculture in Germany, which is particularly interesting for a small country like the Netherlands. In addition, the research found that more attention is needed to attract and engage young people in the energy transition and participation processes. A difference between the cases is that the Akerweg initiator did not have the same opportunities for acquiring interdisciplinary knowledge, continual learning, and adaptive management to counter local opposition as in the Abdissenbosch case. Nonetheless, more parties were involved in the research process and discussions for the Abdissenbosch case than in the Akerweg case due to the additional environmental requirements, which enabled more interdisciplinary learning.

Four interviewees reflected that the preparations and actions to build trust were similar for the two cases. However, there was a striking difference since, in the Akerweg case, the information meeting was online due to Covid regulations instead of real-life (interviews 2 and 8; see Supplementary File 4). Additionally, residents of the Akerweg area spoke of immediate discussions and protests on Facebook and WhatsApp Groups, even before the information meeting. This was not the case for Abdissenbosch, and four interviewees attested that citizen involvement and protest were lower than for the Akerweg area, as the latter has an authentic landscape and many recreational users. From interview 5:

There, people did stand up. I completely missed that involvement at Abdissenbosch. The right questions were asked online. People understood and knew what it was about....Kreupelbusch is a bit of a no-man's land, so there are not that many people who are worried about that.

However, unlike the Abdissenbosch case, Akerweg missed the chance to increase trust and support for the solar park and possibly create a common concern entry point through an advisory group.

Considering Abdissenbosch has gone through the whole process in a participatory manner, multiple scales (i.e., ecological, social, economic) were targeted to influence the outcome positively. This differentiates from the Akerweg case that could not finish the research, planning, and implementation steps and did not have the

chance to create an advisory group, missing a vital opportunity to address the social scale adequately. Since the Kreupelbusch area is a former landfill and Gold-Green exclusion area, close to Natura 2000 zones, with strict building conditions, it received much attention for the environment, biodiversity, and possible adverse effects (interviews 9 and 10). Therefore, the initiators expected the solar park to be a sensitive topic and spent ample time raising awareness of the different factors influencing the outcomes at various scales. On the other hand, the Akerweg area was located in a search area for solar energy development and was previously agreed on by the city council for exploration. Kronos Solar, therefore, did not anticipate much trouble, even more considering the business case offered various possibilities for benefits and biodiversity improvements (interview 8). Hence, in the Akerweg case, the political and societal influences that negatively impacted the outcome were not (adequately) anticipated.

Lastly, it remains unclear for both cases if and to what extent the ecosystem services and their interactions, flows, feedback, and synergies were covered in ecological research. The mandatory ecological quick scan looks merely at whether protected species and natural areas occur in or near a planning area to not violate the Nature Protection Act. Merely if important natural values or protected species are identified or expected, further research and possible mitigation measures are required. Since the list of protected plants was abbreviated when the Nature Protection Act replaced the Flora and Fauna Act, these can be written off almost immediately (interview 12). In addition, certain animal species are sometimes treated carelessly in the ecological quickscan and done in the wrong season (interview 12). Moreover, it has not been identified for both cases if multidisciplinary research has been reviewed or done to investigate the consequences of energy parks on ecosystem services.

For the Abdissenbosch case, it was recognized that the reconciliation process occurred largely within the advisory group, differing from Akerweg, which did not get the chance to go through this process. Kronos Solar did not yet consult the residents about their wishes and how they felt things could be improved, even though there were many possibilities for reconciliation and multi-functionality because of the abundant space (interviews 8 and 15). Nevertheless, another significant contrast between the cases coming out of this research is the difference in value and use of the area, which complicated the reconciliation process for Akerweg. Additionally, it was mentioned that many people from the constituency of the GBBL use the area for recreation and that two best-known former aldermen live in the neighborhood that runs into the Akerweide area, holding external political influence over the decision-making process (interview 14). Moreover, since the Akerweg area is agricultural land, objectives competing with farming were found to be difficult to reconcile, as there has been growing discussion about limited agricultural



land in Landgraaf: "For years, farmers have been fighting over every square meter" (interview 14). Regardless, for both cases, our research did not find the use of multiple resource assessment and if (understanding of) the ecosystem services and their trade-offs were investigated and included in the decision-making process.

The research found differences in use and value between the two cases impacts the amount of interest and the demand for participation. According to the interviewees, the former dumpsite has a negative past with hardly any neighbors and few users, limiting interest in involvement in decision-making processes (interviews 3, 5, and 14). In the Akerweg case, the area is considered vital for recreation for residents and visitors outside the neighborhood and multiple stakeholders actively shared their opinions from the beginning (interviews 4, 6, and 7). According to a resident of Abdissenbosch, "it was much easier to be critical" in the Akerweg case, as the meeting was online, and people could submit questions via WhatsApp instead of saying them in person (interview 5). Moreover, the research indicates that it is more difficult to develop trust when the conversations are not face-to-face. "We have remained at a distance as the big developer coming to collect bags of money," stated Blijleven (interview 8), affirmed by the two residents of Ubach over Worms (interviews 4 and 6) and the online petition (Geuskens, 2021). Nevertheless, the initiator of the Akerweg case could not alter the concerns by walking through the entire multiple-stakeholder participation process, as done for the Abdissenbosch case.

The research recognized resistance to energy development plans and low acceptance of solar parks in highly used and highly valued areas. For both cases, the results reveal a group of residents that do not accept or understand the need for large-scale energy projects, the climate targets in general, and the sense of urgency. A difference between the cases is how in the Akerweg area, the high visibility of the solar park and the large number of people anticipating a hindrance in the landscape negatively impact the acceptability. Additionally, the Akerweg solar park initiators could not create understanding and increase the acceptability of their plans as the participation process was suspended in the preliminary stage. Nonetheless, for both cases, political interference influenced the decision-making process, around the same time close to the elections, as the city council protested the solar park in the Akerweg area and voted against wind turbines to allegedly gain votes of the neighborhood.

Regarding clarification of rights and responsibilities, the research found a difference between the cases because, in the Abdissenbosch case, the rights and responsibilities of various actors were communicated (to a certain extent), particularly in the advisory group, while in the Akerweg case, the interviewed residents declared minimal clarification and no advisory group was established. Nevertheless, in both cases, the research identified resistance to the energy transition responsibilities of the municipalities.

Regarding participatory and user-friendly monitoring, the Akerweg area did not receive the same opportunity as Abdissenbosch to share broad knowledge with stakeholders, monitor their activities, measure progress, and communicate the results. Nonetheless, the research recognized that more research and monitoring overall is required to establish the impact solar and wind parks have on the environment, as the developers and government officials interviewed declare missing this knowledge (interviews 3, 7, 10, 11, and 12). Kempenaar of Unisun Energy attest that presently, no research is being conducted by them or in combination with partners into the effects of their solar parks, but stated being open to it: "I have always said, you get carte blanche from me....You can come and look and research every year" (interview 11).

The Akerweg case did not receive the same opportunity as Abdissenbosch to finish its assessment of drivers empowering or hindering resilience, create more awareness of threats and devise a landscape plan to improve the area's resilience. Nevertheless, the research found that the concept and theory of "resilience" have not been applied directly in both cases' assessments, plans, or designs.

The Akerweg case did not receive the same opportunities as Abdissenbosch to strengthen stakeholders' capacity for effective participation through the advisory group or other means. Nevertheless, for both cases, the research did not identify that the stakeholders' skills and abilities were cultivated utilizing cultural or financial factors.

# 5. Discussion and Conclusion

Our comparative case study of two RES-related landuse conflicts and their management in South Limburg started with the question of how far these cases display elements of the ILA and whether the relative presence of these elements helps to resolve the conflicts. Our exploratory research found that various land-use claims related to different landscape values competed in the two studied RES areas. When they are (believed to be) incommensurable, they result in land-use conflicts. For both cases, multiple stakeholders used environmental and animal protection objectives, besides others, to oppose renewable energy objectives. By performing extensive land-use conflict management, competing land-use objectives can be reconciled to a mutually beneficial outcome, as we have seen in the Abdissenbosch case. On the other hand, the Akerweg case shows that when land-use conflict management gets interrupted in a preliminary stage, it reduces the possibility of reconciliation. In both cases, sustainability criteria affected land-use conflict management and the outcome. In the Abdissenbosch case, ecological conditions set by the province and the ecological requirements of



the advisory group resulted in a nature-inclusive solar park that improved the area's resilience. Contrastingly, in the Akerweg case, environmental concerns of the neighborhood and local parties due to anticipated negative impacts of the solar park and worry of losing scarce green/farm areas resulted in the annulment of the solar park.

In the Abdissenbosch case, an extensive participatory land-use conflict management process ensured reconciled objectives, a shared vision among stakeholders, an improved understanding of the landscape conditions, and enhanced resilience. The land-use conflicts were managed by multiple-scale awareness, inclusive stakeholder engagement, transparent and open communication, and addressing trust and power imbalances. Sustainability was a vital criterion in the process as the initiator had to meet obligatory requirements set by the province to improve natural values, protect endangered species, and preserve the ecological connection. In addition, the advisory group members demanded nature conservation, improvement of the biotopes in the area, and nature education. In addition, the achievement of the RES targets was a criterion for the municipality and the province to support the solar park. This shows how the strong presence of ILA elements supports integrated land-use conflict management with sustainabilityrelated polarization.

In comparison, in the Akerweg case, there was no extensive participatory land-use conflict management process, and the land-use conflicts were therefore not managed. Sustainability criteria did play a role in the start of the process and impacted the outcome as the residents and local parties used nature conservation and animal protection objectives to state their opposition to the solar park. The RES targets and ambition for an energy-neutral region did not possess enough weight to influence the decision-making process, which could be explained by the fact that the energy transition-related responsibilities of the municipalities and the logic and justification of the solar park proposal were contested. This shows that the absence of ILA elements hinders integrated land-use conflict management with sustainabilityrelated polarization.

The ILA, the 3P-diagram of Horn and Meijer (2015), and the analytical framework proposed by Sayer et al. (2013) have proven to be valuable for our analysis. Adjusting the 3P-diagram to a 4P-diagram made visible the role of political actors in land-use conflicts and how their objectives relate to other actors. However, as *politics* is displayed as an outer layer instead of a circle, it is not immediately apparent how the political actors connect with the other circles. This is especially problematic since political resolution is a likely route in RES-related land use conflicts and because the RES lacks binding status. Nevertheless, the 4P-diagram gives a useful, albeit simplified, overview of the identified land-use objectives and to what extent they overlap or compete. Applying Sayer et al.'s ten principles as guidelines and indicators to our comparative research shows that land-use conflict management needs to be sufficiently integrated to succeed. The lack of an integrative approach, on the other hand, may create additional obstacles throughout the resolution process and makes it more difficult. Therefore, the ILA can be a good starting point for future RES-related land-use conflict management.

However, our research also identified two major challenges for RES-related land-use conflict management. The first one concerns the limits of inclusive participation in land-use conflict. Confirming the literature (e.g., Arts et al., 2017; Mann & Jeanneaux, 2009), achieving inclusive participation with people from all backgrounds and ages is difficult, and especially young people are often underrepresented. Therefore, it could be an opportunity for the RES to more explicitly involve the younger generation, as they might change the dynamic of the negotiation process. Overall, it is clear that rather than focusing on whether participation is needed, the burning question in these conflicts nowadays is (and should be) how participation can be done well.

Another challenge is that the very process of implementing the energy transition through RES areas is still contested. Due to the voluntary character of the RES, both residents and political parties may question the RES targets as compulsory. As two interviews and a city council meeting reflected, the sense of obligation was not shared by everyone, and fingers were also pointed at other municipalities. However, when every municipality argues that another can compensate for their failed efforts, it may easily result in underachievement. This reflects the ambiguous status of the RES as a guiding document in such a complex issue.

#### Acknowledgments

We are thankful to the management team of the Maastricht Sustainability Institute for supporting this publication and to Paul Weaver for his invaluable editorial support.

#### **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

#### **Supplementary Material**

Supplementary material for this article is available online in the format provided by the authors (unedited).

#### References

Alessa, L., Kliskey, A., & Brown, G. (2008). Socialecological hotspots mapping: A spatial approach for identifying coupled social-ecological space. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 85(1), 27–39. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2007.09.007

Arcadis. (2019). Ruimtelijke onderbouwing zonnepark


Landgraaf [Spatial justification solar farm]. https:// landgraaf.bestuurlijkeinformatie.nl/Agenda/ Document/cf86acf4-2253-47e9-9a5d-054845084 ca0?documentId=e59a8fbd-60a3-400d-9c3c-4d93558fb353

- Arts, B., Buizer, M., Horlings, L., Ingram, V., van Oosten, C., & Opdam, P. (2017). Landscape approaches: A state-of-the-art review. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 42(1), 439–463.
- Berezow, A. (2017). *Organic farms use more land and don't decrease carbon footprint*. American Council on Science and Health.
- Boonstra, W. (2006a). How to account for stakeholders' perceptions in Dutch rural land policy? In M. van den Brink & T. Metze (Eds.), *Words matter in policy and planning: discourse theory and method in the social sciences* (pp. 145–155). Labor Grafi.
- Boonstra, W. (2006b). *Polder limits: A case study of valueconflicts on Dutch rural land use* [Doctoral dissertation]. Wageningen University and Research. https:// edepot.wur.nl/121856
- Boonstra, W. (2009). Tussen incommensurabel en commensurabel landgebruik [Between incommensurable and commensurable land use]. *Topos*, *1*, 10–13.
- Bos, R. (2021). Geaccordeerde B&W-nota Zonnepark Akerweg [Approved B&W note Solar park Akerweg]. Gemeente Landgraaf. https://landgraaf.best uurlijkeinformatie.nl/Reports/Document/3624f381-6b8d-401f-8cec-d803f7010cd9?documentId=30de 6351-4a50-4192-8038-1894f202efa6
- Bowen, K. J., Cradock-Henry, N. A., Koch, F., Patterson, J., Häyhä, T., Vogt, J., & Barbi, F. (2017). Implementing the "sustainable development goals": Towards addressing three key governance challenges—Collective action, trade-offs, and accountability. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 26/27, 90–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2017.05.002
- Brown, G. (2004). Mapping spatial attributes in survey research for natural resource management: Methods and applications. *Society & Natural Resources*, *18*(1), 17–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920590881853
- Brown, G., & Alessa, L. (2005). A GIS-based inductive study of wilderness values. *International Journal of Wilderness*, 11(1), 14–18.
- Brown, G., & Raymond, C. M. (2014). Methods for identifying land use conflict potential using participatory mapping. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 122, 196–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.landurbplan.2013.11.007
- Brown, G., Raymond, C., & Corcoran, J. (2015). Mapping and measuring place attachment. *Applied Geography*, *57*, 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog. 2014.12.011
- Claessens, G. (2021, May 15). Milieugroep in actie tegen windturbines en zonnepanelen [Environmen-

tal group in action against wind turbines and solar panels]. *De Limburger*. https://www.limburger.nl/ cnt/dmf20210515\_95000316

- College van Rijksadviseurs. (2020). Advies: Minister van Ruimte [Advice: Minister of spatial planning]. https://www.collegevanrijksadviseurs.nl/adviezenpublicaties/publicatie/2020/11/24/advies-ruimte
- Denier, L., Scherr, S., Shames, S., Chatterton, P., Hovani, L., & Stam, N. (2015). The little sustainable landscapes book: Achieving sustainable development through integrated landscape management. CIFOR.
- DenkWerk. (2020). Klein land, grote keuzes—Ruimtelijke ordening richting 2050 [Small country, big choice— Spatial planning toward 2050]. https://denkwerk. online/rapporten/klein-land-grote-keuzes-januari-2020
- Esch, S., Brink, B., Stehfest, E., Bakkenes, M., Sewell, A., Bouwman, A., Meijer, J., Westhoek, H., & van den Berg, M. (2017). *Exploring future changes in land use and land condition and the impacts on food, water, climate change and biodiversity: Scenarios for the UNCCD global land outlook*. PBL: Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency.
- Freeman, O. E., Duguma, L. A., & Minang, P. A. (2015). Operationalizing the integrated landscape approach in practice. *Ecology and Society*, *20*(1). https://www. jstor.org/stable/26269763
- Gemeente Landgraaf. (2021a, January 27). Duurzaam Landgraaf. Om Landgraaf een duurzame gemeente te maken werken we niet alleen aan duurzame projecten, we staan ook open [Sustainable Landgraaf. To make Landgraaf a sustainable municipality, we are not only working on sustainable projects, we are also open] [Facebook status update]. https://www. facebook.com/1519142371718975/photos/ a.1519179368381942/2531016320531570~
- Gemeente Landgraaf. (2021b). *Eerste overleg meedenkgroep Duurzaam Landgraaf 9 maart 2021* [First meeting think tank Sustainable Landgraaf March 9, 2021]. https://docplayer.nl/219660598-Eersteoverleg-meedenkgroep-duurzaam-landgraaf-9maart-2021.html
- Geuskens, B. (2021). *Geen zonneweide Akerweg. Petities* [No solar park Akerweg. Petitions] [Petition]. https:// geenzonneweideakerweg.petities.nl
- Giller, K. E., Leeuwis, C., Andersson, J. A., Andriesse, W., Brouwer, A., Frost, P., Hebinck, P., Heitkönig, I., Van Ittersum, M. K., & Koning, N. (2008). Competing claims on natural resources: What role for science? *Ecology and Society*, *13*(2). https://www.jstor.org/ stable/26267992
- Hoppe, R. (2010). *The governance of problems. Puzzling, powering, participation.* Robert Hoppe.
- Horn, S. v. d., & Meijer, J. (2015). *The landscape approach*. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency.
- Hubers, A. (2021, January 28). Nieuwbouw in Limburg opnieuw op laag pitje [New development in Limburg

< cogitatio

again on hold]. *1limburg*. https://www.1limburg.nl/ nieuwbouw-limburg-opnieuw-op-laag-pitje

- Jordan, A. (2008). The governance of sustainable development: Taking stock and looking forwards. *Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space*, *26*(1), 17–33.
- Keough, H., & Blahna, D. (2006). Achieving integrative, collaborative ecosystem management. *Conservation biology: The Journal of the Society for Conservation Biology, 20,* 1373–1382. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1523-1739.2006.00445.x
- Kronos Solar. (2020). Principeverzoek Zonnepark Akerweg [Request in principle for solar park Akerweg]. https://landgraaf.bestuurlijkeinformatie.nl/Reports/ Document/3624f381-6b8d-401f-8cec-d803f7010 cd9?documentId=01a24069-697f-430d-8b7f-7d9788daaf3e
- Kuindersma, W., & Boonstra, F. G. (2010). The changing role of the state in Dutch regional partnerships. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, 28(6), 1045–1062. https://doi.org/10.1068/c09188
- Leunissen, E. (2020, June 17). Circulaire economie moet Limburg miljarden opleveren [Circular economy should bring billions to Limburg]. *1limburg*. http://web.archive.org/web/20200618030148/ https://www.1limburg.nl/circulaire-economiemoet-limburg-miljarden-opleveren
- Mann, C., & Jeanneaux, P. (2009). Two approaches for understanding land-use conflict to improve rural planning and management. *Journal of Rural and Community Development*, 4, 118–141.
- Patten, M., & Newhart, M. (2017). Understanding research methods: An overview of the essentials (10th ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/ 9781315213033
- Petrescu-Mag, R. M., Petrescu, D. C., Azadi, H., & Petrescu-Mag, I. V. (2018). Agricultural land use conflict management: Vulnerabilities, law restrictions and negotiation frames. A wake-up call. Land Use Policy, 76, 600–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.landusepol.2018.02.040
- Provinciale Staten van Limburg. (2019). Voor de kwaliteit van Limburg: Geconsolideerde versie POL2014 [For the quality of Limburg: Consolidated version POL2014]. https://www.limburg.nl/publish/pages/ 293/geconsolideerde\_versie\_pol2014\_september\_ 2019.pdf
- Provincie Limburg. (2020). Concept-omgevingsvisie Limburg [Concept environmental vision Limburg]. https://www.limburg.nl/onderwerpen/omgeving/ omgevingsvisie/terinzagelegging
- Reed, J., Deakin, L., & Sunderland, T. (2015). What are "integrated landscape approaches" and how effectively have they been implemented in the tropics: A systematic map protocol. *Environmental Evidence*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-2382-4-2
- Reed, J., Ickowitz, A., Chervier, C., Djoudi, H., Moombe, K., Ros-Tonen, M., Yanou, M., Yuliani, L.,

& Sunderland, T. (2020). Integrated landscape approaches in the tropics: A brief stock-take. *Land Use Policy*, *99*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol. 2020.104822

- Reed, J., van Vianen, J., Barlow, J., & Sunderland, T. (2017). Have integrated landscape approaches reconciled societal and environmental issues in the tropics? *Land Use Policy*, *63*, 481–492. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.02.021
- Rijksoverheid. (2019). *Klimaatakkoord* [Climate agreement]. https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/binaries/ rijksoverheid/documenten/rapporten/2019/06/28/ klimaatakkoord/klimaatakkoord.pdf
- Ros-Tonen, M. A. F., Reed, J., & Sunderland, T. (2018). From synergy to complexity: The trend toward integrated value chain and landscape governance. *Envi*ronmental Management, 62(1), 1–14. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00267-018-1055-0
- Sayer, J. A., Margules, C., Boedhihartono, A. K., Sunderland, T., Langston, J. D., Reed, J., Riggs, R., Buck, L. E., Campbell, B. M., Kusters, K., Elliott, C., Minang, P. A., Dale, A., Purnomo, H., Stevenson, J. R., Gunarso, P., & Purnomo, A. (2017). Measuring the effectiveness of landscape approaches to conservation and development. *Sustainability Science*, *12*(3), 465–476. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11625-016-0415-z
- Sayer, J., Sunderland, T., Ghazoul, J., Pfund, J.-L., Sheil, D., Meijaard, E., Venter, M., Boedhihartono, A. K., Day, M., Garcia, C., van Oosten, C., & Buck, L. E. (2013). Ten principles for a landscape approach to reconciling agriculture, conservation, and other competing land uses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(21), 8349–8356. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1210595110
- Stoker, G. (1998). Governance as theory: Five propositions. International Social Science Journal, 50(155), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2451.00106
- Stuurgroep RES Zuid Limburg. (2020). Concept RES Zuid Limburg. https://www.regionale-energiestrategie. nl/reszl
- Stuurgroep RES Zuid Limburg. (2021). *RES 1.0 Zuid Limburg*. https://www.reszuidlimburg.nl/media/2021-06/RES-Zuid-Limburg—1.0—Def.pdf
- van Dinther, M. (2020, November 20). Van wie is de grond in Nederland? [Who owns the land in the Netherlands?]. *de Volkskrant*. https://www. volkskrant.nl/nieuws-achtergrond/van-wie-is-degrond-in-nederland b5ac8934
- van Dinther, M. (2021, January 14). Nederland heeft een masterplan nodig, vindt "mister Vinex"—en snel ook [The Netherlands needs a master plan, according to "mister Vinex"—and soon]. *de Volkskrant*. https://www.volkskrant.nl/nieuws-achtergrond/ nederland-heeft-een-masterplan-nodig-vindtmister-vinex-en-snel-ook~baf373b7
- van Oosten, C., Runhaar, R., & Arts, B. (2021). Capable to govern landscape restoration? Exploring landscape governance capabilities, based on literature



and stakeholder perceptions. *Land Use Policy*, *104*, Article 104020.

von der Dunk, A., Grêt-Regamey, A., Dalang, T., & Hersperger, A. M. (2011). Defining a typology of

#### About the Authors



**Christian Scholl** (PhD) is assistant professor at Maastricht University. His research topics are urban sustainability, collaborative forms of governance, social movements, and social learning. Currently, he is focusing on contested sustainability transitions. He has coordinated several European and Dutch transdisciplinary research projects at the Urban Living Labs, delivering interactive and reflexive support tools for practitioners and their experimental learning processes. These tools have been widely disseminated and well-received by a wide range of governance actors. For more information see: https://www.maastrichtuniversity.nl/christian-scholl

2011.02.007

peri-urban land-use conflicts: A case study from

Switzerland. Landscape and Urban Planning, 101(2),

149–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.



**Eline Coolen** is a sustainability policy advisor with an MSc in sustainability science policy and society from Maastricht University, specializing in integrated urban planning and stakeholder management. With a passion for sustainable development, Eline works tirelessly to promote environmentally conscious and socially responsible city design. Her expertise in governance includes working with local government agencies and community groups, as well as implementing participatory decision-making processes and conflict management strategies in urban planning projects. Her goal is to create more livable, resilient, and equitable communities for people around the world.



Urban Planning (ISSN: 2183–7635) 2023, Volume 8, Issue 2, Pages 389–400 https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v8i2.6608

Article

## Planning Around Polarisation: Components of Finding Common Ground Based on Regeneration Projects in London and Gdańsk

Piotr Lorens \* and Agnieszka Zimnicka

Department of Urban Design and Regional Planning, Gdańsk University of Technology, Poland

\* Corresponding author (plorens@pg.edu.pl)

Submitted: 14 December 2022 | Accepted: 16 February 2023 | Published: 22 June 2023

## Abstract

Various forms of public participation in urban design and planning—as presented and discussed in literature—have recently been challenged by the needs and expectations of different stakeholders, including those coming from the private sector. This comes with a redefinition of the public good and the roles and responsibilities of municipal authorities in post-liberal times. As a result, contemporary participatory processes need to evolve to accommodate not only the wishes and ideas of the local communities, but also those of institutional stakeholders including investors, developers and land owners. This is also accompanied by the demands, expressed by all partners in this process, associated with having a much stronger influence on the final shape of the development policies and planning regulations. The gradual democratisation of spatial planning results in more engagement of stakeholders in the process. The article focuses on the co-design method as a way to bridge the polarisation of interests and find a consensus. The article focuses on identifying co-design components leading to the successful bridging of divisions and the realisation of large-scale regeneration initiatives that could be replicated. The authors have selected examples of large-scale regeneration areas in London and Gdańsk for a qualitative assessment, given the growing polarisation in both Polish and British societies. The discussion will focus on aspects of inclusivity, partnership working in co-design and political risks associated with co-design.

## Keywords

co-design; large-scale urban regeneration; participatory urban planning; polarisation in urban development

## Issue

This article is part of the issue "Planning Around Polarization: Learning With and From Controversy and Diversity" edited by Oswald Devisch (Hasselt University), Liesbeth Huybrechts (Hasselt University), Anna Seravalli (Malmö University), and Seppe De Blust (ETH Zürich).

© 2023 by the author(s); licensee Cogitatio Press (Lisbon, Portugal). This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY).

## 1. Introduction

The design and delivery of liveable and beautiful places catering to contemporary lifestyles and community well-being is a joint effort of private and public investment. Albeit final success expressed in vitality and vibrancy depends upon public response to their spatial environment. In short, creators' ambitions and users' needs should be addressed simultaneously. The authors seek to identify specific engagement techniques that have proved to enable crosscutting fragmentation of objectives and aspirations to deliver positive regeneration outcomes on the ground based on examples from Gdańsk and London.

## 1.1. Large-Scale Urban Regeneration in Contemporary Cities

21st-century cities face a wave of large-scale urban regeneration initiatives driven by the global (United Nations, 2015) and national agendas for sustainable development and post-pandemic socio-economic changes (Batty, 2022; European Environment Agency, 2021; Pasquinelli et al., 2022, Rusul et al., 2022). Collective responses to an area's critical mass of economic, social, and physical decay (Amirtahmasebi et al., 2016) are triggered by specific urban functional or material deficits (Haag et al., 2007). Urban regeneration projects are considered an efficient tool to improve



urban competitiveness, increase urban housing quality, and balance the wealth gap. A sustainable urban renewal project considers not only economic but also public health, and environmental as well as civil requirements above the entire life cycle (Wang et al., 2016).

The role of the public sector is critical in addressing those deficits, given the complexity of issues and ownership fragmentation. The larger the area, where property owners lost interest in adapting their built structures to changing demand, or even in maintaining them in a functional condition, the more necessary for public sector intervention to catalyse the renewal (Altrock, 2018). The public sector's role may vary from that of an active participant in urban regeneration, as leader, provider of the regulatory framework, landlord, or channel for community involvement, to that of promoter of environmental benefits for all (Amirtahmasebi et al., 2016).

Alternatively, partnerships of stakeholders, including the public and private sector entities, may be established to deliver commercial and non-profit development with mutually beneficial outcomes. Their life cycle involves pre-partnership collaboration, partnership creation and consolidation, partnership programme delivery, and partnership termination and succession (Williams, 2003). This article explores experiences from a range of public sector involvement scenarios, from the statutory regulator to voluntary partner. It focuses, however, on the process of capital investment where the final success of regeneration initiatives depends on their long-term operation and management.

#### 1.2. Participatory Planning

Town planning in democratic countries has evolved throughout the 20th century, from expert-created plans towards a participatory process with a strong emphasis on citizens' involvement. Evidence ranges from observations of self-organising communities driving the development of cities (Jacobs, 1961) through research regarding community engagement in urban and regional planning and development (Arnstein, 1969; Forester, 1982; Papadopoulos & Warin, 2007) to the development of a wide range of methods of involving end users in place-shaping processes (Manuel & Vigar, 2021; Wilson & Tewdwr-Jones, 2020; Wilson et al., 2019).

The general acknowledgement is that, in the case of planning policies, representative democracy is not sufficient to deliver adequate public benefits, including beautiful places, and a wider society approach based on multi-layered, interdisciplinary participation in the creative architectural processes is needed (Jenkins & Forsyth, 2010). Substantial involvement of a wide range of stakeholders, from property owners to accidental users, could be conducted through deliberative engagements and co-design, prioritisation of collaborative rather than competitive advantage amongst landlords (Healey, 1998; Papadopoulos & Warin, 2007). The partnership approach has a particular affinity with the networking mode of governance, with key benefits perceived as synergy, cultural transformation, budget enlargement, confidence building, and risk minimisation, and with different modes of governance required at each stage of a partnership's existence (Lowndes & Skelcher, 1998).

Urban planning practice evolved through the 20th century from expert-driven decision-making to participatory processes. Research evidence confirms that linking the public and the government facilitates community buy-in and processing in the implementing or operating stage of regeneration programmes, stresses the role of appropriate techniques and communication channels to build consensus and leads to better decisions (Wang et al., 2016). Those techniques develop with social and technological progress. The recent pandemic contributed to the radical progress in using digital participation tools ranging from the use of social media, virtual reality, virtual models, and video conferences to collaborative creations.

Participation in planning has evolved from community engagement seeking community feedback and incorporating it into the policy to co-design and co-production. Co-design is focussed on policy aspects and can be defined through three components: (a) process, which must be iterative and innovative; (b) principles that prioritise the creativity of participants, their expertise in their own lives, and policy that is designed by people with relevant lived experience; and (c) practical tools—telling, enacting, making (Blomkamp, 2018). Co-production goes a step further and describes the partnership approach to the delivery of public services, sometimes encompassing the whole policy process from design to implementation (Bracci et al., 2016).

Co-design and co-production, as with every collective undertaking, are founded on the principle of a mandate for representation and decision-making on a matter. The problem is that governance structures often make de facto-binding decisions, but unlike elected representatives accountable to their constituencies, their participants lack authorisation (Parkinson, 2003). Large-scale regeneration initiatives face several dilemmas concerning collaborative planning and delivery, especially in the context of economic, social, and spatial polarisation observed throughout Europe. In the last decade, the UK (Koch et al., 2021; Silver et al., 2021) and Poland (Horonziak, 2022) have been experiencing widening political, cultural, and economic divisions, which form a background for the selection of case studies for this research.

This article focuses on co-design processes involving place-specific planning policies and design code practices, which shape the implementation of large-scale regeneration initiatives.

#### 1.3. Polarisation in Urban Planning

Polarisation is defined by the *Cambridge Dictionary* as "the act of dividing something, especially something that contains different people or opinions, into



two completely opposing groups" (Polarization, n.d.). Social polarisation, expressed in inequalities in income, well-being, and access to capital and opportunities, has a significant impact on economic and political development resulting in reduced growth (Keefer & Knack, 2002). Complex spatial-economic structures of cities are composed of multiple physical, legal, or social layers, which are sensitive to divisions. Polarisation extrapolated into urban development reflects in skewing decision-making in policy-making, planning, management, and investment towards the extremes, leaving very little middle ground for consensus (Koch et al., 2021).

Urban development is, in principle, the field where a range of diverse interests and objectives of particular groups of stakeholders meet. Elected councils deliver specific manifestos for their constituents. Civil service represents a technical and evidence-based approach to the delivery of manifesto pledges and focuses on compliance with the appropriate processes. Developers and landowners concentrate on the profitability of their investments. Local communities seek to share benefits from new developments and upgrades to their living environment. In an ideal world, there should be a common landing zone for the interests of all stakeholders so they can agree on relevant policies, partnership working and joint investments.

## 2. Method

Polarisation and participatory planning have become global phenomena and practices in the 21st century. The article focuses on the identification of co-design components leading to the successful bridging of the divisions and the realisation of large-scale regeneration initiatives which could be replicated.

To identify the effective tools of participatory planning, the authors selected examples of large-scale regeneration areas in London and Gdańsk and conducted a qualitative assessment, given the growing polarisation in both Polish and British societies. All examples dealt with large-scale development areas with multiple stakeholders, fragmented ownership, and the council's low-level property interests.

To set out the comparative parameters, the qualitative review identified the context of polarisation, planning focus, mandate, and technical tools applied to the co-design process to manage the divisions. Key findings were extrapolated into possibilities for the application of particular components of co-design in other local contexts.

#### 2.1. Context of Polarisation

Traditional and general lines of polarisation between individual stakeholder groups could be defined as follows:

- Councils with a focus on public benefits;
- Landlords with an interest in property value uplift;

- Developers on the profitability of their investments;
- Local communities on maintaining existing neighbourhood character and potentially seeking upgrades to public services and infrastructure.

However, each locality also has its particular division lines which divide social groups, and areas of common interests. These are individual matters which have been identified for each case. Key areas examined encompass economic, social, and political divisions, as well as matters of trust affecting the ability to find consensus.

#### 2.2. Mandate

Participatory planning, especially co-design and co-production raise concerns over their democratic legitimacy. The governance networks related to the participatory development of plans often make de facto binding decisions, which is not true for deliberative polls mainly because, unlike elected representatives accountable to their constituencies, their participants lack authorisation (Parkinson, 2003). Moreover, the following statement regarding politics in general, but relevant to planning policy as well, applies:

The multiplication of veto points makes it harder for normal people to influence politics, but actors with substantial resources can use them to navigate institutional complexity. This creates incentives for empowered representatives to accept capture by powerful organisations, to collude with each other and to shirk their duty to represent normal people. (Hutton Ferris, 2019; see also Page & Gilens, 2017)

The mandate of participating parties was identified and appraised against the relevant division lines. This assessment took into account the context of particular planning systems in Poland and the UK.

## 2.3. Building Bridges Across Divisions by Co-Design

The concluding section of the assessment focuses on the identification of common drivers for change against identified division lines. The success in planning around polarisation was scrutinised through lenses of bringing the polarised positions closer or as a means to avoid deeper divisions of interests. The review of co-design included criteria of timing and frequency, outreach and technology applied to facilitate dialogue with stakeholders. The evidence was based on real-life case studies.

## 3. Results

## 3.1. Old Kent Road, London

The Old Kent Road project is located within the London Borough of Southwark, which is an Inner London



Borough, the eldest part of London, situated on the southern bank of the River Thames. The Old Kent Road is an area of 281 hectares designated as the Old Kent Road Opportunity Area in the London Plan (Mayor of London, 2016, 2021). It is currently an extensively developed area dominated by retail parks, warehouses, and housing estates. As part of the Bakerloo Line Extension corridor, the Old Kent Road area is expected to accommodate substantial growth through major regenerationmanaged planning policies of the emerging Area Action Plan Supplementary Planning Document. This diverse part of Southwark, with 43% of residents being born abroad, has a higher proportion of low-skilled workers and lower levels of employment than the rest of the borough and London's average (London Borough of Southwark, 2016a). The deprivation levels place Old Kent Road ward in the top 10 in the UK.

The polarisation underpinning the Area Action Plan for Old Kent Road Opportunity Area runs between existing residents and businesses and developers. The main focus was gentrification. Central location in the global city with a prosperous economy continuously drives property and rent prices up. Low-cost industrial uses became a rarity in Inner London, where the vacancy rate is as low as 4% (London Borough of Southwark, 2016b). Residential properties are also in high demand, and sales and rental prices are the highest in London. Residents and businesses fear being priced out of the borough, similarly to other regeneration areas such as Elephant and Castle. Seventy-two percent of the 3000 residents of this neighbourhood left the area in the period between 2010 and 2016 (Almeida, 2021). They were priced out of the area, the borough, and even London. The vast majority of new flats were sold to investors from East Asia (Lees & White, 2019).

Initial engagements concerning developing the principles for accommodating growth in the Old Kent Road Opportunity Area were based on the voluntary participation of local council members, organisations operating in the area, local businesses, and residential communities. Between 2015 and 2017, the leaflets were circulated to over 15,000 addresses in the area, reaching out to all residents and occupiers of commercial units.

The Community Forum has been set up to provide a platform for engagement with a regular schedule and set up agendas. The Forum channelled residents' views through people willing and acting to participate in the processes informing design development. Additionally, in February 2017, the Old Kent Road Business Network was to directly liaise with local businesses for evidence and feedback. However, the level of active participation in walkabouts, workshops, and presentations was low compared to the theoretical outreach.

The next stages of plan development focussed on ensuring that initially underrepresented groups had their say in shaping the future of the area. One such group was young people. In 2019, a dedicated Youth Outreach Programme was established. Ethnic groups were contacted and encouraged to voice their views by adding information stalls at local cultural festivals.

In June 2020, the Old Kent Road Community Review Panel was established, based on sortition methodology (Courant, 2019). The twelve members of the Panel were carefully selected from volunteers to reflect the socioeconomic composition of the area. The panel is run independently from the Council and provides the platform to voice the opinions of the local community as a whole, not only of the loudest and most active residents.

The Old Kent Road Area Action Plan applied a broad selection of technologies to engage local communities in the process of plan development (see Figure 1). Classic tools such as walkabouts, mailings, consultation events and workshops with the use of pen and paper, public presentations, and exhibitions were applied throughout the process. The ambition of wide outreach drove the application of digital tools such as a consultation hub, online ideas-sharing platform Dialogue, aerial photography, and a 3D virtual model (London Borough of Southwark, 2020a).





**Figure 1.** Different techniques of co-design applied to engage with the local communities of Old Kent Road. From left to right: (a) output of a workshop with young people (London Borough of Southwark, 2020a) and (b) the digital model of the area allowing for a birds-eye as well as human view analysis (London Borough of Southwark, 2020b).



Preparation of the Old Kent Road Area Action Plan has taken ten years from early engagement to the planned adoption. The co-design process was iterative and innovative, based on principles of creativity and the expertise of participants, and applied a range of different techniques. The representation was the weakest point in the first phases of engagement. The polarisation of positions and antagonism between key stakeholder groups were carefully navigated by the Southwark Council. They worked very hard to secure local buy-in to the proposals and to engage with as many groups and points of view as possible. The borough council was not shy to change its engagement strategy to champion broad inclusivity and to reach out to sections of the community that were difficult to reach. They also employed innovative digital tools enabling direct co-design.

#### 3.2. East Croydon Station, Croydon

Croydon is an Outer London borough, the second highest populated with 379,000 inhabitants. In the regional context, it acts as a leading sub-centre of outer London, with ambitions to become a metropolitan centre in its own right. East Croydon Station is in the top ten busiest interchange rail stations in the UK with excellent and fast connections with multiple central London destinations, Gatwick Airport, and Brighton.

The East Croydon development area, with approximately 10 ha, is part of the Croydon Opportunity Area designated in the London Plan (Mayor of London, 2004, 2016, 2021) located around the railway station. It has a fragmented ownership structure and has remained vacant for almost a decade. The station needed expansion and a second entrance to maintain the comfort of access for passengers. A comprehensive and mixed-use redevelopment of the central area around it was essential for accommodating growth and delivering the vision of a vibrant multifunctional metropolitan centre.

The lines of polarisation run through the traditional objectives of stakeholders' interests:

- Land use: Developers were aspiring for high-profit schemes that, in the context of London and central Croydon, meant high-density developments driven by residential towers. Given the economic crisis of 2008, the demand for commercial spaces and offices had been declining. The nearby town centre suffered from a high level of vacancies.
- Public realm and connectivity: The station was near capacity and had a single entrance to the platforms. Surrounded by private land, it had no opportunities to deliver a well-connected new entrance independently. Moreover, the severance of the railway line isolated residential areas from the commercial and cultural centres.
- Scale: Whilst tall buildings are widespread in the commercial town centre west of the station, the east side comprises established residential ter-

races seventy or more years old. The threat of negative impacts of tall buildings on the living environment and the influx of new residents putting pressure on local services were threatening established local communities.

 Delivery Timing: Each of the landlords was working towards different time scales, with critical urgency for the station upgrade and delivery of affordable housing for residents. Residents were expressing frustration as several visions were produced, including the ambitious and imaginative Third City Vision by the British architect Will Alsop (Alsop, 2007), whilst no change was observed on the ground.

The East Croydon Masterplan (London Borough of Croydon, 2011) was focused on bridging the polarised interests of developers to deliver a strategic piece of infrastructure for the residents and businesses. To secure political support for the project, all local Councillors and the chair of the Planning Committee were briefed during dedicated sessions, in addition to the option of participation in consultations directed to the general public. Additionally, two public workshops were organised to gather community views on the master plan's objectives, priorities and policies.

The main engagement focus throughout the project was on landlords, which in this case were also lead developers for their respective sites to ensure their buy-in and, in consequence, delivery of change. The establishment of governance for the master plan where each land owner had a platform to raise issues, negotiate design solutions and where the Croydon Council had an opportunity to get formal commitments for delivery was a key to success. The co-design process was supported and moderated by the architectural studio commissioned by the Council. The project board, entirely composed of landlords established a level of trust between parties, allowing for taking higher levels of risk stemming from dependencies between the delivery of particular components in different ownership.

Reaching out to the local communities was achieved through public exhibitions enabling interactive discussions with the project team and making formal representations. Over 1130 people attended, which is nominally 5% of the ward population; however, this number includes many residents not living in the neighbourhood.

Although local communities were consulted, their influence over the final design was relatively low. Even councillors and their representatives had limited opportunities to challenge developers and planners outside the standard planning policy and planning permission decision-making processes. Their views were embedded into the initial set of principles guiding further design and planning (see Figures 2 and 3).





**Figure 2.** Diagrams illustrating components of the East Croydon Masterplan. From left to right: (a) components of the East Croydon Masterplan, (b) public realm components of the East Croydon Masterplan, and (c) the development components of the East Croydon Masterplan. Source: London Borough of Croydon (2011).



**Figure 3.** Diagrams illustrating the phased implementation of the East Croydon Masterplan components. From left to right: (a) components to be delivered now, (b) components to be delivered soon, and (c) components to be delivered later. Source: London Borough of Croydon (2011).

#### 3.3. Grunwaldzka Avenue Belt Study, Gdańsk

Gdańsk is one of the major Polish cities with a population reaching 485,000. Its linear urban structure was shaped by natural conditions associated with the presence of the Gdańsk Bay coast and a line of forested hills. The main transportation axis of the city is associated with the Warsaw-Gdynia railway line as well as with the main road spine—Grunwaldzka Avenue. The space between these two lines, as well as adjacent areas, was for many years zoned for pure commercial development, which resulted in the creation in the 1990s of a "big-box" type of development. Numerous supermarkets and other commercial structures were created. This situation changed only in the last decade when the new mid-rise and high-rise office structures were introduced. In consequence, three separate office complexes were constructed. They recently started to be reshaped as mixed-use developments. At the same time, the original commercial structures have become obsolete and were slated for redevelopment.

Recent changes in demand for offices and housing in Poland (also resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic) resulted in the emergence of the demand for housing and mixed-use structures that could substitute the abovementioned commercial structures and also contribute to massive densification of the entire area. This resulted in several planning applications calling for changes in zoning provisions. Since many of these potential projects (as submitted in 2020 and 2021) may result in changes in the city landscape as well as in the necessary improvements of the transportation systems, the Mayor of Gdańsk decided to commission a special-purpose urban study on the future of the entire Grunwaldzka Avenue Belt, covering approximately 620 ha and aimed at creating the comprehensive vision for the area in line with transit-oriented development principles (see Figure 4).

At the same time, this study should serve as a vehicle for integrating various needs and expectations of the diversified group of stakeholders: local communities, individual citizens, local councils, land owners, investors, and developers. This was conceptualised as a participatory co-design process, allowing each stakeholder to become an active part of the debate. In addition, this process allowed taking into account the opinions and expectations of the various municipal and state authorities, including infrastructure providers and managers. In 2022, both professional planning studies (conducted by the Gdańsk Development Agency) and the above-mentioned participatory process (managed by the Office of the Gdańsk City Architect) were delivered, which resulted in acquiring various transformation determinants for the entire site. In the coming months, a participationled urban development vision creation process will be planned, which should allow for balancing the expectations and needs of all involved stakeholders. This will be conducted with the use of both electronic and physical models of the particular parts of the study area and will involve various experts and specialists as well as representatives of all involved parties.

Although still in the implementation phase, this study can become a point of reference for similar (although of lesser importance for the urban future of Gdańsk) urban transformation sites. This includes both the way the process is shaped, the way the opinions of the diversified group of stakeholders are taken into account, and the mode of co-design of the key development area of the city.

#### 4. Discussion

The examples of planning around polarisation lead to several conclusions that have the potential to be universally applied. It should be noted that whilst direct engagement between land owners, developers, and local government was widely practiced, community views and interests were often solely channeled by their statutory representatives. Politicians acted on one hand as channels of communication between residents, businesses, and planners, representing them at the decision-making



Figure 4. Grunwaldzka Avenue Belt (PAG) in the structure of the City of Gdańsk. Source: Office of the City Architect (2022).



forums such as planning committees making decisions about planning applications or at the local council sessions debating the adoption of planning policies.

The presented case studies identified three areas critical for bridging the divisions in the process of co-design: inclusivity, efficient partnership working, and political influence.

#### 4.1. Inclusivity

All case studies had to address the matters of mandate and representation. Parties with weak or no legal interest were in general responsible for the final success of the regeneration initiatives, whilst difficult to reach and often internally polarised.

The example of the East Croydon Masterplan demonstrated that narrowing the group co-designing to landlords and the Council vastly accelerated and simplified the process. The major drawback is a low level of community participation. Also, relatively little attention was paid to building trust between developers and residents of surrounding neighbourhoods. In consequence, polarisation between existing and new communities is likely to deepen. Given the stark contrast in the spatial character of the established and newly built areas, divisions are likely to exacerbate.

The case of Southwark demonstrated how the borough council acted as a medium between the existing business and residential communities, and developers and regional authorities. Engaging local communities in drawing the future of their neighbourhoods was the most challenging task. Both the inclusivity of the process and the representativeness of collective positions remained at the heart of the council's activities. Significant efforts were made to reach out to local communities, including those ready to voice their views, and those not keen on participation and without trust that their voice would be considered. Southwark, through trial and error, explored methods of engagement and innovated in this respect by setting up the Community Development Panel. Ultimately, however, the interests of local communities in dialogue with developers and authorities were represented by the council. Statutory planning powers were applied to leverage fair deals and align competing objectives.

In the case of Gdańsk, the key challenge was to balance the interests and positions of stakeholders with legal interests and residents. Moderation of co-design sessions was led by urban design professionals using a range of techniques. Open discussions over the future of the large-scale area helped to identify conflicts and polarised expectations, and therefore to mediate between them. Ultimately the balancing act was a political decision.

Co-design should be founded on the inclusivity of all stakeholders, as each has a specific role in the regeneration projects, from planning to enjoying the use of final products. Whilst not everyone is capable or interested in taking part in the initial planning and design stages, everyone will be affected by the changes introduced in the long run. Therefore, it is essential to reach out widely. It does not mean that a council needs feedback from every resident or business, as this is unrealistic and costly. Based on selected examples, it is evidenced that targeted actions bring more credible results. Setting up panels composed of groups representative of the area founded on the sortition method (Courant, 2019), similar to the opinion poll focus groups, may be particularly useful in areas with low levels of activism.

#### 4.2. Partnership Working

In the past, polarisation could be routed to silo thinking, where stakeholders have little trust and knowledge about specific objectives, costs, and incentives to cooperate. The greater the differences between the groups, and the greater the uncertainty about the other group, the larger the gains to stubbornness, or continued disagreement about collective decisions; as a result, the formation of consensus is impeded (Keefer & Knack, 2002). Trust based on knowledge, transparency, and openness between collaborators, expressed through their willingness to share information and resources, is essential to address the isolation of stakeholders and bring them closer so they can effectively deliver change or project (Pennink, 2017).

All analysed cases illustrate that dialogue between stakeholders is fundamental for finding common ground. Trust and commitment were fundamental for success. Setting up partnerships is relatively easy when the stakeholders have legally confirmed interest in the process.

Polarisation of interests in the urban regeneration initiatives is relatively easy to identify and therefore mitigated. An example from Croydon demonstrates that once all parties directly responsible for the development in the area gather around one table, and trust is built, the planning policy can be agreed upon and adopted guickly and its implementation progresses according to this plan. Regular engagement and binding decision-making throughout the co-design process were crucial for the success. Partnerships established at the planning stage were continued through the design and construction phases. Ten years after the East Croydon Masterplan's adoption, the development components have been completed, are under construction, or in meanwhile use. The prime objectives of the landowners were addressed in principle; however, whether the area will become a vibrant and integral part of the town centre remains to be seen. The polarisation of scale, urban character, and lifestyles between high-density schemes at East Croydon and the Victorian terraces of their neighbours suggest that differences may be irreconcilable. Co-design is processed in an introverted way, with little attention to weaving into the surroundings.

In the case of Southwark, the sizeable area of the plan, with its complex issues and high dependence on



external factors, in this case from the Greater London Authority extending the Bakerloo underground line, resulted in a prolonged process and convoluted partnership working. Policy and design details have been gradually confirmed through different planning documents: the London Plan, through high-level policies in the new local plan. Following these directives, an area action plan and design codes for particular schemes enabled fixing key development parameters. In the same time stakeholders have been working on achieving consensus about more detailed matters on sheme-by-scheme basis. Regular communication and exchange of feedback between the stakeholders and the council gradually built trust that the agreed direction of travel is managed.

Since the co-design process in the case of Gdańsk only started in 2022, the first results still have to come out, but it can already be stated that the needs of both local communities and interested land owners and developers were addressed and that it seems possible to find a common ground regarding the future development scheme. Both parties must share the vision of shaping vibrant urban districts, with mixed-use and medium-rise character architecture.

All examples demonstrate that regular communication, follow-ups and updates after an engagement, especially co-design sessions, allowing every stakeholder to see the progress, is essential for the successful planning and implementation of regeneration initiatives. It is essential that updates are honest and therefore include information about challenges and how they are to be addressed.

## 4.3. Political Risks

In the age of digital communication and social media, it is observed that the exchange of information and trust can be purposefully distorted through echo chambers or filter bubble techniques. Echo chambers defined as "a bounded, enclosed media space that has the potential to both magnify the messages delivered within it and insulate them from rebuttal" (Jamieson & Cappella, 2008, p. 76) can be observed as a result of applying internet algorithms—filter bubbles (Pariser, 2011). Similarly, individuals often choose conscious filtering of information using their personal social and professional biases (Jamieson & Cappella, 2008).

In the 21st century, a rise in affective polarisation is observed based on the strong emotional distinction between "we" and "them" (Silver et al., 2021). This ideological polarisation extends not only to culture or ethnicity but also to science. Recent research identifies that through psychological science rejection, people can implicitly disregard scientific facts that are inconsistent with their political identity; they may dispute specific scientific claims, distinct research fields, science in general, or the entire political system and elite (Rekker, 2021). Affective polarisation, especially concerning the approach to climate change, affects urban development through political leaders adding or abandoning sustainability agendas from their policies and investment plans, regardless of higher government-level commitments or local community views (Reiljan, 2020).

In the case of Croydon, where the master plan had relatively low support from residents, the example of East Croydon and other developments in the Opportunity Area strengthened the resistance of local communities to the intensification of urban development. In the demographic situation where the ageing population owns their houses and becomes ready to downsize, the natural next step would be for them to move to apartments in their neighbourhoods, preserving their networks of friends, and access to familiar facilities and infrastructure. Emotional reaction to high-density developments in the central areas ignited strong resistance against the changing character of the suburbs. The Croydon Plan 2018 attracted thousands of representations protesting against intensification policies. The campaign was led by local politicians who very efficiently organised a very large group of residents. Emotional narratives to preserve the character of the area despite of changing needs of its residents were the drivers. Apartment buildings in the Croydon suburbs are resisted despite their potential to address issues with housing for young families and for the elderly in particular.

#### 5. Conclusion

Polarisation of interests can be bridged by partnerships involving co-design in planning and design and coordinated delivery. Collective creation can strengthen the sense of ownership and belonging. Involving local communities is critical as they are essential components of vibrant neighbourhoods, both existing and new ones after construction. Engaging them in planning and design and ensuring the views guiding development are representative of the area remains crucial for the final success. Developers create divisions when they compete with each other. This usually occurs when their involvement ends when the project is completed. Local governments have the ability and instruments to moderate cooperation between developers and champion the interests of local communities in the planning process. However, it is a multifaceted and lengthy process, if conducted with care. Building trust takes time, and relationships between the local communities and their councils are particularly complex.

Polarisation of opinions is very challenging to manage and its impact on planning and delivery of change in the built environment is indirect, yet can be expensive and stall progress, leading to a decline in the quality of urban areas. Local politicians have the authority and skills to influence local communities.

Sustainable growth poses particular challenges for urban planning as net zero targets require changes in counting the economics of the construction industry, priorities for new infrastructure and property developments.



Tackling climate change affects lifestyles and business models and polarises societies. Planning around this particular polarisation requires targeted research and a good understanding of related local concerns.

The literature on co-design focuses on the process, principles, and methods. Lessons learnt from the case studies presented in the article demonstrate that certain aspects, such as inclusivity of co-design, trust as a basis for partnership working and consideration for the local political risks, require particular attention. Those three elements create context enabling effective co-design and further implementation of the agreed plans.

## **Conflict of Interests**

The authors declare no conflict of interests.

#### References

- Almeida, A. (2021). *Pushed to the margins. A quantitative analysis of gentrification in London in the 2010s.* Runnymede.
- Alsop, W. (2007). *Croydon masterplan*. https://all. design/willalsop/croydon
- Altrock, U. (2018). Stadterneuerung [Urban renewal]. In Handwörterbuch der Stadt- und Raumentwicklung [Handbook of urban and spatial development] (pp. 2441–2450). Akademie für Raumforschung und Landesplanung.
- Amirtahmasebi, R., Orloff, M., Wahba, S., & Altman, A. (2016). Regenerating urban land: A practitioner's guide to leveraging private investment. World Bank Publications.
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 35(4), 216–224.
- Batty, M. (2022). The post-pandemic city: Speculation through simulation. *Cities*, 124. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cities.2022.103594
- Blomkamp, E. (2018). The promise of co-design for public policy. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 77(4), 729–743. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500. 12310
- Bracci, E., Fugini, M., & Sicilia, M. (2016). Co-production of public services: Meaning and motivations. In M. Fugini, E. Bracci, & M. Sicilia (Eds.), *Co-production in the public sector* (pp. 1–11). Springer.
- Polarization. (n.d.). In *Cambridge's dictionary*. https:// dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/ polarization?q=polarisation
- Courant, D. (2019). Sortition and democratic principles: A comparative analysis. In J. Gastil & E. O. Wright (Eds.), *Legislature by lot: Transformative designs for deliberative governance* (pp. 229–248). Verso.
- European Environment Agency. (2021). Urban sustainability in Europe: Opportunities for challenging times. European Environment Agency.

Forester, J. (1982). Planning in the face of power. Journal

of the American Planning Association, 48(1), 67–80.

- Haag, T., Menzel, P., & Katz, J. (2007). Städtebauliche Sanierungs- und Entwicklungsmaßnahmen. Ein Handbuch für die Praxis mit zahlreichen Mustern, Beispielen, Schemata und Übersichten [Urban redevelopment and development measures: A handbook for practice with numerous patterns, examples, schemes and overviews]. Stuttgart.
- Healey, P. (1998). Building institutional capacity through collaborative approaches to urban planning. *Environment and Planning A*, *30*(9), 1531–1546.
- Horonziak, S. (2022). Dysfunctional democracy and political polarisation: The case of Poland. *Zeitschrift für Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft*, *16*(2), 265–289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12286-022-00536-6
- Hutton Ferris, D. (2019, August 29). The fragmentation of the representative system [Paper presentation]. American Political Science Association Annual Meeting, Washington, DC, USA.
- Jacobs, J. (1961). *The death and life of great American cities*. Random House.
- Jamieson, K. H., & Cappella, J. N. (2008). Echo chamber: Rush Limbaugh and the conservative media establishment. Oxford University Press.
- Jenkins, P., & Forsyth, L. (2010). Architecture, participation and society. Routledge.
- Keefer, P., & Knack, S. (2002). Polarization, politics and property rights: Links between inequality and growth. *Public Choice*, 111, 127–154. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/A:1015168000336
- Koch, I., Fransham, M., Cant, S., Ebrey, J., Glucksberg, L., & Savage, M. (2021). Social polarization at the local level: A four-town comparative study on the challenges of politicising inequality in Britain. *Sociology*, 55(1), 3–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/00380385209 75593
- Lees, L., & White, H. (2019). The social cleansing of London council estates: Everyday experiences of "accumulative dispossession." *Housing Studies*, 35(10), 1701–1722. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037. 2019.1680814
- London Borough of Croydon. (2011). East Croydon master plan.
- London Borough of Southwark. (2016a). *Draft Area action plan/Opportunity Area planning framework* (June 2016 Report).
- London Borough of Southwark. (2016b). *Old Kent road employment study* (March 2016 Report).
- London Borough of Southwark. (2020a). *Old Kent Road Area action plan: December 2020 draft* (Consultation Report).
- London Borough of Southwark. (2020b). Old Kent Road Area action plan: December 2020 draft.
- Lowndes, V., & Skelcher, C. (1998). The dynamics of multi-organisational partnerships: An analysis of changing modes of governance. *Public Administration*, *76*, 313–333.

Manuel, J., & Vigar, G. (2021). Enhancing citizen engage-

# 🗲 cogitatio

ment in planning through participatory film-making. *Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and City Science, 48*(6), 1558–1573. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2399808320936280

- Mayor of London. (2004). *The London plan.* https:// www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/ planning/london-plan/past-versions-andalterations-london-plan/london-plan-2004
- Mayor of London. (2016). *The London plan*. https:// www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/ planning/london-plan/past-versions-andalterations-london-plan/london-plan-2016
- Mayor of London. (2021). *The London plan*. https:// www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/ planning/london-plan/new-london-plan/londonplan-2021
- Office of the City Architect. (2022). *Studium Pasma Alei Grunwaldzkiej. Uwarunkowania rozwoju.* [Development study for the Grunwaldzka Avenue Belt. Development conditions]. Gdańskie Warsztaty Projektowe.
- Page, B. I., & Gilens, M. (2017). *Democracy in America? What has gone wrong and what we can do about it.* University of Chicago Press.
- Papadopoulos, Y., & Warin, P. (2007). Are innovative, participatory and deliberative procedures in policy making democratic and effective? *European Journal of Political Research*, 46(4), 445–472. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/J.1475-6765.2007.00696.X
- Pariser, E. (2011). *The filter bubble: What the internet is hiding from you.* Viking.
- Parkinson, J. (2003). Legitimacy problems in deliberative democracy. *Political Studies*, *51*, 180–196.
- Pasquinelli, C., Trunfio, M., Bellini, N., & Rossi, S. (2022). Reimagining urban destinations: Adaptive and transformative city brand attributes and values in the pandemic crisis. *Cities*, *124*. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cities.2022.103621
- Pennink, C. B. (2017). The trust cycle: The process of trust building, and the influence of trust on risk and outcomes in public–private partnerships [Unpublished Doctoral dissertation] Erasmus Univer-

## sity Rotterdam.

- Reiljan, A. (2020). "Fear and loathing across party lines" (also) in Europe: Affective polarization in European party systems. *European Journal of Political Research*, 59(2), 376–396. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765. 12351
- Rekker, R. (2021). The nature and origins of political polarization over science. *Public Understanding of Science*, *30*(4), 352–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0963662521989193
- Rusul, L., Abduljabbar, R. L., Sohani Liyanage, S., & Hussein Dia, H. (2022). A systematic review of the impacts of the coronavirus crisis on urban transport: Key lessons learned and prospects for future cities. *Cities*, *127*, Article 103770. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cities.2022.103770
- Silver, L., Fetterolf, J., & Connaughton, A. (2021). *Diversity and division in advanced economies*. Pew Research Center.
- United Nations. (2015). *Transforming our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development* (A/RES/70/1 Report).
- Wang, A., Hu, Y., Li, L., & Liu, B. (2016). Group decision making model of urban renewal based on sustainable development: Public participation perspective. *Procedia Engineering*, 145, 1509–1517. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.proeng.2016.04.190
- Williams, G. (2003). *The enterprising city centre: Manchester's development challenge*. Spon Press.
- Wilson, A., & Tewdwr-Jones, M. (2020). Let's draw and talk about urban change: Deploying digital technology to encourage citizen participation in urban planning. Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and City Science, 47(9), 1588–1604. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2399808319831290
- Wilson, A., Tewdwr-Jones, M., & Comber, R. (2019). Urban planning, public participation and digital technology: App development as a method of generating citizen involvement in local planning processes. Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and City Science, 46(2), 286–302. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2399808317712515

## About the Authors



**Piotr Lorens** (PhD, DSc) is an urban planner, Gdańsk City architect (since 2021), full professor in urban design and development (since 2016), and head of the Department of Urban Design and Regional Planning at the Faculty of Architecture, at the Gdańsk University of Technology (since 2007). His research interests include urban planning and regeneration processes, with a special focus on waterfront areas and public spaces.



**Agnieszka Zimnicka** (DSc, RTPI) is a place-making practitioner, a regeneration manager in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets, and a visiting professor at the Gdańsk University of Technology. Her research interests include urban management and quality of spatial development. She is an expert in the Design PLACE Review for Brighton and Hove, Design South-East, and New London Architecture.



URBAN PLANNING ISSN: 2183-7635 Urban Planning is a new international peer-reviewed open access journal of urban studies aimed at advancing understandings and ideas of humankind's habitats — villages, towns, cities, megacities — in order to promote progress and quality of life.

The journal is founded on the premise that qualitative linked to quantitative approaches provide mutually sympathetic outcomes for adding knowledge to the complex and polyhedral system par antonomasia as the city is.



www.cogitatiopress.com/urbanplanning